
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF 

YPSILANTI BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

June 7, 2022 
 

Special Meeting – 5:00 pm 
 
 

Ypsilanti Township Civic Center 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 



   Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVEYPSILANTI, MI 48197 

 
SUPERVISOR BRENDA STUMBO  CLERK HEATHER JARRELL ROE  TREASURER STAN 

ELDRIDGE TRUSTEES: JOHN NEWMAN II  GLORIA PETERSON  DEBBIE SWANSON JIMMIE 
WILSON, JR. 

 

                                 

                                  
                                SPECIAL MEETING 
 

 

TUESDAY, JUNE 7, 2022 – 5:00PM 
 
 

A Special Meeting of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees has 
been called by Supervisor Brenda Stumbo for the following items: 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 
1. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE CONTRACT WITH QUADIENT FOR THE LEASE OF 

A NEW POSTAGE MACHINE IN THE AMOUNT OF $468.60 PER MONTH FOR FIVE 
YEARS 
 

2. REQUEST TO AWARD THE LOW BID FOR REPLACEMENT OF THE ROOF AT FIRE 
STATION #4 LOCATED AT 8869 TEXTILE ROAD TO RAPID ROOFING IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $22,853.12 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #217-901-975-005 

 
3. REQUEST TO APPROVE A DELAY IN RETIREMENT AND ADJUSTMENT TO FIRE 

CHIEF ERIC COPELAND’S EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 
 

4. REQUEST TO APPROVE A LETTER OF AGREEMENT WITH AFSCME LOCAL 3451 
14B DISTRICT COURT 

 
5. REQUEST TO CONFIRM THE HIRING OF WILLIAM TURNER AS THE NEW GOLF 

COURSE SUPERINTENDENT DUE TO THE RETIREMENT OF TIM SMITH 
 

6. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT WITH THE WASHTENAW COUNTY 
ROAD COMMISSION FOR THE INSTALLATION OF SPEED HUMPS ON NASH AVE. 
IN THE AMOUNT OF $60,816.50 BUDGETED IN LINE ITEM #101-446-982-000 
CONTINGENT UPON APPROVAL OF THE BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 
7. REQUEST TO ACCEPT THE PROPOSAL FROM COMCAST FOR SIP TRUNK 

SERVICE AND TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT PENDING ATTORNEY REVIEW 
 

8. REQUEST TO SEEK QUALIFICATIONS FOR LICENSING, MIGRATIONS AND 
TRAINING SERVICE FOR OFFICE365 

 
9. REQUEST TO SEEK PROPOSALS FOR A PREFERRED NETWORK CABLE 

INSTALLER 
 

10. REQUEST TO APPROVE A ONE TIME RECOGNITION PAYMENT OF $1000.00 TO 
FULL TIME EMPLOYEES AND $500.00 TO PART TIME EMPLOYEES 

 
 

 



Ypsilanti Township Board Agenda Page 2  October 30, 2019 
  

   
    
   
 
 
 
 
  

11. REQUEST TO APPROVE THE INSTALLATION OF EIGHT (8) LIGHTS BETWEEN 
ONANDAGA AVENUE AND HUDSON STREET FOR THE US-12 PROJECT WITH 
INSTALLATION COSTS BEING PAID BY THE WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD 
COMMISSION 

 
12. BUDGET AMENDMENT #8 



 
 

 
 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 
 

From:  Stan Eldridge, Township Treasurer 

  Angela Kojiro, Deputy Township Treasurer 
 

Date:  May 26, 2022 
 

RE: Postage Machine Contract Renewal 
 

 

Board Members, 
 

The Township’s current postage machine contract expires July 4, 2022.  In addition, the current 

machine no longer meets the specifications that are required by the U.S. Postal Service.  The use 

of a postage machine allows the Township to receive a financial savings on its yearly mailings, 

which in 2021 was just over $2,700. 
 

There are currently only four companies that are authorized by the U.S. Postal Service to lease 

postage systems within the United States.  In accordance with the current Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti Financial Policy the Treasurer’s Office, specifically Deputy Treasurer Kojiro, has 

recently obtained the three required quotes, as this contract will exceed the policy thresholds, 

based upon a 60 month lease.  
 

For each quote, the following specifications were requested:  

 The machine should have an output of 140 letters per minute 

 A dynamic weighing platform 

 30 lb. ship scale and display 

 A conveyor stacker and adaptor 

 A computer monitor with keyboard and mouse.  
 

In addition, the terms of the lease includes freight, delivery, installation, meter rental, equipment 

maintenance, software license and support.  
 

The three quotes received are attached, as well as being summarized below: 
 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN, II 

GLORIA PETERSON 

DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON JR. 

Treasurer’s Office 

 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 484-1002 
Fax:  (734) 484-5155 

ytown.org 



1) Quadient – This is our current vendor.  Quadient recommends: 

o The iX-7 DS mailing system that can be leased with or without their 

“S.M.A.R.T.” computer system.  Our current lease includes “S.M.A.R.T.”  This 

technology allows us to get the best shipping price on packages, track postage 

usage by department, and provides an easy to use interface.  The Quadient 

machine includes a conveyor belt, which allows the user to process a high volume 

of mail quickly and easily.  

o The lease term is $468.60 per month for a 60 months, or  

$28,116.00 for 5 years 
 

2) Pitney Bowes – recommends: 

o The SendPro P2000 mailing system.  It includes a conveyor belt and computer.  

o The lease term is $435.61 per month for 60 months, or 

$26,136.60 for 5 years 
 

3) UTEC – recommends: 

o An FP PostBase Pro DS.  This machine does not include a conveyor belt, but 

offers a stacker as an alternative.  Staff reviewed this machine in person, as they 

have a local office in Ann Arbor, and found that it is not as robust as our current 

postage machine.  

o The lease term is $375.49 per month for 63 months, 

$23,655.87 for 5 years 
 

It is our recommendation, as well as that of the Clerk’s Office that the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti continue our current relationship with Quadient and select the “S.M.A.R.T.” 

technology quote.  Additional reasons as to why the recommendation to select this option 

include:  
 

 We have an established relationship with this vendor. 
 

 Quadient provides a product that meets our specifications and can handle a high volume 

of mail.  In 2021, we processed over 55,000 pieces of mail, across multiple departments 

including the 14-B Court.  It is essential that our postage machine be efficient and 

effective so as to handle a high volume of mail. 
 

 Renewing with Quadient provides a seamless transition.  This is especially important 

given the high number of end users (Treasurer’s Office, Clerk’s Office, RSD, 14th 

District Court, etc.).  This will minimize training time and potential user error. 

  

 While all three quotes attempt to compare like products, each machine and it’s features 

are specific to that particular vendor.  Quadient has given us NASPO value point pricing 

(MiDeal), which has been pre-bid by Quadient and their competitors.  In other words, if 

we were to get an exact bid for all the items Quadient quoted, it would be essentially the 

same price from each supplier.  More information is available on the attached NASPO 

Value Point information sheet.  Thus, we can be assured we are getting competitive 

pricing. 



NASPO ValuePoint Contract
ADSPO16-169901

Mailing Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance  
May 2017           



NASPO ValuePoint Contract ADSPO16-169901

Mailing Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance 

Neopost USA Inc. is providing this synopsis of the NASPO ValuePoint 
contract ADSPO16-169901 for Mailing Equipment, Supplies and 
Maintenance to support the review of the NASPO ValuePoint contract and 
the execution of Participating Addendums with Neopost. 

The full library of NASPO ValuePoint documents supporting the Neopost 
award can be accessed and reviewed at http://www.naspovaluepoint.com/
#/current-contracts/contractors/results/538

Table of Contents 

Page     3 
Page     4 
Page   95 
Page 101 

Page 108 
Page  111 

Award letter – Neopost 
NASPO Terms from RFP
Government Lease Terms 
Government Lease Rates 
Government Purchase Terms
Maintenance Program
Government Meter Rental Terms 

Page 102 

http://www.spo.az.gov/Direct_Services/Statewide/WSCA_PAs/ADSPO1100000411.asp


Douglas A. Ducey 
Governor 

Craig Brown 
Director 

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 

STATE PROCUREMENT OFFICE 

100 NORTH FIFTEENTH AVENUE  • SUITE 201 
PHOENIX, ARIZONA 85007 

(602) 542-5511 (main) (602) 542-5508 (fax)
http://spo.az.gov 

Sent via e-mail to: government@neopost.com

May 2, 2017 

Re:  Award of Contract No. ADSPO16-00006328 for Mailing Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance 

Dear Mr. Kevin O'Connor 

Thank you for submitting a response to Invitation to Bid No. ADSPO16-00006328. I am pleased to inform 
you that your company’s offer has been selected for award. The initial contract term shall begin on May 
15th, 2017. 

All offers received were evaluated in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the solicitation 
document. The procurement file for this solicitation, including evaluation documents and resultant 
contracts, are now available for public viewing via the State’s e-Procurement system, ProcureAZ. 

In accordance with Special Terms and Conditions, Section 7 Lead State (State of Arizona) Terms and 
Conditions of the contract and prior to beginning work under the contract, your company is required to 
submit a Certificate of Insurance to the State Procurement Office. The certificate of insurance shall 
indicate that your company is in compliance with insurance requirements contained in the contract. Please 
submit your certificate of insurance to me no later than June 15th , 2017. 

You are cautioned not to begin any work under the contract until the Procurement Officer assigned to your 
contract has issued a written notice to proceed.  

If you have any questions regarding your company’s contract, please contact me at 
Christopher.Lacey@azdoa.gov or 602.542.7165. Thank you for your response and for your continued 
interest in doing business with the State of Arizona. 

Sincerely, 

Christopher Lacey 
Statewide Procurement Manager 

mailto:%20Christopher.Lacey@azdoa.gov
mailto:%20Christopher.Lacey@azdoa.gov


1 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

The State of Arizona
State Procurement Office

In conjunction with

Request for Proposals

Arizona Solicitation Number ADSPO16-00006328

NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement for
Mailroom Equipment, Supplies and

Maintenance

(Enter Solicitation Posting Date)



2 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

Table of Contents

RFP Administrative Information

Section 1 General Information

Section 2 Solicitation Requirements, Information and Instructions to Offerors

Section 3 Statement of Work

Section 4 NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Statement of Compliance

Section 5 Price and Cost Proposal

Section 6 NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms and Conditions

Section 7 Lead State (State of Arizona) Terms & Conditions

7.1 State of Arizona Special Terms and Conditions 

7.2 State of Arizona Uniform Terms and Conditions 

Attachment A Capacity of Offerors Questionnaire

Attachment B Key Personnel Form

Attachment C Pricing Sheets

C-1 Pricing Scenarios

Attachment D Authorized Dealers Form

Attachment E Offer and Acceptance Form

Attachment F Designation of Confidential, Trade Secret & Proprietary Information

Attachment G References

Attachment H NASPO ValuePoint Detailed Sales Reporting Template

Attachments I – Y Additional Participating States’ Terms and Conditions



3 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

RFP Administrative Information

RFP Title: Mailing Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance

RFP Project Description:
(See Section 1.1)

The State of Arizona in conjunction with NASPO
ValuePoint, is seeking Contractor(s) to provide a multi- 
state, contract for the purchase of Mailing Equipment,
Services, and Support.

RFP Lead:
(See Section 1.2)

Contract Lead: Christopher Lacey
Agency Name: Arizona State Procurement Office
Agency Address: 100 N 15th Ave
City, State, Zip: Phoenix, Arizona 85007
Contract Lead email: christopher.lacey@azdoa.gov
Contact Phone: 602-542-7600

Submit electronically via IPRO:
(See Section 2.4)

Electronic Submission
https://procure.az.gov

Pre-Proposal Conference:

Pre-Proposal Conference Location:
(See Section 2.1)

Doesn’t Apply

100 N 15Th Ave
Suite 201
Phoenix, Arizona 85007

Deadline to Receive Questions:
(See Section 2.2)

10/18/2016

Question & Answers:
See Section 2.2)

All questions, including those about Terms and
Conditions, must be submitted through
https://procure.az.gov. Questions must be submitted by
the question deadline date

RFP Closing Date: (See Section 1.3) See IPRO Header Document

Initial Term of Contract and Renewals:
(Section 7.1, subsection b)

The initial term of the Contract will be two (2) years with
the option, upon mutual written agreement, for any
combination of full or partial year renewals up to 36
months. Upon mutual agreement, the contract may be
extended or amended.

TAKE NOTE OF THE 0.25% NASPO VALUEPOINT ADMINISTRATIVE FEE DETAILED IN PARAGRAPH 6 OF THE NASPO
VALUEPOINT STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS, WHICH MUST BE INCORPORATED INTO YOUR BASE PRICE.
OTHER STATES, INCLUDING THE STATE OF ARIZONA, MAY NEGOTIATE ADDITIONAL ADMINISTRATIVE FEES IN
THEIR PARTICIPATING AMENDMENTS FOLLOWING AWARD OF A MASTER AGREEMENT.

mailto:christopher.lacey@azdoa.gov
https://procure.az.gov/


4 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
Mailing Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance 

 

Solicitation # ADSPO16-00006328 
 
 

Section 1:  NASPO ValuePoint Solicitation - General Information 

1.1. Purpose 
 

The State of Arizona, State Procurement Office is requesting proposals for Mailroom 
Equipment, Supplies and Maintenance in furtherance of the NASPO ValuePoint 
Cooperative Purchasing Program. The purpose of this Request for Proposals (RFP) is to 
establish Master Agreements with qualified offerors to provide Mailing Equipment, 
Supplies and Maintenance, in all applicable volume ranges from ultra-low volume through 
production environment equipment, to include a wide scope of products to meet the 
mailing needs for all Participating States. 

 
The objective of this RFP is to obtain best value, and achieve more favorable pricing, than 
is obtainable by an individual state or local government entity because of the collective 
volume of potential purchases by numerous state and local government entities. The 
Master Agreement(s) resulting from this procurement may be used by state governments 
(including departments, agencies, institutions), institutions of higher education, political 
subdivisions (e.g., colleges, school districts, counties, cities, etc.), the District of 
Columbia, territories of the United States, and other eligible entities subject to approval 
of the individual state procurement director and compliance with local statutory and 
regulatory provisions. The initial term of the master agreement shall be two (2) years with 
renewal provisions as outlined in Section 6 of the NASPO ValuePoint Master Terms and 
conditions. 

 
It is anticipated that this RFP may result in Master Agreement awards to multiple 
contractors, in the Lead State’s discretion. 

 
This RFP is designed to provide interested Offerors with sufficient information to submit 
proposals meeting minimum requirements, but is not intended to limit a proposal's content 
or exclude any relevant or essential data. Offerors are encouraged to expand upon the 
specifications to add service and value consistent with state requirements. 

 
This solicitation is a replacement for the expiring Master Agreement for the State of 
Arizona and NASPO ValuePoint. 

 

1.2. Lead State, Solicitation Number and Lead State Contract Administrator 
 

The State of Arizona, State Procurement Office is the Lead State and issuing office for 
this document and all subsequent Amendments relating to it. This solicitation (RFP) is a 
competitive process, in accordance with the Arizona Procurement Code available at 
https://spo.az.gov/.  The  Arizona  Procurement  Code  is  a  compilation  in one place of 

https://spo.az.gov/


5 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Arizona Revised Statues (ARS) 41-2501 et seq. and administrative rules and regulations 
A.A.C. R2-7-1010 et seq. The solicitation # ADSPO16-00006328 must be referred to on 
all proposals, correspondence, and documentation relating to this RFP. 

 
The Lead State Contract Administrator identified below is the single point of contact 
during this procurement process. Offerors and interested persons shall direct to the Lead 
State Contract Administrator all questions concerning the procurement process, technical 
requirements of this RFP, contractual requirements, requests for brand approval, 
changes, clarifications, and protests, the award process, and any other questions that 
may arise related to this solicitation and the resulting Master Agreement. The Lead State 
Contract Administrator designated by the State of Arizona, State Procurement Office is: 

 
Christopher Lacey, State Wide Procurement Manager 
State of Arizona, State Procurement Office 
100 N. 15th Avenue 
Phoenix, Arizona 85007 
christopher.lacey@azdoa.gov 
602-542-7165 phone/602-542-5511fax 

 

1.3 Schedule of Events 
 

Anticipated Solicitation Release: Week of Sept 19th 2016 
Anticipated Pre-Proposal Conference: Does Not Apply 
Anticipated Question Deadline: 11/8/2016 
Anticipated Closing Date and Time: 11/15/2016 
Anticipated Award Date: 1/11/2017 

 
All times are Mountain Standard time unless indicated otherwise. 

 

1.4. Definitions 
 

The following definitions apply to this solicitation. Section 6 also contains definitions of 
terms used in this solicitation and the NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement terms and 
conditions. 

 
Lead State means the State conducting this cooperative procurement, evaluation, and 
award. 

 
Offeror means the company or firm who submits a proposal in response to this Request 
for Proposal. 

 
Proposer has the same meaning as Offeror 

 
Proposal means the official written response submitted by an Offeror in response to this 
Request for Proposal. 

 

"Request for Proposals" or "RFP" means the entire solicitation document, including all 
parts, sections, exhibits, attachments, and Amendments. 

 

mailto:christopher.lacey@azdoa.gov


6 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

1.5. NASPO ValuePoint Background Information 
 

NASPO ValuePoint (formerly known as WSCA-NASPO) is a cooperative purchasing 
program of all 50 states, the District of Columbia and the territories of the United States. 
The Program is facilitated by the NASPO Cooperative Purchasing Organization LLC, a 
nonprofit subsidiary of the National Association of State Procurement Officials (NASPO), 
doing business as NASPO ValuePoint. NASPO is a non-profit association dedicated to 
strengthening the procurement community through education, research, and 
communication. It is made up of the directors of the central purchasing offices in each of 
the 50 states, the District of Columbia and the territories of the United States. NASPO 
ValuePoint facilitates administration of the cooperative group contracting consortium of 
state chief procurement officials for the benefit of state departments, institutions, 
agencies, and political subdivisions and other eligible entities (i.e., colleges, school 
districts, counties, cities, some nonprofit organizations, etc.) for all states, the District of 
Columbia, and territories of the United States. For more information consult the following 
websites www.naspovaluepoint.org and www.naspo.org. 

 

1.6. Participating States 
 

In addition to the Lead State conducting this solicitation, the following Participating States 
have requested to be named in this RFP as potential users of the resulting Master 
Agreement: (Enter States with Signed Intent to Participate Document). Other entities may 
become Participating Entities after award of the Master Agreement. Some States may have 
included special or unique terms and conditions for their state that will govern their state 
Participating Addendum. These terms and conditions are being provided as a courtesy to 
proposers to indicate which additional terms and conditions may be incorporated into the 
state Participating Addendum after award of the Master Agreement. The Lead State will 
not address questions or concerns or negotiate other States’ terms and conditions. The 
Participating States shall negotiate these terms and conditions directly with the supplier. 
State-specific terms and conditions are included in Attachments I-Y. 

 

1.7. Anticipated Usage 
 

Attachment “Mailing Equipment Estimated Usage” contains anticipated usage from 
additional states who have indicated an interest in participating. No minimum or maximum 
level of sales volume is guaranteed or implied. 

http://www.naspovaluepoint.org/
http://www.naspo.org/


7 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Section 2: Solicitation Requirements, Information and 
Instructions to Offerors 

2.1. Pre-Offer Conference 

A Pre-Offer Conference will be held at the time and place indicated in the 
solicitation’s “Pre-Bid Conference” field as found within the State of Arizona’s e- 
procurement system ProcureAZ (https://procure.az.gov); attendance is not required. 
The purpose of this conference will be to clarify the contents of the solicitation in 
order to prevent any misunderstanding of the State of Arizona’s position. Any doubt 
as to the requirements of the solicitation or any apparent omission or discrepancy 
should be presented to the State of Arizona at the conference. The State of Arizona 
will then determine the appropriate action necessary, if any, and issue a written 
amendment to the solicitation if required. Oral statements or instructions will not 
constitute an amendment to the solicitation. Persons with a disability may request a 
reasonable accommodation, such as a sign language interpreter, or this document 
in an alternative format, by contacting the State of Arizona’s Procurement Office 
listed on page 3. Requests should be made as early as possible to allow sufficient 
time to arrange for accommodation. 

2.2. Inquiries 

2.2.1 Solicitation Contact Person. Any inquiry related to this Solicitation, including 
any requests for inquiries regarding standards referenced in the Solicitation, shall be 
directed solely to the State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer. 

2.2.2 Submission of Inquiries. All inquiries to the State of Arizona’s Procurement 
Officer related to the Solicitation are required to be submitted in the State of Arizona’s 
E-Procurement System, ProcureAZ (https://procure.az.gov). All interested
Proposers shall utilize the Q&A functionality provided through ProcureAZ
(https://procure.az.gov). All responses to inquiries will be answered in the State’s
eProcurement system. Any inquiry related to the Solicitation should reference the
appropriate solicitation page and paragraph number.

2.2.3 Duty to Examine. It is the responsibility of each Offeror to examine the entire 
Solicitation, seek clarification in writing (inquiries), and examine its Offer for accuracy 
before submitting an Offer. Lack of care in preparing an Offer shall not be grounds 
for modifying or withdrawing the Offer after the Offer due date and time. 

2.2.4 Timeliness. Any inquiry or exception to the Solicitation shall be submitted as 
soon as possible and should be submitted at least seven days before the offer due 
date and time for review and determination by the State of Arizona. Failure to do so 
may result in the inquiry not being considered for a solicitation amendment. 

2.2.5 No Right to Rely on Verbal or Electronic Mail Responses. An Offeror shall not 
rely on verbal or electronic mail responses to inquiries. A verbal or electronic mail 
reply to an inquiry does not constitute a modification of the solicitation. 

https://procure.az.gov/


8 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.3. Preparation of Proposals 
 

2.3.1 Electronic Documents. This solicitation document is provided in an electronic 
format. Any unidentified alteration or modification to any solicitation documents, to 
any attachments, exhibits, forms, charts or illustrations contained herein shall be null 
and void. In those instances, where modifications are identified, the original document 
published by the State of Arizona shall take precedence. Offerors are responsible for 
clearly identifying any and all changes or modifications to any solicitations document 
upon submission to the State of Arizona. 

 
2.3.2 Attachment Formats. All attachments shall be submitted in a format acceptable 
to the State. Acceptable formats include .doc (Microsoft Word document), .xls 
(Microsoft Excel spreadsheet), and .pdf (Adobe Acrobat portable document format). 
Prospective offerors that wish to submit attachments in other formats shall submit an 
inquiry to the Procurement Officer. 

 
2.3.3 Confidential, Protected or Proprietary Information. 
All information identified in the “Confidential” section shall be subject to review by the 
Lead State in accordance with the procedures prescribed by the Lead State’s open 
records statute, freedom of information act, or similar law. 

 
2.3.3.1 If a person believes that any portion of a proposal, bid, offer, 

specification, protest or correspondence contains a trade secret or 
other proprietary information that should be withheld, the Offeror 
shall clearly designate the trade secret and other proprietary 
information, using the term “Confidential” and, the State of Arizona’s 
Procurement Officer shall be so advised in writing. An Offeror shall 
provide a statement detailing the reasons why the information should 
not be disclosed including the specific harm or prejudice that may 
arise upon disclosure. Such material shall be identified as 
“Confidential” wherever it appears. Until a written determination is 
made, the State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer shall not disclose 
information designated as “Confidential” except to those individuals 
deemed to have a legitimate State interest. In the event the State of 
Arizona’s Procurement Officer denies the request for confidentiality, 
the Offeror may appeal the determination to the State of Arizona’s 
Procurement Administrator within the time specified in the written 
determination. The State of Arizona, pursuant to A.C.R.R. R2-7-104, 
shall review all requests for confidentiality and provide a written 
determination. If the confidential request is denied, such information 
shall be disclosed as public information, unless the person, utilizes 
the ‘Protest’ provision as noted in §41-2616. Contract terms and 
conditions, pricing, and information generally available to the 
public are not considered confidential information. 

 

2.3.3.2 All Confidential, Protected or Proprietary information must be 
included  in  one  section  of  your  response.  Do  not  incorporate 



9 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Confidential, Protected or Proprietary information throughout the 
Proposal. 

 
2.3.3.2.1 In the event that a limited amount of “Confidential, 

Protected or Proprietary” information is deemed 
necessary by the Offeror to respond to solicitation, any 
such information must be included in a separate 
section of the Offeror’s proposal response which is 
clearly marked as “Confidential”. In addition, provide a 
reference in the proposal response directing reader to 
the specific area of this protected information section. 

 
2.3.3.2.2 Offerors should be aware that marking any portion of 

an Offer as “Confidential”, may exclude the Offer from 
evaluation or consideration for award. 

 
2.3.3.2.3 Elements of the proposal that define the contractual 

requirements, such as approaches to the statement of 
work, prices, and schedule, may not be marked as 
“Confidential”. Proposals not complying with these 
instructions for identification and segregation of 
confidential and proprietary information may be 
rejected. 

 
2.3.3.2.4 Information included in the “Confidential” section of an 

Offeror’s proposal is not automatically accepted and 
protected. 

 
2.3.4 Exceptions to Terms and Conditions. 

All exceptions included with the Offer shall be submitted in the State of Arizona’s 
eProcurement system in a clearly identified separate section of the Offer in which 
the Offeror clearly identifies the specific paragraphs of the Solicitation where the 
exceptions occur. Any exceptions not included in such a section shall be without 
force and effect in any resulting Contract unless such exception is specifically 
accepted by the State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer in a written statement. An 
Offeror shall provide a statement detailing a justification for each exception item 
request. The Offeror’s preprinted or standard terms will not be considered by the 
State of Arizona as part of any resulting Contract. All exceptions that are 
contained in the Offer may negatively impact an Offeror’s susceptibility for 
award. An Offer that takes exception to any material requirement of the 
solicitation may be rejected. 



10 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.3.5 Evidence of Intent to be Bound. 
The Offer and Acceptance form within the Solicitation shall be submitted with the 
Offer in the State of Arizona’s eProcurement system and shall include a signature 
by a person authorized to sign the Offer. The signature shall signify the Offeror’s 
intent to be bound by the Offer and the terms of the Solicitation and that the 
information provided is true, accurate and complete. The Offer and Acceptance 
Form shall be submitted electronically with the submitted Offer no later than the 
Offer due date and time. Failure to return an Offer and Acceptance Form may 
result in rejection of the offer. 

 
2.3.6 Subcontractors. 

Offerors shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors. Include with their list of 
proposed subcontractors: 

• Subcontractor’s contact information; 

• Subcontractor’s certifications and or licenses required for the 
performance of the Contract; and, 

• Subcontractor’s proposed responsibilities under the Offeror’s 
proposal. 

 

2.3.7 Cost of Offer Preparation. 
The State of Arizona will not reimburse any Offeror the cost of responding to a 
Solicitation. 

 
2.3.8 Federal Excise Tax. 

The State of Arizona is exempt from certain Federal Excise Tax on manufactured 
goods. Exemption Certificates will be provided by the State. 

 
2.3.9 Identification of Taxes in Offer. 

The State of Arizona is subject to all applicable state and local transaction privilege 
taxes. If the products and/or services specified require transaction privilege or use 
taxes or other applicable taxes, they shall be described and itemized separately 
on the Offer. Arizona transaction privilege tax shall not be considered for 
evaluation. 

 
2.3.10 Disclosure. 

If the person submitting this Offer has been debarred, suspended or otherwise 
lawfully precluded from participating in any public procurement activity, including 
being disapproved as a subcontractor with any federal, state or local government, 
or if any such preclusion from participation from any public procurement activity is 
currently pending, the Offeror shall fully explain the circumstances relating to the 
preclusion or proposed preclusion in the Offer. The Offer shall set forth the name 
and address of the governmental unit, the effective date of the suspension or 
debarment, the duration of the suspension or debarment, and the relevant 
circumstances relating to the suspension of debarment. If suspension or 
debarment is currently pending, a detailed description of all relevant circumstances 
including the details enumerated above shall be provided. 



11 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.3.11 Unit Price Prevails. 
In the case of discrepancy between the unit price or rate and the extension of 
that unit price or rate, the unit price or rate shall govern. 

 
2.3.12 Contract Payment Terms. 

Offerors must indicate the prompt payment terms that they will offer to the State 
(for example: 2/10 Net 30; 2/15 Net 30, etc.) At a minimum, offeror’s payment terms 
shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. Titles 35 and 41, Net 30 days. 

 
2.3.13  Prompt Payment Discount. 

Prompt payment discounts of thirty (30) days or more set forth in an Offer shall 
be deducted from the Offer for the purpose of evaluating that price. 

 
2.3.14 Delivery. 

Unless stated otherwise in the Solicitation, all prices shall be F.O.B. Destination 
and shall include all freight, delivery and unloading at the destination(s). 

 
2.3.15 Federal Immigration and Nationality Act. 

By signing of the Offer, the Offeror warrants that both it and all proposed 
subcontractors are in compliance with federal immigration laws and regulation 
(FINA) relating to the immigration status of their employees. The State of Arizona 
may, at its sole discretion require evidence of compliance during the evaluation 
process. Should the State of Arizona request evidence of compliance, the Offeror 
shall have five days from receipt of the request to supply adequate information. 
Failure to comply with this instruction or failure to supply requested information 
within the timeframe specified shall result in the Offer not being considered for 
contract award. 

 
2.3.16 Offshore Performance of Work Prohibited. 

Any services that are described in the specifications or scope of work that directly 
serve the State of Arizona or its clients and involve access to secure or sensitive 
date or personal client data shall be performed within the defined territories of the 
United States. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the specifications, this 
paragraph does not apply to indirect or ‘overhead’ services, redundant back-up 
services or services that are incidental to the performance of the contract. This 
provision applies to work performed by subcontractors at all tiers. Offerors shall 
declare all anticipated offshore services in the Offer. 

 

2.4. Submission of Offer 
 

2.4.1 Offer Submission, Due Date, and Time. 
Offers in response to this solicitation shall be submitted within the State’s e- 
Procurement system, ProcureAZ (https://procure.az.gov). Offers shall be 
received before the date/time listed in the solicitation’s ‘Bid Opening Date' 
field. Offers submitted outside of ProcureAZ, or those that are received on 
or after the date/time stated in the ‘Bid Opening Date’ field, shall be rejected. 
Questions about the submission date and/or time shall be directed to   the 

https://procure.az.gov/


12 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer or to the ProcureAZ Help Desk 
(procure@azdoa.gov or 602.542.7600). 

 
2.4.2 Offer Amendment or Withdrawal. 

An Offer may not be amended or withdrawn after the offer due date and 
time except as otherwise provided under applicable law. 

 
2.4.3 Electronic Submission of Offer. 

 

2.4.3.1 The successful submission of your offer in ProcureAZ is 
critical in order for it to be completely/properly received and 
evaluated. Prior review of the guides available via 
https://procure.az.gov and on https://spo.az.gov/ “Vendor 
Resources” tab can be of assistance in understanding the 
electronic submission process. 

2.4.3.2 The Lead State (State of Arizona) accepts no responsibility for 
a prospective Offeror not receiving solicitation documents 
and/or revisions to the solicitation. It is the responsibility of the 
prospective Offeror to monitor their emails for such notices 
and to monitor ProcureAZ (https://procure.az.gov) to obtain 
RFP addenda or other information relating to the RFP. 

 
2.4.4 Non-collusion, Employment, and Services. 

By signing the Offer and Acceptance form or other official contract form, 
the Offeror certifies that: 

 
2.4.4.1 The Offeror did not engage in collusion or other anti- 

competitive practices in connection with the preparation or 
submission of its Offer; and, 

2.4.4.2 The Offeror does not discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment or person to whom if provides 
services because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, 
or disability, and that it complies with applicable federal, state 
and local laws and executive orders regarding employment. 

 
2.4.5 Waiver and Rejection Rights: 

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Solicitation, the State reserves 
the right to: 
2.4.5.1 Waive any minor informality; 
2.4.5.2 Reject any and all Offers or portions thereof; or, 
2.4.5.3 Cancel the Solicitation. If the Lead State (State of Arizona) 

determines such action to be in the collective best interests of 
Participating States, this solicitation may be canceled at any 
time, up until the time of award of the Master Agreement(s). 

 

2.4.6 A responsive, responsible Offeror  shall submit the following: 

mailto:(procure@azdoa.gov


13 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.4.6.1 Offer and Acceptance. Offers shall include a signed Offer and 
Acceptance form. The Offer and Acceptance form shall be 
signed with a signature by the person authorized to sign the 
Offer, and shall be submitted in the State of Arizona’s 
eProcurement system with the Offer no later than the 
Solicitation due date and time. Failure to return an Offer and 
Acceptance form may result in rejection of the Offer. 

 
2.4.6.2 Acknowledgement of Solicitation Amendments. Offeror shall 

acknowledge Solicitation Amendments electronically in 
ProcureAZ (https://procure.az.gov) no later than the Offer due 
date and time. Failure to acknowledge all/any Solicitation 
Amendment may result in rejection of the Offer. 

2.4.6.2.1 Alternately to the electronic 
acknowledgement in ProcureAZ, the Offeror 
can attach a counter-signed copy of each 
Amendment in ProcureAZ as part of their 
Offer. 

 
2.4.6.3 Offer Forms: Offerors shall include the following Offer Forms, 

completed accurately, in the format provided and according to 
the instructions. Failure to follow Offer Form instructions may 
result in rejection of Offer. 

 
2.4.6.3.1 Attachment A – Capacity of Offerors 

Questionnaire - Submit a response addressing 
each item in Attachment A – Capacity of Offeror 
– The narrative response to this questionnaire 
shall be uploaded as an attachment in 
ProcureAZ. 

 
2.4.6.3.2 Attachment B – Key Personnel Form. 

Complete and submit the Key Personnel form in 
accordance with the instructions. 

 
2.4.6.3.3 Attachment C & C-1 - Pricing and Pricing 

Scenario Workbooks Attachments are located 
under the Attachments Tab within ProcureAZ. 
and must be submitted 

 
2.4.6.3.3.1 Attachment C – Pricing Excel 

Workbook (attached in the 
Attachments Tab with 
Procure.Az.gov). Complete and 
submit the Pricing Workbook in 
accordance  with  the instructions 



14 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

highlighted on the Pricing 
Worksheets. 

2.4.6.3.3.2 Attachment C1 – Pricing 
Scenarios Sheet (attached in 
the Attachments Tab with 
Procure.Az.gov). Complete and 
submit the Pricing Scenario 
Workbook in accordance with the 
instructions highlighted on the 
Pricing Scenario Worksheets. 

 
2.4.6.3.4 Attachment D – Authorized Dealers Form - 

Must be completed and submitted in ProcureAZ. 
 

2.4.6.3.5 Attachment E - Offer and Acceptance Form 
Must be completed, signed/dated and submitted 
in ProcureAZ. 

 
2.4.6.3.6 Attachment F - Designation of Confidential, 

Trade Secret & Proprietary Information. Must 
be completed, signed/dated and submitted in 
ProcureAZ. 

 
2.4.6.3.7 Attachment G – References 

Must be completed (all references must be 
verifiable), signed/dated and submitted in 
ProcureAZ. 

 

2.5. References and Experience 
 

The Offeror agrees that by submitting an Offer, the State of Arizona or its 
designated agent may contact any entities listed in the Offer or any entities known 
to have a previous business relationship with the Offeror for the purpose of 
obtaining references relative to past performance and verifying experience or other 
information submitted with the Offer. In addition, by submitting an Offer, the Offeror 
is agreeing to give permission to the entity to provide information and the Offeror 
will take whatever action is necessary to facilitate, encourage or authorized the 
release of information, if necessary, the Offeror shall sign a release to obtain 
information. 

 

2.6 Responsibility 
 

In accordance with A.R.S. §41-2534(G), A.A.C. R2-7-312 and R2-7-C316, the 
State of Arizona shall consider, at a minimum, the following in determining 
Offeror’s responsibility, as well, as the Offeror’s responsiveness and acceptability 
for contract award. 



15 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.6.1 Whether the Offeror has had a contract within the last five (5) years that 
was terminated for cause due to breach or similar failure to comply with the 
terms of the contract; 

2.6.2 Whether the Offeror’s record of performance includes factual evidence of 
failure to satisfy the terms of the Offeror’s agreements with any party to a 
contract. Factual evidence may consist of documented vendor performance 
reports, customer complaints and/or negative references; 

 
2.6.3 Whether the Offeror is legally qualified to contract with the State of Arizona 

and the Offeror’s financial, business, personnel, or other resources, 
including subcontractors; 

2.6.3.1 Legally qualified includes if the vendor or if key personnel 
have been debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully 
prohibited from participating in any public procurement 
activity, including but not limited to, being disapproved as a 
subcontractor of any public procurement unit or other 
governmental body. 

 
2.6.4 Whether the Offeror promptly supplied all requested information concerning 

its responsibility; 
 

2.6.5 Whether the Offer was sufficient to permit evaluation by the State of 
Arizona, in accordance with the evaluation criteria identified in this 
Solicitation or other necessary offer components. Necessary offer 
components include: attachments, documents or forms to be submitted with 
the offer, an indication of the intent to be bound, reasonable or acceptable 
approach to perform the Scope of Work, signed Solicitation Amendments, 
references to include experience verification, adequacy of 
financial/business/personal or other resources to include a performance 
bond and stability including subcontractors and any other data 
specifically requested in the Solicitation; 

 
2.6.6 Whether the Offer was in conformance with the requirements contained in 

the Scope of Work, Terms and Conditions, and Instructions for the 
Solicitation and its Amendments, including the documents incorporated by 
reference; 

 
2.6.7 Whether the Offer limits the rights of the State; 

 
2.6.8 Whether the Offer includes or is subject to unreasonable conditions, to 

include conditions upon the State of Arizona or necessary for successful 
Contract performance. The State of Arizona shall be the sole determiner as 
to the reasonableness of a condition; 



16 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.6.9 Whether the Offer materially changes the contents set forth in the 
Solicitation, which includes the Scope of Work, Terms and Conditions, or 
Instructions; and, 

 
2.6.10 Whether the Offeror provides misleading or inaccurate information. 

 

2.7. Responsiveness and Acceptability 
 

Proposals that do not contain information sufficient to evaluate the proposal in 
accordance with the factors identified in the solicitation or other necessary 
proposal components may not be considered responsive and/or acceptable. 
Necessary components include an indication of the Offeror’s intent to be bound, 
price proposal, solicitation amendments, bond and reference data as required. 
Proposal Content. The Offeror shall make a firm commitment to provide services 
as required and proposed. The material contained in the Offer shall be relevant to 
the service requirements stated in the solicitation. It is to be submitted in a 
sequence that reflects the scope of work section of this document. It is to include 
information relevant to the designated evaluation criteria. Failure to include the 
requested information may have a negative impact on the evaluation of the 
Offeror’s proposal. 

 

2.8. Opening 
 

Proposals received by the correct time and date will be opened and the name of 
each Offeror will be publicly available through the State of Arizona’s eProcurement 
system (https://procure.az.gov). Proposals will not be available on the 
eProcurement system until after contract award. 

 

2.9. Offer Acceptance Period 
 

Responses to this RFP, including proposed costs, will be considered firm for one 
hundred and eighty (180) days after the proposal due date and time. 

 

2.10. Clarifications 
 

Upon receipt and opening of proposals submitted in response to this solicitation, 
the State may request oral or written clarifications, including demonstrations or 
questions and answers, for the sole purpose of information gathering or for 
eliminating minor informalities or correcting nonjudgmental mistakes in proposals. 
Clarifications shall not otherwise afford Offerors the opportunity to alter or change 
their proposal. 

 

2.11 Oral Presentations 
 

The State of Arizona may request oral presentations. If requested, the Offeror shall 
be available for oral presentations with no more than ten (10) business days’ 
advance notice. Participants in the oral presentations should include the Offeror's 



17 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

key persons. Such oral presentations shall not otherwise afford an Offeror the 
opportunity to alter or change its Offer. 

 

2.12. Evaluation 
 

In accordance with the Arizona Procurement code A.R.S. § 41-2534, awards shall 
be made to the responsible Offeror(s) whose proposal is determined in writing to 
be the most advantageous to the State based upon the evaluation criteria listed 
below. The evaluation factors are listed in their relative order of importance: 

1. Capacity of Offeror, Key Personnel 
2. Cost 
3. Exceptions to the Terms and Conditions 

Exceptions to the Terms and Conditions, may impact an Offeror’s susceptibility for 
award. Confidential or Proprietary Information 

 

2.13 Discussions 
 

In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-2534, after the initial receipt of proposals, the State 
may conduct discussions with those Offerors who submit proposals determined by 
the State to be reasonably susceptible of being selected for award. 

 

2.14.   Best and Final Offer (BAFO) 
 

If discussions are conducted, the State of Arizona shall issue a written request for 
Best and Final Offers (BAFO's). The request shall set forth the date, time and place 
for the submission of BAFO’s. BAFO’s shall be requested only once; unless, the 
State of Arizona makes a determination that it is advantageous to conduct further 
discussions. 

 

2.15 Contract Award 
 

Award of a contract will be made to the most responsive and responsible Offeror(s) 
whose proposal is determined to be the most advantageous to the State of Arizona 
based on the evaluation criteria set forth in the solicitation. 

 
2.15.1 Number of Types of Awards. 

 
2.15.1.1 The Lead State (State of Arizona) reserves the right to 

make a single award, multiple awards or to award a 
Contract by individual line items or alternatives, by 
group of line items or alternatives, or to make an 
aggregate award, or regional awards, whichever the 
Lead State (State of Arizona) determines is most 
advantageous to the collective best interest of the 
Participating States. 

2.15.1.2 Each State reserves the right to enter into a single 
Participating  Addendum  (PA)  or  enter  into  multiple 



18 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

PAs, whichever is most advantageous to the 
Participating State. 

2.15.2 Contract Inception. An Offer does not constitute a Contract nor does 
it confer any rights on the Offeror to the award of a Contract. A 
Contract is not created until the Offer is accepted in writing by the 
State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer’s signature on the Offer and 
Acceptance form. A notice of award or of the intent to award shall not 
constitute acceptance of the Offer. 

 

2.16 Public Record 
 

All Proposals submitted in response to this Request for Proposal shall become the 
property of the State of Arizona and shall become a matter of Public Record 
available for review and must be retained by the State of Arizona for six years. 
Offers shall be open and available to public inspection through the State of 
Arizona’s eProcurement system after Contract award, except for such Offers 
deemed to be confidential by the State of Arizona. 

 

2.17 Protests 
 

A protest shall comply with and be resolved according to Arizona Revised Statutes 
Title 41, Chapter 23, Article 9 and rules adopted there under. Protests shall be in 
writing and be filed with both the State of Arizona’s Procurement Officer of the 
purchasing agency and with the State of Arizona’s Procurement Administrator. A 
protest of a Solicitation shall be received by the State of Arizona’s Procurement 
Officer before the Offer due date. A protest of a proposed award or of an award 
shall be filed within ten (10) days after the protester knows or should have known 
the basis of the protest. A protest shall include: 

2.17.1 The name, address and telephone number of the protester; 

2.17.2 The signature of the protester or its representative; 

2.17.3 Identification of the purchasing agency and the Solicitation or Contract 
number; 

2.17.4 A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds of the protest 
including copies of relevant documents; and, 

2.17.5 The form of relief requested. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



19 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Section 3:  Scope of Work 

Contractor shall provide equipment, services, and support to meet the mailing needs of 
the customer per the limitations of their award. The applicable product range will include 
software license and subscriptions, ultra-low volume equipment through equipment 
used in mailing production environments, including postage meter rental, accessories, 
supplies, and maintenance. All equipment and services offered must meet the approval 
of the USPS® if applicable. 

3.1. Products and Services Categories by Geographic Area 

While the primary purpose of this solicitation is to select a manufacturer(s) who can 
provide the equipment, supplies and service for all potential Participating Entities, a 
Contractor is permitted to respond for more limited geographical areas, however not 
less than a single Participating State. Contractor must clearly describe the geographical 
limits (e.g. by state name) if proposing a geographical area less than that of all potential 
Participating States (see Attachment A Offer Response Form Capacity of Offeror 
Questionnaire). However, if a Contractor elects to submit a proposal for a limited 
geographical area the Contractor must be willing to service the entire state(s) within that 
geographical area. The Contractor may request to add additional states to the contract 
at a later date following the award if mutually agreed upon by the Contractor and the 
Master Agreement Contract Administrator. Any award received does not guarantee any 
State will sign a Participating Addendum with the Contractor and additional states. 

3.2 Products 

3.2.1 

3.2.1.1. 

Contractor(s) shall provide equipment and support to meet the 
mailing needs of the customer per the extent of their award. The 
applicable product range will include mailroom-related software 
license and subscriptions, ultra-low volume equipment and all other 
mail room equipment including mailing production environment 
equipment and accessories. The equipment, support, accessories 
and options as contained in specific product manufacturer’s 
established catalog/price lists are placed into groups specified within 
this solicitation. All equipment, and support offered must meet the 
approval of the USPS® if applicable. Any awarded contractor(s) 
shall also include information on all environmental features of each 
item, including but not limited to: energy efficiency modes and 
their operation, double sided copying operations and double sided 
default programming, the extent to which any supplies and other 
packaging may qualify for recycling, re-manufacturing, and will 
provide the environmental and economic benefits of these features. 

Printers – The only printers allowed for purchase through this 
solicitation are special printers sole use for which is tied to mail 
room equipment. If a regular printer (e.g. an HP Printer) is able to 
be utilized in the same fashion, and function as the printer available 



20 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

from the Contractor, then the printer from the Contractor is not 
allowed. Allowable printers may be purchased with a mail room 
equipment system or as a product replacement from a purchase 
from this or a previous Master Agreement. 

3.2.1.2. Computers - The only computers allowed for purchase through 
this solicitation are those computers dedicated to mail room 
equipment and operations. 

3.2.1.3 Furniture - Furniture is being awarded within each category as well 
as being classified as an independent category. The furniture that 
is applicable to the independent furniture category is furniture that 
is specific to mail rooms but not specific to the mail equipment 
category. E.g. Case work or mobile mail cart etc. The furniture 
section within each category is relevant to furniture that would be 
considered agreeable with the mailroom equipment with which they 
are compatible. 

3.2.1.4 Accessories – All accessories, including tablets and scanners, 
shall be relevant to the functioning of a mail room. If there is any 
concern over a specific item being included in this category, said 
items will be submitted to the Contract Administrator for a decision. 
The Contract Administrator’s decision is the final determination as 
to whether an item is included in the Scope of any Master 
Agreement. 

3.2.1.5 Trade In/Buy Back - Contractor shall provide a Trade in /Buy Back 
program to help ensure Participating Entity has the best options to 
meet their needs. This program is required; however, it is at the sole 
option of the Participating Entity to utilize this program. Please 
provide the details of your Trade In/Buy Back program in your 
response. 

3.2.1.6 All equipment identified as EnergyStar compliant shall be delivered 
and installed with the Energy Star or similar power management 
features enabled. 

3.3. Remanufactured Equipment 

3.3.1 A Contractor may offer Remanufactured or Refurbished Equipment 
that is certified by the Manufacturer. All Remanufactured or 
Refurbished Equipment will be clearly labeled as Remanufactured 
equipment. Pricing will be based on a quote and on an Individual 
Case Basis (ICB). All quotes will also provide the fixed annual 
maintenance rate for years 2-5. Remanufactured equipment shall 
come with a 1 year all-inclusive as new-warranty and the Offeror 
shall be able to provide maintenance for years 2-5 that includes all 
service, labor, software maintenance, and parts. If for any reason a 
Contractor is not able to provide maintenance (including parts), the 
Contractor(s) will provide, entirely at their expense, a   replacement 



21 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

piece of equipment and/or software. Any replacement items shall 
have the equal or greater performance and functionality along with 
the maintenance for the equipment for the duration of the original five 
(5) year maintenance period (including maintenance on the 
replacement equipment) at no additional charge. All other 
requirements of the Master Agreement continue to apply. 

3.3.2 Shipping is to be FOB destination, inside to the contiguous 48 states, 
Washington DC and point of exportation for Alaska, Hawaii, Puerto 
Rico, and territories for shipments outside the 48 contiguous states. 
The point of exportation location must be agreed to, in writing, by the 
vendor and the Participating Entity. At that point, shipping terms, 
charges and conditions should be negotiated with the end-user. 
These Participating Entities must be notified in advance of any 
possible shipping charges and mutually agreed to in writing before 
any purchase or lease is allowed. 

The Contractor(s) shall furnish equipment within twenty (20) 
business days after receipt of order, or a delivery time mutually 
agreed upon, in writing, between the Participating Entity and the 
Contractor. The Contractor shall notify the Participating Entity in 
advance of delivery of equipment so that the Participating Entity can 
make necessary arrangements. Delivery of start-up supplies shall be 
made upon or before delivery of equipment. Delivery shall be made 
in accordance with instructions (time and quantities ordered) from 
the Participating Entity as detailed on the Purchase Order. All 
deliveries shall be accompanied with a Bill of Lading containing the 
Purchase Order number, the items ordered, the Master Agreement 
numbers, (both the Master Agreement number and the Participating 
Entities number) pricing and any special instructions. If there is a 
discrepancy between the Purchase Order and what is listed on the 
Master Agreement, it is the Contractor's obligation to seek 
clarification from the Participating Entity. 

 
All deliveries and installation work shall be performed during regular 
working hours, defined as 7:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. Monday through 
Friday. Changes may be granted with written approval of the 
Participating Entity. Any delivery required to be performed outside 
regular working hours or on Saturdays, Sundays or legal holidays, 
as may be reasonably required consistent with contractual 
obligations, and if agreeable to both the Contractor and the 
Participating Entity, shall be agreed to in writing by both parties. 

 
The Contractor shall be responsible for the delivery of equipment in 
first class condition at the point of assembly, and in accordance with 
good commercial practices. The Contractor shall also be responsible 
for the removing of all debris associated with the purchase from the 
premises. 



22 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

 Packing for shipment shall be provided to adequately protect 
the product and ensure safe shipment. 

 Shipping cases shall be marked to indicate the name of the 
Contractor/Manufacturer’s name and address of receiving 
Participating Entity, Purchase Order number, and Contract 
number (both the Master Agreement number and the 
Participating Entities number). 

 
Participating Entities are authorized to order and the Contractor is 
authorized to ship only those items approved and awarded under the 
Master Agreement. If any items other than those awarded in the 
applicable Master Agreement and not eliminated in the PA 
negotiation process have been ordered and delivered, the 
Participating Entity shall take any steps necessary to have the items 
returned to the Contractor. Contractor shall issue full credit upon 
return of item(s). Violation may result in administrative actions 
including, but not be limited to termination of the Participating 
Addendum or the Master Agreement. 

 

3.4 Training & Support Services 
 

3.4.1 Upon   delivery   and   installation   of   specified  equipment,  the 
Contractor shall provide training to personnel designated by the 
Participating Entity. Operational Training must be provided to the 
designated personnel until the personnel are able to operate the 
equipment independently. The amount of training is determined by 
the complexity of the equipment purchased, rented or leased by 
the Participating Entity. Installed product and system training shall 
be included in the price. Contractor shall provide additional training 
at the Participating Entity’s request throughout the life of the 
equipment. All training will be performed on the Participating 
Entity’s sites, via remote or electronic delivery. Site required 
training will be at no additional charge if the equipment is either 
under warranty or an active maintenance plan. Upon the mutual 
agreement of both parties, additional training outside of initial 
installation will be at the participating entity’s expense. Contractor 
will be responsible for the cost of all travel, lodging and food; no 
charges will be passed on to the Participating Entity. 

The Contractor must agree to maintain a toll-free technical support 
telephone line. The telephone line shall be accessible to 
Participating Entity personnel who need to obtain competent 
technical assistance regarding the installation or operation of the 
Contractors equipment. The toll-free support line shall be available 
during regular working hours, defined as 7:00 A.M. to 6:00 P.M. 
local time Monday through Friday. 



23 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

3.5 Instruction Manuals 
 

3.5.1 Instruction manuals shall be included at no cost for each piece of 
equipment that is purchased or rented. The instruction manual shall 
contain, but not be limited to: 

• Glossary 

• A section defining the capabilities of the equipment 
(specifications) 

• A general section describing the technical operation of the 
equipment 

• A section describing the installation and use criteria of the 
equipment 

• A section on the primary points of contacts for sales, training 
and maintenance/service 

• All manuals and instruction shall be in the English language 
 

3.6 Technology Advancements 
 

New equipment and technologies will be considered for the possible 
implementation as long as they are in consonance with USPS rules and 
guidelines. 

 

3.7 Software purchases or subscriptions 
 

Software acquired under this Master Agreement shall be specific to the needs of 
mail operations. Purchase order shall reference a manufacturer’s most recent 
release or version of the product unless the Participating Entity specifically 
requests in writing a different version. As a minimum, software licenses shall 
provide license rights as prescribed in section 20 of the NASPO ValuePoint Master 
Agreement Terms and Conditions in Section 6 of this RFP. Rights in software 
other than as proposed shall be negotiated and agreed to by the Participating 
Entity as defined in the PA. 

3.7.1 In addition to the services directly associated with the receipt of 
product under this Scope, the Contractor(s) will provide services 
related to the selection, purchase and management of distributed 
software, these services include, but are not limited to: 

3.7.1.1 Assemble, Production Equipment Only 
3.7.1.2 Software Installation/Integration 
3.7.1.3 Design, Production Equipment only 
3.7.1.4 Maintenance, Annual and Time and Material 
3.7.1.5 Legacy Maintenance 
3.7.1.6 Lease/Rental/Purchase Options 

 

3.8. Equipment Performance 
 

3.8.1 Equipment at each individual location shall maintain, at all times a 
95% or better uptime. Downtime shall be computed from the time the 



24 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Contractor representative is notified of equipment failure until the 
equipment is fully operational. Equipment that does not meet the 
performance standard of 95% for a two (2) consecutive month period 
or for three (3) months in a rolling twelve (12) month period shall be 
replaced by the Contractor with equal or better equipment. It is 
understood and accepted that equipment failure may not be 
attributed to the use of recycled paper and/or 
recycled/remanufactured supplies, as long as those products meet 
the specifications set by the USPS. 

3.8.2 Replacement of Unsatisfactory Equipment. 

The Contractor shall grant a credit for any equipment which fails to 
perform at the effectiveness level defined in section 3.8.1 The credit 
shall be equivalent to the percentage of down time experienced 
within that month. 

The Contractor may elect to replace an individual component or 
section that is defective in Production Equipment. The Participating 
Entity shall notify the Contractor in writing if the repair does not 
resolve the issue. This written notification will act as a cure letter 
allowing fifteen (15) days to have resolution plan in place. 

During the warranty period, unsatisfactory equipment performance 
will require an even exchange of equipment of equal or greater 
performance at no additional cost. 

After the warranty period, the credit value shall be the amount paid 
at the time of purchase. 

If equipment or software is not functional after 60 days of delivery, 
the Purchasing Entity may return for full refund or cancel any rental 
or lease agreement with no fees or charges of any kind. 

 

3.9. Maintenance on Purchased Equipment 
 

3.9.1 This Master Agreement recognizes two (2) categories of 
maintenance, Preventive maintenance and Repair Service which is 
covered by the Service Level Agreement. The Contractor must have 
the resources, distribution capabilities, inventory of parts, 
consumable supplies, and staff to meet the requirements of the 
Master Agreement. Contractor or Contractor’s Authorized 
Dealers/Partners shall maintain replacement parts to ensure 
minimum downtime. Pricing shall include all maintenance including, 
but not limited to, all parts, labor and time, and preventative 
maintenance services at the levels specified for each piece of 
equipment. The Contractor must offer a full service maintenance 
contract for all equipment placed. However, the Participating Entity 
shall have the option of not entering into a maintenance/service 
contract on purchased equipment, but choose to utilize the Time and 
Materials option. On-site service shall be available on an immediate 



25 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

need service call basis. Preventive scheduled maintenance is based 
on the equipment requirements by the Manufacturer. These shall 
include, cleaning, lubrication, parts replacement and necessary 
adjustments. Maintenance on any equipment purchased under the 
Master Agreement must be available for five years. 

• Contractor /Authorized Dealer shall provide and maintain a toll- 
free number, an email address and a fax number for Maintenance 
and Repair Service. 

3.9.2 If a Contractor is called due to non-performance of a system, and the 
Contractor arrives and determines that the issue is with an excluded 
item and not their product, they will notify the Purchasing Entity. If 
the equipment is under a maintenance agreement or in the initial 
one-year warranty time frame, there will be no cost to the Purchasing 
Entity for the diagnostic call. If the equipment is not under warranty 
or a maintenance plan the Contractor may charge their hourly 
contracted rate. 

 

3.10 Service Level Agreements 
 

3.10.1 All Service Level Agreements shall meet the following 
requirements: 

3.10.1.1 Two (2) hour response time (acknowledgement) to all 
written or oral notices of a service requirement due to 
an equipment stoppage or malfunction. 

3.10.1.2 A  factory trained service technician, shall be on site 
before close business or within 4 hours at the start 
of the next business day. 

3.10.1.3 Any Purchasing Entities that require a 24hr/7 days 
per week maintenance agreement will be negotiated 
during the PA process. 

3.10.1.4 All parts that require maintenance by a service 
technician are to be included and considered part of 
the service repair plan. Failed/defective parts shall be 
replaced at no additional charge to the Participating 
Entity. 

3.10.1.5 Consumable supplies shall be billed separately. 
3.10.1.6 If the equipment includes licensed software, the 

Contractor shall provide software support. 
3.10.1.7 Contractor shall maintain a service log for each piece 

of equipment at each location. Service log shall be 
available for Participating entity to review. 

3.10.1.8 The Contractor shall supply loaner equipment at 
equal or greater functionality, at no additional charge, 
for any inoperable equipment exceeding three (3) 
business days from time of diagnosis. The Contractor 
may offer, in lieu of loaner equipment, to provide 



26 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

production or alternative services during the period of 
 



27 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

repair. This shall be mutually agreed upon in writing 
beforehand. 

 

3.11 Legacy Maintenance 
 

3.11.1 The Contractor shall provide maintenance on legacy devices already 
sold to a Participating Entity. Pricing will be provided on an Individual 
Case Basis (ICB), through a quote process. 

3.11.2 The Contractor must have the resources, distribution capabilities, 
inventory of parts, consumable supplies and staff to meet the 
requirements of any Master Agreement. Legacy maintenance pricing 
shall include but not limited to all parts, labor and time at the levels 
specified for each piece of equipment that has previously been 
purchased from the Manufacturer. The Participating Entity shall have 
the option of not entering into a maintenance/service contract on 
purchased equipment, but choose to utilize the Time and Materials 
option. On-site service is to be available on both an immediate need 
service call basis, and as needed for preventive maintenance. 
Preventive maintenance shall be based on the needs of the 
individual equipment as determined by the manufacturer. This shall 
include cleaning, lubrication, necessary adjustments, and 
replacement of unserviceable parts. Maintenance shall be available 
for equipment that is up to 10 years old from date of purchase. 

 

3.12 Design and Software Consulting Services 
 

Design layout services must be provided at no cost by the Contractor, with the 
exception of production environment equipment and software consulting services. The 
total number of hours/days required for services must be agreed to in writing before any 
design services or software consulting services are initiated.  The Contractor shall only 
charge for actuals costs incurred. 

 

3.13 Installation/Integration 
 

3.13.1 All equipment prices shall include installation, with the exception of 
integrating software solutions and Production Equipment. 
Contractor may charge the contracted rate for integrating software 
and Production equipment installation. The total number of 
hours/days needed shall be agreed to, in writing, before any 
Installation or, Integration services may be initiated. The Contractor 
shall charge only for actual costs incurred. 

3.13.2 If a Contractor needs to utilize special Rigging (e.g. a crane) where 
the Participating Entity does not have an elevator accessible for 
moving the equipment, they may charge the hourly Installation 
/Integration rate. However, all “rigging” charges shall be mutually 
agreed to, in writing, before work begins. 



28 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

3.13.3 Contractor shall affix a label or a decal to the equipment at the time 
of installation showing warranty period by dates, and the name, address, 
and telephone number of the Contractor responsible for warranty service of 
the equipment. 

3.13.4 The Contractor and the participating entity shall, prior to purchase, review 
the installation location to ensure the proposed location meets the 
manufacturer's installation criteria. If special installation is required, the 
Contractor and Participating Entity shall agree in writing, to the total cost of 
the installation based on the hourly/daily rates provided within the Master 
Agreement. Should the proposed installation location not meet established 
installation criteria, the Contractor and the Participating Entity may attempt 
to locate an alternate mutually agreeable location for the equipment. 

 

3.14 Software Maintenance. 

Maintenance shall be available for all software licenses purchased. Software 
maintenance shall include all software updates, patches and new releases/versions and 
shall be available to all Participating Entities. It is the Contractor’s responsibility to 
communicate all updates, patches, and new releases/versions to all end users. No 
additional fee shall be charged for installation of the upgrades. The Contractor shall be 
responsible for Postage Scale software licensing. 

 

3.15 Equipment Leasing. 
 

Participating Entities may enter into lease agreements for the products covered in the 
Master Agreement. Responders who wish to participate in lease agreements with these 
individual states/entities must submit copies of all of their lease agreements with their 
response to this RFP. The lease agreements will not be reviewed or evaluated as part of 
the RFP evaluation process. The agreements will simply be made available to any state 
or entity who wishes to negotiate a lease agreement with a Contractor. Any additional 
Terms and Conditions submitted that are specifically for Equipment Leasing will not 
become part of the Master Agreement, but the negotiated Lease T&C’s will be made part 
of the PA. 

 

3.16 Equipment Rental. 
 

Individual Participating States and Participating Entities may enter in to rental agreements 
for the products covered in the Master Agreements resulting from the RFP, if they have 
the legal authority to enter into these types of agreements. Responders who wish to 
participate in rental agreements with these individual states/entities must submit copies 
of all of their pertinent rental agreements with their responses to this RFP. No additional 
Terms and Conditions shall apply to any rental agreements. The rental agreements will 
not be reviewed or evaluated as part of the evaluation process. The agreements will 
simply be made available to any state or entity who wishes to negotiate a rental 
agreement with a Contractor. Any additional Terms and Conditions submitted that are 
specifically for Equipment Rental will not become part of the Master Agreement, but the 



29 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

negotiated Rental T&C’s will be made part of the PA. 
 

3.17 Develop and Maintain Website. 
 

For each Participating Entity, the Contractor shall develop and support a website specific 
to that Participating Entity, with content approved by the Contract Administrator and/or 
State Procurement Officer as appropriate. This web site information shall be available 
through the Internet without the use of additional software or licenses. Website should be 
user friendly to allow for quick and easy access and use. Contractor should provide web- 
based training regarding use of website at no additional cost, and online, email, or 
telephone help should be available to assist during the Participating Entity’s standard 
working hours. Website must be available 24 x 7, except for scheduled maintenance and 
be ADA compliant. No costs or expenses associated with providing this information shall 
be charged to the Participating Entity. Universal Resource Locator (URL) for the website 
must be supplied to the Participating Entity and the Master Agreement Contract 
Administrator within 60 days of the execution of a PA. The website shall include Master 
Agreement information, product information/catalog, and other pertinent information as 
may be reasonably requested by Participating Entity. 

3.17.1 Contract and General Information. The website will provide Master 
Agreement information to include, at a minimum: the contract 
number(s) (Master Agreement and PA); the Contractor’s contact 
names and titles, including primary contact and contacts to whom 
incidents should be escalated; areas of responsibility for each 
contact name as well as their phone numbers and email addresses; 
Complete information for all Authorized Dealers/Partner for the 
geographical area of the Purchasing Entity to include contact names 
and titles, phone numbers, email addresses and a copy of the 
escalation plan for the Purchasing Entity; information on use of 
website; quote and ordering information; and any relevant 
notifications concerning the equipment, supplies and support 
available under any Master Agreement. 

3.17.2 Online Catalog. The website shall provide Master Agreement and 
ordering information to include, at a minimum: product names, 
product numbers, product MSRP pricing, and product descriptions 
(photos optional or links to access product literature optional), and 
the contracted discount rate applicable to the product. Non- 
authorized products or groups of products shall either not be 
viewable on the website or shall be clearly marked as excluded 
products. Regardless of the number and types of links to the 
Contractor’s electronic catalog, the Contractor shall ensure that all 
eligible agencies purchasing from one PA are able to access one, 
and only one, version of the product catalog. 

3.17.3 Product Searching Capability. At a minimum, the online catalog 
should be searchable by product name, product number, and 
description. 



30 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

3.18 Customer Service and Representation 
 

3.18.1 Dedicated Representation and Timely Response. Contractor shall 
provide a dedicated representative for each Participating Entity. The 
Contractor shall submit a list of all Authorized Dealers/Partners by 
State. The list shall include the name of the dealer, the contact name, 
title, phone number, physical address, and email address. The 
Participating Entity shall have sole discretion as to which of the 
Authorized Dealers/Partner they choose to utilize. The 
Representative will provide an individual for quote assistance, 
equipment, services and support recommendations, track and report 
on equipment lease/rental renewal deadlines, and serve as a contact 
point for the Participating Entity. Contractor and Authorized Dealers 
must commit to returning phone calls or responding to emails within 
two business days. 

3.18.2 Problem Escalation. Contractor must provide an incident escalation 
path for each Participating Entity, providing on that Participating 
Entity’s website, the name, contact information, and role of 
individuals to whom problems should be escalated if the problems 
are not resolved by primary contact with both the Contractor and 
Authorize Dealer/Partner. 

3.18.3 Contract Reviews. The Contractor shall attend an annual meeting 
with Master Agreement Contract Administrator and sourcing team 
to review usage and discuss any issues that are occurring, if 
requested. The Contractor shall meet more often if the Master 
Agreement Contract Administrator deems necessary. The 
Contractor shall conduct a customer satisfaction survey and 
detailed issues encountered during the previous six-month term. 
The Contractor shall be prepared to discuss overall effectiveness 
of contract, total sales, potential cost savings opportunities when 
could be passed through to the Participating Entities. In a renewal 
year, the annual review will take place prior to contract extensions. 
It is the Contractors responsibility to schedule meetings. The 
Contractor Administrator shall schedule the meeting with the 
Contactor. 

 

3.19 Price Quote, General 

Pricing shall be submitted in the Master Agreement as a discount off of MSRP list price, 
with the following exceptions: Maintenance shall be priced based on a Time and Material 
basis (hourly rate), Design (For Production Equipment only), Installation (Production 
Equipment only), and Software Consulting Services shall be provided on an hourly/daily 
rate basis. Individual PA’s may use the Master Agreement pricing as a base and may 
negotiate an adjusted rate. Any negotiated PA rates, exclusive of taxes or any individual 
state’s administrative fee, shall not exceed the MPA rates. As requested by Purchasing 
Entity, for example on a high volume single order, Contractor may negotiate to reduce 
cost for the Participating Entity. Firm individual order quotes shall be provided to 
Purchasing Entity prior to order submittal. All quotes for purchase, rental or lease shall 



31 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

contain enough detail to easily validate pricing contained within the Master Agreement. 

3.19.1 Telephone or Email Quote Support. Contractor/Authorized Dealer 
shall accept requests for quotes by telephone, fax, and email. 
Contractor /Authorized Dealer shall provide and maintain a toll-free 
number for Purchasing Entity to use. Contractor shall provide an 
email address for receipt of requests for price quotes. The 
Contractor must provide written quotes by fax, email or online as 
requested by the Participating Entity. 

3.19.2 Timely Quotes. Contractor/Authorized Dealer agrees to provide 
quotes in a timely fashion. Expected response should be within 24 
hours but no more than three business days after receiving all of 
the pertinent information. 

3.19.3 Guaranteed 90 Day Quote. Contractor is required to honor all 

quotes for 90 calendar days. 

3.19.4 Sales Promotion. The Contractor may conduct sales promotions 
involving specific products for specified time periods. The 
promotion should include: the product, the promotional price as 
compared to the original price and the start and end dates of the 
sales promotion. The contractor shall maintain a record of all sales 
promotions and make it available upon request. 

3.19.5 Extra-contractual Products and Services Prohibited. Products and 
services not awarded in this contract are prohibited from being 
offered. 

 

3.20 Line Item Specifications 

Postage Meter Rental (to include Legacy Postage Meters) 

• Digital postage meter must have display that provides date, piece-count, 
postage used, and postage unused. 

• Must be refillable by phone and/or electronically that may be placed on a 
master account or paid by P-Card. 

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99. 

• No administrative fees for postage meter refills. 

• Rental renewal available annually. 

• No automatic renewals shall be allowed on this contract. 

• No penalties for early rental termination. 

 
Mailing Systems, Ultra Low Volume 

• Digital or IBI (Information Based Indicia) Operation to conform with all USPS® 
requirements. 

 



32 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Manual Feed. 

• Must meter, date envelopes. 

• Handles mail envelopes from 3½” x 5” to 12” x 15”. 

• Interfaces with postage scales. 

• Must include locking key or security feature. 

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99. 

• Must have replaceable ink cartridge. 

• Must have wet or dry tape system for oversize packages. 
 

Mailing Equipment, Mailing Systems, Low Volume 

• Digital or IBI (Information Based Indicia) Operation to conform with all USPS® 
requirements. 

• Minimum feed speed of 30 pieces/minute. 

• Must meter, date, and seal envelopes. 

• Handles standard mail envelopes from 3½” x 5” to 12” x 15”. 

• Interfaces with postage scales. 

• Must include locking key or security feature. 

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99. 

• Must have replaceable ink cartridge. 

• Must have wet or dry tape system for oversize packages. 
 

Mailing Equipment, Mailing Systems, Medium Volume 

• Digital or IBI (Information Based Indicia) Operation to conform with USPS® 
requirements. 

• Minimum feed speed of 45 pieces/minute. 

• Must meter, date, and seal envelopes. 

• Handles letter mail and large envelopes up to 3/8” thick and 7-1/2” wide. 

• Interfaces with postage scales up to 100 lbs. 

• Includes tape dispenser for parcel. 

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99. 

• Must include locking key or security feature. 

• Must have replaceable ink cartridge. 

• To include water reservoir with water level indicator. 

• Must have sealed and non-sealed modes. 

 
Mailing Systems, High Volume 

• Digital or IBI (Information Based Indicia) Operation to conform with USPS® 
requirements. 

• Minimum feed speed of 200 pieces/minute. 

• Must meter, date, and seal envelopes. 

• Handles letter mail and large envelopes from 3”x 5” to 13” x 13”. 

• Interfaces with postage scales up to 100lbs. 

• Includes Tape Dispenser for parcel. 

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99. 



32 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Must include locking key or security feature. 

• Must have replaceable ink cartridge. 

• To include water reservoir with water level indicator. 

• Must have sealed and non-sealed modes. 

 
Mailing System, Production 

• Digital or IBI Operation to conform with USPS® requirements.  

• Minimum feed speed of 300+ pieces/minute.   

• Must meter, date, and seal envelopes.  

• Handles letter mail and large envelopes from 3”x 5” to 13” x 13”.  

• Interfaces with postage scales up to 100 lbs.  

• Includes Tape Dispenser for parcel.  

• Must imprint postage from $0.01 to $99.99.  

• Must include locking key or security feature.  

• Must have replaceable ink cartridge.  

• To include water reservoir with water level indicator.  

• Must have sealed and non-sealed modes. 
Integrated Postal Scales 

• Capable of Interfacing with Postage Meter. 

• Includes variety of rates including: Standard, First Class, Priority Mail, 
Certified Mail, Return Receipt Registered, C.O.D., Insured, Registered, Bulk 
Rates, etc. 

• Includes keyboard graphics, operator prompts and menu selections. 

• Special Carrier Rates. 

• Capable of weighing to a 32nd of an oz., displaying in increments of 0.5 oz. 

• Must electronically set postage meter by the touch of one button. 

• Must include postal rate changes at no additional cost throughout the lease or 
maintenance contract. 

 
Letter Openers, Low Volume 

• Includes Feeder and Stacker, Variable Trim Control.  
• Processing speed up to 10,000 pieces per hour Minimum.  
• Self-Sharpening trim blade adjusts to allow for narrow or wide cut.  
• Includes Tray that collects 80 #10 opened envelopes and trimmings 

 
Letter Openers, High Volume 

• Includes Feeder and Stacker, Variable Trim Control.  

• Processing speed over 20,000 pieces per hour Minimum.   

• Self-Sharpening trim blade adjusts to allow for narrow or wide cut.  

• Includes Tray that collects 150 opened envelopes and trimmings.



33 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Letter Folders, Low Volume 

• Automatic.  
• Folds up to 10,000 sheets per hour minimum.   
• Completes Standard or Custom folds. •  
• Handles at a minimum paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 9-1/2” x 14”. 
 
Letter Folders, High Volume 

• Automatic. 

• Folds more than 20,000 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Completes Standard or Custom folds. 

• Handles at a minimum paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 12” x 18”. 

• Able to process Multiple Folds. 

 
Inserters, Production 

• Processes up to 5,500 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Feeds, collates, folds, and, inserts material into envelopes. 

• Jobs can be pre-programmed. 
 

Folder/Inserters, Low volume 

• Automatic. 

• Completes Standard or Custom folds. 

• Handles paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 9-1/2” x 14”. 

• Processes up to 1,500 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Feeds, collates, folds, and, inserts material into envelopes. 

• Jobs can be pre-programmed. 

Folders/Inserters, Medium Volume 

• Automatic. 

• Completes Standard or Custom folds. 

• Handles paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 9-1/2” x 14”. 

• Processes up from 1501 – 4,999 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Feeds, collates, folds, and, inserts material into envelopes. 

• Jobs can be pre-programmed. 

Folders/Inserters, High Volume 

• Automatic. 

• Completes Standard or Custom folds. 

• Handles paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 9-1/2” x 14”. 

• Processes up to 5,000 – 9,999 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Feeds, collates, folds, and, inserts material into envelopes. 

• Jobs can be pre-programmed. 

Folders/Inserters, Production 

• Automatic. 



34 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Completes Standard or Custom folds. 

• Handles paper from 3-1/8” x 4” x 9-1/2” x 14”. 

• Processes over 10,000 sheets per hour minimum. 

• Feeds, collates, folds, and, inserts material into envelopes. 

• Jobs can be pre-programmed. 
 

Envelope Mail Labeler, Low Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 5,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies permanent (peel off) labels ranging in size from 1” to 4” high and 
maximum backing strip of 6”. 

• Adjustable label positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of document. 

• Motor driven take-up reel for label backing and control for adjusting for 
different types of labels and backing. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Mail Labeler, Medium Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 10,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies permanent (peel off) labels ranging in size from 1” to 4” high and 
maximum backing strip of 6”. 

• Adjustable label positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of document. 

• Motor driven take-up reel for label backing and control for adjusting for 
different types of labels and backing. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Mail Labeler, High Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 15,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies permanent (peel off) labels ranging in size from 1” to 4” high and 
maximum backing strip of 6”. 

• Adjustable label positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of document. 

• Motor driven take-up reel for label backing and control for adjusting for 
different types of labels and backing. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Mail Labeler, Production 

• Label Speed: up to 25,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies permanent (peel off) labels ranging in size from 1” to 4” high and 
maximum backing strip of 6”. 

• Adjustable label positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of document. 

• Motor driven take-up reel for label backing and control for adjusting for 
different types of labels and backing. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Addressing System, Ink Jet, Low Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 2,500 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies address information directly to envelopes. 



35 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Adjustable printing positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of 
document. 

• Adjustable print resolution. 

• Scalable fonts. 

• Interface with Windows based software. 

• Includes digital counter. 

 

Envelope Addressing System, Ink Jet, Medium Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 5,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies address information directly to envelopes. 

• Adjustable printing positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of 
document. 

• Adjustable print resolution. 

• Interface with Windows based software. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Addressing System, Ink Jet, High Volume 

• Label Speed: up to 24,999 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies address information directly to envelopes. 

• Adjustable printing positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of 
document. 

• Adjustable print resolution. 

• Multiple print heads. 

• Movable print heads. 

• Print USPS Bar Codes. 

• Scalable fonts. 

• Interface with Windows based software. 

• Includes digital counter. 
 

Envelope Addressing System, Ink Jet, Production 

• Label Speed: over 25,000 # 10 envelopes per hour. 

• Applies address information directly to envelopes. 

• Adjustable printing positioning from side-to-side and top-to-bottom of 
document. 

• Adjustable print resolution. 

• Multiple print heads. 

• Movable print heads. 

• Scalable fonts. 

• Print USPS Bar Codes. 

• Interface with Windows based software. 

• Includes digital counter. 

Tabbers, Low Volume 

• Complies with all USPS® regulations. 

• Single-tab speeds up to 15,000/Hr. 



36 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Multiple tabbing options (paper, clear translucent with or without perforation 
etc.). 

• Easy Programming and Set up. 

• Automatic size adjusting (accepts various tab sizes). 

• Accepts various types and sizes of media. 

Tabbers, Medium Volume 

• Complies with all USPS® regulations. 

• Single-tab speeds from 15,001 - 22,000/Hr. 

• Multiple tabbing options (paper, clear translucent with or without perforation 
etc.). 

• Easy Programming and Set up. 

• Automatic size adjusting (accepts various tab sizes). 

• Accepts various types and sizes of media. 

Tabbers, High Volume 

• Complies with all USPS® regulations. 

• Single-tab speeds greater than 22,001/Hr. – 50,000/Hr. 

• Multiple tabbing options (paper, clear translucent with or without perforation 
etc.). 

• Easy Programming and Set up. 

• Accepts various types and sizes of media. 
 

Tabbers, Production 

• Complies with all USPS® regulations. 

• Single-tab speeds greater than 50,000/Hr. 

• Multiple tabbing options (paper, clear translucent with or without perforation 
etc.). 

• Easy Programming and Set up. 

• Accepts various types and sizes of media. 
 

Check Imprinting/Endorsing 

• Minimum monthly volume of 25,000. 

• Utilize both cut sheet and continuous style documents. 

• Able to provide a variety of options with regards to signatures, date stamps, 
seals and logos on various locations on the document. 

• Counters that can be reset and non-reset for audit purposes. 

• Offers both tri-color and ultraviolet ink roll options. 
 

Pressure Sealing, Production 

• Creates a single piece mailer from a full range of stock or custom forms. 

• Creates a single piece mailer with a continuous seal formed to assure 
security and confidentiality. 

• Must be able to detect when “double documents” are processed. 

• Must be able to detect document jams during production. 

• Shall have emergency shut off/safety devise. 



37 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

 

Bursting Equipment, Production 

• Able to burst cut sheet. 

• Able to burst at the perforation. 

• Stack sequentially and continuous multipart documents. 

• Burst at the horizontal perforations. 

• Burst various locations of perforations. 
 

Pre-sorting Equipment, Production 

• Minimum monthly volume of 100,000. 

• Ability to sort various sizes of envelopes, flats and packages. 

• Multiple Station. 

• Various rates of speed. 

• Ability to process the entire range of USPS. 
 

Extractors 

• Processes up to 3000 pieces per hour. 

• One, Two, or, Three Sided Opening. 

• Includes counting and monitoring system that counts pieces processed. 

• Capable of processing various sizes of intermixed mail up to and including 
#11 envelopes, heights to 5-1/4”. 

 
Mailing Furniture (specific to a category) 

• Mailroom furniture shall be appropriate for the mailroom category being it is 
being offered in. 

• Mailroom work tables, pedestals, bins etc. must be constructed of wood, 
steel or plastic bases with steel, laminate or wood tops that can support the 
daily use and weight of mailroom product and equipment. 

• Only furniture specifically related to the category/group of equipment may 
be purchased under this category. 

 

Mailing Furniture (general) 

• Mailroom furniture shall not be specific to a piece of equipment or a 
category/group. 

• Mailroom free standing mail sorter tables, case works, mail carts etc. must 
be constructed of wood, steel or plastic bases with steel, laminate or wood 
tops that can support the dialing use and weight of mailroom activity. 

 
Accessories 

• Mailroom accessories must be appropriate for a mailroom operation. 

• All accessories related to equipment configurations must be identified in the 
equipment catalogs with the associated percentage % discount(s) off the 
manufacturer’s suggested retail price. 



38 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Software, License and Subscription 

• Commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) and customized mail room related software 
utilized by mailing equipment (e.g. tracking software or accounting software) 
and purchased/leased on either a monthly or annual basis. 

• All software must be specifically utilized only for mailing equipment 
operations. 

• Includes licensing, software maintenance, technical support and updates. 

• All installations will be performed by the Contracted Supplier. 

• Updates shall be performed by Contracted Supplier or user. 
 

Software Consulting Services 

• Consulting services for mailing solutions that may require requirements 
definition, custom design, programming, testing and implementation as 
outlined in a detailed statement of work. 

 
Software Integration 

• Consulting services provided by Contractor that includes but not limited to the 
process of bringing together applications into one system to ensure the 
applications function together as a whole for mailing room operations 
functionality. 

 
Training 

• Additional training services as specified in Section 3.4.1. 
 

Supplies /Consumables 

• All Supplies/Consumables needed to operate the mailing device or 
equipment. 

• Regular paper is not included in this category. 

• Labels for addressing and other mail room purposes are included. 
 

Design, Production Only 

• Billable only for Production equipment.  

• Total hours/days with total fee will be agreed to in writing from both parties 
before any work will begin.  

• All other Design work is included in the cost of the mailing equipment. 
Assembly/Installation, Production Only 

• Billable only for Production equipment.  

• Total hours/days with total fee will be agreed to in writing from both parties 

before any work will begin.  

• All other Installation work is included in the cost of the mailing equipment.



39 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Equipment Leasing 

• See section 3.15. 
 

Equipment Rental 

• See section 3.16. 
 

Equipment Relocations Services 

• Equipment Relocation Services include: dismantling, packing, transporting and 
re-installing equipment at the Client Agency’s request. No additional charges 
shall be incurred for fuel or tolls. Awarded Vendors may charge for device 
moves. Such charges must be in the format listed below according to the 
distance from the original placement: 

Move 
Zone 

Distance from the 
Original Device 

Placement 

Allowable 
Charge 
Format 

 

Zone 1 
100 Yards or less; or 
within the same 
building 

No Charge 
Allowed 

Zone 2 
Between Zone 1 and 
50 miles 

Flat Fee 

Zone 3 Outside of Zone 2 Per mile fee 



40 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Section 4: NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Statement of 
Compliance 

 

4.1. NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement(s) resulting from this RFP will constitute the 
final agreement except for negotiated terms and conditions specific to a Participating 
Entity’s Participating Addendum. 

 
The Master Agreement will include, but not be limited to, the NASPO ValuePoint Standard 
Terms and Conditions in Section 6 and Lead State specific terms and conditions required 
to execute a master agreement, the statement of work, Section 3 and selected portions 
of the Offeror’s Proposal. 

 
This section highlights particular terms and conditions of NASPO ValuePoint Master 
Agreement Terms and Conditions, although Offerors will be bound to all the terms and 
conditions when executing a Master Agreement as shown in section 6. Offerors must 
include a statement in their Proposal that they have read and understand all of the terms 
and conditions as shown in the Master Agreement (section 6). 

 

4.1.a Insurance 
 

To be eligible for award, the Offeror agrees to acquire insurance from an insurance carrier 
or carriers licensed to conduct business in each Participating Entity’s state at the 
prescribed levels set forth in Section 21 of the NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement 
Terms and Conditions. Describe your insurance or plans to obtain insurance satisfying 
the requirements in Section 21. 

 

4.1.b NASPO ValuePoint Administrative Fee and Reporting Requirements 
 

To be eligible for award, the Offeror agrees to pay a NASPO ValuePoint administrative fee 
as specified in Paragraph 6 of Section 6 of the NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement 
Terms and Conditions. Moreover, specific summary and detailed usage reporting 
requirements are prescribed in paragraph 7 of NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement 
Terms and Conditions. 

 
Offerors shall identify the person responsible for providing the mandatory usage reports. 
This information must be kept current during the contract period. Contractor will be 
required to provide reporting contact within 15 days of Master Agreement execution. 

 

4.1.c NASPO ValuePoint eMarket Center 
 

To be eligible for award, the Offeror agrees, by submission of a Proposal, to cooperate 
with NASPO ValuePoint and SciQuest (and any authorized agent or successor entity to 
SciQuest) to integrate its presence in the NASPO ValuePoint eMarket Center either 
through an electronic catalog (hosted or punchout site) or unique ordering instructions. 
Refer to Paragraph 9, NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms and Conditions for 
the prescribed requirements. 



41 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Those terms and conditions require as a minimum that the Offeror agree to participate in 
development of ordering instructions. Proposer shall respond how they can support the 
eMarket Center in the Proposal through either a hosted catalog or punchout solution. 

 

4.2 Lead State Terms and Conditions. 
 

Refer to Section 7 for the Lead State Special Terms and Conditions that apply to this 
solicitation. Offeror shall indicate in their Proposal that they have read and understand 
all of the requirements shown Lead State Terms and Conditions. 

 

4.3 Participating State Terms and Conditions. 
 

As a courtesy to Offerors, some Participating State Specific Terms and 
Conditions are provided in Attachments to this solicitation. These are for 
informational purposes only and will be negotiated with individual Participating 
States after award of the Master Agreement. Each State reserves the right to 
negotiate additional terms and conditions in its Participating Addendums. 
Offerors shall submit a statement that they understand they may be required to 
negotiate these additional terms and conditions when executing a Participating 
Addendum. 

 

4.4. Technical Requirements 
 

This section contains technical requirements pertaining to the Mailroom Equipment 
Supplies and Maintenance. Other sections of this RFP contain additional requirements 
that must be met in order to be considered responsive. Offerors must identify in their 
Proposal how their company meets or exceeds all requirements listed in Section 4 of this 
RFP solicitation. 

 

4.4.1 Offeror Profile 

Provide the following information specific to your company: 

a. Your company’s full legal name. 

b. Primary business address. 

c. Describe your company ownership structure. 

d. Employee size (number of employees). 

e. Website. 

f. Sales contact information. 

g. Your client retention rate during the past 3 years. 

h. A brief history of your company and the year it was founded. 

i. Describe your company’s growth during the past three years. 
 

4.4.2 Customer Service 
a. What are your hours of operation and when are key account people 

available to us? 



42 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

b. Describe how problem identification and resolution will be handled. 

c. How will you service our account? Describe the system you will use to 
manage our account. 

d. How do you respond to customer complaints and service issues? 

e. How do you assess customer satisfaction? 

f. What are your quality assurance measures and how are they handled in 
your organization? 

 

4.4.3. Technology 
a. Describe your online system that Purchasing Entities would use to place 

orders and receive results? Include all methods of order submission. 

b. Describe your ability and process to support a decentralized system of 
orders submitted from many end users in multiple states and locations. 

 

4.4.4. Data Security 
a. What measures do you take to protect sensitive customer information? 

 

4.4.5 Promotion of the NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement 
The NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms and Conditions include 
program provisions governing participation in the cooperative, reporting and 
payment of administrative fees, and marketing/education relating to the NASPO 
ValuePoint cooperative procurement program. In this regard; 

 

a. Briefly describe how you intend to promote the use of the Master 
Agreement. 

b. Knowing that state procurement officials (CPO) must permit use of the 
Master Agreement in their state, how will you integrate the CPO’s 
permission into your plan for promoting the agreement? 

c. Public entities are sensitive to “scope” issues, that is, whether performance 
is within the intended scope of the solicitation as awarded. In the context of 
your method of promoting agreements of this nature, how would you clarify 
any questions regarding the scope the agreement with respect to any 
potential order? 

d. How will your company manage due dates for administrative fee payments 
and usage reports? 

e. Through its Cooperative Development Coordinators and Education & 
Outreach team, NASPO ValuePoint assists Lead States by engaging 
vendors in strategies aimed at promoting master agreements. What 
opportunities and/or challenges do you see in working with NASPO 
ValuePoint staff in this way? 



43 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Section 5: Price and Cost Proposal 

Cost in proposals will be evaluated independent of the technical evaluation. Cost proposal 
must be submitted to the Lead State as a separate document in Offerors Proposal. Do 
not embed cost proposal in the technical proposal response. 

Offeror shall provide detailed costs for all costs associated with the responsibilities and 
related services, per Attachment C and C1. 

Cost for the NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreements shall be based on the following: 

Offeror must submit cost, prices and rates as required by (Pricing and Pricing Scenario 
Workbooks attached in ProcureAZ within the Attachments Tab), Cost Sheets. Prices and 
rates shall include all anticipated charges, including but not limited to, freight and delivery, 
cost of materials and product, travel expenses, transaction fees, overhead, profits, and 
other costs or expenses incidental to the Offeror’s performance. 

The Lead State is exempt from federal excise taxes and no payment will be made for any 
taxes levied on the Offeror’s or any Subcontractor’s employee’s wages. The Lead State 
will pay for any applicable Lead State or local sales or use taxes on the products provided 
or the services rendered. If required by Lead State, Taxes shall be included as a separate 
line item on an Offeror’s invoice. The tax rules with respect to other Participating Entities 
may vary and are expected to be addressed in the Participating Amendments. 

 



44 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Section 6: NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms and 
Conditions 

1. Master Agreement Order of Precedence

a. Any Order placed under this Master Agreement shall consist of the following
documents:

(1) A Participating Entity’s Participating Addendum (“PA”);

(2) NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms & Conditions;

(3) A Purchase Order issued against the Master Agreement;

(4) The Scope of Work, Section 3 of the Request for Proposals;

(5) The Solicitation or, if separately executed after award, the Lead State’s bilateral
agreement that integrates applicable provisions;

(6) Contractor’s response to the Solicitation, as revised (if permitted) and accepted
by the Lead State.

b. These documents shall be read to be consistent and complementary. Any conflict
among these documents shall be resolved by giving priority to these documents in the
order listed above. Contractor terms and conditions that apply to this Master Agreement
are only those that are expressly accepted by the Lead State and must be in writing and
attached to this Master Agreement as an Exhibit or Attachment.

2. Definitions

Acceptance is defined by the applicable commercial code, except Acceptance shall not 
occur before the completion of delivery in accordance with the Order, installation if 
required, and a reasonable time for inspection of the Product. 

Contractor means the person or entity delivering Products or performing services under 
the terms and conditions set forth in this Master Agreement. 

Embedded Software means one or more software applications which permanently 
reside on a computing device. 

Intellectual Property means any and all patents, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, 
trade secrets, trade names, patentable inventions, or other similar proprietary rights, in 
tangible or intangible form, and all rights, title, and interest therein. 



45 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Lead State means the State centrally administering any resulting Master Agreement(s). 

Master Agreement means the underlying agreement executed by and between the Lead 
State, acting on behalf of the NASPO ValuePoint program, and the Contractor, as now or 
hereafter amended. 

NASPO ValuePoint is the NASPO Cooperative Purchasing Organization LLC, doing 
business as NASPO ValuePoint, a 501(c)(3) limited liability company that is a subsidiary 
organization the National Association of State Procurement Officials (NASPO), the sole 
member of NASPO ValuePoint. NASPO ValuePoint facilitates administration of the 
NASPO cooperative group contracting consortium of state chief procurement officials for 
the benefit of state departments, institutions, agencies, and political subdivisions and 
other eligible entities (i.e., colleges, school districts, counties, cities, some nonprofit 
organizations, etc.) for all states, the District of Columbia, and territories of the United 
States. NASPO ValuePoint is identified in the Master Agreement as the recipient of 
reports and may perform contract administration functions relating to collecting and 
receiving reports as well as other contract administration functions as assigned by the 
Lead State. 

Order or Purchase Order means any purchase order, sales order, contract or other 
document used by a Purchasing Entity to order the Products. 

Participating Addendum means a bilateral agreement executed by a Contractor and a 
Participating Entity incorporating this Master Agreement and any other additional 
Participating Entity specific language or other requirements, e.g. ordering procedures 
specific to the Participating Entity, other terms and conditions. 

Participating Entity means a state, or other legal entity, properly authorized to enter 
into a Participating Addendum. 

Participating State means a state, the District of Columbia, or one of the territories of 
the United States that is listed in the Request for Proposal as intending to participate. 
Upon execution of the Participating Addendum, a Participating State becomes a 
Participating Entity; however, a Participating State listed in the Request for Proposals is 
not required to participate through execution of a Participating Addendum. 

Product means any equipment, software (including embedded software), 
documentation, service or other deliverable supplied or created by the Contractor 
pursuant to this Master Agreement. The term Products, supplies and services, and 
products and services are used interchangeably in these terms and conditions. 



46 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

Purchasing Entity means a state (as well as the District of Columbia and U.S 
territories), city, county, district, other political subdivision of a State, and a nonprofit 
organization under the laws of some states if authorized by a Participating Addendum, 
who issues a Purchase Order against the Master Agreement and becomes financially 
committed to the purchase. 

NASPO ValuePoint Program Provisions 

3. Term of the Master Agreement

a. The initial term of this Master Agreement is for Two (2) years. This Master Agreement
may be extended beyond the original contract for up to 36 months (not to exceed a 5-
year maximum) at the Lead State’s discretion and by mutual agreement and upon review
of requirements of Participating Entities, current market conditions, and Contractor
performance.

b. The Master Agreement may be extended for a reasonable period of time, not to
exceed six months, if in the judgment of the Lead State a follow-on, competitive
procurement will be unavoidably delayed (despite good faith efforts) beyond the planned
date of execution of the follow-on master agreement. This subsection shall not be
deemed to limit the authority of a Lead State under its state law otherwise to negotiate
contract extensions.

4. Amendments

The terms of this Master Agreement shall not be waived, altered, modified, 
supplemented or amended in any manner whatsoever without prior written agreement 
of the Lead State and Contractor. 

5. Participants and Scope

a. Contractor may not deliver Products under this Master Agreement until a Participating
Addendum acceptable to the Participating Entity and Contractor is executed. The
NASPO ValuePoint Master Agreement Terms and Conditions are applicable to any
Order by a Participating Entity (and other Purchasing Entities covered by their
Participating Addendum), except to the extent altered, modified, supplemented or
amended by a Participating Addendum. By way of illustration and not limitation, this
authority may apply to unique delivery and invoicing requirements, confidentiality
requirements, defaults on Orders, governing law and venue relating to Orders by a
Participating Entity, indemnification, and insurance requirements. Statutory or
constitutional requirements relating to availability of funds may require specific language
in some Participating Addenda in order to comply with applicable law. The expectation
is that these alterations, modifications, supplements, or amendments will be addressed
in the Participating Addendum or, with the consent of the Purchasing Entity and
Contractor, may be included in the ordering document (e.g. purchase order or contract)
used by the Purchasing Entity to place the Order.



47 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

b. Use of specific NASPO ValuePoint cooperative Master Agreements by state agencies,
political subdivisions and other Participating Entities (including cooperatives) authorized
by individual state’s statutes to use state contracts are subject to the approval of the
respective State Chief Procurement Official. Issues of interpretation and eligibility for
participation are solely within the authority of the respective State Chief Procurement
Official.

c. Obligations under this Master Agreement are limited to those Participating Entities
who have signed a Participating Addendum and Purchasing Entities within the scope of
those Participating Addenda. Financial obligations of Participating Entities who are
states are limited to the orders placed by the departments or other state agencies and
institutions having available funds. Participating Entities who are states incur no financial
obligations on behalf of other Purchasing Entities. Contractor shall email a fully executed
PDF copy of each Participating Addendum to PA@naspovaluepoint.org to support
documentation of participation and posting in appropriate data bases.

d. NASPO Cooperative Purchasing Organization LLC, doing business as NASPO
ValuePoint, is not a party to the Master Agreement. It is a nonprofit cooperative
purchasing organization assisting states in administering the NASPO cooperative
purchasing program for state government departments, institutions, agencies and
political subdivisions (e.g., colleges, school districts, counties, cities, etc.) for all 50
states, the District of Columbia and the territories of the United States.

e. Participating Addenda shall not be construed to amend the following provisions in this
Master Agreement between the Lead State and Contractor that prescribe NASPO
ValuePoint Program requirements: Term of the Master Agreement; Amendments;
Participants and Scope; Administrative Fee; NASPO ValuePoint Summary and Detailed
Usage Reports; NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Program Marketing and Performance
Review; NASPO ValuePoint eMarketCenter; Right to Publish; Price and Rate Guarantee
Period; and Individual Customers. Any such language shall be void and of no effect.

f. Participating Entities who are not states may under some circumstances sign their own
Participating Addendum, subject to the approval of participation by the Chief
Procurement Official of the state where the Participating Entity is located. Coordinate
requests for such participation through NASPO ValuePoint. Any permission to participate
through execution of a Participating Addendum is not a determination that procurement
authority exists in the Participating Entity; they must ensure that they have the requisite
procurement authority to execute a Participating Addendum.

g. Resale. “Resale” means any payment in exchange for transfer of tangible goods,
software, or assignment of the right to services. Subject to any specific conditions
included in the solicitation or Contractor’s proposal as accepted by the Lead State, or as
explicitly permitted in a Participating Addendum, Purchasing Entities may not resell
Products (the definition of which includes services that are deliverables). Absent any
such condition or explicit permission, this limitation does not prohibit: sales of Products
to the general public as surplus property; and fees associated with inventory transactions

mailto:PA@naspovaluepoint.org


48 | Page (Rev 06-05-15) 

with other governmental or nonprofit entities and consistent with a Purchasing Entity’s 
laws and regulations. Any sale or transfer permitted by this subsection must be 
consistent with license rights granted for use of intellectual property. 

6. Administrative Fees

a. The Contractor shall pay to NASPO ValuePoint, or its assignee, a NASPO ValuePoint
Administrative Fee of one-quarter of one percent (0.25% or 0.0025) no later than   sixty
(60) days following the end of each calendar quarter. The NASPO ValuePoint
Administrative Fee shall be submitted quarterly and is based on all sales of products and
services under the Master Agreement (less any charges for taxes or shipping). The
NASPO ValuePoint Administrative Fee is not negotiable. This fee is to be included as
part of the pricing submitted with proposal.

b. Additionally, some states may require an additional fee be paid directly to the state
only on purchases made by Purchasing Entities within that state. For all such requests,
the fee level, payment method and schedule for such reports and payments will be
incorporated into the Participating Addendum that is made a part of the Master
Agreement. The Contractor may adjust the Master Agreement pricing accordingly for
purchases made by Purchasing Entities within the jurisdiction of the state. All such
agreements shall not affect the NASPO ValuePoint Administrative Fee percentage or
the prices paid by the Purchasing Entities outside the jurisdiction of the state requesting
the additional fee. The NASPO ValuePoint Administrative Fee in subsection 6a shall be
based on the gross amount of all sales (less any charges for taxes or shipping) at the
adjusted prices (if any) in Participating Addenda.

7. NASPO ValuePoint Summary and Detailed Usage Reports

In addition to other reports that may be required by this solicitation, the Contractor shall 
provide the following NASPO ValuePoint reports. 

a. Summary Sales Data. The Contractor shall submit quarterly sales reports directly to
NASPO ValuePoint using the NASPO ValuePoint Quarterly Sales/Administrative Fee
Reporting Tool found at http://www.naspo.org/WNCPO/Calculator.aspx. Any/all sales
made under this Master Agreement shall be reported as cumulative totals by state. Even
if Contractor experiences zero sales during a calendar quarter, a report is still required.
Reports shall be due no later than thirty (30) days following the end of the calendar
quarter (as specified in the reporting tool).

b. Detailed Sales Data. Contractor shall also report detailed sales data by: (1) state; (2)
entity/customer type, e.g. local government, higher education, K12, non-profit; (3)
Purchasing Entity name; (4) Purchasing Entity bill-to and ship-to locations; (4)
Purchasing Entity and Contractor Purchase Order identifier/number(s); (5) Purchase
Order Type (e.g. sales order, credit, return, upgrade, determined by industry practices);
(6) Purchase Order date; (7) Ship Date; (8) and line item description, including product
number if used. The report shall be submitted in any form required by the solicitation.
Reports are due on a quarterly basis and must be received by the Lead State and

http://www.naspo.org/WNCPO/Calculator.aspx


49 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Development Team no later than thirty (30) days after 
the end of the reporting period. Reports shall be delivered to the Lead State and to the 
NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Development Team electronically through a designated 
portal, email, CD-ROM, flash drive or other method as determined by the Lead State and 
NASPO ValuePoint. Detailed sales data reports shall include sales information for all 
sales under Participating Addenda executed under this Master Agreement. The format 
for the detailed sales data report is in shown in Attachment H. 

 
c. Reportable sales for the summary sales data report and detailed sales data report 
includes sales to employees for personal use where authorized by the solicitation and 
the Participating Addendum. Report data for employees should be limited to ONLY the 
state and entity they are participating under the authority of (state and agency, city, 
county, school district, etc.) and the amount of sales. No personal identification numbers, 
e.g. names, addresses, social security numbers or any other numerical identifier, 
may be submitted with any report. 

 
d. Contractor shall provide the NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Development 
Coordinator with an executive summary each quarter that includes, at a minimum, a list 
of states with an active Participating Addendum, states that Contractor is in negotiations 
with and any Participating Addendum roll out or implementation activities and issues. 
NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Development Coordinator and Contractor will 
determine the format and content of the executive summary. The executive summary is 
due thirty (30) days after the conclusion of each calendar quarter. 

 
e. Timely submission of these reports is a material requirement of the Master Agreement. 
The recipient of the reports shall have exclusive ownership of the media containing the 
reports. The Lead State and NASPO ValuePoint shall have a perpetual, irrevocable, non- 
exclusive, royalty free, transferable right to display, modify, copy, and otherwise use 
reports, data and information provided under this section. 

 

8. NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Program Marketing and Performance Review 
 

a. Contractor agrees to work cooperatively with NASPO ValuePoint personnel. 
Contractor agrees to present plans to NASPO ValuePoint for the education of 
Contractor’s contract administrator(s) and sales/marketing workforce regarding the 
Master Agreement contract, including the competitive nature of NASPO ValuePoint 
procurements, the Master agreement and participating addendum process, and the 
manner in which qualifying entities can participate in the Master Agreement. 

 
b. Contractor agrees to participate in an annual contract performance review at a location 
selected by the Lead State and NASPO ValuePoint, which may include a discussion of 
marketing action plans, target strategies, marketing materials, as well as Contractor 
reporting and timeliness of payment of administration fees. 

 

9. NASPO ValuePoint eMarket Center 
 

a. In July 2011, NASPO ValuePoint entered into a multi-year agreement with SciQuest, 



50 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Inc. whereby SciQuest will provide certain electronic catalog hosting and management 
services to enable eligible NASPO ValuePoint’s customers to access a central online 
website to view and/or shop the goods and services available from existing NASPO 
ValuePoint Cooperative Contracts. The central online website is referred to as the 
NASPO ValuePoint eMarket Center. 

 
b. The Contractor will have visibility in the eMarket Center through Ordering Instructions. 
These Ordering Instructions are available at no cost to the Contractor and provide 
customers information regarding the Contractors website and ordering information. The 
Contractor is required at a minimum to participate in the eMarket Center through 
Ordering Instructions. 

 
c. At a minimum, the Contractor agrees to the following timeline: NASPO ValuePoint 
eMarket Center Site Admin shall provide a written request to the Contractor to begin 
Ordering Instruction process. The Contractor shall have thirty (30) days from receipt of 
written request to work with NASPO ValuePoint to provide any unique information and 
ordering instructions that the Contractor would like the customer to have. 

 
d. If the solicitation requires either a catalog hosted on or integration of a punchout site 
with eMarket Center, or either solution is proposed by a Contractor and accepted by the 
Lead State, the provisions of the eMarket Center Appendix to these NASPO ValuePoint 
Master Agreement Terms and Conditions apply. 

 
10. Right to Publish 

 

Throughout the duration of this Master Agreement, Contractor must secure from the Lead 
State prior approval for the release of information that pertains to the potential work or 
activities covered by the Master Agreement. This limitation does not preclude publication 
about the award of the Master Agreement or marketing activities consistent with any 
proposed and accepted marketing plan. The Contractor shall not make any 
representations   of  NASPO   ValuePoint’s   opinion   or  position   as  to  the  quality   or 

effectiveness of the services that are the subject of this Master Agreement without prior 
written consent. Failure to adhere to this requirement may result in termination of the 
Master Agreement for cause. 

 

11. Price and Rate Guarantee Period 
All prices and rates must be guaranteed for the initial term of the Master Agreement. All 
discounts off Manufacturer’s Suggested Retail Price are the minimum allowed 
throughout the term of the MPA including any optional year extensions. Following the 
initial Master Agreement period, any request for price or rate adjustment must be for an 
equal guarantee period, and must be made at least Ninety (90) Days prior to the 
effective date. Requests for price or rate adjustment must include sufficient 
documentation supporting the request. Any adjustment or amendment to the Master 
Agreement shall not be effective unless approved by the Lead State. No retroactive 
adjustments to prices or rates will be allowed. 

 

  
 

 



51 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

12. Individual Customers 
 

Except to the extent modified by a Participating Addendum, each 
Purchasing Entity shall follow the terms and conditions of the 
Master Agreement and applicable Participating Addendum and 
will have the same rights and responsibilities for their purchases 
as the Lead State has in the Master Agreement, including but not 
limited to, any indemnity or right to recover any costs as such 
right is defined in the Master Agreement and applicable 
Participating Addendum for their purchases. Each Purchasing 
Entity will be responsible for its own charges, fees, and 
liabilities. The Contractor will apply the charges and invoice 
each Purchasing Entity individuals 

Administration of Orders 

13. Ordering 
 

a. Master Agreement order and purchase order numbers shall be clearly shown on all 
acknowledgments, shipping labels, packing slips, invoices, and on all correspondence. 

 
b. Purchasing Entities may define project-specific requirements and informally compete 
the requirement among companies having a Master Agreement on an “as needed” basis. 
This procedure may also be used when requirements are aggregated or other firm 
commitments may be made to achieve reductions in pricing. This procedure may be 
modified in Participating Addenda and adapted to the Purchasing Entity’s rules and 
policies. The Purchasing Entity may in its sole discretion determine which Master 
Agreement Contractors should be solicited for a quote. The Purchasing Entity may select 
the quote that it considers most advantageous, cost and other factors considered. 

 
c. Each Purchasing Entity will identify and utilize its own appropriate purchasing 
procedure and documentation. Contractor is expected to become familiar with the 
Purchasing Entities’ rules, policies, and procedures regarding the ordering of supplies 
and/or services contemplated by this Master Agreement. 

 

Contractor shall not begin work without a valid Purchase Order or other appropriate 
commitment document under the law of the Purchasing Entity. 

 
d. Orders may be placed consistent with the terms of this Master Agreement during the 
term of the Master Agreement. 

 
e. All Orders pursuant to this Master Agreement, at a minimum, shall include: 

 
(1) The services or supplies being delivered; 

(2) The place and requested time of delivery; 

(3) A billing address; 

(4) The name, phone number, and address of the Purchasing Entity 



52 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

representative; 

(5) The price per hour or other pricing elements consistent with this Master 
Agreement and the contractor’s proposal; 

(6) A ceiling amount of the order for services being ordered; and 

(7) The Master Agreement identifier. 
 

f. All communications concerning administration of Orders placed shall be furnished 
solely to the authorized purchasing agent within the Purchasing Entity’s purchasing 
office, or to such other individual identified in writing in the Order. 

 
g. Orders must be placed pursuant to this Master Agreement prior to the termination date 
thereof, but may have a delivery date or performance period up to 120 days past the 
then-current termination date of this Master Agreement. Contractor is reminded that 
financial obligations of Purchasing Entities payable after the current applicable fiscal year 
are contingent upon agency funds for that purpose being appropriated, budgeted, and 
otherwise made available. 

 
h. Notwithstanding the expiration, cancellation or termination of this Master Agreement, 
Contractor agrees to perform in accordance with the terms of any Orders then 
outstanding at the time of such expiration or termination. Contractor shall not honor any 
Orders placed after the expiration, cancellation or termination of this Master Agreement, 
or otherwise inconsistent with its terms. Orders from any separate indefinite quantity, 
task orders, or other form of indefinite delivery order arrangement priced against this 
Master Agreement may not be placed after the expiration or termination of this Master 
Agreement, notwithstanding the term of any such indefinite delivery order agreement. 

 

14. Shipping and Delivery 

a. The prices are the delivered price to any Purchasing Entity.  All deliveries shall be 
F.O.B. destination, freight pre-paid, with all transportation and handling charges paid by 
the Contractor.  Responsibility and liability for loss or damage shall remain the 
Contractor’s until final inspection and acceptance when responsibility shall pass to the 
Purchasing Entity except as to latent defects, fraud and Contractor’s warranty 
obligations.  The minimum shipment amount, if any, will be found in the special terms 
and conditions.  Any order for less than the specified amount is to be shipped with the 
freight prepaid and added as a separate item on the invoice.  Any portion of an Order to 
be shipped without transportation charges that is back ordered shall be shipped without 
charge. 

 

b. All deliveries will be “Inside Deliveries” as designated by a representative of the 
Purchasing Entity placing the Order. Inside Delivery refers to a delivery to other than a 
loading dock, front lobby, or reception area. Specific delivery instructions will be noted 
on the order form or Purchase Order. Any damage to the building interior, scratched 
walls, damage to the freight elevator, etc., will be the responsibility of the Contractor. If 
damage does occur, it is the responsibility of the Contractor to immediately notify the 
Purchasing Entity placing the Order. 

 

c. All products must be delivered in the manufacturer’s standard package. Costs shall 
include all packing and/or crating charges. Cases shall be of durable construction, good 



53 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

condition, properly labeled and suitable in every respect for storage and handling of 
contents. Each shipping carton shall be marked with the commodity, brand, quantity, 
item code number and the Purchasing Entity’s Purchase Order number 

 

15. Laws and Regulations 
 

Any and all Products offered and furnished shall comply fully with all applicable Federal 
and State laws and regulations. 

 

16. Inspection and Acceptance 
 

a. Where the Master Agreement or an Order does not otherwise specify a process for 
inspection and Acceptance, this section governs. This section is not intended to limit 
rights and remedies under the applicable commercial code. 

 
b. All Products are subject to inspection at reasonable times and places before 
Acceptance. Contractor shall provide right of access to the Lead State, or to any other 
authorized agent or official of the Lead State or other Participating or Purchasing Entity, 
at reasonable times, in order to monitor and evaluate performance, compliance, and/or 
quality assurance requirements under this Master Agreement. Products that do not meet 
specifications may be rejected. Failure to reject upon receipt, however, does not relieve 
the contractor of liability for material (nonconformity that substantial impairs value) latent 
or hidden defects subsequently revealed when goods are put to use. Acceptance of such 
goods may be revoked in accordance with the provisions of the applicable commercial 
code, and the Contractor is liable for any resulting expense incurred by the Purchasing 
Entity related to the preparation and shipping of Product rejected and returned, or for 
which Acceptance is revoked. 

 

If any services do not conform to contract requirements, the Purchasing Entity may 
require the Contractor to perform the services again in conformity with contract 
requirements, at no increase in Order amount. When defects cannot be corrected by re- 
performance, the Purchasing Entity may require the Contractor to take necessary action 
to ensure that future performance conforms to contract requirements; and reduce the 
contract price to reflect the reduced value of services performed. 

 
c. The warranty period shall begin upon Acceptance. 
 

d. Acceptance Testing may be explicitly set out in a Master Agreement to ensure 
conformance to an explicit standard of performance. Acceptance Testing means the 
process set forth in the Master Agreement for ascertaining that the Product meets the 
standard of performance prior to Acceptance by the Purchasing Entity. If Acceptance 
Testing is prescribed, this subsection applies to applicable Products purchased under 
this Master Agreement, including any additional, replacement, or substitute Product(s) 
and any Product(s) which are modified by or with the written approval of Contractor after 
Acceptance by the Purchasing Entity. The Acceptance Testing period shall be thirty (30) 
calendar days or other time period identified in this Master Agreement or the Participating 
Addendum, starting from the day after the Product is delivered or, if installed, the day 
after the Product is installed and Contractor certifies that the Product is ready for 
Acceptance Testing. If the Product does not meet the standard of performance during 



54 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

the initial period of Acceptance Testing, Purchasing Entity may, at its discretion, continue 
Acceptance Testing on a day-to-day basis until the standard of performance is met. Upon 
rejection, the Contractor will have fifteen (15) calendar days to cure the standard of 
performance issue(s). If after the cure period, the Product still has not met the standard 
of performance, the Purchasing Entity may, at its option: (a) declare Contractor to be in 
breach and terminate the Order; (b) demand replacement Product from Contractor at no 
additional cost to Purchasing Entity; or, (c) continue the cure period for an additional time 
period agreed upon by the Purchasing Entity and the Contractor. Contractor shall pay all 
costs related to the preparation and shipping of Product returned pursuant to the section. 
No Product shall be deemed Accepted and no charges shall be paid until the standard 
of performance is met. The warranty period shall begin upon Acceptance. 



55 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

 
 
 

17. Payment 
 

Payment after Acceptance is normally made within 30 days following the date the entire 
order is delivered or the date a correct invoice is received, whichever is later. After 45 
days the Contractor may assess overdue account charges up to a maximum rate of one 
percent per month on the outstanding balance, unless a different late payment amount 
is specified in a Participating Addendum, Order, or otherwise prescribed by applicable 
law. Payments will be remitted by mail or electronic transfer. Payments may be made 
via a State or political subdivision “Purchasing Card” with no additional charge. 

 

18. Warranty 
 

Warranty provisions govern where specified elsewhere in the documents that constitute 
the Master Agreement; otherwise this section governs. The Contractor warrants for a 
period of one year from the date of Acceptance that: (a) the Product performs according 
 

to all specific claims that the Contractor made in its response to the solicitation, (b) the 
Product is suitable for the ordinary purposes for which such Product is used, (c) the 
Product is suitable for any special purposes identified in the solicitation or for which the 
Purchasing Entity has relied on the Contractor’s skill or judgment, (d) the Product is 
designed and manufactured in a commercially reasonable manner, and (e) the Product 
is free of defects. Upon breach of the warranty, the Contractor will repair or replace (at 
no charge to the Purchasing Entity) the Product whose nonconformance is discovered 
and made known to the Contractor. If the repaired and/or replaced Product proves to be 
inadequate, or fails of its essential purpose, the Contractor will refund the full amount of 
any payments that have been made. The rights and remedies of the parties under this 
warranty are in addition to any other rights and remedies of the parties provided by law 
or equity, including, without limitation, actual damages, and, as applicable and awarded 
under the law, to a prevailing party, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

 

19. Title of Product 
 

Upon Acceptance by the Purchasing Entity, Contractor shall convey to Purchasing Entity 
title to the Product free and clear of all liens, encumbrances, or other security interests. 
Transfer of title to the Product shall include an irrevocable and perpetual license to use 
any Embedded Software in the Product. If Purchasing Entity subsequently transfers title 
of the Product to another entity, Purchasing Entity shall have the right to transfer the 
license to use the Embedded Software with the transfer of Product title. A subsequent 
transfer of this software license shall be at no additional cost or charge to either 
Purchasing Entity or Purchasing Entity’s transferee. 

 

20. License of Pre-Existing Intellectual Property 
 

Contractor grants to the Purchasing Entity a nonexclusive, perpetual, royalty-free, 
irrevocable, license to use, publish, translate, reproduce, transfer with any sale of 
tangible media or Product, perform, display, and dispose of the Intellectual Property, and 
its derivatives, used or delivered under this Master Agreement, but not created under it 



56 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

(“Pre-existing Intellectual Property”). The Contractor shall be responsible for ensuring 
that this license is consistent with any third party rights in the Pre-existing Intellectual 
Property. 

 

General Provisions 

21. Insurance 
 

a. Unless otherwise agreed in a Participating Addendum, Contractor shall, during the 
term of this Master Agreement, maintain in full force and effect, the insurance described 
in this section. Contractor shall acquire such insurance from an insurance carrier or 
carriers licensed to conduct business in each Participating Entity’s state and having a 
rating of A-, Class VII or better, in the most recently published edition of A.M. Best’s 
Insurance Reports. Failure to buy and maintain the required insurance may result in this 
Master Agreement’s termination or, at a Participating Entity’s option, result in termination 
of its Participating Addendum. 

 

b. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence basis. The minimum acceptable limits 
shall be as indicated below: 

 
(1) Commercial General Liability covering premises operations, independent 
contractors, products and completed operations, blanket contractual liability, 
personal injury (including death), advertising liability, and property damage, with 
a limit of not less than $1 million per occurrence/$2 million general aggregate; 

 
(2) Contractor must comply with any applicable State Workers Compensation or 
Employers Liability Insurance requirements. 

 
c. Contractor shall pay premiums on all insurance policies. Contractor shall provide 
notice to a Participating Entity who is a state within five (5) business days after Contractor 
is first aware of expiration, cancellation or nonrenewal of such policy or is first aware that 
cancellation is threatened or expiration, nonrenewal or expiration otherwise may occur. 

 
d. Prior to commencement of performance, Contractor shall provide to the Lead State a 
written endorsement to the Contractor’s general liability insurance policy or other 
documentary evidence acceptable to the Lead State that (1) names the Participating 
States identified in the Request for Proposal as additional insureds, (2) provides for 
written notice of cancellation shall be delivered in accordance with the policy provisions, 
and (3) provides that the Contractor’s liability insurance policy shall be primary, with any 
liability insurance of any Participating State as secondary and noncontributory. Unless 
otherwise agreed in any Participating Addendum, other state Participating Entities’ rights 
and Contractor’s obligations are the same as those specified in the first sentence of this 
subsection except the endorsement is provided to the applicable state. 

 
e. Contractor shall furnish to the Lead State copies of certificates of all required insurance 
in a form sufficient to show required coverage within thirty (30) calendar days of the 
execution of this Master Agreement and prior to performing any work. Copies of renewal 
certificates of all required insurance shall be furnished within thirty (30) days after any 
renewal date to the applicable state Participating Entity. Failure to provide evidence of 



57 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

coverage may, at the sole option of the Lead State, or any Participating Entity, result in 
this Master Agreement’s termination or the termination of any Participating Addendum. 

 
e. Coverage and limits shall not limit Contractor’s liability and obligations under this 
Master Agreement, any Participating Addendum, or any Purchase Order. 

 

22. Records Administration and Audit. 
 

a. The Contractor shall maintain books, records, documents, and other evidence 
pertaining to this Master Agreement and Orders placed by Purchasing Entities under it 
to the extent and in such detail as shall adequately reflect performance and 
administration of payments and fees. Contractor shall permit the Lead State, a 
Participating Entity, a Purchasing Entity, the federal government (including its grant 
awarding entities and the  U.S.  Comptroller  General), and any other  duly   authorized 

agent of a governmental agency, to audit, inspect, examine, copy and/or transcribe 
Contractor's books, documents, papers and records directly pertinent to this Master 
Agreement or orders placed by a Purchasing Entity under it for the purpose of making 
audits, examinations, excerpts, and transcriptions. This right shall survive for a period of 
five (5) years following termination of this Agreement or final payment for any order 
placed by a Purchasing Entity against this Agreement, whichever is later, or such longer 
period as is required by the Purchasing Entity’s state statutes, to assure compliance with 
the terms hereof or to evaluate performance hereunder. 

 
b. Without limiting any other remedy available to any governmental entity, the Contractor 
shall reimburse the applicable Lead State, Participating Entity, or Purchasing Entity for 
any overpayments inconsistent with the terms of the Master Agreement or Orders or 
underpayment of fees found as a result of the examination of the Contractor’s records. 

 
c. The rights and obligations herein exist in addition to any quality assurance obligation 
in the Master Agreement requiring the Contractor to self-audit contract obligations and 
that permits the Lead State to review compliance with those obligations. 

 

23. Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Injunctive Relief 
 

a. Confidentiality. Contractor acknowledges that it and its employees or agents may, in 
the course of providing a Product under this Master Agreement, be exposed to or acquire 
information that is confidential to Purchasing Entity or Purchasing Entity’s clients. Any 
and all information of any form that is marked as confidential or would by its nature be 
deemed confidential obtained by Contractor or its employees or agents in the 
performance of this Master Agreement, including, but not necessarily limited to (1) any 
Purchasing Entity’s records, (2) personnel records, and (3) information concerning 
individuals, is confidential information of Purchasing Entity (“Confidential Information”). 
Any reports or other documents or items (including software) that result from the use of 
the Confidential Information by Contractor shall be treated in the same manner as the 
Confidential Information. Confidential Information does not include information that (1) is 
or becomes (other than by disclosure by Contractor) publicly known; (2) is furnished by 
Purchasing Entity to others without restrictions similar to those imposed by this Master 
Agreement; (3) is rightfully in Contractor’s possession without the obligation of 
nondisclosure prior to the time of its disclosure under this Master Agreement; (4) is 



58 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

obtained from a source other than Purchasing Entity without the obligation of 
confidentiality, (5) is disclosed with the written consent of Purchasing Entity or; (6) is 
independently developed by employees, agents or subcontractors of Contractor who can 
be shown to have had no access to the Confidential Information. 
 

b. Non-Disclosure. Contractor shall hold Confidential Information in confidence, using at 
least the industry standard of confidentiality, and shall not copy, reproduce, sell, assign, 
license, market, transfer or otherwise dispose of, give, or disclose Confidential 
Information to third parties or use Confidential Information for any purposes whatsoever 
other than what is necessary to the performance of Orders placed under this Master 
Agreement. Contractor shall advise each of its employees and agents of their obligations 
to keep  Confidential  Information  confidential.   Contractor  shall  use commercially    

 

c. Reasonable efforts to assist Purchasing Entity in identifying and preventing any 
unauthorized use or disclosure of any Confidential Information. Without limiting the 
generality of the foregoing, Contractor shall advise Purchasing Entity, applicable 
Participating Entity, and the Lead State immediately if Contractor learns or has reason 
to believe that any person who has had access to Confidential Information has violated 
or intends to violate the terms of this Master Agreement, and Contractor shall at its 
expense cooperate with Purchasing Entity in seeking injunctive or other equitable relief 
in the name of Purchasing Entity or Contractor against any such person. Except as 
directed by Purchasing Entity, Contractor will not at any time during or after the term of 
this Master Agreement disclose, directly or indirectly, any Confidential Information to any 
person, except in accordance with this Master Agreement, and that upon termination of 
this Master Agreement or at Purchasing Entity’s request, Contractor shall turn over to 
Purchasing Entity all documents, papers, and other matter in Contractor's possession 
that embody Confidential Information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Contractor may 
keep one copy of such Confidential Information necessary for quality assurance, audits 
and evidence of the performance of this Master Agreement.  
d. Injunctive Relief. Contractor acknowledges that breach of this section, including 
disclosure of any Confidential Information, will cause irreparable injury to Purchasing 
Entity that is inadequately compensable in damages. Accordingly, Purchasing Entity may 
seek and obtain injunctive relief against the breach or threatened breach of the foregoing 
undertakings, in addition to any other legal remedies that may be available. Contractor 
acknowledges and agrees that the covenants contained herein are necessary for the 
protection of the legitimate business interests of Purchasing Entity and are reasonable 
in scope and content. 

 
e. Purchasing Entity Law. These provisions shall be applicable only to extent they are 
not in conflict with the applicable public disclosure laws of any Purchasing Entity. 

 

24. Public Information. 
 

This Master Agreement and all related documents are subject to disclosure pursuant to 
the Purchasing Entity’s public information laws. 

 

25. Assignment/Subcontracts 
 

a. Contractor shall not assign, sell, transfer, subcontract or sublet rights, or delegate 



59 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

responsibilities under this Master Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written
approval of the Lead State.

b. The Lead State reserves the right to assign any rights or duties, including written
assignment of contract administration duties to NASPO Cooperative Purchasing
Organization LLC, doing business as NASPO ValuePoint.

26. Changes in Contractor Representation

The Contractor must notify the Lead State of changes in the Contractor’s key
administrative personnel managing the Master Agreement in writing within 10 calendar
days of the change. The Lead State reserves the right to approve changes in key
personnel, as identified in the Contractor’s proposal. The Contractor agrees to propose 
replacement key personnel having substantially equal or better education, training, and
experience as was possessed by the key person proposed and evaluated in the
Contractor’s proposal.

27. Independent Contractor

The Contractor shall be an independent contractor. Contractor shall have no
authorization, express or implied, to bind the Lead State, Participating States, other
Participating Entities, or Purchasing Entities to any agreements, settlements, liability or
understanding whatsoever, and agrees not to hold itself out as agent except as expressly
set forth herein or as expressly agreed in any Participating Addendum.

28. Cancellation

Unless otherwise stated, this Master Agreement may be canceled by either party  upon
60 days’ written notice prior to the effective date of the cancellation. Further, any 
Participating Entity may cancel its participation upon 30 days’ written notice, unless 
otherwise limited or stated in the Participating Addendum. Cancellation may be in whole
or in part. Any cancellation under this provision shall not affect the rights and obligations
attending orders outstanding at the time of cancellation, including any right of a
Purchasing Entity to indemnification by the Contractor, rights of payment for Products
delivered and accepted, rights attending any warranty or default in performance in
association with any Order, and requirements for records administration and audit.
Cancellation of the Master Agreement due to Contractor default may be immediate.

29. Force Majeure

Neither party to this Master Agreement shall be held responsible for delay or default
caused by fire, riot, unusually severe weather, other acts of God, or war which are
beyond that party’s reasonable control. The Lead State may terminate this Master 
Agreement after determining such delay or default will reasonably prevent successful
performance of the Master Agreement.

30. Defaults and Remedies

a. The occurrence of any of the following events shall be an event of default under this
Master Agreement:



60 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

(1) Nonperformance of contractual requirements; or

(2) A material breach of any term or condition of this Master Agreement; or

(3) Any certification, representation or warranty by Contractor in response to the
solicitation or in this Master Agreement that proves to be untrue or materially
misleading; or

(4) Institution of proceedings under any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or

similar law, by or against Contractor, or the appointment of a receiver or similar
officer for Contractor or any of its property, which is not vacated or fully stayed
within thirty (30) calendar days after the institution or occurrence thereof; or

(5) Any default specified in another section of this Master Agreement.



61 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

b. Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the Lead State shall issue a written notice 
of default, identifying the nature of the default, and providing a period of 15 calendar 
days in which Contractor shall have an opportunity to cure the default. The Lead State 
shall not be required to provide advance written notice or a cure period and may 
immediately terminate this Master Agreement in whole or in part if the Lead State, in its 
sole discretion, determines that it is reasonably necessary to preserve public safety or 
prevent immediate public crisis. Time allowed for cure shall not diminish or eliminate 
Contractor’s liability for damages, including liquidated damages to the extent provided 
for under this Master Agreement. 

c. If Contractor is afforded an opportunity to cure and fails to cure the default within the 
period specified in the written notice of default, Contractor shall be in breach of its 
obligations under this Master Agreement and the Lead State shall have the right to 
exercise any or all of the following remedies: 

(1) Exercise any remedy provided by law; and 

(2) Terminate this Master Agreement and any related Contracts or portions 
thereof; and 

(3) Impose liquidated damages as provided in this Master Agreement; and 

(4) Suspend Contractor from being able to respond to future bid solicitations; and 

(5) Suspend Contractor’s performance; and 

(6) Withhold payment until the default is remedied. 

d. Unless other specified in the Participating Addendum, in the event of a default under 
a Participating Addendum, a Participating Entity shall provide a written notice of default 
as described in this section and have all of the rights and remedies under this paragraph 
regarding its participation in the Master Agreement, in addition to those set forth in its 
Participating Addendum. Unless otherwise specified in a Purchase Order, a Purchasing 
Entity shall provide written notice of default as described in this section and have all of 
the rights and remedies under this paragraph and any applicable Participating 
Addendum with respect to an Order placed by the Purchasing Entity. Nothing in these 
Master Agreement Terms and Conditions shall be construed to limit the rights and 
remedies available to a Purchasing Entity under the applicable commercial code. 

 

31. Waiver of Breach 
 

Failure of the Lead State, Participating Entity, or Purchasing Entity to declare a default 
or enforce any rights and remedies shall not operate as a waiver under this Master 
Agreement or Participating Addendum. Any waiver by the Lead State, Participating 
Entity, or Purchasing Entity must be in writing. Waiver by the Lead State or Participating 
Entity of  any default, right  or remedy under this  Master Agreement  or     Participating 



62 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Addendum, or by Purchasing Entity with respect to any Purchase Order, or breach of 
any terms or requirements of this Master Agreement, a Participating Addendum, or 
Purchase Order shall not be construed or operate as a waiver of any subsequent default 
or breach of such term or requirement, or of any other term or requirement under this 
Master Agreement, Participating Addendum, or Purchase Order. 

 

32. Debarment 
 

The Contractor certifies that neither it nor its principals are presently debarred, 
suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from 
participation in this transaction (contract) by any governmental department or agency. 
This certification represents a recurring certification made at the time any Order is placed 
under this Master Agreement. If the Contractor cannot certify this statement, attach a 
written explanation for review by the Lead State. 

 

33. Indemnification 
 

a. Indemnification by the Contractor of the Lead State is governed by Section 7.1W of 
this RFP. Otherwise, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless NASPO, 
NASPO Cooperative Purchasing Organization LLC (doing business as NASPO 
ValuePoint), Participating Entities, and Purchasing Entities, along with their officers, 
agents, and employees as well as any person or entity for which they may be liable, from 
and against third-party claims, damages or causes of action including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and related costs for any death, injury, or damage to tangible property 
arising from act(s), error(s), or omission(s) of the Contractor, its employees or 
subcontractors or volunteers, at any tier, relating to the performance under the Master 
Agreement. 

 
b. Indemnification – Intellectual Property. Indemnification by the Contractor of the Lead 
State is government by Section 7.2, State of Arizona Uniform Terms and Conditions, 
subsection 6.2. Otherwise, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
NASPO, NASPO Cooperative Purchasing Organization LLC (doing business as NASPO 
ValuePoint), Participating Entities, Purchasing Entities, along with their officers, agents, 
and employees as well as any person or entity for which they may be liable ("Indemnified 
Party"), from and against claims, damages or causes of action including reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and related costs arising out of the claim that the Product or its use, 
infringes Intellectual Property rights ("Intellectual Property Claim") of another person or 
entity. 

 
(1) The Contractor’s obligations under this section shall not extend to any 

combination of the Product with any other product, system or method, unless the 
Product, system or method is: 

 
(a) provided by the Contractor or the Contractor’s subsidiaries or affiliates; 

(b) specified by the Contractor to work with the Product; or 

(c) reasonably required, in order to use the Product in its intended manner, 



63 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

and the infringement could not have been avoided by substituting another
reasonably available product, system or method capable of performing the
same function; or

(d) It would be reasonably expected to use the Product in combination with
such product, system or method.

(2) The Indemnified Party shall notify the Contractor within a reasonable time after
receiving notice of an Intellectual Property Claim. Even if the Indemnified Party fails to
provide reasonable notice, the Contractor shall not be relieved from its obligations unless
the Contractor can demonstrate that it was prejudiced in defending the Intellectual
Property Claim resulting in increased expenses or loss to the Contractor. If the
Contractor promptly and reasonably investigates and defends any Intellectual Property
Claim, it shall have control over the defense and settlement of it. However, the
Indemnified Party must consent in writing for any money damages or obligations for
which it may be responsible. The Indemnified Party shall furnish, at the Contractor’s 
reasonable request and expense, information and assistance necessary for such
defense. If the Contractor fails to vigorously pursue the defense or settlement of the
Intellectual Property Claim, the Indemnified Party may assume the defense or settlement
of it and the Contractor shall be liable for all costs and expenses, including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and related costs, incurred by the Indemnified Party in the pursuit of the 
Intellectual Property Claim. Unless otherwise agreed in writing, this section is not subject
to any limitations of liability in this Master Agreement or in any other document executed
in conjunction with this Master Agreement.

34. No Waiver of Sovereign Immunity

In no event shall this Master Agreement, any Participating Addendum or any contract or
any Purchase Order issued thereunder, or any act of the Lead State, a Participating
Entity, or a Purchasing Entity be a waiver of any form of defense or immunity, whether
sovereign immunity, governmental immunity, immunity based on the Eleventh
Amendment to the Constitution of the United States or otherwise, from any claim or from
the jurisdiction of any court.

This section applies to a claim brought against the Participating Entities who are states
only to the extent Congress has appropriately abrogated the state’s sovereign immunity
and is not consent by the state to be sued in federal court. This section is also not a
waiver by the state of any form of immunity, including but not limited to sovereign
immunity and immunity based on the Eleventh Amendment to the Constitution of the
United States.

35. Governing Law and Venue

a. The procurement, evaluation, and award of the Master Agreement shall be governed
by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Lead State sponsoring and
administering the procurement. The construction and effect of the Master Agreement
after award shall be governed by the law of the state serving as Lead State. The
construction and effect of any Participating Addendum or Order against the Master



64 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
Participating Entity’s or Purchasing Entity’s State. 

 
b. Unless otherwise specified in the RFP, the venue for any protest, claim, dispute or 
action relating to the procurement, evaluation, and award is in the Lead State. Venue for 
any claim, dispute or action concerning the terms of the Master Agreement shall be in 
the state serving as Lead State. Venue for any claim, dispute, or action concerning any 
Order placed against the Master Agreement or the effect of a Participating Addendum 
shall be in the Purchasing Entity’s State. 

 
c. If a claim is brought in a federal forum, then it must be brought and adjudicated solely 
and exclusively within the United States District Court for (in decreasing order of priority): 
The Lead State for claims relating to the procurement, evaluation, award, or contract 
performance or administration if the Lead State is a party; a Participating State if a named 
party; the state where the Participating Entity or Purchasing Entity is located if either is 
a named party. 

 

36. Assignment of Antitrust Rights 
 

Contractor irrevocably assigns to a Participating Entity who is a state any claim for relief 
or cause of action which the Contractor now has or which may accrue to the Contractor 
in the future by reason of any violation of state or federal antitrust laws (15 U.S.C. § 1- 
15 or a Participating Entity’s state antitrust provisions), as now in effect and as may be 
amended from time to time, in connection with any goods or services provided in that 
state for the purpose of carrying out the Contractor's obligations under this Master 
Agreement or Participating Addendum, including, at the Participating Entity's option, the 
right to control any such litigation on such claim for relief or cause of action. 

 

37. Contract Provisions for Orders Utilizing Federal Funds. 
 

Pursuant to Appendix II to 2 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Contract 
Provisions for Non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards, Orders funded with 
federal funds may have additional contractual requirements or certifications that must be 
satisfied at the time the Order is placed or upon delivery. These federal requirements 
may be proposed by Participating Entities in Participating Addenda and Purchasing 
Entities for incorporation in Orders placed under this Master Agreement. 

 
(November 2015) 



65 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

eMarket Center Appendix

a. This Appendix applies whenever a catalog hosted by or integration of a punchout site
with eMarket Center is required by the solicitation or either solution is proposed by a
Contractor and accepted by the Lead State.

b. Supplier’s Interface with the eMarket Center. There is no cost charged by SciQuest to
the Contractor for loading a hosted catalog or integrating a punchout site.

c. At a minimum, the Contractor agrees to the following:

(1) Implementation Timeline: NASPO ValuePoint eMarket Center Site Admin shall
provide a written request to the Contractor to begin enablement process. The Contractor
shall have fifteen (15) days from receipt of written request to work with NASPO
ValuePoint and SciQuest to set up an enablement schedule, at which time SciQuest’s 
technical documentation shall be provided to the Contractor. The schedule will include
future calls and milestone dates related to test and go live dates. The contractor shall
have a total of Ninety (90) days to deliver either a (1) hosted catalog or (2) punch-out
catalog, from date of receipt of written request.

(2) NASPO ValuePoint and SciQuest will work with the Contractor, to decide
which of the catalog structures (either hosted or punch-out as further described below)
shall be provided by the Contractor. Whether hosted or punch-out, the catalog must
be strictly limited to the Contractor’s awarded contract offering (e.g. products 
and/or services not authorized through the resulting cooperative contract should
not be viewable by NASPO ValuePoint Participating Entity users).

(a) Hosted Catalog. By providing a hosted catalog, the Contractor is
providing a list of its awarded products/services and pricing in an electronic data
file in a format acceptable to SciQuest, such as Tab Delimited Text files. In this
scenario, the Contractor must submit updated electronic data [Insert Time Frame
Here] to the eMarket Center for the Lead State’s approval to maintain the most 
up-to-date version of its product/service offering under the cooperative contract in
the eMarket Center.

(b) Punch-Out Catalog. By providing a punch-out catalog, the Contractor
is providing its own online catalog, which must be capable of being integrated with
the eMarket Center as a. Standard punch-in via Commerce eXtensible Markup
Language (cXML). In this scenario, the Contractor shall validate that its online
catalog is up-to-date by providing a written update to the Lead State stating they
have audited the offered products/services and pricing listed on its online catalog.
The site must also return detailed UNSPSC codes (as outlined in line 3) for each
line item. Contractor also agrees to provide e-Quote functionality to facilitate
volume discounts.

d. Revising Pricing  and  Product Offerings:  Any revisions  to  product/service offerings



66 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

(new products, altered SKUs, new pricing etc.) must be pre-approved by the Lead State
and shall be subject to any other applicable restrictions with respect to the frequency or
amount of such revisions. However, no cooperative contract enabled in the eMarket
Center may include price changes on a more frequent basis than once per year. The
following conditions apply with respect to hosted catalogs:

(1). Updated pricing files are required by the 1st of the month and shall go
into effect in the eMarket Center on the 1st day of the following month (i.e. file
received on 1/01/13 would be effective in the eMarket Center on 2/01/13). Files
received after the 1st of the month may be delayed up to a month (i.e. file received
on 11/06/09 would be effect in the eMarket Center on 1/01/10).

(2) Lead State-approved price changes are not effective until implemented
within the eMarket Center. Errors in the Contractor’s submitted pricing files will 
delay the implementation of the price changes in eMarket Center.

e. Supplier Network Requirements: Contractor shall join the SciQuest Supplier Network
(SQSN) and shall use the SciQuest’s Supplier Portal to import the Contractor’s catalog
and pricing, into the SciQuest system, and view reports on catalog spend and
product/pricing freshness. The Contractor can receive orders through electronic delivery
(cXML) or through low-tech options such as fax. More information about the SQSN can
be found at: www.sciquest.com or call the SciQuest Supplier Network Services team at
800-233-1121.

f. Minimum Requirements: Whether the Contractor is providing a hosted catalog or a
punch-out catalog, the Contractor agrees to meet the following requirements:

(1) Catalog must contain the most current pricing, including all applicable
administrative fees and/or discounts, as well as the most up-to-date product/service
offering the Contractor is authorized to provide in accordance with the cooperative
contract; and

(2) The accuracy of the catalog must be maintained by Contractor throughout the
duration of the cooperative contract between the Contractor and the Contract
Administrator; and

(3) The Catalog must include a Lead State contract identification number; and

(4) The Catalog must include detailed product line item descriptions; and

(5) The Catalog must include pictures when possible; and

(6) The Catalog must include any additional NASPO ValuePoint and Participating
Addendum requirements. Although suppliers in the SQSN normally submit one (1)
catalog, it is possible to have multiple contracts applicable to different NASPO
ValuePoint Participating Entities. For example, a supplier may have different pricing for

http://www.sciquest.com/


67 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

state government agencies and Board of Regents institutions. Suppliers have the ability
and responsibility to submit separate contract pricing for the same catalog if applicable.
The system will deliver the appropriate contract pricing to the user viewing the catalog.

g. Order Acceptance Requirements: Contractor must be able to accept Purchase Orders
via fax or cXML. The Contractor shall provide positive confirmation via phone or email
within 24 hours of the Contractor’s receipt of the Purchase Order. If the Purchasing Order
is received after 3pm EST on the day before a weekend or holiday, the Contractor must
provide positive confirmation via phone or email on the next business day.

h. UNSPSC Requirements: Contractor shall support use of the United Nations Standard
Product and Services Code (UNSPSC). UNSPSC versions that must be adhered to are
driven by SciQuest for the suppliers and are upgraded every year. NASPO ValuePoint
reserves the right to migrate to future versions of the UNSPSC and the Contractor shall
be required to support the migration effort. All line items, goods or services provided
under the resulting statewide contract must be associated to a UNSPSC code. All line
items must be identified at the most detailed UNSPSC level indicated by segment, family,
class and commodity. More information about the UNSPSC is available at:
http://www.unspsc.com and http://www.unspsc.com/FAQs.asp#howdoesunspscwork.

i. Applicability: Contractor agrees that NASPO ValuePoint controls which contracts
appear in the eMarket Center and that NASPO ValuePoint may elect at any time to
remove any supplier’s offering from the eMarket Center.

j. The Lead State reserves the right to approve the pricing on the eMarket Center. This
catalog review right is solely for the benefit of the Lead State and Participating Entities,
and the review and approval shall not waive the requirement that products and services
be offered at prices (and approved fees) required by the Master Agreement.

k. Several NASPO ValuePoint Participating Entities currently maintain separate
SciQuest eMarketplaces, these Participating Entities do enable certain NASPO
ValuePoint Cooperative Contracts. In the event one of these entities elects to use
this NASPO ValuePoint Cooperative Contract (available through the eMarket
Center) but publish to their own eMarketplace, the Contractor agrees to work in
good faith with the entity and NASPO ValuePoint to implement the catalog.
NASPO ValuePoint does not anticipate that this will require substantial additional
efforts by the Contractor; however, the supplier agrees to take commercially
reasonable efforts to enable such separate SciQuest catalogs.

http://www.unspsc.com/
http://www.unspsc.com/FAQs.asp#howdoesunspscwork


68 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

 

Section 7:  Lead State (State of Arizona) Terms and Conditions 

7.1 State of Arizona Special terms and Conditions 
 

A. Purpose 
Pursuant to provisions of the Arizona Procurement Code. A.R.S. 41-2501 Et 
Seq., the State of Arizona intends to establish a Contract (Participating 
Addendum, PA) for the materials or services as listed herein on service to the 
State. 

 
B. Contract Type- Fixed Price 

 
C. Licenses 

Contractor shall maintain in current status all Federal, State and Local licenses 
and permits required for the operation of a business conducted by the 
contractor. 

 
D. Volume of Work 

The State does not guarantee a specific amount of work either for the life of 
the Contract or on an annual basis. 

 
E. Key Personnel 

It is essential that the contractor provide an adequate staff of experienced 
personnel, capable of and devoted to the successful accomplishment of work 
to be performed under this contract. The contractor must assign specific 
individuals to the key positions. 

1. The Contractor agrees that, once assigned to work under this Contract, 
key personnel shall not be removed or replaced without written notice to 
the State. 

2. Key personnel who are not available for work under this Contract for a 
continuous period exceeding thirty (30) calendar days, or are expected to 
devote substantially less effort to the work than initially anticipated, the 
contractor shall immediately notify the State and shall subject to the 
concurrence of the State, replace such personnel of substantially equal 
ability and qualifications. 

 
F. Price or Rate Adjustment 

Any price or rate adjustment shall be within the confines of the awarded 
contract, or as negotiated in service to this Contract. Any price or rate 
adjustment requested must not exceed the Producers Price Index (PPI) by 
Industry: Other Commercial and Service Industry Machinery Manufacturing: 
Mailing, Letter Handling, and Addressing Machines, Except Parts and 
Attachments, Series ID: PCU3333183333183A at time of requested 
adjustment. Any negotiated price adjustments for this Contract shall be 
documented via a bilateral Contract Amendment. 
 
 



69 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

G. Information Disclosure

The Contractor shall establish and maintain procedures and controls that are
acceptable  to  the  State  for  the  purpose  of  assuring  that  no information
contained in its records or obtained from the state or from others in carrying
out its functions under the contract shall be used or disclosed by it, its agents,
officers, or employees, except as required to efficiently perform duties under
the Contract. Persons requesting such information should be referred to the
State. The Contractor also agrees that any information pertaining to individual
persons shall not be divulged other than to employees or officers of the
Contractor as needed for the performance of duties under the Contract, unless
otherwise agreed to in writing by the State.

H. Employees of the Contractor
All employees of the Contractor employed in the performance of work under
the Contract shall be considered employees of the Contractor at all times, and
not employees of the State. The Contractor shall comply with the Social
Security Act, Workman’s Compensation laws and Unemployment laws of the
State of Arizona and all State, local and Federal legislation relevant to the
Contractor’s business.

I. Warranty
All services supplied under this Contract shall be fully guaranteed by the
Contractor for a minimum period of ninety (90) days from the date of
acceptance by the State. Any defects of design, workmanship, or delivered
materials that would result in non-compliance shall be fully corrected by the
Contractor without cost to the State.

J. Non-Exclusive Contract
Any Contract resulting from this solicitation shall be awarded with the
understanding and agreement that it is for the sole convenience of the State
of Arizona. The State reserves the right to obtain like goods or services from
another source when necessary, or when determined to be in the best interest
of the State.

1. Method of Assessment:
At the completion of each quarter, the contractor reviews all sales under
their contract in preparation for submission of their Usage Report. The
contractor identifies all sales receipts transacted by members of the State
Purchasing Cooperative and assesses one percent (1.0%) of this amount
in their Usage Report. An updated list of State Purchasing Cooperative
members may be found at: https://spo.az.gov/state-purchasing- 
cooperative. At its option, the State may expand or narrow the applicability
of this fee. The State shall provide thirty (30) written notice prior to
exercising or changing this option. The contractor shall summarize all
sales, along with all assessed Administrative Fee amounts within their
Usage Report, including total amounts for the following:



70 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

• Total sales receipts from State agencies, boards and commissions; 

• Total sales receipts from members of the State Purchasing 
Cooperative; and 

• Total Administrative Fee amount based on one percent (1.0%) of 
the sales receipts from members of the State Purchasing 
Cooperative. 

 
2. Submission of Reports and Fees: 

Within thirty (30) days following the end of the quarter, the contractor 
submits their Usage Report and if applicable, a check in the amount of one 
percent (1%) of their sales receipts from members of the State Purchasing 
Cooperative, to the Department of Administration, State Procurement 
Office. Contractors are required to use the State’s current report templates 
unless you have authorization from your contract officer to use a different 
format. You need to complete Form 799, which is a cover letter that gives 
the totals of your transactions; and Form 801, which is an Excel 
spreadsheet that details your transactions. Sales to state agencies and the 
cooperative members are to be totaled separately. The most current forms 
can be downloaded at https://spo.az.gov/statewide-contracts- 
administrative-fee. 

 

4.1 The submission schedule for Administrative  Fees  and  Usage  
reports shall be as follows: 

FY Q1, July through September Due October 31 

FY Q2, October through December Due January 31 

FY Q3, January through March Due by April 30 

FY Q4, April through June Due by July 31 
 

2.2  Usage Reports and any questions are to be submitted by email to   
the state's designated usage report email address: 
usage@azdoa.gov 

 

3. Administrative Fee 
The Administrative Fee shall be a part of the Contractor’s unit prices and 
is not to be charged directly to the customer in the form of a separate line 
item. Statewide contracts shall not have separate prices for State Agency 
customers and State Purchasing Cooperative customers. 

 
4. Contractor's failure to remit administrative fees 

Contractor’s failure to remit administrative fees in a timely manner 
consistent with the contract’s requirements may result in the State 
exercising any recourse available under the contract or as provided for by 
law. 

 

K. Compensation 

https://spo.az.gov/statewide-contracts-administrative-fee
https://spo.az.gov/statewide-contracts-administrative-fee
mailto:usage@azdoa.gov


71 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

Should the Contractor fail to provide all required services or deliver work
products, as agreed upon by State and the Contractor, the State shall be
entitled to invoke applicable remedies, including but not limited to, withholding
payment to the Contractor and declaring the Contractor in material breach of
the Contract. If the Contractor is in any manner in default of any obligation or
the Contractor’s work or performance is determined by the State to be 
defective, sub-standard, or if audit exceptions are identified, the State may, in
addition to other available remedies, either adjust the amount of payment or
withhold payment until satisfactory resolution of the default, defect, exception
or sub-standard performance. The Contractor shall reimburse the State on
demand, or the State may deduct from future payments, any amounts paid for
work products or performance which are determined to be an audit exception,
defective or sub-standard performance. The Contractor shall correct its
mistakes or errors without additional cost to the State. The State shall be the
sole determiner as to defective or sub-standard performance.

The Contractor shall fulfill their contractual requirements including the
Deliverables identified in the Statement of Work and fulfill the roles and
responsibilities described in the Statement of Work for a firm fixed price,
inclusive of travel and travel-related expenses. The fixed amount shall be
inclusive of any fees for the use of any third party products or services required
for use in the performance of this Contract.

L. Offshore Performance of Work Prohibited
Due to security and identity protection concerns, direct services under this
contract shall be performed within the borders of the United States. Any
services that are described in the specifications or scope of work that directly
serve the State of Arizona or its clients and may involve access to secure or
sensitive data or personal client data or development or modification of
software for the State shall be performed within the borders of the United
States. Unless specifically stated otherwise in the specifications, this definition
does not apply to indirect or “overhead” services, redundant back-up services
or services that are incidental to the performance of the contract. This
provision applies to work performed by subcontractors at all tiers.

M. Indemnification and Insurance
1.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall defend,

indemnify, and hold harmless the State of Arizona, and its
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, and any
jurisdiction or agency issuing permits for any work included in the
project, and their respective directors, officers, officials, agents and
employees (hereinafter referred to as "Indemnitee") from and
against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, costs, losses, or
expenses, (including reasonable attorney's fees), (hereinafter
collectively referred to as "Claims") arising out of actual or alleged
bodily injury or personal injury of any person (including death) or



72 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

loss or damage to tangible or intangible property caused, or alleged 
to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or 
omissions of Contractor or any of Contractor's directors, officers, 
agents, employees, volunteers or subcontractors. This indemnity 
includes any claim or amount arising or recovered under the 
Workers' Compensation Law or arising out of the failure of 
Contractor to conform to any federal, state or local law, statute, 
ordinance, rule, regulation or court decree. It is the specific intention 
of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for 
Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions 
of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by Contractor from and against 
any and all Claims. It is agreed that Contractor will be responsible 
for primary loss investigation, defense and judgment costs where 
this indemnification is applicable. This indemnification will survive 
the termination of the above listed contract with the Contractor. 

 
This indemnity shall not apply if the contractor or sub-contractor(s) 
is/are an agency, board, commission or university of the State of 
Arizona. 

 

1.2 Insurance Requirements 
1.2.1 Contractor and subcontractors shall procure and maintain, 

until all of their obligations have been discharged, including 
any warranty periods under this Contract, insurance against 
claims for injury to persons or damage to property arising 
from, or in connection with, the performance of the work 
hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors. 

 
1.2.2 The Insurance Requirements herein are minimum 

requirements for this Contract and in no way limit the 
indemnity covenants contained in this Contract. The State of 
Arizona in no way warrants that the minimum limits contained 
herein are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities 
that arise out of the performance of the work under this 
Contract by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, 
employees or subcontractors, and the Contractor is free to 
purchase additional insurance. 

 
1.3 Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance 

Contractor shall provide coverage with limits of liability not less than 
those stated below. 

 
1.3.1 Commercial General Liability (CGL) – Occurrence Form 

Policy shall include bodily injury, property damage, and 
broad form contractual liability coverage. 



73 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

General Aggregate $2,000,000 
Products – Completed Operations Aggregate $1,000,000 
Personal and Advertising Injury $1,000,000 
Damage to Rented Premises $50,000 
Each Occurrence $1,000,000 

 

a. The policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written 
agreement, to include the State of Arizona, and its departments, 
agencies, boards, commissions, universities, officers, officials, 
agents, and employees as additional insureds with respect to 
liability arising out of the activities performed by or on behalf of 
the Contractor 

b. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as 
required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

 
1.3.2 Business Automobile Liability 

Bodily Injury and Property Damage for any owned, hired, 
and/or non-owned automobiles used in the performance of 
this Contract. 

□ Combined Single Limit (CSL) $1,000,000 
 

Policy shall be endorsed, as required by this written 
agreement, to include the State of Arizona, and its 
departments, agencies, boards, commissions, universities, 
officers, officials, agents, and employees as additional 
insureds with respect to liability arising out of the activities 
performed by, or on behalf of, the Contractor involving 
automobiles owned, hired and/or non-owned by the 
Contractor. 

 
c. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement as 

required by this written agreement in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

 
1.3.3 Workers’ Compensation and Employers' Liability 

□ Workers' Compensation Statutory 
□ Employers' Liability  

□ Each Accident $1,000,000 
□ Disease – Each Employee $1,000,000 
□ Disease – Policy Limit $1,000,000 



74 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

d. Policy shall contain a waiver of subrogation endorsement, as 
required by this written agreement, in favor of the State of 
Arizona, and its departments, agencies, boards, commissions, 
universities, officers, officials, agents, and employees for losses 
arising from work performed by or on behalf of the Contractor. 

 
e. This requirement shall not apply to each Contractor or 

subcontractor that is exempt under A.R.S. § 23-901, and when 
such Contractor or subcontractor executes the appropriate 
waiver form (Sole Proprietor or Independent Contractor). 

 
1.3.4 Technology Errors & Omissions Insurance 

□ Each Claim $2,000,000 
□ Annual Aggregate $2,000,000 

 
f. Such insurance shall cover any, and all errors, omissions, or 

negligent acts in the delivery of products, services, and/or 
licensed programs under this contract. 

 
g. Coverage shall include or shall not exclude settlement and/or 

defense of claims involving intellectual property, including but 
not limited to patent or copyright infringement. 

 
h. In the event that the Tech E&O insurance required by this 

Contract is written on a claims-made basis, Contractor warrants 
that any retroactive date under the policy shall precede the 
effective date of this Contract and, either continuous coverage 
will be maintained or an extended discovery period will be 
exercised for a period of two (2) years, beginning at the time 
work under this Contract is completed. 

 
1.3.5 Media Liability Coverage 

□ Each Claim $2,000,000 
□ Annual Aggregate $2,000,000 

 
i. Such insurance shall cover any and all errors and omissions or 

negligent acts in the production of content, including but not 
limited to plagiarism, defamation, libel, slander, false advertising, 
invasion of privacy, and infringement of copyright, title, slogan, 
trademark, service mark and trade dress. 

 
j. In the event that the Media Liability insurance required by this 

Contract is written on a claims-made basis, Contractor warrants 
that any retroactive date under the policy shall precede the 
effective date of this Contract and, either continuous coverage 
will  be  maintained,  or  an  extended  discovery  period  will be 



75 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

exercised for a period of two (2) years beginning at the time work
under this Contract is completed.

1.4 Additional Insurance Requirements
The policies shall include, or be endorsed to include, as required by
this written agreement, the following provisions:

1.4.1 The Contractor's policies, as applicable, shall stipulate that
the insurance afforded the Contractor shall be primary and
that any insurance carried by the Department, its agents,
officials, employees or the State of Arizona shall be excess
and not contributory insurance, as provided by A.R.S. § 41-
621 (E).

1.4.2 Insurance provided by the Contractor shall not limit the
Contractor’s liability assumed under the indemnification 
provisions of this Contract

1.5 Notice of Cancellation
Applicable to all insurance policies required within the Insurance
Requirements of this Contract, Contractor’s insurance shall not be 
permitted to expire, be suspended, be canceled, or be materially
changed for any reason without thirty (30) days prior written notice
to the State of Arizona. Within two (2) business days of receipt,
Contractor must provide notice to the State of Arizona if they receive
notice of a policy that has been or will be suspended, canceled,
materially changed for any reason, has expired, or will be expiring.
Such notice shall be sent directly to the Department and shall be
mailed, emailed, hand delivered or sent by facsimile transmission to
(State Representative’s Name, Address & Fax Number).

1.6 Acceptability of Insurers
Contractor’s insurance shall be placed with companies licensed in 
the State of Arizona or hold approved non-admitted status on the
Arizona Department of Insurance List of Qualified Unauthorized
Insurers. Insurers shall have an “A.M. Best” rating of not less than 
A- VII. The State of Arizona in no way warrants that the above- 
required minimum insurer rating is sufficient to protect the
Contractor from potential insurer insolvency.

1.7 Verification of Coverage
Contractor shall furnish the State of Arizona with certificates of
insurance (valid ACORD form or equivalent approved by the State
of Arizona) as required by this Contract. An authorized
representative of the insurer shall sign the certificates.



76 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

 

1.7.1 All certificates and endorsements, as required by this written 
agreement, are to be received and approved by the State of 
Arizona before work commences. Each insurance policy 
required by this Contract must be in effect at, or prior to, 
commencement of work under this Contract. Failure to 
maintain the insurance policies as required by this Contract, 
or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material breach of 
contract. 

 
1.7.2 All certificates required by this Contract shall be sent directly 

to the Department. The State of Arizona project/contract 
number and project description shall be noted on the 
certificate of insurance. The State of Arizona reserves the 
right to require complete copies of all insurance policies 
required by this Contract at any time. 

 
1.8 Subcontractors 

Contractor’s certificate(s) shall include all subcontractors as 
insureds under its policies or Contractor shall be responsible for 
ensuring and/or verifying that all subcontractors have valid and 
collectable insurance as evidenced by the certificates of insurance 
and endorsements for each subcontractor. All coverages for 
subcontractors shall be subject to the minimum Insurance 
Requirements identified above. The Department reserves the right 
to require, at any time throughout the life of this contract, proof from 
the Contractor that its subcontractors have the required coverage. 

 
1.9 Approval and Modifications 
The Contracting Agency, in consultation with State Risk, reserves 
the right to review or make modifications to the insurance limits, 
required coverages, or endorsements throughout the life of this 
contract, as deemed necessary. Such action will not require a formal 
Contract amendment but may be made by administrative action. 

 
1.10 Exceptions 
In the event the Contractor or subcontractor(s) is/are a public entity, 
then the Insurance Requirements shall not apply. Such public entity 
shall provide a certificate of self-insurance. If the Contractor or 
subcontractor(s) is/are a State of Arizona agency, board, 
commission, or university, none of the above shall apply. 

 
 

P. Data Privacy/Security Incident Management 



77 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

Contractor and its agents shall cooperate and collaborate with appropriate 
State personnel to identify and respond to an information security or data 
privacy incident, including a security breach. 

 
1. Threat of Security Breach 

Contractor(s) agrees to notify the State Chief Information Officer (CIO), the 
State Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) and other key personnel as 
identified by the State of any perceived threats placing the supported 
infrastructure and/or applications in danger of breach of security. The 
speed of notice shall be at least commensurate with the level of threat, as 
perceived by the Contractor(s). The State agrees to provide contact 
information for the State CIO, CISO and key personnel to the Contractor(s). 

 
2. Discovery of Security Breach 

Contractor agrees to immediately notify the State CIO, the CISO and key 
personnel as identified by the State of a discovered breach of security. The 
State agrees to provide contact information for the State CIO, the CISO 
and key personnel. 

 
 

Q. Access Constraints and Requirements 
Contractor access to State facilities and resources shall be properly authorized 
by State personnel, based on business need and will be restricted to least 
possible privilege. Upon approval of access privileges, the Contractor shall 
maintain strict adherence to all policies, standards, and procedures. Policies / 
Standards, ADOA/ASET Policies / Procedures, and Arizona Revised Statues 
(A.R.S.) §28-447, §28-449, §38-421, §13-2408, §13-2316, §41-770. 

 
Failure of the Contractor, its agents or subcontractors to comply with policies, 
standards, and procedures including any person who commits an unlawful 
breach or harmful access (physical or virtual) will be subject to prosecution 
under all applicable state and / or federal laws. 

 
Any and all recovery or reconstruction costs or other liabilities associated with 
an unlawful breach or harmful access shall be paid by the Contractor. 

 
R. Compliance Requirements for A.R.S. § 41-4401, Government Procurement: E- 

Verify Requirement 

1. The Contractor warrants compliance with all Federal immigration laws and 
regulations relating to employees and warrants its compliance with Section 
A.R.S. § 23-214, Subsection A. (That subsection reads: “After December 
31, 2007, every employer, after hiring an employee, shall verify the 
employment eligibility of the employee through the E-Verify program.) 

 
2. A breach of a warranty regarding compliance with immigration laws and 

regulations  shall be  deemed a material breach  of  the  Contract  and the 



78 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

Contractor may be subject to penalties up to and including termination of
the Contract.

3. Failure to comply with a State audit process to randomly verify the
employment records of Contractors and subcontractors shall be deemed a
material breach of the Contract and the Contractor may be subject to
penalties up to and including termination of the Contract.

4. The State Agency retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any
employee who works on the Contract to ensure that the Contractor or
subcontractor is complying with the warranty under paragraph One (1).

7.2 State of Arizona Uniform Terms and Conditions

1. Definition of Terms
As used in this Solicitation and any resulting Contract, the terms listed below are
defined as follows:

1.1. “Attachment” means any item the Solicitation requires the Offeror to
submit as part of the Offer.

1.2. “Contract” means the combination of the Solicitation, including the
Uniform and Special Instructions to Offerors, the Uniform and Special
Terms and Conditions, and the Specifications and Statement or Scope
of Work; the Offer and any Best and Final Offers; and any Solicitation
Amendments or Contract Amendments.

1.3. "Contract Amendment" means a written document signed by the
Procurement Officer that is issued for the purpose of making changes
in the Contract.

1.4. “Contractor” means any person who has a Contract with the State.

1.5. “Days” means calendar days unless otherwise specified.

1.6. “Exhibit” means any item labeled as an Exhibit in the Solicitation or
placed in the Exhibits section of the Solicitation.

1.7. “Gratuity” means a payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of
money, services, or anything of more than nominal value, present or
promised, unless consideration of substantially equal or greater value
is received.

1.8. “Materials” means all property, including equipment, supplies, printing,
insurance and leases of property but does not include land, a
permanent interest in land or real property or leasing space.



79 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

1.9. “Procurement Officer” means the person, or his or her designee, duly 
authorized by the State to enter into and administer Contracts and 
make written determinations with respect to the Contract. 

 

1.10. “Services” means the furnishing of labor, time or effort by a contractor 
or subcontractor which does not involve the delivery of a specific end 
product other than required reports and performance, but does not 
include employment agreements or collective bargaining agreements. 

 

1.11. “Subcontract” means any Contract, express or implied, between the 
Contractor and another party or between a subcontractor and another 
party delegating or assigning, in whole or in part, the making or 
furnishing of any material or any service required for the performance 
of the Contract. 

 

1.12. “State” means the State of Arizona and Department or Agency of the 
State that executes the Contract. 

1.13. “State Fiscal Year” means the period beginning with July 1 and ending 
June 30. 

 

2. Contract Interpretation 

2.1. Arizona Law. The Arizona law applies to this Contract including, where 
applicable, the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted by the State of 
Arizona and the Arizona Procurement Code, Arizona Revised Statutes 
(A.R.S.) Title 41, Chapter 23, and its implementing rules, Arizona 
Administrative Code (A.A.C.) Title 2, Chapter 7. 

 

2.2. Implied Contract Terms. Each provision of law and any terms required 
by law to be in this Contract are a part of this Contract as if fully stated 
in it. 

 

2.3. Contract Order of Precedence. In the event of a conflict in the 
provisions of the Contract, as accepted by the State and as they may 
be amended, the following shall prevail in the order set forth below: 

2.3.1. Special Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.2 Uniform Terms and Conditions; 

2.3.3. Statement or Scope of Work; 

2.3.4. Specifications; 

2.3.5. Attachments; 

2.3.6. Exhibits; 
2.3.7. Documents referenced or included in the Solicitation. 

 

2.4. Relationship of Parties. The Contractor under this Contract is an 
independent Contractor. Neither party to this Contract shall be deemed 
to be the employee or agent of the other party to the Contract. 



80 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

2.5. Severability. The provisions of this Contract are severable. Any term or 
condition deemed illegal or invalid shall not affect any other term or 
condition of the Contract. 

 

2.6. No Parole Evidence. This Contract is intended by the parties as a final 
and complete expression of their agreement. No course of prior 
dealings between the parties and no usage of the trade shall 
supplement or explain any terms used in this document and no other 
understanding either oral or in writing shall be binding. 

 

2.7. No Waiver. Either party’s failure to insist on strict performance of any 
term or condition of the Contract shall not be deemed a waiver of that 
term or condition even if the party accepting or acquiescing in the 
nonconforming performance knows of the nature of the performance 
and fails to object to it. 

 
3. Contract Administration and Operation 

3.1. Records. Under A.R.S. § 35-214 and § 35-215, the Contractor shall 
retain and shall contractually require each subcontractor to retain all 
data and other “records” relating to the acquisition and performance of 
the Contract for a period of five years after the completion of the 
Contract. All records shall be subject to inspection and audit by the 
State at reasonable times. Upon request, the Contractor shall produce 
a legible copy of any or all such records. 

 

3.2. Non-Discrimination. The Contractor shall comply with State Executive 
Order No. 2009-09 and all other applicable Federal and State laws, 
rules and regulations, including the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

 

3.3. Audit. Pursuant to ARS § 35-214, at any time during the term of this 
Contract and five (5) years thereafter, the Contractor’s or any 
subcontractor’s books and records shall be subject to audit by the State 
and, where applicable, the Federal Government, to the extent that the 
books and records relate to the performance of the Contract or 
Subcontract. 

 

3.4. Facilities Inspection and Materials Testing. The Contractor agrees to 
permit access to its facilities, subcontractor facilities and the 
Contractor’s processes or services, at reasonable times for inspection 
of the facilities or materials covered under this Contract. The State shall 
also have the right to test, at its own cost, the materials to be supplied 
under this Contract. Neither inspection of the Contractor’s facilities nor 
materials testing shall constitute final acceptance of the materials or 
services. If the State determines non-compliance of the materials, the 
Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of all costs incurred by 
the State for testing and inspection. 



81 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

3.5. Notices. Notices to the Contractor required by this Contract shall be 
made by the State to the person indicated on the Offer and Acceptance 
form submitted by the Contractor unless otherwise stated in the 
Contract. Notices to the State required by the Contract shall be made 
by the Contractor to the Solicitation Contact Person indicated on the 
Solicitation cover sheet, unless otherwise stated in the Contract. An 
authorized Procurement Officer and an authorized 

 

Contractor representative may change their respective person to whom 
notice shall be given by written notice to the other and an amendment 
to the Contract shall not be necessary. 

 

3.6. Advertising, Publishing and Promotion of Contract. The Contractor shall 
not use, advertise or promote information for commercial benefit 
concerning this Contract without the prior written approval of the 
Procurement Officer. 

 

3.7. Property of the State. Any materials, including reports, computer 
programs and other deliverables, created under this Contract are the 
sole property of the State. The Contractor is not entitled to a patent or 
copyright on those materials and may not transfer the patent or 
copyright to anyone else. The Contractor shall not use or release these 
materials without the prior written consent of the State. 

 

3.8. Ownership of Intellectual Property. Any and all intellectual property, 
including but not limited to copyright, invention, trademark, trade name, 
service mark, and/or trade secrets created or conceived pursuant to or 
as a result of this contract and any related subcontract (“Intellectual 
Property”), shall be work made for hire and the State shall be 
considered the creator of such Intellectual Property. The agency, 
department, division, board or commission of the State of Arizona 
requesting the issuance of this contract shall own (for and on behalf of 
the State) the entire right, title and interest to the Intellectual Property 
throughout the world. Contractor shall notify the State, within thirty (30) 
days, of the creation of any Intellectual Property by it or its 
subcontractor(s). Contractor, on behalf of itself and any 
subcontractor(s), agrees to execute any and all document(s) necessary 
to assure ownership of the Intellectual Property vests in the State and 
shall take no affirmative actions that might have the effect of vesting all 
or part of the Intellectual Property in any entity other than the State. The 
Intellectual Property shall not be disclosed by contractor or its 
subcontractor(s) to any entity not the State without the express written 
authorization of the agency, department, division, board or commission 
of the State of Arizona requesting the issuance of this contract. 

 

3.9. Federal Immigration and Nationality Act. The contractor shall comply 
with all federal, state and local immigration laws and regulations relating 



82 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

to the immigration status of their employees during the term of the 
contract. Further, the contractor shall flow down this requirement to all 
subcontractors utilized during the term of the contract. The State shall 
retain the right to perform random audits of contractor and 
subcontractor records or to inspect papers of any employee thereof to 
ensure compliance. Should the State determine that the contractor 
and/or any subcontractors be found noncompliant, the State may 
pursue all remedies allowed by law, including, but not limited to; 
suspension of work, termination of the contract for default and 
suspension and/or debarment of the contractor. 

 

3.10 E-Verify Requirements. In accordance with A.R.S. § 41-4401, 
Contractor warrants compliance with all Federal immigration laws and 
regulations relating to employees and warrants its compliance with 
Section A.R.S. § 23-214, Subsection A. 

 

3.11 Offshore Performance of Work Prohibited. 

Any services that are described in the specifications or scope of work 
that directly serve the State of Arizona or its clients and involve access 
to secure or sensitive data or personal client data shall be performed 
within the defined territories of the United States. Unless specifically 
stated otherwise in the specifications, this paragraph does not apply to 
indirect or 'overhead' services, redundant back-up services or services 
that are incidental to the performance of the contract. This provision 
applies to work performed by subcontractors at all tiers. 

 

4. Costs and Payments 

4.1. Payments. Payments shall comply with the requirements of A.R.S. 
Titles 35 and 41, Net 30 days. Upon receipt and acceptance of goods 
or services, the Contractor shall submit a complete and accurate 
invoice for payment from the State within thirty (30) days. 

 

4.2. Delivery. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract, all prices shall be 
F.O.B. Destination and shall include all freight delivery and unloading 
at the destination. 

4.3. Applicable Taxes. 
 

4.3.1. Payment of Taxes. The Contractor shall be responsible for 
paying all applicable taxes. 

4.3.2. State and Local Transaction Privilege Taxes. The State of 
Arizona is subject to all applicable state and local transaction 
privilege taxes. Transaction privilege taxes apply to the sale and 
are the responsibility of the seller to remit. Failure to collect such 
taxes from the buyer does not relieve the seller from its 
obligation to remit taxes. 



83 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

4.3.3. Tax Indemnification. Contractor and all subcontractors shall pay 
all Federal, state and local taxes applicable to its operation and 
any persons employed by the Contractor. Contractor shall, and 
require all subcontractors to hold the State harmless from any 
responsibility for taxes, damages and interest, if applicable, 
contributions required under Federal, and/or state and local laws 
and regulations and any other costs including transaction 
privilege taxes, unemployment compensation insurance, Social 
Security and Worker’s Compensation. 

 

4.3.4. IRS W9 Form. In order to receive payment, the Contractor shall 
have a current I.R.S. W9 Form on file with the State of Arizona, 
unless not required by law. 

 
4.4. Availability of Funds for the Next State fiscal year. Funds may not 

presently be available for performance under this Contract beyond the 
current state fiscal year. No legal liability on the part of the State for any 
payment may arise under this Contract beyond the current state fiscal 
year until funds are made available for performance of this Contract. 

 

4.5. Availability of Funds for the current State fiscal year. Should the State 
Legislature enter back into session and reduce the appropriations or for 
any reason and these goods or services are not funded, the State may 
take any of the following actions: 

4.5.1. Accept a decrease in price offered by the contractor; 

4.5.2. Cancel the Contract; or 

4.5.3. Cancel the contract and re-solicit the requirements. 
 

5. Contract Changes 

5.1. Amendments. This Contract is issued under the authority of the 
Procurement Officer who signed this Contract. The Contract may be 
modified only through a Contract Amendment within the scope of the 
Contract. Changes to the Contract, including the addition of work or 
materials, the revision of payment terms, or the substitution of work or 
materials, directed by a person who is not specifically authorized by the 
procurement officer in writing or made unilaterally by the Contractor are 
violations of the Contract and of applicable law. Such changes, 
including unauthorized written Contract Amendments shall be void and 
without effect, and the Contractor shall not be entitled to any claim 
under this Contract based on those changes. 

 

5.2. Subcontracts. The Contractor shall not enter into any Subcontract 
under this Contract for the performance of this contract without the 
advance written approval of the Procurement Officer. The Contractor 
shall clearly list any proposed subcontractors and the  subcontractor’s 



84 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

proposed responsibilities. The Subcontract shall incorporate by 
reference the terms and conditions of this Contract. 

 

5.3. Assignment and Delegation. The Contractor shall not assign any right 
nor delegate any duty under this Contract without the prior written 
approval of the Procurement Officer. The State shall not unreasonably 
withhold approval. 

 
6. Risk and Liability 

6.1. Risk of Loss: The Contractor shall bear all loss of conforming material 
covered under this Contract until received by authorized personnel at 
the location designated in the purchase order or Contract. Mere receipt 
does not constitute final acceptance. The risk of loss for nonconforming 
materials shall remain with the Contractor regardless of receipt. 

 

6.2. Indemnification 

6.2.1. Contractor/Vendor Indemnification (Not Public Agency) The 
parties to this contract agree that the State of Arizona, its 
departments, agencies, boards and commissions shall be 
indemnified and held harmless by the contractor for the vicarious 
liability of the State as a result of entering into this contract. 
However, the parties further agree that the State of Arizona, its 
departments, agencies, boards and commissions shall be 
responsible for its own negligence. Each party to this contract is 
responsible for its own negligence. 

 

6.2.2. Public Agency Language Only Each party (as 'indemnitor') 
agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other party 
(as 'indemnitee') from and against any and all claims, losses, 
liability, costs, or expenses (including reasonable attorney's 
fees) (hereinafter collectively referred to as 'claims') arising out 
of bodily injury of any person (including death) or property 
damage but only to the extent that such claims which result in 
vicarious/derivative liability to the indemnitee, are caused by the 
act, omission, negligence, misconduct, or other fault of the 
indemnitor, its officers, officials, agents, employees, or 
volunteers." 

 

6.3. Indemnification - Patent and Copyright. The Contractor shall indemnify 
and hold harmless the State against any liability, including costs and 
expenses, for infringement of any patent, trademark or copyright arising 
out of Contract performance or use by the State of materials furnished 
or work performed under this Contract. The State shall reasonably 
notify the Contractor of any claim for which it may be liable under this 
paragraph. If the contractor is insured pursuant to A.R.S. § 41-621 and 
§ 35-154, this section shall not apply. 



85 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

6.4. Force Majeure. 

6.4.1 Except for payment of sums due, neither party shall be liable to 
the other nor deemed in default under this Contract if and to the 
extent that such party’s performance of this Contract is 
prevented by reason of force majeure. The term “force majeure” 
means an occurrence that is beyond the control of the party 
affected and occurs without its fault or negligence. Without 
limiting the foregoing, force majeure includes acts of God; acts 
of the public enemy; war; riots; strikes; mobilization; labor 
disputes; civil disorders; fire; flood; lockouts; injunctions- 
intervention-acts; or failures or refusals to act by government 
authority; and other similar occurrences beyond the control of 
the party declaring force majeure which such party is unable to 
prevent by exercising reasonable diligence. 

 

6.4.2. Force Majeure shall not include the following occurrences: 

6.4.2.1. Late delivery of equipment or materials caused by 
congestion at a manufacturer’s plant or elsewhere, or 
an oversold condition of the market; 

6.4.2.2. Late performance by a subcontractor unless the delay 
arises out of a force majeure occurrence in 
accordance with this force majeure term and 
condition; or 

6.4.2.3. Inability of either the Contractor or any subcontractor 
to acquire or maintain any required insurance, bonds, 
licenses or permits. 

 

6.4.3. If either party is delayed at any time in the progress of the work 
by force majeure, the delayed party shall notify the other party in 
writing of such delay, as soon as is practicable and no later than 
the following working day, of the commencement thereof and 
shall specify the causes of such delay in such notice. Such 
notice shall be delivered or mailed certified-return receipt and 
shall make a specific reference to this article, thereby invoking 
its provisions. The delayed party shall cause such delay to cease 
as soon as practicable and shall notify the other party in writing 
when it has done so. The time of completion shall be extended 
by Contract Amendment for a period of time equal to the time 
that results or effects of such delay prevent the delayed party 
from performing in accordance with this Contract. 

6.4.4. Any delay or failure in performance by either party hereto shall 
not constitute default hereunder or give rise to any claim for 
damages or loss of anticipated profits if, and to the extent that 
such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 



86 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

6.5. Third Party Antitrust Violations. The Contractor assigns to the State any 
claim for overcharges resulting from antitrust violations to the extent 
that those violations concern materials or services supplied by third 
parties to the Contractor, toward fulfillment of this Contract. 

 
7. Warranties 

7.1. Liens. The Contractor warrants that the materials supplied under this 
Contract are free of liens and shall remain free of liens. 

 

7.2. Quality. Unless otherwise modified elsewhere in these terms and 
conditions, the Contractor warrants that, for one year after acceptance 
by the State of the materials, they shall be: 

7.2.1. Of a quality to pass without objection in the trade under the 
Contract description; 

7.2.2. Fit for the intended purposes for which the materials are used; 

7.2.3. Within the variations permitted by the Contract and are of even 
kind, quantity, and quality within each unit and among all units; 

7.2.4. Adequately contained, packaged and marked as the Contract 
may require; and 

7.2.5. Conform to the written promises or affirmations of fact made by 
the Contractor. 

 

7.3. Fitness. The Contractor warrants that any material supplied to the State 
shall fully conform to all requirements of the Contract and all 
representations of the Contractor, and shall be fit for all purposes and 
uses required by the Contract. 

 

7.4. Inspection/Testing. The warranties set forth in subparagraphs 7.1 
through 7.3 of this paragraph are not affected by inspection or testing 
of or payment for the materials by the State. 

 

7.5. Compliance with Applicable Laws. The materials and services supplied 
under this Contract shall comply with all applicable Federal, state and 
local laws, and the Contractor shall maintain all applicable license and 
permit requirements. 

 

7.6. Survival of Rights and Obligations after Contract Expiration or 
Termination. 

 

7.6.1. Contractor's Representations and Warranties. All 
representations and warranties made by the Contractor under 
this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination hereof. 
In addition, the parties hereto acknowledge that pursuant to 
A.R.S. § 12-510, except as provided in A.R.S. § 12-529, the 
State is not subject to or barred by any limitations of actions 
prescribed in A.R.S., Title 12, Chapter 5. 



87 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

7.6.2. Purchase Orders. The Contractor shall, in accordance with all 
terms and conditions of the Contract, fully perform and shall be 
obligated to comply with all purchase orders received by the 
Contractor prior to the expiration or termination hereof, unless 
otherwise directed in writing by the Procurement Officer, 
including, without limitation, all purchase orders received prior to 
but not fully performed and satisfied at the expiration or 
termination of this Contract. 

 
8. State's Contractual Remedies 

8.1. Right to Assurance. If the State in good faith has reason to believe that 
the Contractor does not intend to, or is unable to perform or continue 
performing under this Contract, the Procurement Officer may demand 
in writing that the Contractor give a written assurance of intent to 
perform. Failure by the Contractor to provide written assurance within 
the number of Days specified in the demand may, at the State’s option, 
be the basis for terminating the Contract under the Uniform Terms and 
Conditions or other rights and remedies available by law or provided by 
the contract. 

 

8.2. Stop Work Order. 

8.2.1. The State may, at any time, by written order to the Contractor, 
require the Contractor to stop all or any part, of the work called 
for by this Contract for period(s) of days indicated by the State 
after the order is delivered to the Contractor. The order shall be 
specifically identified as a stop work order issued under this 
clause. Upon receipt of the order, the Contractor shall 
immediately comply with its terms and take all reasonable steps 
to minimize the incurrence of costs allocable to the work covered 
by the order during the period of work stoppage. 

 

8.2.2. If a stop work order issued under this clause is canceled or the 
period of the order or any extension expires, the Contractor shall 
resume work. The Procurement Officer shall make an equitable 
adjustment in the delivery schedule or Contract price, or both, 
and the Contract shall be amended in writing accordingly. 

8.3. Non-exclusive Remedies. The rights and the remedies of the State 
under this Contract are not exclusive. 

 

8.4. Nonconforming Tender. Materials or services supplied under this 
Contract shall fully comply with the Contract. The delivery of materials 
or services or a portion of the materials or services that do not fully 
comply constitutes a breach of contract. On delivery of nonconforming 
materials or services, the State may terminate the Contract for default 
under applicable termination clauses in the Contract, exercise any of its 



88 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)

rights and remedies under the Uniform Commercial Code, or pursue
any other right or remedy available to it.

8.5. Right of Offset. The State shall be entitled to offset against any sums
due the Contractor, any expenses or costs incurred by the State, or
damages assessed by the State concerning the Contractor’s non- 
conforming performance or failure to perform the Contract, including
expenses, costs and damages described in the Uniform Terms and
Conditions.

9. Contract Termination

9.1. Cancellation for Conflict of Interest. Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-511, the
State may cancel this Contract within three (3) years after Contract
execution without penalty or further obligation if any person significantly
involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, drafting or creating the
Contract on behalf of the State is or becomes at any time while the
Contract or an extension of the Contract is in effect an employee of or
a consultant to any other party to this Contract with respect to the
subject matter of the Contract. The cancellation shall be effective when
the Contractor receives written notice of the cancellation unless the
notice specifies a later time. If the Contractor is a political subdivision
of the State, it may also cancel this Contract as provided in A.R.S. §
38-511.

9.2. Gratuities. The State may, by written notice, terminate this Contract, in
whole or in part, if the State determines that employment or a Gratuity
was offered or made by the Contractor or a representative of the
Contractor to any officer or employee of the State for the purpose of
influencing the outcome of the procurement or securing the Contract,
an amendment to the Contract, or favorable treatment concerning the
Contract, including the making of any determination or decision about
contract performance. The State, in addition to any other rights or
remedies, shall be entitled to recover exemplary damages in the
amount of three times the value of the Gratuity offered by the
Contractor.

9.3. Suspension or Debarment. The State may, by written notice to the
Contractor, immediately terminate this Contract if the State determines
that the Contractor has been debarred, suspended or otherwise lawfully
prohibited from participating in any public procurement activity,
including but not limited to, being disapproved as a subcontractor of
any public procurement unit or other governmental body. Submittal of
an offer or execution of a contract shall attest that the contractor is not
currently suspended or debarred. If the contractor becomes suspended
or debarred, the contractor shall immediately notify the State.



89 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

9.4. Termination for Convenience. The State reserves the right to terminate 
the Contract, in whole or in part at any time when in the best interest of 
the State, without penalty or recourse. Upon receipt of the written 
notice, the Contractor shall stop all work, as directed in the notice, notify 
all subcontractors of the effective date of the termination and minimize 
all further costs to the State. 

 

In the event of termination under this paragraph, all documents, data 
and reports prepared by the Contractor under the Contract shall 
become the property of and be delivered to the State upon demand. 
The Contractor shall be entitled to receive just and equitable 
compensation for work in progress, work completed and materials 
accepted before the effective date of the termination. The cost 
principles and procedures provided in A.A.C. R2-7-701 shall apply. 

 

9.5. Termination for Default. 

9.5.1. In addition to the rights reserved in the contract, the State may 
terminate the Contract in whole or in part due to the failure of the 
Contractor to comply with any term or condition of the Contract, 
to acquire and maintain all required insurance policies, bonds, 
licenses and permits, or to make satisfactory progress in 
performing the Contract. The Procurement Officer shall provide 
written notice of the termination and the reasons for it to the 
Contractor. 

9.5.2. Upon termination under this paragraph, all goods, materials, 
documents, data and reports prepared by the Contractor under 
the Contract shall become the property of and be delivered to 
the State on demand. 

9.5.3. The State may, upon termination of this Contract, procure, on 
terms and in the manner that it deems appropriate, materials or 
services to replace those under this Contract. The Contractor 
shall be liable to the State for any excess costs incurred by the 
State in procuring materials or services in substitution for those 
due from the Contractor. 

9.6. Continuation of Performance through Termination. The Contractor shall 
continue to perform, in accordance with the requirements of the 
Contract, up to the date of termination, as directed in the termination 
notice. 

 
10. Contract Claims 

All contract claims or controversies under this Contract shall be resolved 
according to A.R.S. Title 41, Chapter 23, Article 9, and rules adopted thereunder. 

 
11. Arbitration 



90 | Page (Rev 06-05-15)  

The parties to this Contract agree to resolve all disputes arising out of or relating 
to this contract through arbitration, after exhausting applicable administrative 
review, to the extent required by A.R.S. §12-1518, except as may be required by 
other applicable statutes (Title 41). 

 
12. Comments Welcome 

The State Procurement Office periodically reviews the Uniform Terms and 
Conditions and welcomes any comments you may have. Please submit your 
comments to: State Procurement Administrator, State Procurement Office, 100 
North 15th Avenue, Suite 201, Phoenix, Arizona, 85007. 



 
 

 
Page 1 of 6   Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16   

GOVERNMENT PRODUCT LEASE AGREEMENT 
 
In this Government Product Lease Agreement (the “Lease”), 
the words “You” and “Your” mean the lessee, which is the 
entity that is identified as the Customer on the Government 
Product Lease Agreement Order Form (“Order Form”).  “We,” 
“Us” and “Our” mean the lessor, MailFinance Inc.  “Supplier” 
refers to either Neopost USA Inc., or any other third party 
that has manufactured, or is providing services related to, the 
Products.   
1. Lease of Products. THIS LEASE IS UNCONDITIONAL 
AND NON-CANCELABLE (except as provided in Section 24, 
below) during the Initial Term (as defined below).  You agree 
to lease from Us the equipment, embedded software, 
Software, services and other products listed on the Order 
Form, together with all existing accessories, embedded 
software programs, attachments, replacements, updates, 
additions and repairs, (collectively the “Products”) upon the 
terms stated herein.  For the avoidance of doubt, postage 
meters for use in mailing machines are excluded from the 
definition of Products.  The term “Software” means any 
software that is subject to this Lease, other than software 
programs that are embedded in the hardware.  Software is 
subject to the additional terms as may be provided by the 
Supplier. 
2. Promise to Pay.  You promise to pay to Us the lease 
payment shown on the Order Form (“Lease Payment”) in 
accordance with the payment schedule set forth thereon, plus 
all other amounts stated in this Lease.   
3. Initial Term; Renewal.   
 3.1 FMV Lease.  The Initial Term of this Lease 
will begin on the date the Products are installed and will 
continue for the number of months shown on the applicable 
Order Form (“Initial Term”).  Unless You have opted for an 
LTOP Lease as described in Section 23, You must notify Us in 
writing at least thirty (30) days before the end of the Initial 
Term that You intend to either: (i) return the Products at the 
end of the Initial Term; or (ii) purchase the Products pursuant 
to Section 22.  If You have not opted for an LTOP lease and 
You fail to give us such notice, then this Lease will 
automatically renew for consecutive periods of one (1) month 
each (each a “Renewal Period”).  The amount You pay for the 
Products will remain unchanged during each Renewal Period.  
We will not notify You that the Initial Term or any Renewal 
Period is ending.  You may terminate this Lease at the 
conclusion of any Renewal Period by giving Us thirty (30) 
days prior written notice of Your intent to do so.  If You notify 
Us in writing that You intend to terminate the Lease, as set 
forth above, You shall either return the Products pursuant to 
Section 12 of this Lease or purchase the products pursuant to 
Section 22.  
 3.2 LTOP Lease.  If you have opted for an 
LTOP Lease as described in Section 23, then the term of this 
Lease will begin on the date the Products are installed and will 
continue for the number of months shown on the applicable 
Order Form (“Initial Term”).  At the conclusion of the Initial 
Term of an LTOP Lease, we shall: (i) transfer title of all 
hardware Products to You as set forth in Section 23; and (ii) 
Your license to use any Software Products shall continue 
without the need to make any further license payments to Us. 
4. Payments.  Lease Payments, and other charges 
provided for herein, are payable in arrears periodically as 
stated on the Order Form. You agree to make Lease 
Payments to Us at the address specified on Our invoices, or at 
any other place designated by Us within thirty (30) days of 
the date of Our invoice.   

5. Delivery and Location of Products. The Products will 
be delivered to You at the installation address specified on the 
Order Form (“Installation Address”) or, if no such location is 
specified, to Your billing address.  Your acceptance of the 
Products occurs upon delivery of the Products.  You shall not 
remove the Products from the Installation Address unless You 
first get Our written permission to do so. 
6. Ownership, Use, and Maintenance of Products.  We 
will own and have title to the Products during the Lease. You 
agree that the Products are and shall remain Our personal 
property.  You authorize Us to record (and amend, if 
appropriate) a UCC financing statement to protect Our 
interests. You represent that the Products will be used solely 
for commercial purposes and not for personal, family or 
household purposes.  At Your own cost, You agree to maintain 
the Products in accordance with the applicable operation 
manuals and to keep the Products in good working order, 
ordinary wear and tear excepted. 
7. Assignment of Supplier’s Warranties. We hereby 
assign to You any warranties relating to the Products that We 
may have received from the Supplier.   
8. Relationship of the Parties.  You agree that You, not 
We, selected the Products and the Supplier, and that We are 
a separate company from the Supplier and that the Supplier 
is not Our agent.  IF YOU ARE A PARTY TO ANY POSTAGE 
METER RENTAL, MAINTENANCE, SERVICE, SUPPLIES OR 
OTHER CONTRACT WITH ANY SUPPLIER, WE ARE NOT A 
PARTY THERETO, AND SUCH CONTRACT IS NOT PART OF 
THIS LEASE (EVEN THOUGH WE MAY, AS A CONVENIENCE TO 
YOU AND THE SUPPLIER, BILL AND COLLECT MONIES OWED 
BY YOU TO THEM).    
9. Default.  You will be in default under this Lease if You 
fail to pay any amount within ten (10) days of the due date or 
fail to perform or observe any other obligation in this Lease.  
If You default, We may, without notice to You,  do any one or 
more of the following, at Our option, concurrently or 
separately: (A) cancel this Lease; (B) require You to return 
the Products pursuant to Section 12 below; (C) take 
possession of and/or render the Products unusable, and for 
such purposes You hereby authorize Us and Our designees to 
enter Your premises, with prior reasonable notice or other 
process of law;  and (D) require You to pay to Us, on demand 
as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, an amount equal 
to the sum of: (i) all Lease Payments and other amounts then 
due and past due; (ii) all remaining Lease Payments for the 
then-current term, together with any taxes due or to become 
due during such term (which You agree is a reasonable 
estimate of Our damages); and (iii) in the event that You 
failed to promptly return the Products to Us, an amount equal 
to the remaining value of the Products at the end of the then-
current term, as reasonably determined by Us. To the extent 
allowable by law, You shall also pay all Our costs in enforcing 
Our rights under this Lease, including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and expenses that We incur to take possession, store, 
repair, or dispose of the Products, as well as any other 
expenses that We may incur to collect amounts owed to Us.  
We are not required to re-lease or sell the Products if We 
repossess them.  These remedies shall be cumulative and not 
exclusive, and shall be in addition to any and all other 
remedies available to Us.   
10. Finance Lease.  You agree that this Lease is a “finance 
lease” as defined in Article 2A of the Uniform Commercial 
Code (“UCC”). To the extent permitted by law, You hereby 
waive any and all rights and remedies conferred upon You 
under UCC Sections 2A-303 and 2A-508 through 2A-522, or 
any similar laws. 



 
 

 
Page 2 of 6   Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16   

11. Loss; Damage; Insurance.  You shall: (i) bear the risk 
of loss and damage to the Product(s) during the Initial Term 
and any Renewal Period; and (ii) keep the Product(s) insured, 
at Your expense, against all risks of loss and damage in an 
amount at least equal to its full replacement cost.  
12. Return of Products.  Unless You take title to the 
tangible Products pursuant to Section 22 or Section 23, then 
You are required to return such Products under this Lease.  In 
such a case, at the end of the Lease, You shall, after receiving 
an Equipment Return Authorization (“ERA”) number from Us, 
promptly send the Products, at Your expense plus shipping 
and handling costs, to any location(s) that We designate in 
the contiguous United States. The Products must be properly 
packed for shipment with the ERA number clearly visible, 
freight prepaid and fully insured, and must be received in 
good condition, less normal wear and tear.  
13. Assignment.  YOU SHALL NOT SELL, TRANSFER, 
ASSIGN, SUBLEASE, PLEDGE OR OTHERWISE 
ENCUMBER (COLLECTIVELY, “TRANSFER”) THE 
PRODUCTS OR THIS LEASE IN WHOLE OR IN PART.   
14. Disclaimer of Warranties.  WE MAKE NO 
REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS 
OR IMPLIED, REGARDING ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THE 
PRODUCT(S), ITS CONDITION, ITS MERCHANTABILITY, ITS 
FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ITS FREEDOM FROM 
INFRINGEMENT, OR OTHERWISE.  WE PROVIDE THE 
PRODUCTS TO YOU “AS IS,” “WHERE IS” AND “WITH ALL 
FAULTS.”    
15. Limitation of Liability.  WE SHALL NOT BE LIABLE TO 
YOU AND YOU SHALL NOT MAKE A CLAIM AGAINST US FOR 
ANY LOSS, DAMAGE (INCLUDING INCIDENTAL, 
CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES), OR EXPENSE OF 
ANY KIND ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY FROM THE 
DELIVERY, INSTALLATION, USE, RETURN, LOSS OF USE, 
DEFECT, MALFUNCTION, OR ANY OTHER MATTER RELATING 
TO THE PRODUCTS (COLLECTIVELY, “PRODUCT MATTERS”).  
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF THIS LEASE, 
EXCEPT FOR DIRECT DAMAGES RESULTING FROM PERSONAL 
INJURY OR DAMAGE TO TANGIBLE PROPERTY CAUSED BY 
OUR GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, THE 
MAXIMUM OUR LIABILITY TO YOU FOR DAMAGES 
HEREUNDER SHALL NOT EXCEED THE TOTAL OF THE 
AMOUNTS PAID TO US HEREUNDER BY YOU.  
16. Notice.  All notices related to this Lease to Us 
shall be made by You, or an attorney representing You. 
Notice of non-renewal of this Lease shall be made as 
outlined in Section 3 herein by calling 1-800-NEOPOST 
(636-7678). All other notices, requests and other 
communications hereunder shall be in writing and sent to: 
MailFinance Inc., 478 Wheelers Farms Road, Milford, CT 
06461 (“Notice Address”).  Such notices shall be considered 
given when: (i) delivered personally, or (ii) sent by 
commercial overnight courier with written confirmation of 
delivery. In the event that We do not accept Your offer to 
enter this Lease, then You have the right to a written 
statement that specifies the reasons that Your offer was not 
accepted. You can request such a statement by writing to Us 
at the Notice Address.  
17. Integration.  The Lease represents the final and 
only agreement between You and Us.  There are no unwritten 
oral agreements between You and Us.  The Lease can be 
changed only by a written agreement between You and Us. 
Any additional terms and conditions referenced on any 
Purchase Order shall be void and have no effect on this 
Lease.   

18. Severability.  In the event any provision of this 
Lease shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, 
the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 
provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired 
thereby.  The parties agree to replace any invalid provision 
with a valid provision, which most closely approximates the 
intent and economic effect of the invalid provision. 
19. Waiver or Delay.  A waiver of any default hereunder 
or of any term or condition of this Lease shall not be deemed 
to be a continuing waiver or a waiver of any other default or 
any other term or condition, but shall apply solely to the 
instance to which such waiver is directed.  We may accept 
late payments, partial payments, checks, or money orders 
marked “payment in full,” or with a similar notation, without 
compromising any rights under this Lease. 
20. Survival of Obligations. Your obligations under this 
Lease shall survive any expiration or termination of any 
government procurement contract that may be related to it.  
Any obligations and duties which by their nature extend 
beyond the expiration or termination of this Lease shall 
survive the expiration or termination of this Lease. 
21. Choice of Law; Venue; and Attorney’s Fees.  This 
Lease shall be governed under the laws of the State of 
Connecticut, without regard to conflicts of law, and 
jurisdiction shall lie exclusively in a court of competent 
jurisdiction in New Haven County, Connecticut. In any 
litigation or other proceeding by which one party either seeks 
to enforce its rights under this Lease (whether in contract, 
tort, or both) or seeks a declaration of any rights or 
obligations under this Lease, to the extent allowable by law, 
the prevailing party shall be awarded its reasonable attorney 
fees, and costs and expenses incurred. 
22. FMV Leases.    If this Lease is a fair market value 
lease, as indicated by the lease rate that has been used by Us 
to calculate Your Lease Payment then, unless You are in 
default, You may elect to purchase the hardware Products at 
the end of this Lease on an “as is, where is” basis for their fair 
market value, as reasonably determined by Us.  In the event 
that You elect to do so, You must give us sixty (60) days prior 
written notice of Your election to purchase such Products.   
23. LTOP Leases.    If this Lease is a lease to purchase, as 
indicated by the lease rate that has been used by Us to 
calculate Your Lease Payments then, at the end of the Initial 
Term and after You have made all of the Lease Payments, We 
shall transfer title to all hardware Products that are subject to 
this Lease to You on an “as is, where is” basis.  
24. Termination. 

24.1 Non-Appropriation.     
 a. You warrant and represent that You intend 
to enter into this Lease for at least the entire Initial Term and 
that You are doing so for an essential government purpose.  
You agree that, prior to the expiration of the Initial Term, you 
shall not terminate this Lease in order to obtain the same or 
similar Products from another vendor. 
 b. You may terminate this Lease at the end of 
Your current fiscal year, or at the end of any subsequent 
fiscal year, if appropriated funds are not available to You for 
the Lease Payments that will be due in the next fiscal year. In 
the event of such a non-appropriation, then You shall provide 
written notice to Us that states: 
 

Sufficient funds have not been and will not 
be appropriated for the remaining payments 
due under the Lease.  I confirm that we will 
not replace the Products with similar 



Page 3 of 6 Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16 

equipment from any other party in the 
succeeding fiscal year. 

24.2 Convenience.  You may terminate this 
Lease at anytime and for any reason or for no reason 
(“Termination for Convenience”); provided that You comply 
with the provisions of this paragraph.  In the event of a 
Termination for Convenience, You shall pay Us a termination 
charge equal to the net present value of the periodic 
payments remaining in the Initial Term or, if applicable, the 
then-current Renewal Term, discounted to the present value 
at an interest rate equal to six percent (6%) per annum. 
Such amount must be received by Us within thirty (30) days 
of the effective date of the termination. 
25. Additional Postage Meter Terms.  If the Products
require a postage meter, then You agree that Neopost USA’s
Postage Meter Rental Agreement shall govern your rental of
such postage meter.

POSTAGE METER RENTAL AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. Customer
acknowledges that: (i) it has entered a Government Product
Lease Agreement with MailFinance Inc. (the “Lease”); and (ii)
if the Products that are subject to the Lease includes a
mailing machine, then the terms of this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement (“Rental Agreement”) shall govern its rental of the
Postage Meter (as defined below) for such machine.   Any
defined terms in the Lease shall have the same meanings in
this Rental Agreement, except that “We,” “Us,” and “Our,”
refers  to Neopost USA Inc., and any reference to “Products”
shall refer to the Postage Meter. Sections 11, 12 and 14
through 25 of the Lease are hereby incorporated into this
Rental Agreement, except that any reference in those
sections to the “Lease” refer to this Rental Agreement.
2. Provisions as to Use. You acknowledge that:  (i) as
required by United States Postal Service (“USPS”) regulations,
the postage meter(s) identified on the Order Form (the
“Postage Meter”) is being rented to You and that it is Our
property; (ii) the Postage Meter will be surrendered by You
upon demand by Us; (iii) You are responsible for the control
and use of the Postage Meter; (iv) You will comply with all
applicable laws regarding Your use or possession of the
Postage Meter; (v) the use of the Postage Meter is subject to
the conditions established from time to time by the United
States Postal Service;  and (vi) the Postage Meter is to be
used only for generating an indicia to evidence the
prepayment of postage and to account for postal funds.  It is
a violation of Federal law to misuse or tamper with the
Postage Meter and, if You do so, We may terminate this
Rental Agreement upon notice to You.
3. Rental Fee, Term, and Taxes.  The rental fee for the
Postage Meter rental during the Initial Term is included in the
Lease Payment.  For each Renewal Term, You agree to pay
Our then-current fee for the Postage Meter rental.  The
Postage Meter rental fee does not include the cost of
consumable supplies.  The term of the rental shall be equal to
the term of the Lease and is NON-CANCELABLE.  You agree to
pay all applicable taxes related to Your acquisition,
possession, and/or use of the Postage Meter including all
property taxes on the Postage Meter.  Furthermore, You
agree to pay the applicable fee to cover Our expenses
associated with the administration, billing and tracking of
such charges and taxes.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in
the event You are tax exempt, upon providing Us a certificate,
You will not be required to pay any taxes covered by such

certificate. You agree that you will return the Postage Meter 
at the end of the Lease term and that You will do so in the 
manner set forth in Section 12 of the Lease. Furthermore, 
You agree that if you fail to return a postage meter within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of the Equipment Return 
Authorization from Us, then You will pay a postage meter 
replacement fee of one thousand dollars  ($1,000). 
4. Postage Meter Maintenance, Inspections, and
Location. We will keep the Postage Meter in good working
condition during the term of this Rental Agreement. The
United States Postal Service regulations may require Us to
periodically inspect the Postage Meter.  You agree to
cooperate with Us regarding such inspections. We may, from
time to time, access and download information from Your
Postage Meter to provide Us with information about Your
postage usage and We may share that information with Our
distributors and other third parties and You hereby authorize
Us to do so. You agree to promptly update Us whenever there
is any change in Your name, address, telephone number, the
licensing post office, or the location of the Postage Meter.
5. Postage Advances.   We do not sell postage. In the
event You require an emergency advance for postage, We, at
Our sole discretion, may advance You money to reset the
Postage Meter.  If We do provide such an advance, You agree
to repay Us within five (5) days from the time of such
advance: (i) the amount of the emergency advance; and (ii)
the then-current advance fee.
6. Default.  In the event You fail to perform in accordance
with the terms set forth in this Rental Agreement, or any
other Agreement with Us or any of Our affiliates, including,
but not limited to, MailFinance Inc., and Mailroom Finance,
Inc., then We may, without notice: (i) repossess the Postage
Meter(s); (ii) disable the Postage Meter; (iii) immediately
terminate this Rental Agreement; and (iv) pursue any
remedies available to Us at law or in equity.  Furthermore,
upon the return of the Postage Meter, You hereby authorize
Us to offset any amount of postage remaining in the Postage
Meter, prior to any refund to You, against any amount due to
Us or any of Our affiliates.  To the extend allowable by law,
You shall also pay all of Our costs in enforcing Our rights
under this Rental Agreement, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses that We incur to take possession, store, or
repair, the Postage Meter, as well as any other expenses that
We may incur to collect amounts owed to Us.  These remedies
shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and shall be in addition
to any and all other remedies available to Us.
7. Rate Updates.

A. Maintenance of Postal Rates.  It is Your sole
responsibility to ensure that correct amounts are
applied as payment for mailing and shipping
services.   We shall not be responsible for returns for
delivery delays, refusals, or any other problems
caused by applying the incorrect rate to mail or
packages.

B. Rate Updates with Online Services.  If the Order
Form indicates that You are enrolled in Our Online
Services program, then We will make available
periodic updates for Your covered Products and/or
Postage Meter, including updates to maintain
accurate USPS rates for the USPS services that are
compatible with such Products or Postage Meter.
The rate updates that are offered with Our
Online Services program are only available for
products that are Integrated (as defined
below) into Your mailing machine.  For the
purposes of this section, “Integrated” means that the



Page 4 of 6 Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16 

covered hardware cannot properly operate on a 
stand-alone basis and it has been incorporated into 
the mail machine.  Products that are not Integrated 
including, but not limited to, all Software and scales 
with “ST-77,” or “SE” in the model number will not 
receive updated rates as part of Our Online Services 
program (collectively “Excluded Products”).   

C. Rate Updates with Rate Change Protection and
Software Advantage.  If You have any of Our
Excluded Products, You may have elected to
purchase Rate Change Protection (“RCP”) from Us for
Your hardware products or Software Advantage for
Your Software.  If the Order Form indicates that You
have selected RCP or Software Advantage, We will
make available e the following updates for Your
covered Products or Software: (i) updates to
maintain accurate rates for the services offered by
the USPS and other couriers that are compatible with
Your covered Products or Software; and (ii) updates
for major zip or zone changes that are compatible
with Your covered Products or Software.  If any
reprogramming is required because You have moved
the Products or Postage Meter to a new location,
none of the services described in this Section cover
the cost to do so.  If You have not selected RCP or
Software Advantage, You agree that We may send
You periodic rate updates as needed and You agree
to either: (i) promptly pay the then-current price for
such update; or (ii) return the unused, update to Us
within ten (10) business days of receiving it.
Customers with an outstanding Accounts Receivable
balance may not receive a rate update until the open
balance is resolved.

8. United states postal service acknowledgement of
deposit requirement.  By signing this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement, You acknowledge and agree that You have read
the United States Postal Service Acknowledgement of Deposit
(the “Acknowledgement”) and will comply with its terms and
conditions, as it may be amended from time to time.
9. Additional united states postal service terms.

A. By signing this Postage Meter Rental Agreement, You
acknowledge that You are also entering into an
Agreement with the United States Postal Service
(“USPS”) in accordance with the Domestic Mail
Manual (“DMM”) 604.4, Postage Payment Methods,
Postage Meters and PC Postage Products
(collectively, “Postage Evidencing Systems” or “PES”)
and accept responsibility for control and use of the
PES contained therein.

B. You also acknowledge You have read the DMM
604.4, Postage Payment Methods, Postage Meters
and PC Postage Products (Postage Evidencing
Systems) and agree to abide by all rules and
regulations governing its use.

C. Failure to comply with the rules and regulations
contained in the DMM or use of the PES in any
fraudulent or unlawful scheme or enterprise may
result in the revocation of this Rental Agreement.

D. You further acknowledge that any use of this PES that
fraudulently deprives the USPS of revenue can cause
You to be subject to civil and criminal penalties 
applicable to fraud and/or false claims against the 
United States. The submission of a false, fictitious or 
fraudulent statement can result in imprisonment of 
up to five (5) years and fines of up to $10,000 (18 
U.S.C. 1001). In addition, a civil penalty of up to 

$5,000 and an additional assessment of twice the 
amount falsely claimed may be imposed (3 U.S.C. 
3802).   

E. You further understand that the rules and regulations
regarding use of this PES as documented in the USPS
Domestic Mail Manual may be updated from time to
time by the USPS and it is Your obligation to comply
with any current or future rules and regulations
regarding its use.

F. You are responsible for immediately reporting (within
seventy-two hours or less) the theft or loss of the
postage meter that is subject to this Rental
Agreement. Failure to comply with this notification
provision in a timely manner may result in the denial
of refund of funds remaining on the postage meter at
the time of the loss or theft.

NeoFunds®/TotalFunds® ACCOUNT AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Government Product Lease Agreement
with MailFinance Inc. (the “Lease”) and a Postage Meter
Rental Agreement with Neopost USA Inc. (the “Rental
Agreement”). If you have an eligible postage meter, then you
will have access to a  NeoFunds postage funding account (for
Neopost POC accounts) or a TotalFunds postage funding
account (for Hasler TMS accounts) and this 
NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account Agreement (“Account 
Agreement”) shall govern Your use of such account.   Any 
defined terms in the Lease or Rental Agreement shall have 
the same meanings in this NeoFunds Agreement, except that 
“We,” “Us,” and “Our,” refer to Mailroom Finance, Inc., an 
affiliate of Neopost USA Inc.  Sections 14 through 20 of the 
Lease are hereby incorporated into this Account Agreement 
except that any reference in those sections to the “Lease” 
refers to this Account Agreement.  
2. Establishment and Activation of Account.  You
hereby authorize Us, to establish an account in Your name
(“Account”) for funding the purchase of postage from the
United State Postal Service (“USPS”) for use in the postage
meter.  Your Account may also be used to purchase supplies,
pay for the Postage Meter rental, and obtain certain other
products and services from Neopost USA.  The establishment
of Your Account shall be subject to Our approval of Your
creditworthiness.  Any use of the Account shall constitute
Your acceptance of all the terms and conditions of this
Account Agreement and all other documents executed or
provided in connection with the Account. The Account may
not be used for personal, family, or household purposes.
3. Operation of Account.  Each time an employee or
agent of Yours with the express, implied, or apparent
authority to do so (each an “Authorized User”) uses the
Account to receive a postage meter reset or obtain other
products or services that  Neopost USA Inc. is authorized to
provide, Neopost USA Inc. will notify Us of the amount to be
applied to Your Account balance.  If the Account is used to
obtain postage, then We will transfer the requested amount of
postage to the USPS on Your behalf and Your Account will be
charged for the amount of postage requested and any related
fees, if applicable. You can continue to pre-pay the USPS for
postage and understand that pre-paid postage funds will be
used first to pay for my postage meter resets. You further
understand that NeoFunds/TotalFunds will provide additional
available postage funds when Your pre-paid account balance
is zero ($0). When You request a postage meter reset, if You
have the funds on account with the USPS, those funds



Page 5 of 6 Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16 

automatically will be withdrawn first to pay for postage, and 
any additional amounts due for postage and related fees will 
be billed through the NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account under the 
terms and conditions of this Account Agreement. If the 
Account is used to acquire products or services from that 
Neopost USA is authorized to provide, then We shall pay the 
applicable amount to Neopost USA Inc. and add such amount 
to Your Account balance.  
4. Payment Terms.  You will receive a billing statement for
each billing cycle in which You have any activity on Your
Account.  Payments are due on the due date shown on Your
billing statement.  You may pay the entire balance due or a
portion of the balance, provided that You pay at least the
minimum payment amount shown on Your statement.
However, if You have exceeded the Account Limit, then You
must pay the entire amount of any overage, as well as the
minimum payment amount shown on Your statement.
Whenever there is an unpaid balance outstanding on Your
Account which is not paid in full by the due date shown on
Your billing statement, We will charge You, and You agree to
pay, interest on the unpaid balance of the Account for each
day from the date the transaction is posted to Your Account
until the date the unpaid balance is paid in full, at the Annual
Percentage Rate (as defined below).  The Account balance
that is subject to a finance charge each day will include
outstanding balances, minus any payments and credits
received by Us on Your Account that day.  The Annual
Percentage Rate applicable to Your Account will be equal to
the lesser of eighteen percent (18.00%) per annum or the
maximum permitted by law.  Each payment will be applied to
reduce the outstanding balance of Your Account and replenish
the amount available to You.  We may refuse to extend
further credit if the amount of a requested charge plus Your
existing balance exceeds Your Account Limit.
5. Account Limit and Account Fees.  You agree that We
will establish a credit limit on Your Account (the “Account
Limit”).  The exact amount of the Account Limit will be
indicated on Your invoice. We may, in Our sole discretion,
allow Your balance to exceed the Account Limit.  In the event
We do so, You agree to pay Us an additional fee equal to one
percent (1%) of the amount by which the Account Limit is
exceeded for each transaction that You initiate after Your
Account has reached the Account Limit.  Such amount will be
charged to Your Account on the date that the relevant
transaction(s) occurs. Unless prohibited by applicable law,
You agree to pay the amounts set forth in this Account
Agreement, which may include, without limitation, the
amounts specified above, a fee for a late payment, a fee for
any checks that are returned as a result of insufficient funds,
and a fee for any ACH direct debit transactions which are
rejected, and an annual account fee.  All such fees shall be
added to Your Account balance.
6. Cancellation and Suspension.  We may at any time
close or suspend Your Account or temporarily refuse to allow
further charges to Your Account.  You can cancel Your
Account at any time by notifying Us in writing at the address
provided on Your Account statement of Your desire to do so.
No cancellation or suspension will affect Your obligation to
pay any amounts You then owe under this Account
Agreement.  We will notify You of the Account balance in the
event of any termination and all outstanding obligations will
survive the termination of this Account Agreement by either
party.
7. Default.  We may declare You in default if You: (i) have
made any misrepresentations to Us; (ii) at any time, have
done or allowed anything that indicates to Us that You may

be unable or unwilling to repay the balance of Your Account 
as required under this Account Agreement; or (iii) are in 
default under this Account Agreement or any lease, rental, or 
other agreement with Us, Neopost USA Inc., or their affiliates. 
If You are in default, or upon any cancellation of Your 
Account, We shall not be obligated to continue to provide the 
Account service or extend further credit under this Account 
Agreement.  If We are required to take collection action or 
any other legal action under this Account Agreement, You 
shall pay upon demand by Us all court and collection costs, 
along with reasonable attorney’s fees.  These remedies shall 
be cumulative and not exclusive, and shall be in addition to 
any and all other remedies available to Us. 
8. Remedies.  If We have declared that You are in default
under this Account Agreement, then We may:  (i) declare all
agreements You have with Us in default and due and payable
at once without notice or demand; (ii) refuse to make further
advances on Your behalf to reset Your postage meter; and
(iii) exercise any other rights that We may have.  In addition,
You agree that any default under this Account Agreement
shall constitute a default under any agreement You may have
with any of Our affiliates, including, but not limited to,
Neopost USA Inc., MailFinance Inc.
9. Amendments.  We may amend this Account Agreement,
or any of its provisions, including without limitation any fees
and charges and/or the Annual Percentage Rate, at any time
by at least thirty (30) days written notice  to You, and such
written notice may be included in Your billing statement.  Any
such amendment will become effective on the date stated in
the notice and will apply to any transactions after such date,
as well as to any outstanding balance on Your Account.
10. Notice:  Any notice required to be given under this
Account Agreement by either party hereto shall be given if to
You, at the address shown on Your Order Form, and if to Us
at 478 Wheelers Farms Road, Milford, CT 06461.
11. Miscellaneous.  You understand that We may obtain
credit reports in connection with Your Account now and in the
future.  This Account Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas,
without reference to its conflict-of-laws rules, and any
applicable federal laws.  The sole jurisdiction and venue for
actions related to the subject matter hereof shall be in a State
or Federal Court within the State of Texas.

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Government Product Lease Agreement
with MailFinance Inc. (the “Lease”).  Any defined terms in the
Lease shall have the same meanings in this Maintenance
Agreement, except that “We,” “Us,” and “Our,” refer to
Neopost USA Inc.  Sections 13 through 24 of the Lease are
hereby incorporated into this Maintenance Agreement, except
that any reference in those sections to the “Lease” refers to
this Maintenance Agreement.
2. Neopost’s Terms and Conditions for Maintenance
Services.  If the Order Form indicates that You have
purchased maintenance services, then Neopost USA Inc., or
one of its affiliates, will provide maintenance services for the
Products in accordance with Neopost USA Inc.’s then-current
maintenance terms and pricing for the level of maintenance
services that You have purchased. Those services will be
provided for the entire term of the Lease and are NON-
CANCELABLE.  The current version of those terms and
conditions are available at
www.neopostusa.com/maintenanceagreementV0613. You 

http://www.neopostusa.com/maintenanceagreementV0613


Page 6 of 6 Direct Sales Government Product Lease Version:  DirectGovLease-V04-16 

agree that You have access to such terms and that they are 
incorporated into this Maintenance Agreement by this 
reference, and that You shall be bound by such terms as if 
they were fully stated herein. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, maintenance services are not available on 
HD Office Printer Series products.   
3. Auto Ink Program.  If the Order Form indicates that
You have elected to participate in Our Auto Ink Program (the
“Program”), then you hereby authorize Us to ship You a new
ink cartridge for the Product whenever the Product indicates
that the then-current ink cartridge reaches twenty percent
(20%) of its capacity.  You authorize Us to charge the then-
current fee for such cartridge (plus applicable taxes and
shipping charges) to Your NeoFunds or TotalFunds Account,
You may opt out of the Program at any time by sending an
email to CIMneworders@neopost.com.

ONLINE SERVICES AND SOFTWARE AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Government Product Lease Agreement
with MailFinance Inc. (the “Lease”).  Any defined terms in the
Lease shall have the same meanings in this Online Services
and Software Agreement (“OSS Agreement”), except that
“We,” “Us,” and “Our,” refer to Neopost USA Inc.  Sections 13
through 24 of the Lease are hereby incorporated into this OSS
Agreement, except that any reference in those sections to the
“Lease” refer to this OSS Agreement.
2. License Grant and Additional Terms.  In exchange for
the license fees that are included in Your Lease Payment, We
hereby grant to You a nonexclusive, nontransferable license
to use the Software products, including related
documentation, described on the Order Form solely for Your
own use on or with the Products.  You warrant and represent
that You will not sell, transfer, disclose or otherwise make
available such Software products or copies thereof to third
parties; provided, however, that the Software products may
be used by Your employees or independent contractors using
the Products.  No title or ownership of the Software products
or any portion thereof is transferred to You.  You acknowledge
and agree that there may be additional terms and conditions
that apply to Your use of any Software provided by Us.  Such
terms may  be provided with the Software, or made available
at www.neopostusa.com/softwareterms  and may be
supplemented by Us or third party licensors, from time to

time, by notice to You. You acknowledge and agree that You 
have access to the appropriate version(s) of the applicable 
terms provided at the address above and corresponding to 
Software described on the Order Form at the time you enter 
this OSS Agreement.  Such terms are incorporated herein by 
this reference and You agree to be bound by such terms as if 
they were fully stated herein. 
3. Software Support. Unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Software terms, if You have purchased support for
the Software, We will provide the following for a period of one
(1) year:  (i) software updates and, if applicable, carrier rate
updates that keep You current and compliant with supported
carrier rates, fees, zone schedules, label, barcode and forms
changes; (ii) updates to the Software; (iii) corrective bug
fixes as released; and (iv) technical support for the Software
(collectively “Software Maintenance”).  At the conclusion of
each year of Software Maintenance, the Software
Maintenance will automatically renew for additional one-year
periods at Our then-current fee for such services unless you
give us at least sixty (60) days prior written notice that you
wish to cancel the Software Maintenance.  You acknowledge
that the Software may fail to comply with applicable
regulations if you do not have Software Maintenance and that
We shall not have any liability in connection with any such
failure.  If You allow the Software Maintenance to lapse, You
may reinstate such services; provided that you pay all fees
that would have been due from the expiration of Your last
Software Maintenance period through the reinstatement date,
plus a 15% administrative surcharge.
4. Use of Websites.  Neopost USA Inc. and/or any of Our
affiliates,  suppliers, including, but not limited to, MailFinance
Inc. may, from time to time, make certain websites available
to You in order to provide You with certain services
(“Websites”).  If You access any such Websites, You
acknowledge and agree that Your use of the Website is
subject to the terms of use and/or license terms in effect at
the time You use the Website.  Such terms are available on
the Websites for Your review.  You acknowledge and agree
that such terms may be supplemented and modified from
time to time (“Supplemental Terms”).  Your use of a Website
after Supplemental Terms have been issued will signify Your
acceptance of those terms. In the event of a conflict between
the terms of this OSS Agreement and the Supplemental
Terms, the Supplemental Terms shall control.

http://www.neopostusa.com/softwareterms


FMV LTOP

36 Month:  .0322 
48 Month:  .0253 
60 Month:  .0212

36 Month:  .0337 
48 Month:  .0269 
60 Month:  .0228

NASPO/ValuePoint Contract

NASPO Value Point 

http://www.neopostusa.com/government-accounts/naspo-value-point


Page 1 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

PRODUCT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

In this Product Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase 
Agreement”), the words “You” and “Your” mean the entity 
that is the Customer identified on the Product Purchase 
Agreement order form (“Order Form”).  “We,” “Us” and “Our” 
mean the seller, Neopost USA Inc. (“Neopost”). 
1. Purchase of Products.  You agree to purchase from Us
the hardware products, software licenses and services listed
on the Order Form, together with all existing  accessories,
attachments, replacements, and additions (collectively the
“Products”) upon the terms stated herein.  For the avoidance
of doubt, postage meters for use in mailing machines are
excluded from the definition of Products.  This Purchase
Agreement is binding on You as of the date You sign it.  This
Purchase Agreement is not binding on Us until We sign it or
until the Products are shipped, whichever happens first.
2. Payment Terms.  You promise to pay to Us the amounts
shown on the Order Form, plus all other amounts stated
herein.  Payment is due thirty (30) days after the date of Our
invoice.  We may charge You interest on any unpaid amounts
at the lesser of eighteen percent (18%) per year or the
maximum amount permitted by law.  In addition, if any check
is dishonored, You shall pay Us Our then-current fee for
checks returned unpaid.
3. Shipping; Delivery; and Security Interest.  Products
shall be shipped from Our shipping dock, freight collect to the
Installation Address specified on the Order Form or, if no such
location is specified, to Your Billing Address.  Your acceptance
of the Products occurs upon delivery of the Products.  Title
and risk of loss shall pass to You upon delivery to the first
common carrier.  You will pay all costs relating to
transportation, delivery, duties, and insurance.  You hereby
grant to Us a purchase money security interest covering each
shipment of Products made hereunder (and any proceeds
thereof) in the amount of Our invoice until payment in full is
received by Us.
4. Warranty.  We warrant that the Products shall be free
from defects in material and workmanship for ninety (90)
days after delivery.
5. Taxes.  You agree to pay for all applicable taxes related
to the sale of any Products and, if applicable, the rental of any
postage meter, as well as any taxes applicable to Your
possession, and/or use of the Products.  Furthermore, You
agree to pay the applicable fee to cover Our expenses
associated with the administration, billing, and tracking of
such charges and taxes.
6. Disclaimer of Warranties.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY
STATED HEREIN, WE MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
REGARDING ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, BUT
NOT LIMITED TO, THE SUITABILITY OF THE PRODUCTS,
POSTAGE METER, SOFTWARE, HARDWARE, OR SERVICE, OR
THEIR CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, FREEDOM FROM INFRINGEMENT, OR
OTHERWISE.
7. Limitation of Liability.  IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER
PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR
PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND ARISING OUT OF, OR IN
CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER OR NOT
SUCH PARTY WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGE.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF
THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT, EXCEPT FOR DIRECT
DAMAGES RESULTING FROM PERSONAL INJURY OR DAMAGE
TO TANGIBLE PROPERTY CAUSED BY OUR GROSS

NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, THE MAXIMUM OUR 
LIABILITY TO YOU FOR DAMAGES HEREUNDER SHALL NOT 
EXCEED THE TOTAL OF THE AMOUNTS PAID TO US 
HEREUNDER BY YOU.  
8. Assignment.  No right or interest in this Purchase
Agreement may be assigned by You, without Our prior written
consent.
9. Notice.  All notices, requests and other communications
hereunder shall be in writing, and shall be addressed to You
or Us, as applicable and shall be considered given when: (i)
delivered personally, or (ii) sent by commercial overnight
courier with written verification receipt.
10. Integration.  This Purchase Agreement represents the
final and only agreement between You and Us regarding Your
purchase of the Products.  There are no unwritten oral
agreements between You and Us.  This Purchase Agreement
can be changed only by a signed, written agreement between
You and Us.
11. Severability.  In the event any provision of this
Purchase Agreement shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby.  The parties agree to replace any invalid
provision with a valid provision, which most closely
approximates the intent and economic effect of the invalid
provision.
12. Waiver or Delay.  A waiver of any default hereunder or
of any term or condition of this Purchase Agreement shall not
be deemed to be a continuing waiver or a waiver of any other
default or any other term or condition, but shall apply solely
to the instance to which such waiver is directed.  We may
accept late payments, partial payments, checks, or money
orders marked “payment in full,” or with a similar notation,
without compromising any rights under this Purchase
Agreement.
13. Choice of Law; Venue; and Attorney’s Fees.  This
Purchase Agreement shall be governed under the laws of the
State of Connecticut, without regard to conflicts of law, and
jurisdiction shall lie exclusively in a court of competent
jurisdiction in New Haven County, Connecticut. In any
litigation or other proceeding by which one party either seeks
to enforce its rights under this Purchase Agreement (whether
in contract, tort, or both) or seeks a declaration of any rights
or obligations under this Purchase Agreement, the prevailing
party shall be awarded its reasonable attorney fees, and costs
and expenses incurred.

POSTAGE METER RENTAL AGREEMENT 

1. Postage Meter Rental. In this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement (the “Rental Agreement”), the words “You” and
“Your” mean the customer named on the Postage Meter
Rental Agreement order form (“Order Form”).  “We,” “Us” and
“Our” mean Neopost USA Inc.  You agree to rent from Us the
postage meter(s) identified on the Order Form (the “Postage
Meter”) upon the terms stated herein.
2. Provisions as to Use. You acknowledge that:  (i) as
required by United States Postal Service regulations, the
Postage Meter(s) is being rented to You and that it is Our
property; (ii) the Postage Meter will be surrendered by You
upon demand by Us; (iii) You are responsible for the control
and use of the Postage Meter; (iv) You will comply with all
applicable laws regarding Your use or possession of the
Postage Meter; (v) the use of the Postage Meter is subject to
the conditions established from time to time by the United



Page 2 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

States Postal Service;  and (vi) the Postage Meter is to be 
used only for generating an indicia to evidence the 
prepayment of postage and to account for postal funds.  It is 
a violation of Federal law to misuse or tamper with the 
Postage Meter and, if You do so, We may terminate this 
Rental Agreement upon notice to You.   
3. Rental Fee, Payment and Term.  The initial rental
term for the Postage Meter is set forth on the Order Form
(“Initial Term”).  The rental fee for the Initial Term is also set
forth on the Order Form. The Initial Term of this Rental
Agreement will begin on the earlier of either the date the
Postage Meter is installed or five (5) days after the Postage
Meter is shipped by Us.  You promise to pay to Us the
amounts shown on the Order Form in accordance with the
payment schedule set forth thereon, plus all other amounts
stated on the Order Form or in this Rental Agreement.  You
shall make all payments to the address indicated on Our
invoice within thirty (30) days of the date of Our invoice.  A
late fee will be charged if the payment is not made within
such period and an additional late fee will be charged for each
subsequent thirty (30) days that the invoice remains unpaid.
You agree to pay Us the then-current fee charged by Our
financial institution for checks returned unpaid and for ACH
direct debit transactions which are rejected.  You also agree
to pay all setting fees and charges incurred in connection with
the download of funds to the Postage Meter.  The Postage
Meter rental fee does not include the cost of consumable
supplies.  This Rental Agreement is NON-CANCELABLE during
the Initial Term and any Renewal Period (as defined below).
Unless, at least ninety (90) days before the end of the Initial
Term, You: (i) notify Us that You intend to return the Postage
Meter at the end of the Initial Term by calling 1-800-
NEOPOST (636-7678); and (ii) send written notice to Us in
the manner We instruct You when You call, this Rental
Agreement will automatically renew on a quarter-to-quarter
basis, except as prohibited by law, at the then-current
payment amount for such Postage Meter  (each a “Renewal
Period”). We will not notify You that the Initial Term or any
Renewal Term is ending.  You may terminate this Rental
Agreement at the conclusion of any Renewal Period by giving
Us thirty (30) days prior written notice of Your intent to do
so.
4. Return of Postage Meter and Products.  Upon the
termination of this Rental Agreement, unless directed
otherwise by Us, You shall, after receiving an Equipment
Return Authorization (“ERA”) number from Us, promptly send
the Postage Meter and any other products, at Your expense
plus shipping and handling costs, to any location(s) that We
designate in the contiguous United States. The Postage Meter
must be properly packed for shipment with the ERA number
clearly visible, freight prepaid and fully insured, and must be
received in good condition, less normal wear and tear.
Furthermore, You agree that if you fail to return a postage
meter within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Equipment
Return Authorization then You will pay a postage meter
replacement fee of one thousand dollars ($1,000).
5. Postage Meter Maintenance, Inspections, and
Location. We will keep the Postage Meter in good working
condition during the term of this Rental Agreement. The
United States Postal Service regulations may require Us to
periodically inspect the Postage Meter.  You agree to
cooperate with Us regarding such inspections. We may, from
time to time, access and download information from Your
Postage Meter to provide Us with information about Your
postage usage and We may share that information with Our
distributors and other third parties and You hereby authorize
Us to do so. You agree to promptly update Us whenever there

is any change in Your name, address, telephone number, the 
licensing post office, or the location of the Postage Meter.  
6. Loss; Damage; Insurance. You shall: (i) bear the risk
of loss and damage to the Postage Meter and shall continue
performing all of Your other obligations hereunder even if the
Postage Meter becomes damaged or there is a loss, (ii) keep
the Postage Meter insured against all risks of loss and
damage in an amount at least equal to its full replacement
cost.
7. Postage Advances.   We do not sell postage. In the
event You require an emergency advance for postage, We, at
Our sole discretion, may advance You money to reset the
Postage Meter.  If We do provide such an advance, You agree
to repay Us within five (5) days from the time of such
advance: (i) the amount of the emergency advance; and (ii)
the then-current advance fee.
8. Default.  In the event You fail to perform in accordance
with the terms set forth in this Rental Agreement, or any
other Agreement with Us or any of Our affiliates, including,
but not limited to Mailroom Finance, Inc., then We may,
without notice: (i) repossess the Postage Meter(s); (ii) disable
the Postage Meter; (iii) immediately terminate this Rental
Agreement; and (iv) pursue any remedies available to Us at
law or in equity.  Furthermore, upon the return of the Postage
Meter, You hereby authorize Us to offset any amount of
postage remaining in the Postage Meter, prior to any refund
to You, against any amount due to Us or any of Our affiliates.
You shall also pay all of Our costs in enforcing Our rights
under this Rental Agreement, including reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses that We incur to take possession, store, or
repair, the Postage Meter, as well as any other expenses that
We may incur to collect amounts owed to Us.  These remedies
shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and shall be in addition
to any and all other remedies available to Us.
9. Rate Updates.

A. Maintenance of Postal Rates.  It is Your sole
responsibility to ensure that correct amounts are
applied as payment for mailing and shipping
services.   We shall not be responsible for returns for
delivery delays, refusals, or any other problems
caused by applying the incorrect rate to mail or
packages.

B. Rate Updates with Online Services.  If the Order
Form indicates that You are enrolled in Our Online
Services program, then We will make available
periodic updates for Your covered products and/or
Postage Meter, including updates to maintain
accurate USPS rates for the USPS services that are
compatible with such products or Postage Meter.
The rate updates that are offered with Our
Online Services program are only available for
products that are Integrated (as defined
below) into Your mailing machine.  For the
purposes of this section, “Integrated” means that the
covered hardware cannot properly operate on a
stand-alone basis and it has been incorporated into
the mail machine.  Products that are not Integrated
including, but not limited to, all Software and scales
with “ST-77,” or “SE” in the model number will not
receive updated rates as part of Our Online Services
program (collectively “Excluded Products”).

C. Rate Updates with Rate Change Protection and
Software Advantage.  If You have any of Our
Excluded Products, You may have elected to
purchase Rate Change Protection (“RCP”) from Us for
Your hardware products or Software Advantage for



Page 3 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

Your Software.  If the Order Form indicates that You 
have selected RCP or Software Advantage, We will 
make available the following updates for Your 
covered products or Software: (i) updates to 
maintain accurate rates for the services offered by 
the USPS and other couriers that are compatible with 
Your covered products or Software; and (ii) updates 
for major zip or zone changes that are compatible 
with Your covered products or Software.  If any 
reprogramming is required because You have moved 
the products or Postage Meter to a new location, 
none of the services described in this Section cover 
the cost to do so.  Customers with an outstanding 
Accounts Receivable balance may not receive a rate 
update until the open balance is resolved.  

10. United states postal service acknowledgement of
deposit requirement.  By signing this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement, You acknowledge and agree that You have read
the United States Postal Service Acknowledgement of Deposit
(the “Acknowledgement”) and will comply with its terms and
conditions, as it may be amended from time to time.
11. Additional united states postal service terms.

A. By signing this Postage Meter Rental Agreement, You
acknowledge that You are also entering into an
Agreement with the United States Postal Service
(“USPS”) in accordance with the Domestic Mail
Manual (“DMM”) 604.4, Postage Payment Methods,
Postage Meters and PC Postage Products
(collectively, “Postage Evidencing Systems” or “PES”)
and accept responsibility for control and use of the
PES contained therein.

B. You also acknowledge You have read the DMM
604.4, Postage Payment Methods, Postage Meters
and PC Postage Products (Postage Evidencing
Systems) and agree to abide by all rules and
regulations governing its use.

C. Failure to comply with the rules and regulations
contained in the DMM or use of the PES in any
fraudulent or unlawful scheme or enterprise may
result in the revocation of this Rental Agreement.

D. You further acknowledge that any use of this PES that
fraudulently deprives the USPS of revenue can cause
You to be subject to civil and criminal penalties
applicable to fraud and/or false claims against the
United States. The submission of a false, fictitious or
fraudulent statement can result in imprisonment of
up to five (5) years and fines of up to $10,000 (18
U.S.C. 1001). In addition, a civil penalty of up to
$5,000 and an additional assessment of twice the
amount falsely claimed may be imposed (3 U.S.C.
3802).

E. You further understand that the rules and regulations
regarding use of this PES as documented in the USPS
Domestic Mail Manual may be updated from time to
time by the USPS and it is Your obligation to comply
with any current or future rules and regulations
regarding its use.

F. You are responsible for immediately reporting (within
seventy-two hours or less) the theft or loss of the
postage meter that is subject to this Rental
Agreement. Failure to comply with this notification
provision in a timely manner may result in the denial
of refund of funds remaining on the postage meter at
the time of the loss or theft.

12. Taxes.  You agree to pay for all applicable taxes related
to the sale or rental of any products or Postage Meter to You,
as well as any taxes applicable to Your possession, and/or use
of the products and/or Postage Meter.  Furthermore, You
agree to pay the applicable fee to cover Our expenses
associated with the administration, billing and tracking of
such charges and taxes.
13. Disclaimer of Warranties.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY
STATED HEREIN, WE MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR
WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED,
REGARDING ANY MATTER WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, BUT
NOT LIMITED TO, THE SUITABILITY OF ANY PRODUCTS OR
POSTAGE METER, ITS CONDITION, ITS MERCHANTABILITY,
ITS FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ITS FREEDOM
FROM INFRINGEMENT, OR OTHERWISE.
14. Limitation of Liability.  IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER
PARTY BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR
PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND ARISING OUT OF, OR IN
CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER OR NOT
SUCH PARTY WAS ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGE.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY OTHER PROVISION OF
THIS RENTAL AGREEMENT, EXCEPT FOR DIRECT DAMAGES
RESULTING FROM PERSONAL INJURY OR DAMAGE TO
TANGIBLE PROPERTY CAUSED BY OUR GROSS NEGLIGENCE
OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, THE MAXIMUM OUR LIABILITY TO
YOU FOR DAMAGES HEREUNDER SHALL NOT EXCEED THE
TOTAL OF THE AMOUNTS PAID TO US HEREUNDER BY YOU.
15. Assignment.  No right or interest in this Rental
Agreement may be assigned by You, without Our prior written
consent.
16. Notice.  All notices related to this Rental Agreement
to Us shall be made by You, or an attorney representing
You. Notice of non-renewal of this Rental Agreement
shall be made as outlined in Section 3 herein by calling
1-800-NEOPOST (636-7678). All other notices, requests
and other communications hereunder shall be in writing, and
shall be considered given when: (i) delivered personally, or
(ii) sent by commercial overnight courier with written
confirmation of delivery. Written notices to Us shall be sent
to: Neopost USA Inc., 478 Wheelers Farms Road, Milford, CT
06461 (“Notice Address”).
17. Integration.  This Rental Agreement represents the final
and only agreement between You and Us regarding Your
acquisition of the Postage Meter and any other products or
services.  There are no unwritten oral agreements between
You and Us.  This Rental Agreement can be changed only by a
signed, written agreement between You and Us.
18. Severability.  In the event any provision of this Rental
Agreement shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the
remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or
impaired thereby.  The parties agree to replace any invalid
provision with a valid provision, which most closely
approximates the intent and economic effect of the invalid
provision.
19. Waiver or Delay.  A waiver of any default hereunder or
of any term or condition of this Rental Agreement shall not be
deemed to be a continuing waiver or a waiver of any other
default or any other term or condition, but shall apply solely
to the instance to which such waiver is directed.  We may
accept late payments, partial payments, checks or money
orders marked “payment in full,” or with a similar notation,
without compromising any rights under this Rental
Agreement.



Page 4 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

20. Choice of Law; Venue; and Attorney’s Fees.  This
Rental Agreement shall be governed under the laws of the
State of Connecticut, without regard to conflicts of law, and
jurisdiction shall lie exclusively in a court of competent
jurisdiction in New Haven County, Connecticut. In any
litigation or other proceeding by which one party either seeks
to enforce its rights under this Rental Agreement (whether in
contract, tort, or both) or seeks a declaration of any rights or
obligations under this Rental Agreement, the prevailing party
shall be awarded its reasonable attorney fees, and costs and
expenses incurred.

NeoFunds®/TotalFunds® ACCOUNT AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Postage Meter Rental Agreement with
Neopost USA Inc. (“Rental Agreement”).  If you have an
eligible Postage Meter or an eligible Postage on Call account,
then you will have access to a NeoFunds postage funding
account (for Neopost POC accounts) or a TotalFunds postage
funding account (for Hasler TMS accounts) and this
NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account Agreement (“Account
Agreement”) shall govern Your use of such account.  Any
defined terms in the Rental Agreement shall have the same
meanings in this Account Agreement, except that “We,” “Us,”
and “Our,” refer to Mailroom Finance, Inc., an affiliate of
Neopost USA Inc.  Sections 10 through 19 of the Rental
Agreement are hereby incorporated into this Account
Agreement except that any reference in those sections to the
“Rental Agreement” refers to this Account Agreement.
2. Establishment and Activation of Account.  You
hereby authorize Us, to establish an account in Your name
(“Account”) for funding the purchase of postage from the
United State Postal Service (“USPS”) for use in the Postage
Meter.  Your Account may also be used to purchase supplies,
rent Postage Meters, and obtain certain other products and
services from Neopost USA. The establishment of Your
Account shall be subject to Our approval of Your
creditworthiness.  Any use of the Account shall constitute
Your acceptance of all the terms and conditions of this
Account Agreement and all other documents executed or
provided in connection with the Account. The Account may
not be used for personal, family, or household purposes.
3. Operation of Account.  Each time an employee or agent
of Yours with the express, implied, or apparent authority to
do so (each an “Authorized User”) uses the Account to receive
a postage meter reset or obtain other products or services
that Neopost USA Inc. is authorized to provide, Neopost USA
Inc. will notify Us of the amount to be applied to Your Account
balance.  If the Account is used to obtain postage, then We
will transfer the requested amount of postage to the USPS on
Your behalf and Your Account will be charged for the amount
of postage requested and any related fees, if applicable. You
can continue to pre-pay the USPS for postage and understand
that pre-paid postage funds will be used first to pay for my
postage meter resets. You further understand that
NeoFunds/TotalFunds will provide additional available postage
funds when Your pre-paid account balance is zero ($0). When
You request a Postage Meter reset, if You have the funds on
account with the USPS, those funds automatically will be
withdrawn first to pay for postage, and any additional
amounts due for postage and related fees will be billed
through the NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account under the terms
and conditions of this Account Agreement. If the Account is
used to acquire products or services that Neopost USA is
authorized to provide, then We shall pay the applicable

amount to Neopost USA Inc. and add such amount to Your 
Account balance.  
4. Payment Terms.  You will receive a billing statement for
each monthly billing cycle in which You have any activity on
Your Account.  Payments are due on the due date shown on
Your billing statement.  You may pay the entire balance due
or a portion of the balance, provided that You pay at least the
minimum amount shown on the statement.  However, if You
have exceeded the Account Limit on Your Account, then You
must pay the entire amount of any overage, as well as the
minimum payment amount shown on the statement.
Whenever there is an unpaid balance outstanding on Your
Account which is not paid in full by the due date shown on
Your billing statement, We will charge You, and You agree to
pay, interest on the unpaid balance of the Account for each
day from the date the transaction is posted to Your Account
until the date the unpaid balance is paid in full, at the Annual
Percentage Rate (as defined below).  The Account balance
that is subject to a finance charge each day will include
outstanding balances, minus any payments and credits
received by Us on Your Account that day.  The Annual
Percentage Rate applicable to Your Account will be equal to
the lesser of eighteen percent (18.00%) per annum or the
maximum permitted by law.  Each payment will be applied to
reduce the outstanding balance of Your Account and replenish
the amount available to You.  We may refuse to extend
further credit if the amount of a requested charge plus Your
existing balance exceeds Your Account Limit.
5. Account Limit and Account Fees.  You agree that We
will establish a credit limit on Your Account (the “Account
Limit”).  The exact amount of the initial Account Limit will be
indicated on Your invoice. We may, in Our sole discretion,
allow Your balance to exceed the Account Limit.  In the event
We do so, You agree to pay Us an additional fee equal to one
percent (1%) of the amount by which the Account Limit is
exceeded for each transaction that You initiate after Your
Account has reached the Account Limit.  Such amount will be
charged to Your Account on the date that the relevant
transaction(s) occurs.   Unless prohibited by applicable law,
You agree to pay the amounts set forth in this Account
Agreement, which may include, without limitation, the
amounts specified above, a fee for a late payment, a fee for
any checks that are returned as a result of insufficient funds,
a fee for any ACH direct debit transactions which are rejected,
and an annual account fee. All such fees shall be added to
Your Account balance.
6. Cancellation and Suspension.  We may at any time
close or suspend Your Account or temporarily refuse to allow
further charges to Your Account.  You can cancel Your
Account at any time by notifying Us in writing at the address
provided on Your Account statement of Your desire to do so.
No cancellation or suspension will affect Your obligation to
pay any amounts You then owe under this Account
Agreement.  We will notify You of the Account balance in the
event of any termination and all outstanding obligations will
survive the termination of this Account Agreement by either
party.
7. Default.  We may declare You in default if You: (i) have
made any misrepresentations to Us; (ii) at any time, have
done or allowed anything that indicates to Us that You may
be unable or unwilling to repay the balance of Your Account
as required under this Account Agreement; or (iii) are in
default under this Account Agreement or any lease, rental, or
other agreement with Us, Neopost USA Inc., or their affiliates.
If You are in default, or upon any cancellation of Your
Account, We shall not be obligated to continue to provide the



Page 5 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

Account service or extend further credit under this Account 
Agreement.  If We are required to take collection action or 
any other legal action under this Account Agreement, You 
shall pay upon demand by Us all court and collection costs, 
along with reasonable attorney’s fees.  These remedies shall 
be cumulative and not exclusive, and shall be in addition to 
any and all other remedies available to Us. 
8. Remedies.  If We have declared that You are in default
under this Account Agreement, then We may:  (i) declare all
agreements You have with Us in default and due and payable
at once without notice or demand; (ii) refuse to make further
advances on Your behalf to reset Your Postage Meter; and (iii)
exercise any other rights that We may have.  In addition, You
agree that any default under this Account Agreement shall
constitute a default under any agreement You may have with
any of Our affiliates, including, but not limited to, Neopost
USA Inc., and MailFinance Inc.
9. Amendments.  We may amend this Account Agreement,
or any of its provisions, including without limitation any fees
and charges and/or the Annual Percentage Rate, at any time
by at least thirty (30) days written notice  to You, and such
written notice may be included on Your billing statement.
Any such amendment will become effective on the date stated
in the notice and will apply to any transactions after such
date, as well as to any outstanding balance on Your Account.
10. Notice:  Any notice required to be given under this
Account Agreement by either party hereto shall be given if to
You, at the address shown on Your Order Form, and if to Us
at 478 Wheelers Farms Road, Milford, CT 06461.
11. Miscellaneous.  You understand that We may obtain
credit reports in connection with Your Account now and in the
future.  This Account Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas,
without reference to its conflict-of-laws rules, and any
applicable federal laws.  The sole jurisdiction and venue for
actions related to the subject matter hereof shall be in a State
or Federal Court within the State of Texas.

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Product Purchase Agreement with
Neopost USA Inc., or one of its affiliates (“Purchase
Agreement”).  Any defined terms in the Purchase Agreement
shall have the same meanings in this Maintenance
Agreement.  Sections 5 through 13 of the Purchase
Agreement are hereby incorporated into this Maintenance
Agreement, except that any reference in those sections to the
“Purchase Agreement” refer to this Maintenance Agreement
2. Neopost’s Terms and Conditions for Maintenance
Services.  If the Order Form indicates that You have
purchased maintenance services, then Neopost will provide
maintenance services for the Products for twelve (12) months
(the “Initial Maintenance Term”) in accordance with Neopost’s
then-current maintenance terms and pricing for the level of
maintenance services that You have purchased.  The current
version of those terms and conditions are available at
www.neopostusa.com/maintenanceagreementV0613. You
agree that You have access to such terms and that they are
incorporated into this Maintenance Agreement by this
reference and that You shall be bound by such terms as if
they were fully stated herein.  At the end of the Initial
Maintenance Term, each year We will send You an invoice for
an additional year of maintenance services.  By paying such
invoice, You agree to continue the maintenance service in
accordance with this Maintenance Agreement.  All

maintenance payments are non-refundable. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, maintenance services 
are not available on HD Office Printer Series products.   
3. Auto Ink Program.  If the Order Form indicates that
You have elected to participate in Our Auto Ink Program (the
“Program”), then you hereby authorize Us to ship You a new
ink cartridge for the Product whenever the Product indicates
that the then-current ink cartridge reaches twenty percent
(20%) of its capacity.  You authorize Us to charge the then-
current fee for such cartridge (plus applicable taxes and
shipping charges) to Your NeoFunds or TotalFunds Account,
You may opt out of the Program at any time by sending an
email to CIMneworders@neopost.com.

ONLINE SERVICES AND SOFTWARE AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Product Purchase Agreement with
Neopost USA Inc. (the “Purchase Agreement”).  Any defined
terms in the Purchase Agreement shall have the same
meanings in this Online Services and Software Agreement
(“OSS Agreement”).  Sections 5 through 13 of the Purchase
Agreement are hereby incorporated into this OSS Agreement,
except that any reference in those sections to the “Purchase
Agreement” refers to this OSS Agreement.
2. License Grant and Additional Terms.  In exchange for
the license fees that are included in Your Purchase Payment,
We hereby grant to You a nonexclusive, nontransferable
license to use the Software products, including related
documentation, described on the Order Form solely for Your
own use on or with the Products.  You warrant and represent
that You will not sell, transfer, disclose or otherwise make
available such Software products or copies thereof to third
parties; provided, however, that the Software products may
be used by Your employees or independent contractors using
the Products.  No title or ownership of the Software products
or any portion thereof is transferred to You.  You acknowledge
and agree that there may be additional terms and conditions
that apply to Your use of any Software provided by Us.  Such
terms may  be provided with the Software, or made available
at www.neopostusa.com/softwareterms  and may be
supplemented by Us or third party licensors, from time to
time, by notice to You. You acknowledge and agree that You
have access to the appropriate version(s) of the applicable
terms provided at the address above and corresponding to
Software described on the Order Form at the time you enter
this OSS Agreement.  Such terms are incorporated herein by
this reference and You agree to be bound by such terms as if
they were fully stated herein.
3. Software Support. Unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Software terms, if You have purchased support for
the Software, We will provide the following for a period of one
(1) year:  (i) software updates and, if applicable, carrier rate
updates that keep You current and compliant with supported
carrier rates, fees, zone schedules, label, barcode and forms
changes; (ii) updates to the Software; (iii) corrective bug
fixes as released; and (iv) technical support for the Software
(collectively “Software Maintenance”).  At the conclusion of
each year of Software Maintenance, the Software
Maintenance will automatically renew for additional one-year
periods at Our then-current fee for such services unless you
give us at least sixty (60) days prior written notice that you
wish to cancel the Software Maintenance.  You acknowledge
that the Software may fail to comply with applicable
regulations if you do not have Software Maintenance and that
We shall not have any liability in connection with any such

http://www.neopostusa.com/softwareterms


Page 6 of 6 Direct Purchase Agreement Version:  DirectP-V04-16 

failure.  If You allow the Software Maintenance to lapse, You 
may reinstate such services; provided that you pay all fees 
that would have been due from the expiration of Your last 
Software Maintenance period through the reinstatement date, 
plus a 15% administrative surcharge. 
4. Use of Websites.  Neopost USA Inc. and/or any of Our
affiliates, or suppliers, including, but not limited to,
MailFinance Inc. may, from time to time, make certain
websites available to You in order to provide You with certain
services (“Websites”).  If You access any such Websites, You
acknowledge and agree that Your use of the Website is
subject to the terms of use and/or license terms in effect at
the time You use the Website.  Such terms are available on
the Websites for Your review.  You acknowledge and agree
that such terms may be supplemented and modified from
time to time (“Supplemental Terms”).  Your use of a Website
after Supplemental Terms have been issued will signify Your
acceptance of those terms. In the event of a conflict between
the terms of this OSS Agreement and the Supplemental
Terms, the Supplemental Terms shall control.



Neopost USA Maintenance Program NASPO – Terms 

NEOPOST USA MAINTENANCE TERMS  
This document shall become a material part of your contract with Neopost and it provides the details 
regarding Neopost's Maintenance Program. 

Neopost Inc. agrees to provide and the Customer agrees to accept maintenance service on the equipment 
listed, at the annual charges indicated in the attached Product Catalog in accordance with the following 
terms and conditions: 

• Two hour response time to all written or oral notices of a service requirement due to an equipment
breakdown.

• A Service Technician shall be on site within 24 hours from notice of service requirement, unless
breakdown resolved.

• Replacement part shall be received within 24 hours of technician arriving onsite.
• Any and all technical support is included in maintenance agreement.
• All return service calls and on site responses shall be made during Participating Entity business hours

(7:00AM – 6:00PM CST) unless otherwise, mutually agreed to in writing beforehand by the Contractor and
the Participating Entity. The contractor shall charge a rate not to exceed their Time and Materials - outside
business hours, weekends, and holidays rate as proposed in the Price and Pricing spreadsheet for the
applicable category. For example;  If a Participating Entity needs an installation for production equipment to
begin at 5:00 AM,  The installation should take a total of six hours, the Participating Entity and Contractor
would agree to in writing before any work has begun to pay a rate not exceeding the one supplied in the
Price and Pricing spreadsheet for Time and Materials outside of business hours for the hours  for
production equipment for the hours of 5:00 am to 7:00 AM and then regular hourly rates for the work from
7:00 AM to 11:00 AM.  If the installation only took a total of five hours the Contractor shall only charge for
the actual hours worked.  If additional time is needed there shall be a mutually agreed upon amount, in
writing, before the additional work is performed.

• All parts that require maintenance by a service technician are to be included and considered part of the
yearly service maintenance plan, field/defective parts shall be replaced at no additional charge to the
Participating Entity.

• Routine consumable supplies shall be billed separately from service maintenance payments.

• If the equipment includes Contractors licensed software, the Contractor shall provide software support .

• All payments for maintenance service shall be invoiced by and made to the Contractor.

• Any Purchasing Entities that require four hour on site response time as well as a 24hr/7 days per

week maintenance agreement will be negotiated during the PA process.

COVERED UNDER MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT  
Maintenance services, as described herein, will be provided for the Products at the Delivery Location. 
Neopost agrees to provide the parts and labor associated with the ordinary maintenance of the Products as 
required due to normal wear and tear ("Maintenance Services"). Supplies (i.e. ink, roll tape, labels, etc.) are 
not included in Maintenance Services. Maintenance Services may also include preventative maintenance and 
inspections from time to time, as determined by Neopost. Neopost may, at its option, designate a 
dealer/reseller to provide Maintenance Services. Neopost, in its sole discretion, may service the Products by 
replacing it with new, or like-new Products; provided that such replacement products are substantially 
similar to the Products. Neopost will offer loaner equipment of equal or greater functionality to any agency in 
which the equipment is rendered inoperable for a total time exceeding three business days. 

FEES AND WHEN THEY ARE DUE: 

• For Purchased Products:
Customer shall commence paying for the Maintenance Services on purchased Products 12 months
after delivery of the Products. All fees for Maintenance Services ("Maintenance Fees") on purchased
Products are invoiced annually, in advance.

• For Leased Products:
If the Products are being leased from MailFinance Inc. and the Maintenance Fee has been included
in the lease payment amount ("Leased Products"), then Maintenance Services will be provided at no
extra cost, except for the Additional Charges (as defined below), for the Initial Term of the lease.
Customer shall commence paying for the Maintenance Services on Leased Products, where
Maintenance Fees are included in the lease payment, 12 months after lease commences. Or the 12
month warranty may be prorated over the full lease term to create an even payment stream.



• Zoning Fees:
o Zone 1 – Maintenance for equipment located within a 50 mile radius of the local servicing

location will be charged at the prices listed within the NASPO Contract and will not incur any
additional charges.

o Zone 2 – Maintenance for equipment located outside of a 50 mile radius but inside of a 150
mile radius of the local service location will incur a 25% uplift to the maintenance prices
listed within the NASPO Contract.

o Zone 3 – Maintenance for equipment located outside of a 150 mile radius will incur a 50%
uplift in the maintenance prices listed within the NASPO Contract.

• Other Fees:
In addition to the Maintenance Fees, Customer agrees to pay for: (a) labor, parts, and expenses for
maintenance or repair that is part of an Excluded Service (as defined below). All Additional Charges
shall be at Neopost's then current published rates for time and materials.

All payments for Maintenance Services are nonrefundable. Neopost may adjust the Maintenance Fees at the 
end of the Initial Maintenance Term (as defined below) and any renewal term. 

TERM OF THE MAINTENANCE SERVICES 

• For Purchased Products:
Unless otherwise specified in the Agreement, the initial term of these Maintenance Services is one
(1) year (the "Initial Maintenance Term"). Unless Customer provides ninety (90) days written notice
to Neopost prior to the end of the Initial Maintenance Term, (or any renewal term), the Maintenance
Services shall automatically renew for an additional one (1) year.

• For Leased Products:
The term of the Maintenance Services for Leased Products will be equal to the term of the lease as
specified in the Agreement.

REQUEST FOR MAINTENANCE SERVICE 
In order to receive Maintenance Services on the Products, the agency must notify Neopost’s National Service 
Dispatch Center of a need for service. Neopost may, at its sole discretion, attempt to resolve Products 
performance issues over the telephone. If Neopost determines that on-site service is necessary, Neopost 
shall provide such on-site service in accordance with the terms set forth herein. 

NOT COVERED BY THE NEOPOST MAINTENANCE PROGRAM 
Maintenance Services do not include:  

• De-installation of the Products, or moving the Products (however these services are
available for an additional fee);

• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by the failure of Customer to maintain or use the Products in
conformance with Neopost’s specifications;

• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by changes in the design of the Products made by Customer
or mechanical, electrical, or electronic interconnections, or the attachment of other parts or
components to the Products by Customer;

• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by accidents;
• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by the negligence of Customer;
• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by the unauthorized maintenance by Customer or any third

party other than Neopost or its authorized service representatives;
• Damage and/or repair required from Customer relocation of the Products;
• Maintenance or repairs made necessary because Customer has exceeded the published performance

specifications or recommended monthly volume limits for the Products;
• Maintenance or repairs made necessary by Customer’s use of parts, consumables, or other supplies

that do not comply with Neopost’s specifications;
• Recovery of any customer data stored within Neopost Products or the maintaining of any back up

data;
• Rebuilding or major overhauls which Neopost determines are necessary ("Reconditioning")



All of the foregoing are "Excluded Services." Excluded Services also include operator training beyond the 
initial training provided by Neopost and application configuration and set-up. In the event Customer 
requests Neopost to perform an Excluded Service, Customer shall pay Neopost its then current hourly rate 
for those services, as well as Neopost’s then-current price for any parts required in connection with such 
services.  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AGENCY 

CUSTOMER’S MAINTENANCE OBLIGATIONS: Customer agrees to maintain the Products in accordance with 
Neopost’s  published specifications. Except as specified and approved by Neopost, Customer shall not 
perform, or permit third parties to perform, maintenance or repair on the Products. 

COPIES OF DATA: Customer is solely responsible for all data stored on the Products and making copies of all 
such data prior to Neopost performing Maintenance Services. 

USE OF NEOPOST SUPPLIES: If the Customer uses other than Neopost supplies, and if such supplies are 
defective or unacceptable for use in Neopost machines and cause abnormally frequent service calls or 
service problems, then Neopost may, at its option, assess a surcharge or terminate the Maintenance 
Services. In this event, the Customer may be offered service on a "Per Call" basis based upon published 
rates. It is not a condition of this Agreement; however, that the Customer uses only Neopost authorized 
supplies. 

ENVIRONMENT/ELECTRICAL: Customer shall provide a suitable environment for Products as specified by the 
manufacturer. In order to ensure optimum performance by the Neopost Products, it is mandatory that 
specific models be plugged into a dedicated line and that they comply with manufacturer electrical 
specifications. 

COMPLETE SYSTEM COVERAGE: All Neopost components (hardware and software) used in a system must be 
covered under Maintenance Services ("Complete System Coverage"). For example, a customer may not 
obtain Maintenance Services only for a mailing machine if it is used with a separate scale. In that case, the 
Customer would also need to purchase Maintenance Services for the scale. If a customer refuses to obtain 
Complete System Coverage, Neopost may terminate the Maintenance Services on any Product that is 
otherwise covered by such Maintenance Services. 

ACCESS TO PRODUCTS: Customer shall allow Neopost full and free access to the Products and the use of 
necessary data communications facilities and equipment at no charge to Neopost. 

PRODUCT MODIFICATIONS: Customer shall not cause modifications or interconnections to be made, or 
accessories, attachments, or features to be added to the Products without Neopost's prior written approval. 

YOU NEED TO KNOW 
Neopost may terminate the Maintenance Services, upon written notice to Customer, if: 

• Customer defaults on any payment due under this Agreement;
• The Products exceed the maximum monthly or lifetime cycle counts for such Products;
• The Products are modified, damaged, altered or serviced by personnel other than the

Neopost Authorized Personnel;
• Parts, accessories, consumables, supplies, or components not meeting machine

specifications are used with the Products;
• Customer refuses to obtain Complete System Coverage;
• Any services that are necessary because Customer has done (or failed to do) something

that requires the performance of an Excluded Service;
• Customer decides not to proceed with any Reconditioning that is deemed necessary by

Neopost. Furthermore, if the Products are being leased, this Agreement shall
automatically terminate as to any Products covered by the lease on the date such lease
expires or is terminated.



Page 1 of 4        Direct Postage Meter Rental Agreement Version: V04-16 

POSTAGE METER RENTAL AGREEMENT 

1. Postage Meter Rental. In this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement (the “Rental Agreement”), the words “You” and “Your”
mean the customer named on the Postage Meter Rental
Agreement order form (“Order Form”).  “We,” “Us” and “Our”
mean Neopost USA Inc.  You agree to rent from Us the postage
meter identified on the Order Form, as well as any other products
listed on the Order Form, together with all existing accessories,
embedded software programs, attachments, replacements,
additions and repairs, (the “Postage Meter”) upon the terms
stated herein.
2. Provisions as to Use. You acknowledge that:  (i) as
required by United States Postal Service regulations, the Postage
Meter(s) is being rented to You and that it is Our property; (ii) the
Postage Meter will be surrendered by You upon demand by Us;
(iii) You are responsible for the control and use of the Postage
Meter; (iv) You will comply with all applicable laws regarding Your
use or possession of the Postage Meter; (v) the use of the Postage
Meter is subject to the conditions established from time to time
by the United States Postal Service;  and (vi) the Postage Meter
is to be used only for generating an indicia to evidence the
prepayment of postage and to account for postal funds.  It is a
violation of Federal law to misuse or tamper with the Postage
Meter and, if You do so, We may terminate this Rental Agreement
upon notice to You.
3. Rental Fee, Payment and Term.  The initial rental term for
the Postage Meter is set forth on the Order Form (“Initial Term”).
The rental fee for the Initial Term is also set forth on the Order
Form. The Initial Term of this Rental Agreement will begin on the
earlier of either the date the Postage Meter is installed or five (5)
days after the Postage Meter is shipped by Us.  You promise to
pay to Us the amounts shown on the Order Form in accordance
with the payment schedule set forth thereon, plus all other
amounts stated on the Order Form or in this Rental Agreement.
You shall make all payments to the address indicated on Our
invoice within thirty (30) days of the date of Our invoice.  A late
fee will be charged if the payment is not made within such period
and an additional late fee will be charged for each subsequent
thirty (30) days that the invoice remains unpaid. You agree to pay
Us the then-current fee charged by Our financial institution for
checks returned unpaid and for ACH direct debit transactions
which are rejected.  You also agree to pay all setting fees and
charges incurred in connection with the download of funds to the
Postage Meter.  The Postage Meter rental fee does not include the
cost of consumable supplies.  This Rental Agreement is NON-
CANCELABLE during the Initial Term and any Renewal Period (as
defined below).  Unless, at least ninety (90) days before the end
of the Initial Term, You: (i) notify Us that You intend to return the
Postage Meter at the end of the Initial Term by calling 1-800-
NEOPOST (636-7678); and (ii) send written notice to Us in the
manner We instruct You when You call, this Rental Agreement will
automatically renew on a quarter-to-quarter basis, except as
prohibited by law, at the then-current payment amount for such
Postage Meter  (each a “Renewal Period”).  We will not notify You
that the Initial Term or any Renewal Term is ending.  You may
terminate this Rental Agreement at the conclusion of any Renewal
Period by giving Us thirty (30) days prior written notice of Your
intent to do so.
4. Return of Postage Meter and Products.  Upon the
termination of this Rental Agreement, unless directed otherwise
by Us, You shall, after receiving an Equipment Return
Authorization (“ERA”) number from Us, promptly send the
Postage Meter and any other products, at Your expense plus
shipping and handling costs, to any location(s) that We designate
in the contiguous United States. The Postage Meter must be

properly packed for shipment with the ERA number clearly visible, 
freight prepaid and fully insured, and must be received in good 
condition, less normal wear and tear. Furthermore, You agree that 
if you fail to return a postage meter within thirty (30) days of 
receipt of the ERA from Us, then You will pay a postage meter 
replacement fee of one thousand dollars ($1,000). 
5. Postage Meter Maintenance, Inspections, and
Location. We will keep the Postage Meter in good working
condition during the term of this Rental Agreement. The United
States Postal Service regulations may require Us to periodically
inspect the Postage Meter.  You agree to cooperate with Us
regarding such inspections. We may, from time to time, access
and download information from Your Postage Meter to provide Us
with information about Your postage usage and We may share
that information with Our distributors and other third parties and
You hereby authorize Us to do so. You agree to promptly update
Us whenever there is any change in Your name, address,
telephone number, the licensing post office, or the location of the
Postage Meter.
6. Loss; Damage; Insurance. You shall: (i) bear the risk of
loss and damage to the Postage Meter and shall continue
performing all of Your other obligations hereunder even if the
Postage Meter becomes damaged or there is a loss, (ii) keep the
Postage Meter insured against all risks of loss and damage in an
amount at least equal to its full replacement cost.
7. Postage Advances.   We do not sell postage. In the event
You require an emergency advance for postage, We, at Our sole
discretion, may advance You money to reset the Postage Meter.
If We do provide such an advance, You agree to repay Us within
five (5) days from the time of such advance: (i) the amount of
the emergency advance; and (ii) the then-current advance fee.
8. Default.  In the event You fail to perform in accordance with
the terms set forth in this Rental Agreement, or any other
Agreement with Us or any of Our affiliates, including, but not
limited to Mailroom Finance, Inc., then We may, without notice:
(i) repossess the Postage Meter(s); (ii) disable the Postage Meter;
(iii) immediately terminate this Rental Agreement; and (iv)
pursue any remedies available to Us at law or in equity.
Furthermore, upon the return of the Postage Meter, You hereby
authorize Us to offset any amount of postage remaining in the
Postage Meter, prior to any refund to You, against any amount
due to Us or any of Our affiliates.  You shall also pay all of Our
costs in enforcing Our rights under this Rental Agreement,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses that We incur
to take possession, store, or repair, the Postage Meter, as well as
any other expenses that We may incur to collect amounts owed
to Us.  These remedies shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and
shall be in addition to any and all other remedies available to Us.
9. Rate Updates.

A. Maintenance of Postal Rates. It  is Your sole responsibility
to ensure that correct amounts are applied as payment
for mailing and shipping services.   We shall not be
responsible for returns for delivery delays, refusals, or
any other problems caused by applying the incorrect rate
to mail or packages.

B. Rate Updates with Online Services.  If the Order Form
indicates that You are enrolled in Our Online Services
program, then We will make available periodic updates
for Your covered products and/or Postage Meter,
including updates to maintain accurate USPS rates for
the USPS services that are compatible with such
products or Postage Meter.  The rate updates that are
offered with Our Online Services program are only
available for products that are Integrated (as
defined below) into Your mailing machine.  For the



Page 2 of 4        Direct Postage Meter Rental Agreement Version: V04-16 

purposes of this section, “Integrated” means that the 
covered hardware cannot properly operate on a stand-
alone basis and it has been incorporated into the mail 
machine.  Products that are not Integrated including, but 
not limited to, all Software and scales with “ST-77,” or 
“SE” in the model number will not receive updated rates 
as part of Our Online Services program (collectively 
“Excluded Products”).   

C. Rate Updates with Rate Change Protection and Software
Advantage.  If You have any of Our Excluded Products,
You may have elected to purchase Rate Change 
Protection (“RCP”) from Us for Your hardware products 
or Software Advantage for Your Software.  If the Order 
Form indicates that You have selected RCP or Software 
Advantage, We will make available the following updates 
for Your covered products or Software: (i) updates to 
maintain accurate rates for the services offered by the 
USPS and other couriers that are compatible with Your 
covered product or Software; and (ii) updates for major 
zip or zone changes that are compatible with Your 
covered product or Software.  If any reprogramming is 
required because You have moved the products or 
Postage Meter to a new location, none of the services 
described in this Section cover the cost to do so. 
Customers with an outstanding Accounts Receivable 
balance may not receive a rate update until the open 
balance is resolved.  

10. United states postal service acknowledgement of
deposit requirement.  By signing this Postage Meter Rental
Agreement, You acknowledge and agree that You have read the
United States Postal Service Acknowledgement of Deposit (the
“Acknowledgement”) and will comply with its terms and
conditions, as it may be amended from time to time.
11. Additional united states postal service terms.

A. By signing this Postage Meter Rental Agreement, You
acknowledge that You are also entering into an
Agreement with the United States Postal Service
(“USPS”) in accordance with the Domestic Mail Manual
(“DMM”) 604.4, Postage Payment Methods, Postage
Meters and PC Postage Products (collectively, “Postage
Evidencing Systems” or “PES”) and accept responsibility
for control and use of the PES contained therein.

B. You also acknowledge You have read the DMM 604.4,
Postage Payment Methods, Postage Meters and PC
Postage Products (Postage Evidencing Systems) and
agree to abide by all rules and regulations governing its
use.

C. Failure to comply with the rules and regulations
contained in the DMM or use of the PES in any fraudulent
or unlawful scheme or enterprise may result in the
revocation of this Rental Agreement.

D. You further acknowledge that any use of this PES that
fraudulently deprives the USPS of revenue can cause You
to be subject to civil and criminal penalties applicable to
fraud and/or false claims against the United States. The
submission of a false, fictitious or fraudulent statement
can result in imprisonment of up to five (5) years and
fines of up to $10,000 (18 U.S.C. 1001). In addition, a
civil penalty of up to $5,000 and an additional
assessment of twice the amount falsely claimed may be
imposed (3 U.S.C. 3802).

E. You further understand that the rules and regulations
regarding use of this PES as documented in the USPS
Domestic Mail Manual may be updated from time to time

by the USPS and it is Your obligation to comply with any 
current or future rules and regulations regarding its use. 

F. You are responsible for immediately reporting (within
seventy-two hours or less) the theft or loss of the
postage meter that is subject to this Rental Agreement.
Failure to comply with this notification provision in a
timely manner may result in the denial of refund of funds
remaining on the postage meter at the time of the loss
or theft.

12. Auto Ink Program.  If the Order Form indicates that
You have elected to participate in Our Auto Ink Program (the
“Program”), then you hereby authorize Us to ship You a new ink
cartridge for the Product whenever the Product indicates that the
then-current ink cartridge reaches twenty percent (20%) of its
capacity.  You authorize Us to charge the then-current fee for such
cartridge (plus applicable taxes and shipping charges) to Your
NeoFunds or TotalFunds Account, You may opt out of the Program
at any time by sending an email to CIMneworders@neopost.com.
13. Taxes.  You agree to pay for all applicable taxes related
to the sale or rental of any products or Postage Meter to You, as
well as any taxes applicable to Your possession, and/or use of the
products and/or Postage Meter.  Furthermore, You agree to pay
the applicable fee to cover Our expenses associated with the
administration, billing and tracking of such charges and taxes.
14. Disclaimer of Warranties.  EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY STATED
HEREIN, WE MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF
ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING ANY MATTER
WHATSOEVER, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE
SUITABILITY OF ANY PRODUCTS OR POSTAGE METER, ITS
CONDITION, ITS MERCHANTABILITY, ITS FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, ITS FREEDOM FROM INFRINGEMENT, OR
OTHERWISE.
15. Limitation of Liability.  IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY
BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER PARTY FOR ANY INCIDENTAL,
INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES
OF ANY KIND ARISING OUT OF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS
AGREEMENT, WHETHER OR NOT SUCH PARTY WAS ADVISED OF
THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGE.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY
OTHER PROVISION OF THIS RENTAL AGREEMENT, EXCEPT FOR
DIRECT DAMAGES RESULTING FROM PERSONAL INJURY OR
DAMAGE TO TANGIBLE PROPERTY CAUSED BY OUR GROSS
NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, THE MAXIMUM OUR
LIABILITY TO YOU FOR DAMAGES HEREUNDER SHALL NOT
EXCEED THE TOTAL OF THE AMOUNTS PAID TO US HEREUNDER
BY YOU.
16. Assignment.  No right or interest in this Rental Agreement
may be assigned by You, without Our prior written consent.
17. Notice.  All notices related to this Rental Agreement to
Us shall be made by You, or an attorney representing You.
Notice of non-renewal of this Rental Agreement shall be
made as outlined in Section 3 herein by calling 1-800-
NEOPOST (636-7678). All other notices, requests and other
communications hereunder shall be in writing, and  shall be
considered given when: (i) delivered personally, or (ii) sent by
commercial overnight courier with written confirmation of
delivery. Written notices to Us shall be sent to: Neopost USA Inc.,
478 Wheelers Farms Road, Milford, CT 06461 (“Notice Address”).
18. Integration.  This Rental Agreement represents the final and
only agreement between You and Us regarding Your acquisition
of the Postage Meter and any other products or services.  There
are no unwritten oral agreements between You and Us.  This
Rental Agreement can be changed only by a signed, written
agreement between You and Us.
19. Severability.  In the event any provision of this Rental
Agreement shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable,



Page 3 of 4        Direct Postage Meter Rental Agreement Version: V04-16 

the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions 
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.  The parties 
agree to replace any invalid provision with a valid provision, which 
most closely approximates the intent and economic effect of the 
invalid provision. 
20. Waiver or Delay.  A waiver of any default hereunder or of
any term or condition of this Rental Agreement shall not be
deemed to be a continuing waiver or a waiver of any other default
or any other term or condition, but shall apply solely to the
instance to which such waiver is directed.  We may accept late
payments, partial payments, checks or money orders marked
“payment in full,” or with a similar notation, without
compromising any rights under this Rental Agreement.
21. Choice of Law; Venue; and Attorney’s Fees.  This Rental
Agreement shall be governed under the laws of the State of
Connecticut, without regard to conflicts of law, and jurisdiction
shall lie exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction in New
Haven County, Connecticut. In any litigation or other proceeding
by which one party either seeks to enforce its rights under this
Rental Agreement (whether in contract, tort, or both) or seeks a
declaration of any rights or obligations under this Rental
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be awarded its reasonable
attorney fees, and costs and expenses incurred.

NeoFunds®/TotalFunds® ACCOUNT AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that
You have entered a Postage Meter Rental Agreement with Neopost
USA Inc. (the “Rental Agreement”). If you have an eligible
Postage Meter, then you will have access to a  NeoFunds postage
funding account (for Neopost POC accounts) or a TotalFunds
postage funding account (for TMS accounts) and this
NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account Agreement (“Account Agreement”)
shall govern Your use of such account.   Any defined terms in the
Rental Agreement shall have the same meanings in this Account
Agreement, except that “We,” “Us,” and “Our,” refer to Mailroom
Finance, Inc., an affiliate of Neopost USA Inc.  Sections 10
through 20 of the Rental Agreement are hereby incorporated into
this Account Agreement except that any reference in those
sections to the “Rental Agreement” refers to this Account
Agreement.
2. Establishment and Activation of Account.  You hereby
authorize Us, to establish an account in Your name (“Account”)
for funding the purchase of postage from the United State Postal
Service (“USPS”) for use in the Postage Meter. Your Account may
also be used to purchase supplies, pay for the Postage Meter
rental, and obtain certain other products and services from
Neopost USA. The establishment of Your Account shall be subject
to Our approval of Your creditworthiness.  Any use of the Account
shall constitute Your acceptance of all the terms and conditions of
this Account Agreement and all other documents executed or
provided in connection with the Account. The Account may not be
used for personal, family, or household purposes.
3. Operation of Account.  Each time an employee or agent of
Yours with the express, implied, or apparent authority to do so
(each an “Authorized User”) uses the Account to receive  a
postage meter reset or obtain other products or services that
Neopost USA Inc. is authorized to provide, Neopost USA Inc. will
notify Us of the amount to be applied to Your Account balance.  If
the Account is used to obtain postage, then We will transfer the
requested amount of postage  to the USPS on Your behalf and
Your Account will be charged for the amount of postage requested
and any related fees, if applicable. You can continue to pre-pay
the USPS for postage and understand that pre-paid postage funds
will be used first to pay for my postage meter resets. You further

understand that NeoFunds/TotalFunds will provide additional 
available postage funds when Your pre-paid account balance is 
zero ($0). When You request a Postage Meter reset, if You have 
the funds on account with the USPS, those funds automatically 
will be withdrawn first to pay for postage, and any additional 
amounts due for postage and related fees will be billed through 
the NeoFunds/TotalFunds Account under the terms and conditions 
of this Account Agreement. If the Account is used to acquire 
products or services that Neopost USA is authorized to provide, 
then We shall pay the applicable amount to Neopost USA Inc. and 
add such amount to Your Account balance.  
4. Payment Terms.  You will receive a billing statement for each
billing cycle in which You have any activity on Your Account.
Payments are due on the due date shown on Your billing
statement.  You may pay the entire balance due or a portion of
the balance, provided that You pay at least the minimum payment
amount shown on Your statement.  However, if You have
exceeded the Account Limit, then You must pay the entire amount
of any overage, as well as the minimum payment amount shown
on Your statement.  Whenever there is an unpaid balance
outstanding on Your Account which is not paid in full by the due
date shown on Your billing statement, We will charge You, and
You agree to pay, interest on the unpaid balance of the Account
for each day from the date the transaction is posted to Your
Account until the date the unpaid balance is paid in full, at the
Annual Percentage Rate (as defined below).  The Account balance
that is subject to a finance charge each day will include
outstanding balances, minus any payments and credits received
by Us on Your Account that day.  The Annual Percentage Rate
applicable to Your Account will be equal to the lesser of eighteen
percent (18.00%) per annum or the maximum permitted by law.
Each payment will be applied to reduce the outstanding balance
of Your Account and replenish the amount available to You.  We
may refuse to extend further credit if the amount of a requested
charge plus Your existing balance exceeds Your Account Limit.
5. Account Limit and Account Fees.  You agree that We will
establish a credit limit on Your Account (the “Account Limit”).  The
exact amount of the Account Limit will be indicated on Your
invoice. We may, in Our sole discretion, allow Your balance to
exceed the Account Limit.  In the event We do so, You agree to
pay Us an additional fee equal to one percent (1%) of the amount
by which the Account Limit is exceeded for each transaction that
You initiate after Your Account has reached the Account Limit.
Such amount will be charged to Your Account on the date that the
relevant transaction(s) occurs. Unless prohibited by applicable
law, You agree to pay the amounts set forth in this Account
Agreement, which may include, without limitation, the amounts
specified above, a fee for a late payment, a fee for any checks
that are returned as a result of insufficient funds, a fee for any
ACH direct debit transactions which are rejected, and an annual
account fee.  All such fees shall be added to Your Account balance.
6. Cancellation and Suspension.  We may at any time close
or suspend Your Account or temporarily refuse to allow further
charges to Your Account.  You can cancel Your Account at any
time by notifying Us in writing at the address provided on Your
Account statement of Your desire to do so.  No cancellation or
suspension will affect Your obligation to pay any amounts You
then owe under this Account Agreement.  We will notify You of
the Account balance in the event of any termination and all
outstanding obligations will survive the termination of this
Account Agreement by either party.
7. Default.  We may declare You in default if You: (i) have made
any misrepresentations to Us; (ii) at any time, have done or
allowed anything that indicates to Us that You may be unable or
unwilling to repay the balance of Your Account as required under
this Account Agreement; or (iii) are in default under this Account



Page 4 of 4        Direct Postage Meter Rental Agreement Version: V04-16 

Agreement or any lease, rental, or other agreement with Us, 
Neopost USA Inc., or their affiliates.  If You are in default, or upon 
any cancellation of Your Account, We shall not be obligated to 
continue to provide the Account service or extend further credit 
under this Account Agreement.  If We are required to take 
collection action or any other legal action under this Account 
Agreement, You shall pay upon demand by Us all court and 
collection costs, along with reasonable attorney’s fees.  These 
remedies shall be cumulative and not exclusive, and shall be in 
addition to any and all other remedies available to Us. 
8. Remedies.  If We have declared that You are in default under
this Account Agreement, then We may:  (i) declare all agreements
You have with Us in default and due and payable at once without
notice or demand; (ii) refuse to make further advances on Your
behalf to reset Your Postage Meter; and (iii) exercise any other
rights that We may have.  In addition, You agree that any default
under this Account Agreement shall constitute a default under any
agreement You may have with any of Our affiliates, including, but
not limited to, Neopost USA Inc., MailFinance Inc.
9. Amendments.  We may amend this Account Agreement, or
any of its provisions, including without limitation any fees and
charges and/or the Annual Percentage Rate, at any time by at
least thirty (30) days written notice to You, and such written
notice may be included in Your billing statement.  Any such
amendment will become effective on the date stated in the notice
and will apply to any transactions after such date, as well as to
any outstanding balance on Your Account.
10. Notice:  Any notice required to be given under this Account
Agreement by either party hereto shall be given if to You, at the
address shown on Your Order Form, and if to Us at 478 Wheelers
Farms Road, Milford, CT 06461.
11. Miscellaneous.  You understand that We may obtain credit
reports in connection with Your Account now and in the future.
This Account Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, without reference
to its conflict-of-laws rules, and any applicable federal laws.  The
sole jurisdiction and venue for actions related to the subject
matter hereof shall be in a State or Federal Court within the State
of Texas.

ONLINE SERVICES AND SOFTWARE AGREEMENT 

1. Incorporation of Certain Terms. You acknowledge that You
have entered a Postage Meter Rental Agreement with Neopost
USA Inc. (the “Rental Agreement”).  Any defined terms in the
Rental Agreement shall have the same meanings in this Online
Services and Software Agreement (“OSS Agreement”).  Sections
13 through 21 of the Rental Agreement are hereby incorporated
into this OSS Agreement, except that any reference in those
sections to the “Rental Agreement” refers to this OSS Agreement.
2. License Grant and Additional Terms.  In exchange for the
license fees that are included in Your Rental Payment, We hereby
grant to You a nonexclusive, nontransferable license to use the
Software products, including related documentation, described on
the Order Form solely for Your own use on or with the Postage
Meter and other products.  You warrant and represent that You
will not sell, transfer, disclose or otherwise make available such
Software products or copies thereof to third parties; provided,
however, that the Software products may be used by Your
employees or independent contractors using the Postage Meter
and other products.  No title or ownership of the Software
products or any portion thereof is transferred to You.  You
acknowledge and agree that there may be additional terms and
conditions that apply to Your use of any Software provided by Us.
Such terms will be provided with the Software and may be

supplemented by Us or third party licensors, from time to time, 
by notice to You. 
3. Software Support. Unless otherwise specified in the
applicable Software terms, if You have purchased support for the
Software, We will provide the following for a period of one (1)
year:  (i) software updates and, if applicable, carrier rate updates
that keep You current and compliant with supported carrier rates,
fees, zone schedules, label, barcode and forms changes; (ii)
updates to the Software; (iii) corrective bug fixes as released; and
(iv) technical support for the Software (collectively “Software
Maintenance”).  At the conclusion of each year of Software
Maintenance, the Software Maintenance will automatically renew
for additional one-year periods at Our then-current fee for such
services unless you give us at least sixty (60) days prior written
notice that you wish to cancel the Software Maintenance.  You
acknowledge that the Software may fail to comply with applicable
regulations if you do not have Software Maintenance and that We
shall not have any liability in connection with any such failure.  If
You allow the Software Maintenance to lapse, You may reinstate
such services; provided that you pay all fees that would have been
due from the expiration of Your last Software Maintenance period
through the reinstatement date, plus a 15% administrative
surcharge.
4. Use of Websites.  Neopost USA Inc. and/or any of Our
affiliates, or suppliers, including, but not limited to, MailFinance
Inc. may, from time to time, make certain websites available to
You in order to provide You with certain services (“Websites”).  If
You access any such Websites, You acknowledge and agree that
Your use of the Website is subject to the terms of use and/or
license terms in effect at the time You use the Website.  Such
terms are available on the Websites for Your review.  You
acknowledge and agree that such terms may be supplemented
and modified from time to time (“Supplemental Terms”).  Your
use of a Website after Supplemental Terms have been issued will
signify Your acceptance of those terms. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of this OSS Agreement and the Supplemental
Terms, the Supplemental Terms shall control.



Prepared for:

Proposal date:

Valid until:

Submitted by:

BUSINESS CASE
Consolidated Mailing Solution

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

6/13/2022

Jake Stacey
Government Account Executive
(734) 660-3749
J.Stacey@Quadient.com

Patrick Houlihan
(248) 761-0802
Sales Manager
p.houlihan@quadient.com

4/25/2022



This document is strictly private, confidential and personal to its recipients and should not be copied, distributed 
or reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to any third party without the express written consent of Quadient.

Product Overview

S.M.A.R.T.
The ultimate Shipping, Mailing, 

Accounting, Reporting 
and Tracking experience

• Integrates seamlessly with Quadient iX-Series mailing 
systems to create a do-all mail center solution 

• Allocate mailing and shipping costs down to 1/100 of a 
cent for an unlimited # of accounts or departments

• Best-in-class shipping application allows you to process 
parcels using USPS®, UPS®, FedEx® and DHL®

• Provides up to five levels of chargeback accounting with 
the ability to set budgets and apply custom charges

• Optimize USPS® shipping with full IM®pb compliance, 
commercial base pricing discounts and free insurance

• Work Ahead™ allows operators to save time by selecting 
the next account while the current batch is running

• View services & rates across all carriers from one screen 
and automatically shop by lowest cost or fastest delivery

• Eliminate account changeover pauses by staging batches 
of mail for different accounts using Scan & Drop™

• Allow desktop users to prepare shipments with traveler 
documents for faster processing in the mail center

• Comprehensive mail center activity reporting empowers 
you to better manage mailing and shipping operations

• Simple integration capability eliminates manual entry, 
increasing shipping accuracy and efficiency

• Set it and forget it – the report scheduler automatically 
runs and emails reports to designated recipients

• Control all the functionality of your iX mailing system via 
the interactive PC’s unparalleled user interface 

• Consolidated package tracking across all carriers with 
thirteen months of history at your fingertips

Key Capabilities



This document is strictly private, confidential and personal to its recipients and should not be copied, distributed 
or reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to any third party without the express written consent of Quadient.

Product Overview

• Intuitive user interface that includes a color touchscreen 
and time-saving shortcut keys

• Reach productivity levels as high as 140 metered letters 
per minute (75 in dynamic weighing mode)

• Meets the latest Intelligent Mail Indicia (IMI) and 
Dimensional Weighing (DIM) USPS® requirements

• Safeguard your stored postage with PIN code access for 
each of your operators

• Automatic feeding of postcards, letters or large 
envelopes without sorting by mail piece size 

• Track pieces processed and postage used for 100 or more 
accounts/departments

• Dependable envelope sealing that secures the contents 
of your mail pieces

• LAN or wireless connection to refill postage instantly and 
update postal rates automatically  

• In-line dynamic scale weighs, measures, classifies and 
rates mail pieces on the fly

• Download artwork to print onto your mail pieces – use our 
free library or create your own

• External scale auto-adjusts the postage amount for 
extra-thick envelopes or boxed packages

• Uploads postage usage data to your Myquadient online 
account for quick and easy analysis

• Integrated postage label dispenser for easy processing of 
bulky letters and large envelopes

• Download postage anytime and pay for it later using 
Quadient Postage Funding

iX-7 DS MAILING SYSTEM
A mid-range mail

processing solution with
exceptional versatility

Key Capabilities



This document is strictly private, confidential and personal to its recipients and should not be copied, distributed 
or reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to any third party without the express written consent of Quadient.

Financial Considerations

Product Summary – WITH SMART

• iX-7; 10lb WP + 30lb Ship Scale w/Display; DS; All-in-One PC; Zera Label Printer; SMART Mail Center SW w/5 Mail + 250 
RTS/Print Licenses; MultiCarrier

• S.M.A.R.T. Computer Stand for All-In-One PC, Full Wireless Keyboard & Mouse

• Dynamic Weighing Platform for IX Series 7/7PRO Bases

• Desktop Solution - Power Conditioning Line Filter

• S.M.A.R.T. Remote Configuration Training

• Conveyor Stacker & Adaptor (IX7 & IX7PRO ONLY)

Cost Summary Valid Until:  6/13/2022

01 60-month lease $468.60
per month

02 Freight, delivery & installation Included

03 Meter rental Included

04 Equipment maintenance Included

05 Software license & support Included

Total Monthly Cost $468.60 per month



This document is strictly private, confidential and personal to its recipients and should not be copied, distributed 
or reproduced in whole or in part, nor passed to any third party without the express written consent of Quadient.

Financial Considerations

Product Summary – NO SMART

• iX-7 Series Base w/ Mixed Size Feeder, Sealer, Drop Tray & Ink Cartridge

• Dynamic Weighing Platform for IX Series 7/7PRO Bases

• Conveyor Stacker & Adaptor (IX7 & IX7PRO ONLY)

• IX Series 30 lb Weighing Platform

• 15 AMP Power Conditioning line filter. 4 standard outlets, plus 1 “corded” outlet

Cost Summary Valid Until:  6/13/2022

01 60-month lease $400.01
per month

02 Freight, delivery & installation Included

03 Meter rental Included

04 Equipment maintenance Included

05 Software license & support Included

Total Monthly Cost $400.01 per month



Welcome to the Quadient Postage Funding, the easiest way to buy more postage for your Quadient mailing 
system.  With Quadient Postage Funding, you’ll enjoy greater flexibility and control in managing your business 
and mailing operations.

How does Quadient Postage Funding work?  It couldn’t be simpler. Download postage whenever you need it –
there’s no need to prepay.  We’ll pay the Postal Service for your requested postage amount.  Each month that 
you have account activity, you'll receive a Postage Funding invoice that itemizes all of your postage 
downloads for the billing period.  You can take up to 28 days from the statement date to pay by check, ACH, 
or online.

How much postage can I download?  Your account limits are automatically set based on the type of mailing 
system you have:

How are transaction fees assessed?  You are pre-approved to download up to the Free Transaction Limit 
amount each month with no fees.  If you exceed the Free Transaction Limit during any monthly billing period, 
the excess amount is subject to a 1% Flex Limit Fee.  For example, if your Free Transaction limit is $4,000 and 
you add $5,000 to your postage meter in a single monthly billing cycle, you’ll be billed a $10 Monthly Flex Limit 
Fee ($5,000 - $4,000 = $1,000 x 1% = $10).

Can I increase the amount of postage available for download from my Postage Funding Account?  Yes you 
can.  Simply call our Customer Service Department to arrange an increase in the amount of your Total 
Account Limit.

Can I choose my statement date and corresponding due date?  Yes you can.  You may choose a different 
statement date than the one assigned automatically at the time of enrollment.  Approximate statements 
dates to choose from are the 1st, 5th, 10th, 15th, and 22nd of each month.

Must I pay the entire Postage Funding statement balance by the due date?  You must pay at least the 
minimum payment amount by the due date indicated on your statement.  Finance charges may apply for 
payments that are less than the total balance owed.  A late fee may also apply if you do not make the 
minimum payment by the due date indicated on your bill.

Can I manage my Postage Funding account online?  Yes.  Simply log into Myquadient and you can monitor 
and track all of your Postage Funding activity.  You can also access current and past statements, make online 
payments and create e-mail alerts.

Get the Postage You Need Now & Pay For It Later 

Mailing System Plan Name Free Transaction Limit Total Account Limit 

Low Volume Basic PLUS $700 per monthly billing period $1,500

Mid to High Volume Advantage PLUS $4,000 per monthly billing period $8,500

BACKED BY THE EXPERTS
Gartner, Forrester,
and Aspire

EXPERIENCE
A rich history of
world-class leadership

PROVEN RESULTS
96% customer
satisfaction rate

EXPERTISE
8 billion personalized
experiences annually

Quadient Postage Funding



Customer Quotes

Government – Quadient customers tell an independent third party what they think about us:

QUADIENT CUSTOMER SATISFACTION RATING

QUADIENT CUSTOMER SATISFACTION RATING

QUADIENT CUSTOMER SATISFACTION RATING

Quadient?”

Quadient?”

Quadient

Quadient

Quadient

Quadient?”



Prepared by:

Bradley Lang  

Major Account Manager – State of MI

Pitney Bowes

May 10, 2022 

YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP

Proposal for:

Sending Technology Solutions



SendPro® P2000 mailing system 2

Key features

• For letter mail, the SendPro P2000 can automatically process up to 5 ⁄ 8” thick at up to 180 letters 
per minute.

• Weigh-on-the-Way module accurately rates mail based on the weight and dimensions of each 
envelope at speeds up to 115 letters per minute.

• Closed-flap sealing for envelopes up to 5/8" thick with advanced pump-fed pad, complete with 
moisture adjustments at a job-level.

• Minimize interruptions with proven self-aligning,  reverse separation technology.

• Load-on-the-fly feeders help keep your mail moving, freeing time for other tasks. • Integrated and interfaced weighing options ensure postage accuracy.

• Includes 50-user SendPro Online access, so your employees can mail and ship via USPS® remotely 
or right from their desks.

• SendPro Online access allows desktop users to create a ship request for larger items like Priority 
Mail, making it easier to take advantage of IMpb savings.

• Print return address, envelope ad and indicia or permit imprint in a single pass.

• Complies with all current USPS® regulations including Intelligent Mail Indicia® (IMI)*, Dimensional 
Weighing® (DIM) and Intelligent Mail Package Barcode® (IMpb) when using compliant trackable 
label. *Due to its enhanced data security features, the SendPro® P Series/Connect+ is approved for 
us by the USPS through December 31, 2027. 

Simplify the sending the process by integrating mailing and shipping 
into a single solution.



Solution Pricing Overview 3

Solution Recommendations

• SendPro® P2000 mailing system

• 145 LPM Speed with 70 LPM in W.O.W.

• Weigh-On-The-Weigh (W.O.W. also known as 

Dynamic Weighting)

• 15” Color Touch Computer Display

• 30lb Scale with External Display

• Power Stacker

• External Wireless Keyboard

• SendPro Online – USPS Shipping

• 4x6 “ Adhesive Shipping Label Printer

• Standard Accounting & Analytics 

Lease Investment Summary Valid until: 6/30/2022

Hardware and software as described above Included

Maintenance, rate updates, meter rental, and support Included

Freight, delivery, and installation Included

60 Months

$435.61

*Pricing from State of MI MiDeal State Contract



Awards and Recognition 4

America’s Best Employers
for Diversity

Forbes Magazine
2019, 2020, 2021

America’s Best Places to Work for 
LGBTQ Equality

Human Rights
Campaign Foundation 

2021

2020 illumi
Outstanding Innovator 

award

“We do the right thing, 
the right way.”

This simple statement is the north star 
we use in our interactions with our 
clients, business partners, employees, 
and communities.

Every day, we demonstrate our 
commitment to corporate responsibility 
through the way we conduct business. 
Our culture of integrity and shared 
values is fundamental to our success 
and has been throughout our history.

Pitney Bowes  - Confidential and Proprietary
*J.D. Power 2021 Certified Technology Service & Support Program, developed in conjunction with TSIA. Based on successful completion of an audit and exceeding a customer satisfaction benchmark for Technology Service and Support operations. For more information, visit http://www.jdpower.com or 
www.tsia.com.

America’s Best Employers for 
Women

Forbes Magazine
2019, 2020, 2021

Pitney Bowes has been 
recognized by J.D. Power

for providing “An Outstanding 
Customer Service Experience” for 
Technology Service and Support 

program*

2020 Design & 
Innovation Awards 

finalist for

Cultural Transformation

2020 Best Corporations for 
Veteran’s Business Enterprises

Bloomberg

Gender-Equality Index

2019 and 2020

How we operate



Enable
Remote
Work

Empower employees to mail and 
ship from anywhere, even from 
home.

About Us 5

We offer 
businesses flexible payment 
options, postage and carrier 
funding, and improve access 
to capital.

Mailing

Shipping

Lockers & 
Receiving

Business Communication 
Automation

Ecommerce

Multi-carrier technology that 
helps your entire organization 
make smarter decisions on every 
parcel you send. 

Financial 
Services

Remove complexity from 
mailing with technology 
solutions to accurately produce 
and process mail.

Simplify the inbound package and 
asset experience with
custom built solutions that deliver 
safety, security and convenience.

Digital solutions and services to 
enhance document production 
and multichannel output, while 
automating critical workflows.

Fulfillment, delivery, 
cross-border and return solutions 
to make for easier ecommerce 
logistics to help your business 
grow.

Pitney Bowes is a global technology company providing commerce solutions that power billions of transactions. Clients around the

world, including 90 percent of the Fortune 500, rely on the accuracy and precision delivered by Pitney Bowes solutions, analytics, 

and APIs in the areas of ecommerce fulfillment, shipping and returns; cross-border ecommerce; office mailing and shipping; 

presort services; and financing. 

Automate
With API
Integrations

Improve shipping operations, 
better manage cash flow, and 
reduce costs.

Deliver
Contactless
Pickup

Provide convenient safe, secure, 
and flexible options for parcel 
delivery.

Leverage
Managed
Services

Focus on your core business by 
outsourcing all or parts of your 
mailing process.

Optimize
Cashflow

Consolidated carrier payments, 
innovative postage funding, and 
flexible financing.

Ensure
Regulatory
Compliance

Mitigate risk and protect private 
information in mailing and 
shipping workflows.

Business Initiative Solutions



Pitney Bowes Sending Technology Solutions is committed to providing our customers with the finest products backed by the highest quality care and

service. As long as you continually maintain coverage with a Pitney Bowes Service Level Agreement for hardware and a software maintenance agreement

for software after warranty, Pitney Bowes promises to provide you the following:

Guaranteed product performance

For all new and remanufactured Pitney Bowes branded products provided by Pitney Bowes in the U.S., we guarantee

performance to our specifications for the initial term of the lease or three years if purchased. If, during that period, the product does

not perform to our specifications, and we cannot repair it, we will replace it with a comparable product. If during the first ninety

days after installation the replacement product does not perform as specified, you will be entitled to a refund of payments made to

us for the replacement product. If the original or replacement product fails to perform due to the use of a non-Pitney Bowes

consumable supply or unapproved software/hardware modification, this guarantee will not apply.

Guaranteed nationwide service

Our nationwide service force will respond to service and preventative maintenance requests as part of your maintenance

agreement for hardware. If we find that we cannot return your Pitney Bowes branded equipment to a satisfactory operating

condition within a reasonable time, where appropriate, we will provide you with a loaner at no additional cost.

Help line support

For customers with products that are supported through our Diagnostics Center, toll-free telephone technical assistance is 

available Monday through Friday, 8:00am until 8:00pm ET exclusive of holidays.

Rate change protection

With our ability to accommodate a wide range of carriers, we are your rate data source. Also, should you select any of our plans

that include software rate protection, we guarantee that you will not be charged for unexpected rate changes within the scope of

your plan.

Operator productivity and training excellence

For all products that we install, our skilled professionals will effectively deliver the agreed upon installation and training services.

Purchase Power® service

The Pitney Bowes Bank, Inc. provides postage advances to all qualified customers in good standing. You will not have to pay for

postage in advance. You can mail now and pay later when you get your bill.

At Pitney Bowes, we are committed to maintaining long-term partnerships with our customers. If our sales and service support team has been unable to

satisfy you, I would like to hear from you. Please call my office at 800 622 2296.

Wewon’t be satisfied until you are satisfied.

Harris Warsaw

Senior Vice President Global Sales, Global Sending Technology Solutions

Customer Satisfaction Guarantee

Pitney Bowes  - Confidential and Proprietary

Global reach
11,000 employees with 2,500 dedicated Global Service staff

Support over 750,000 businesses around the world including 

90% of the Fortune 500

Local Partner
US-based with headquartered in Stamford, CT

Direct sales and service with local partner channel to support 

you everywhere you do business.

100+ Years of Experience and Innovation
Market leader in mailing and shipping

Over 3000 active patents

Trust and Expertise
Recognized by JD Power 2 years in a row

• 2020 Certified Assisted Technical Support (tele support)

• 2021 Certified Technical Support and Service (tele, field, 

self service delivery)

97% overall customer satisfaction rating

About Pitney Bowes

Environmental sustainability
2020 Climate Leadership Award for Excellence 

in Greenhouse Gas Management from The 

Center for Climate Solutions and The Climate 

Registry.

Reduced our electricity consumption by 11% in 

2020

Achieve Carbon Neutrality by 2040

Thank you 6



Notice of confidentiality

The responses provided herein are intended for discussion purposes and nothing contained herein is 

intended as a binding agreement, which can only be reached by a written agreement entered into by the 

parties. The information contained in this document and the solution proposed by Pitney Bowes (PB) is 

proprietary and confidential to PB. These materials can be used solely for the purpose of evaluating a 

possible transaction between PB and its prospective client. No recipient of these materials may use them for 

its own commercial advantage. The recipient of these materials must hold them in confidence and shall not 

distribute them, in whole or in part, to any other individual or entity in any form without the prior written 

consent of PB.

© 2021 Pitney Bowes Inc. All rights reserved.

7



PostBase Pro DS Postage System

A Proposal for:

Pricing is good through June 10, 2022



FP PostBase

2

High Capacity Vertical Feeding True Mixed Mail Feeding

Post Base Vision Manual Post Base Vision Auto Feed

Modular Design in Your Choice of Color

Post Base Pro w / Dynamic Scale



WHO IS FP?  COMPANY QUICK FACTS...

FP Mailing Solutions is the fastest growing postage meter 
company in the U.S. based on USPS® placement reports
Subsidiary of Francotyp-Postalia-AG  - Based outside of 
Berlin, Germany
We employ over 900+ people worldwide
FP has been operating in the U.S. for more than 52 years 
and worldwide for 91 years

FP HQ – Addison, ILU.S. Headquarters and distribution center located                                                                       
near Chicago, IL
One of only three manufacturers with USPS® authority to manufacture and distribute full line 
of postage meters in the USA
We are represented by 190+ independent Dealer partners nationwide
With quality German Engineered products, FP is a leading provider of mailing systems in most 
of Europe

3



FP MAJOR ACCOUNT RELATIONSHIPS

4

http://www.franserv.com/home.aspx
http://www.usda.gov/
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Image:DiscountDrugMartLogo.jpg
http://www.theupsstore.com/


5

• At UTEC our mission is to help your business become more efficient through the use of cutting-edge 
technology. We will manage the technology structure of your business consisting of copiers, printers, 
mailing solutions, scanners, computers, servers and presentation display boards. Any technology that 
your business runs on–we are the professional one stop solution to serve your needs.

• Our sales pros will work with you to recommend the right products and ROI documentation. 
Operating your business with precision and proficiency is your priority, which is why we make it ours.

• At UTEC, we are here to sell and service technological efficiency. Discover the UTEC difference today.

Some of our Valued Customers



6

The PostBase Pro DS

Blue Light On 
when sealing. Blue Light On when in 

Dynamic Weighing 
Mode.

Built In 15 lb. scale w/ 
Differential weighing.

Mixed Size Mail Power 
Feeder

Feed - Seal – Weigh – Measure &  Meter 140 letters per minute.

Blue Light In-Motion Weighing Technology

Secure Seal ensures every envelope is 
sealed & stops machine when envelope 

flap is missed !

Automatic mailing system
Standard features included:
Speed: Up to 140 LPM (90 Dynamic) Scale: 15 lb. capacity
Cost Accounts: 100 Text Message Capacity: 12
Envelope Ad Capacity: 30 Shortcut Keys: 20
Software: ReportOne Scale Feature: Dynamic Weighing



7

The PostBase Pro DS
Automated



8

The PostBase Pro DS
Secure / Compliant



FP Inserters

9

Document Intelligence
1D 2D Bar Codes / OMR

Folder Inserters eliminate the hours spent 
hand folding & stuffing documents 

and the subsequent errors caused by 
separating & collating variable page document sets.

Compliance & Security with Ease of Operation

FPi 5700/6700 Folder Inserter

FPi 4730 Folder Inserter 
Shown w/ 3 Flex Feeders Vertical Stacker

FPi 700 Folder Inserter
Compact Design 

2 sheet feeders w/ BRE

FPi 2700 Folder  Inserter
1 - 2 -2.5 Flex Feeders



MailOne™ – ReportOne™ – RemoteOne™ Software

10

Designed to maximize efficiency, postage tracking and reporting. Connects to and operates meter.
Ecertified RR – 3 Tier Departmental Tracking – IMPB for all Packages, Priority & Express Mail.

Auto-Address Correction !

All-In-One PC w/ Color Touch Screen



PROPOSED CONFIGURATION

11

FP PostBase Pro w/ Dynamic Scale Postage Machine

All-in-One PC with MailOne Reporting Software & 30lb scale



The Numbers

12

YOUR INVESTMENT IN SECURITY & PEACE OF MIND



13

63 Month Lease Payment

$375.49

All Inclusive Monthly Lease Payment for:
PostBase Pro w/ Dynamic Scale Postage Machine

All-In-One PC with MailOne Software & 30lb USB Scale

Monthly Payment includes Equipment, Meter, All Rate Updates, On-Site Service and training.



Summary

14

In Summary, thank you again for the opportunity to discuss your mailing needs and purpose a solution.  The proposed FP 
PostBase Pro DS, along with the All-in-One computer with MailOne software will meet and/or exceed each of your 
objectives.

The system is backed by UTEC, a company dedicated to providing exceptional customer support and cutting-edge 
technology solutions.

In addition, UTEC carries a full range of both monochrome and color MFP solutions, proactive IT management and support, 
Interactive Display Systems, as well as innovative document and workflow management solutions, to assist your 
organization with future technology upgrades.

UTEC is committed to helping your company achieve both your short and long-term goals.

Thank you for your consideration and we look forward to providing you with exceptional service and support.

Sincerely,

Christine Liphardt

Mailing Solutions Specialist

734-961-3071

cliphardt@utecit.com



PostBase® pro DS



PostBase® pro DS
The next generation of PostBase®

The PostBase® pro DS is a robust and intuitive mailing system that offers uncompromising service for the professional 
mailroom. It offers high-tech capabilities, with an easy-to-use touchscreen and award-winning design. The PostBase® 
pro DS can process mixed weight mail by simply placing your mail in the self-adjusting feeder and letting the 
machine do the rest. As one of the first USPS® IMI-compliant meters in the market, and the only machine in its class 
to offer SealCheck technology, the PostBase® pro DS is one of the most secure mail machines available. 

Adjustable Touchscreen
 Integrated Scale

Label Dispenser

  

   ✉🔒

Pro Performance
The key to reliability and 
performance is the Stack 

& Go feeder with the large 
format feed deck and 

adjustable anti-skew rollers 
that prevent stoppages.

Dynamic Scale
High speed processing of 

mixed mail up to 90 letters 
per minute using the in-
line dynamic scale that 

accurately measures the 
size and weight of each 

envelope.

USPS® IMI Approved
Equipped with the most up-

to-date USPS® Intelligent Mail 
Indicia (IMI) technology. The 

PostBase® pro DS is designed 
to fully meet all USPS® 

standards and requirements.

SealCheck Sensor
Exclusive to FP’s 

PostBase® line, SealCheck 
envelope sealers ensure 

security by validating that 
each envelope flap passes 

through the sealer.  

SealCheck Envelope Sealer

Anti-Skew Rollers

Stack & Go Feeder

Dynamic Scale

Easy-view sealant tank



FP Parcel Shipping 
Ship. Track. Save.
Paired with the PostBase® pro DS, FP Parcel Shipping is the 
perfect companion to send packages. FP Parcel Shipping comes 
equipped with the USPS® shipping rates with the option to add 
multi-carrier shipping, giving you the power to select the best 
rate for the day you want your package to arrive.

Saving time and money while sending packages has never 
been simpler. This online shipping application allows you to 
easily compare rates and print shipping labels with the tracking 
barcodes for the carrier and service selected. 

FP Parcel Shipping also offers:
•	 Discounted Commercial Plus® Pricing
•	 Free insurance on Priority Mail® and Priority Mail Express® (up 

to $100 value) 
•	 CASS address correction and validation 
•	 Package tracking dashboard with email notifications
•	 Add-on multi-carrier rate shopping option

Prints IMpb compliant tracking 
labels on letter size paper or 
4” x 6” thermal shipping labels

Label Printer
(optional)

External Scale
(optional)

Add-on Products
Get the most out of your Postbase® pro DS

High Capacity Envelope Catch Tray
Improve productivity by adding a high capacity catch tray that can hold up 
to 350 finished envelopes reducing the amount of manual unloading.  With 
a durable design and compact footprint it will fit onto any mailroom table by 
hanging off the right side with a sturdy support.

Custom Mailroom Furniture
FP Mailroom Furniture is designed to provide superior protection for FP 
machines. Our engineers worked to create a line of furniture that increases the 
lifespan of your FP Mailing machines by preventing sagging and vibrations that 
can damage heavy mailroom equipment.

FPi Folder Inserter to PostBase® pro Interface
Further streamline your mailing process with folder inserter solutions for the 
modern age. By combining just two machines, you can transform printed 
paper into folded, stuffed, sealed, weighed, metered, and stacked mail in one 
streamlined process. The FPi Folder Inserters also have a secondary benefit of 
added security for sensitive documents such as: checks, invoices, legal notices 
and medical documents.



Learn more at: www.fp-usa.com/postbase-pro-ds
© 2022 FP Mailing Solutions. All Rights Reserved. TM, SM and ® denote trademarks or registered trademarks of Francotyp-Postalia, Inc. 
The FP™ logo and FP™ Mailing Solutions Product logos are trademarks or registered trademarks of Francotyp-Postalia, Inc.

BR2061

Features

Advanced, large format auto feeder
Anti-skew rollers for mixed mail
Differential weighing scale
SealCheck envelope security with sealing status light 
Adjustable flow sealing 
Dynamic weighing up to 90 letters per minute
Adjustable 4.3” color touchscreen
Rates up to 15 lbs. with integrated scale
Prints up to 140 letters per minute
Up to 20 quick select rate shortcuts
Up to 250 Cost Accounts
Rate Wizard for selecting USPS® Postal Products
Full selection of USPS® rates and extra services
Automatic postal rate downloads
Integrated label dispenser
PIN code access protection
Envelope graphics - 6 std., 30 custom
Envelope text message (via RemoteOne™) - 12 custom
Easy ink replacement
ReportOne™ (account management postal software)
FP Parcel Shipping online application - USPS®

Connected to MyFP Customer Portal

FP offers an easy way to get an overview of your mailing 
system, access your invoices and orders, and purchase 
postage and supplies all from a single online platform. 
Plus, find product specific support and access to FP digital 
products and services.

Specifications

Dimensions 55” L x 17.3” D x 11.6” H

Expandable catch tray length 12.6”-17.5”

System weight 70.2 lbs.

Catch tray weight 2.2 lbs.

Maximum letter thickness 0.40“

Envelope sizes 4” x 6” to 10” x 14”

Ink cartridge capacity (up to) 18,000 imprints

Noise <70 dB(A)

Certifications

USPS® IMI Approved Postage Solution
Energy Star 3.0

Connectivity

 LAN or optional Wi-Fi adapter

Options

Wi-Fi adapter
High capacity envelope catch tray
Cost Account upgrade - 250
External PC scale - 30 or 70 lbs. 
FP Parcel Shipping - multi carrier option
FP Parcel Shipping 10 or 70 lb. capacity USB scale
4” x 6” shipping label printer
MailOne™ (Mail management & parcel shipping software)

PostBase® pro DS



Mailing made easy.

mailone™

Gain insight into your mail



Certified MailMail Accounting

MailOne is a fully-integrated mailing, shipping and mail-accounting software solution that simplifies the way you mail, manage and report 
on postal usage and expenditures. MailOne interfaces directly with the PostBase to allow for interchangeable control and operation. 

MailOne™ Certified Mail Manager 
improves workflow, ensures compliance, 
mitigates risk and reduces costs. 
360 degree dashboard visibility of mail 
status is provided, and record keeping 
management is simplified. 

MailOne™ processes, records and saves 
all of your mail expenditure details in 
real-time. Use unlimited cost accounts 
to create budgets and add surcharges 
for chargeback and cost allocation. With 
MailOne, businesses can easily create 
reports in detail for quick analysis.

MailOne™ is the premier USPS  package 
shipping solution. It makes shipping 
easy, reduces costs and improves 
delivery efficiency. Use MailOne rate 
shopping to find the best shipping 
method utilizing USPS® Commercial 
Base Pricing.

USPS  Shipping® ® 

™Fully-integrated software for your PostBase 

® 



MailOne is the ideal solution for any business that mails or ships packages. MailOne’s software solution is the perfect complement to 
any business that is looking to eliminate the use of error-prone spreadsheets, manual reporting and reduce shipping costs. 

Benefit from secure multi-tier reporting and savings

Commercial 
Base Pricing

Unlimited 
Accounts

CASS 
Address Validation

Three-tier 
Accounting

Archive

Budgets
& Reports

E-return 
Receipt

IM pb 
Shipping Label

® 

Learn more at www.fp-usa.com/mailone



BR2701

Learn more at www.fp-usa.com/mailone

Plugged into over 230,000 mailrooms worldwide, FP Mailing 
Solutions is the fastest growing mailing solutions company in the U.S.
  
Real people. – With over 1,100 employees, FP provides all of our customers with a 
dedicated customer service team located in the U.S.
 
Simple processes. – FP invests in research and development in order to continue 
to provide our customers with the simplest of solutions. FP is the leader in mail-
room technology, being the first postage meter company to introduce a digital and 
USPS® IMI Compliant meter.

Mailing solutions. – With over 90 years of experience, and operations in over 40 
countries, it’s easy to see what makes FP Mailing Solutions the industry expert in 
mailroom solutions and technology. 

Why FP?



 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti Trustees 

 

From:  Fire Chief Eric Copeland 

 

Date:  May 26, 2022 

 

Subject: Authorization to award the bid from Rapid Roofing for replacement of the roof at 8869 

Textile Road (Station #4) budgeted in line item: #217-901-000-976-005 for CAPITAL 

OUTLAY – FIRE STATION – FY 2022. 
 

In service to the Township, I am requesting for the June 21, 2022 Township Board regular meeting to 

present the following item(s) for consideration. 

 

1) Authorization to award the bid for roof replacement at fire station #4 located at 8869 

Textile Road to Rapid Roofing Company, located in Ypsilanti Township, the low bid 

and has previously done work in the Township at the Ford Blvd. facility in 2015 and 

the Hewitt Road facility in 2018.  

 

Below are the results from the May 11, 2022 bid opening:  

 

 Rapid Roofing of Ypsilanti Township,    $22,853.12 

 

 Renaissance Contracting & Roofing LLC, of Redford $24,700.00 
 

 Weatherseal Home Improvements, Inc. of Shelby Twp., $24,740.00 

 

 Great Lakes Roofing Inc., of Troy     $26,800.00 

 

 

Thank you, 

 

 

Fire Chief Eric Copeland 

            

DEPARTME

NT 
                   222 

SOUTH FORD 

BOULEVARD 

                 

YPSILANTI, 

MICHIGAN  48198 

























 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 

TO: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

FROM: Karen Wallin, Human Resource Manager 

 Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

DATE: June 2, 2022 

 

RE: Extension and Adjustment to Fire Chief Copeland’s employment contract 

 

 

After discussions between Supervisor Stumbo and Fire Chief Copeland, Chief Copeland has agreed 

to delay his retirement and assist with a number of items facing the Fire Department including fire 

truck purchases, filling of five vacant fire fighters positions, and assist with the process of hiring a 

new Fire Chief. 

 

In recognition of Chief Copeland being willing to delay his retirement, we would like to offer Chief 

Copeland an additional 3 weeks PTO time for 2022 and 2023, and a wage increase of $500.00 per 

pay period to help with the challenges and transition to a new Fire Chief. 

       

Management is working with Firefighter Local 1830 preparing a joint agreement to present to Civil 

Service Commission regarding filling the several fire fighter vacancies.  Acting quickly is important 

as we did not anticipate this many vacancies and are currently in the entry-level application process.   

 

We greatly appreciate Chief Copeland’s service to our community and his willingness to stay 

during these challenging times at the Fire Department.   

 

Your consideration in this matter is appreciated. 

 

 

Human Resource 
Department 

 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
Phone: (734) 484-0065 

Fax: (734) 484-5160 
ytown.org 

 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON JR. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 

TO: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

FROM: Karen Wallin, Human Resource Manager 

  

DATE: June 2, 2022 

 

RE: Letter of Agreement with AFSCME 14-B District Court for 2022 wage increase of 

2.75% 

 

Township and 14-B Court Management are in the process of beginning negotiations with the 

AFSCME 14-B District Court employees.  As this union group is the only group that hasn’t 

received a wage increase for 2022, the attached “Letter of Agreement” was presented to the union 

for approval.  The 2.75% increase is the same increase given to all other employee groups for the 

year 2022. 

 

Upon approval by the Township Board of Trustees, a budget amendment will be prepared and 

brought to the June 21, 2022 meeting to cover the lump sum payments and the base wage increase 

for the remainder of 2022. 

 

Your consideration in this matter is appreciated. 

 

 

Human Resource 
Department 

 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
Phone: (734) 484-0065 

Fax: (734) 484-5160 
ytown.org 

 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON JR. 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

 

 

TO: Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

FROM: Karen Wallin, Human Resource Manager 

  

DATE: June 2, 2022 

 

RE: Confirmation of hiring William Turner as the new Golf Course Superintendent 

 

 

As the Board has been made aware, Tim Smith retired as Golf Course Superintendent effective May 

27, 2022.  The position was posted on May 24th on MLive, the MIGCSA site and on all Township 

social media sites.  Interviews took place on Tuesday, May 31, 2022 and were conducted by 

Supervisor Stumbo, Residential Services Director, Mike Hoffmeister and Director of Golf 

Operations, Kirk Sherwood.  Following the interview process, an offer of employment was made to 

William (Will) Turner with an annually salary of $70,000 and a complete benefit package. 

 

Will began his golf ground maintenance career back in 2008 working at Pheasant Run Golf Course 

in Canton.  He also worked for the University of Michigan Golf Course and most recent Eagle Crest 

Golf Course. Will has a Bachelor of Science in Interdisciplinary Geoscience and has state 

certifications 3A, 3B and #6 from the Michigan Department of Agriculture. 

 

I would recommend that the Township Board of Trustees confirm the hiring of William Turner as 

our new Golf Course Superintendent. 

 

Your consideration in this matter is appreciated. 

 

 

Human Resource 
Department 

 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
Phone: (734) 484-0065 

Fax: (734) 484-5160 
ytown.org 

 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN II 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON JR. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

To:      Charter Township of Ypsilanti Board of Trustees 

 

From:  Brenda Stumbo, Township Supervisor 

 

Date:   May 27, 2022 

 

RE:     Request to authorize the agreement with the Washtenaw County Road Commission 

(WCRC) for the instillation of 7 (seven) speed bumps on Nash Avenue for $60,816.50 

budgeted in account 101.446-982.000 

 

Attached is an agreement with the Washtenaw County Road Commission for the installation of 

seven traffic-calming devices, markings and signs on Nash Street for $60,816.50, contingent upon 

budget amendment.    

 

On April 22, 2022 the WCRC received and submitted to the Township petition signatures from 

residents of Nash Avenue. Per WCRC rules, property owners of at least 51% must sign petitions 

before moving forward. On May 25, 2022 Deputy Assessor Brian McCleery confirmed 42 

signatures out of 79 parcels on the street to meet the 53.16% approval needed.  

 

On May 26, 2022, the WCRC sent the final estimate and proposed agreement. Attached is the 

proposed contract, map and estimate.  

 

Thank you for your consideration. 

 

 

 

CC: Doug Winters, Attorney 

        Lisa Stanfield, Deputy Township Clerk 

        Brian McCleery, Deputy Assessor 

Office of the 
Supervisor 

 
7200 S. Huron River Drive 

Ypsilanti, MI  48197 
 

ytown.org 
 

Supervisor 
BRENDA L. STUMBO 

Clerk 
HEATHER JARRELL ROE 

Treasurer 
STAN ELDRIDGE 

Trustees 
JOHN P. NEWMAN 

GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 

JIMMIE WILSON JR. 



AGREEMENT BETWEEN  
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI AND 

THE WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION 
 

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this ______ day of ____________, 2022 
between the Board of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (the “Township”) and the Board 
of Washtenaw County Road Commissioners (the “Road Commission”). 
 
WHEREAS, the Charter Township of Ypsilanti desires to install seven (7) speed humps 
on Nash Avenue between Tyler Road and State Street (the “Project”); and 
 
WHEREAS, proper authority is provided to the parties of this Agreement under the 
provisions of Act 51 of Public Acts of 1951 as amended; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Road Commission will prepare documents for the Project; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Township shall promptly reimburse the Road Commission upon receipt 
of any invoices for all costs and expenses attributed to the Project; 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT AGREED that the Township will pay the Road Commission for all 
actual costs incurred associated with the construction of the Project estimated to be 
$60,816.50. 
 
IT IS FURTHER UNDERSTOOD that the Charter Township of Ypsilanti will be a named 
insured on the Washtenaw County Road Commission’s coverage for liability for the 
activities described above. The Road Commission will submit a certificate of insurance 
evidencing such coverage to the Township Clerk prior to implementation of services 
under the contract. Each party to this contract shall be responsible for the acts and 
omissions of its employees and agents. 
         

 
AGREEMENT SUMMARY 

Estimated Cost 
 
Installation of six speed humps on Nash Ave between 
Tyler Road and State Street           $60,816.50 
 
FOR YPSILANTI TOWNSHIP: 
 
___________________________________ 
Brenda L. Stumbo, Supervisor 
 
___________________________________ 
Heather Jarrell Roe, Clerk 

 
FOR WASHTENAW COUNTY ROAD COMMISSION: 
 
___________________________________ 
Barbara R. Fuller, Chair 
 
___________________________________ 
Sheryl Soderholm Siddall, Managing Director 

 



Project: Speed Hump Installation
Location: Nash Ave (South), Ypsilanti Twp
Date: 08/24/2021

ITEM 
CODE DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE AMOUNT NOTES

SPEED HUMP INSTALLATION 7 EA $5,150.00 $36,050.00 Contractor Install
PVMT MKGS INSTALLATION 7 EA $1,100.00 $7,700.00 Contractor Install
TRAFFIC SIGNS 16 EA $310.00 $4,960.00 WCRC Install

SUBTOTAL $48,710.00
CE/INCID 15% $7,306.50 Eng./Inspect. Costs
CONST EST $56,016.50

TRAFFIC CONTROL LS $4,800.00 Contractor Cost

PROJECT TOTAL: $60,816.50

PRELIMINARY ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE



0 150.00

3,600

NOTE: Parcels may not be to scale.

1:

600.0
The information contained in this cadastral map is used 
to locate, identify and inventory parcels of land in 
Washtenaw County for appraisal and taxing  purposes 
only and is not to be construed as a "survey description". 
The information is provided with the understanding that 
the conclusions drawn from such  information are solely 
the responsibility of the user. Any assumption of legal 
status of this data is hereby disclaimed.

© 2013 Washtenaw County
THIS MAP REPRESENTS PARCELS ATTHE TIME OF PRINTING.  THE OFFICIAL PARCEL TAX MAPS ARE MAINTAINED SOLELY BY THE WASHTENAW COUNTY
EQUALIZATION DEPARTMENT AND CAN BE OBTAINED BY CONTACTING THAT OFFICE AT 734-222-6662.

300.0

Feet

8/3/2020

Tyler Rd

Nash Ave

Proposed locations for speed humps

1

2

3

4

5

6

7



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

INFORMATION SERVICES 
 

Computer Support  Web Content Management  Communications Services 
 

 
 

 
To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request to accept the proposal from Comcast for SIP Trunk service. 
 

Date:   May 31, 2022 
 

 
 
On May 25th 2022 the Township received a letter from its current phone service provider that 
“Copper services are being retired by the AT&T and we are no longer able to provide services 
via the copper T-1 at your location” 
 
This service connects our internal phone system (PBX) to the public switched telephone 
network (PSTN).  Any inbound or outbound calls go through the PSTN.  A simple way to look at 
is the cable that connects the line outside your house to the telephone pole. 
 
Upon learning of this change I reached out to three service providers that I felt could provide 
reliable service.  The cost analysis is in the table below. 
 
Vendor Term Estimated Monthly Reliability Opinion 

Comcast 24 Month $530 1st 

ACD 60 Month $490 2nd 

ClearRate 12 Month $225 3rd 

 
The Reliability Opinion is the order of which in my opinion would provide the best call quality 
and reliability.  This opinion is subjective based on various considerations some include 
guaranteed Quality of Service (QoS) and peer reviews. 
 
Comcast would bring in a dedicated fiber optic line only for phone calls.  It includes 25 calling 
paths along with 5000 Long distance minutes. 
 
ACD would use out current fiber internet connection with 12 call paths and 2000 long distance 
minutes. 
 
ClearRate would utilize our existing Internet connections with 15 call paths and unlimited long 
distance. 
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

Local calling is included in all options. 
 
This change will require some internal changes to our phone system.  The goal would be to 
keep downtime to a minimal and staff should not notice any negative impact on call quality.  
The only service that may have a negative impact is inbound faxing, which currently has limited 
use. 
 
The Township currently has a little over 800 phone numbers, which will need to be ported over 
to the new service provider.  This change can take 30 days to complete. 
 
I respectfully request the Township Board approval the proposal from Comcast for SIP Trunk 
phone service and approve the signing of any necessary agreement pending attorney review.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



Facebook: @ClearRate / Twitter: @ClearRate / LinkedIn: Clear Rate

Service and speed is in our fiber.

2600 W. Big Beaver Rd. Suite 450 
Troy, Michigan 48084
P: 877.877.4799
F: 877.877.5225 
clearrate.com

DATE: 5/25/2022
RE: Discontinuation of T-1 Services - AT&T Copper retirement

TO:  Charter Township of Ypsilanti
ACCOUNT: 4850408

Dear Valued Customer,

This letter is to inform you that Copper services are being retired by the AT&T and we are no longer able to provide services 
via the copper T-1 at your location.  
We are providing the following options to you:

Option 1: Deliver the existing voice service over your current internet connection aka BYOB(bring your own bandwidth) i.e. 
Comcast, Spectrum, etc. 

Option 2: Deliver the service over another type of connection that we can provide dependent on availability 

Option 3: Request a disconnection of the service and terminate prior to June 30th

Option 4: Customer takes no action and the T-1 remains active, the account will be subject to Month to Month rates for the 
circuit 

Please let us know which option you would like to proceed with and we are happy to provide you with pricing or the details 
on how to proceed.  In the event we do not get a response your rates will be increased to month to month rates in the month 
of July. 

We appreciate your understanding and are asking that you let us know your decision by June 15, 2022  to allow us to proceed 
accordingly. 

Thank you,

Zac Matthews
Clear Rate Business Support



 $                          -   

 $                          -   

 $                          -   

 $                          -   

 $                          -   

 $                        -   

MRC

-$                       

Product

Current ENS will stay as is

Existing services 

ONE TIME INSTALL CHARGE 500.00$                

529.95$                MONTHLY INCREASE

-$                       

-$                       

TOTAL MONTHLY COST 529.95$                

172.00$                 

343.00$                 

24 month 

Product

SIP trunk service w 25 call paths 

860 DID's

ENS network stays as is, we will allocate a separate 100mb for SIP service new port on current 

ciena 

Equipment fee 14.95$                   

0

June 2, 2022

Ypsilanti MI  SIP proposal 

ProposedCurrent

SERVICES PROPOSAL SIP-new

COMCAST BUSINESS Proprietary & Confidential
The rates on this sheet are only valid for thirty (30) days from 6/2/2022



Bill To: Install Location:

93140 93140
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI-ACCOUNTS PAYABLECHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI-ACCOUNTS PAYABLEPage:

MR. TRAVIS McDugald MR. TRAVIS McDugald Prepared Date:

1800 N Grand River Ave 7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVE 7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVE Prepared by:

Lansing MI 48906 YPSILANTI, MI 48197 YPSILANTI, MI 48197

877.4ACD.net Tel: 734-484-4700 Tel: 734-484-4700

Email:tmcdugald@ytown.org Email:tmcdugald@ytown.org

Term Price One Time

Months Each Charges  Monthly

1 60

12 79 40 60 $19.95 $239.40

40 25 10 60 $5.00 $200.00

140 5 2 60 $1.00 $140.00

Totals: $579.40

By Signing, Customer approves and accepts this order for service, subject to the Terms and Conditions contained on Pages 2-4 herein:

Signature: ______________________________________________   Date: ___/____/______ Printed Name: _______________________________________________  Title:__________________________

CF-0, C0-100%, C4-0, C5-0, C6-0, C7-0, C8-0,C9-0       REV: 22.02

Digital Telephone Line (VoIP SIP Channel), Unlimited Local & 48-State Long Distance

20 DID's, Direct Inward Dial numbers

911 Database. Per registered number.

Tim Wilson

Service Agreement

1 of 4

6/1/2022

Valid for 30 days from above.

https://www.ACD.net

Qty Product/Service
Recurring

Business Class Internet: 24x7x365 Support, Monitoring, and Traffic Graphing



Bill To: Install Location:

93140 93140
CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI-ACCOUNTS PAYABLECHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI-ACCOUNTS PAYABLEPage:

MR. TRAVIS McDugald MR. TRAVIS McDugald Prepared Date:

1800 N Grand River Ave 7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVE 7200 S. HURON RIVER DRIVE Prepared by:

Lansing MI 48906 YPSILANTI, MI 48197 YPSILANTI, MI 48197

877.4ACD.net Tel: 734-484-4700 Tel: 734-484-4700

Email:tmcdugald@ytown.org Email:tmcdugald@ytown.org

Term Price One Time

Months Each Charges  Monthly

1 60

12 50 20 60 $10.00 $120.00

40 25 10 60 $5.00 $200.00

140 5 2 60 $1.00 $140.00

1 69 60 60 $30.00 $30.00

Totals: $490.00

By Signing, Customer approves and accepts this order for service, subject to the Terms and Conditions contained on Pages 2-4 herein:

Signature: ______________________________________________   Date: ___/____/______ Printed Name: _______________________________________________  Title:__________________________

Service Agreement

1 of 4

6/1/2022

Qty Product/Service

Tim Wilson

Valid for 30 days from above.

https://www.ACD.net

Recurring

Business Class Internet: 24x7x365 Support, Monitoring, and Traffic Graphing

2000Min Shared 48-State Long Distance Minutes

Digital Telephone Line (VoIP SIP Channel), Long Distance @ 0.019 per minute

20 DID's, Direct Inward Dial numbers

911 Database. Per registered number.

CF-0, C0-100%, C4-0, C5-0, C6-0, C7-0, C8-0,C9-0       REV: 22.02



Page 2 Advanced Communication and Data 

Terms and Conditions
Customer Initials: ________

1. Rates: Prices for the Services do not include any customs duties, sales, use, value added, excise, federal, state, local, public utility or other similar taxes and/or fees. All such taxes and fees shall be

paid by Customer and will be added to any amounts otherwise charged to Customer unless Customer provides Advanced Communication and Date (herein refered to as ACD) with an appropriate

exemption certificate. If any amounts paid for the Services are refunded by ACD, applicable taxes may not be refundable.

2. Performance & Limitations: Please visit www.ACD.net/sla.cfm for a copy of our Service Level Agreement (SLA) for uptime guarantee. For Interruptions resulting from Internet traffic, customer hardware

or software, or individual websites or services outside the control of ACD are not counted in the availability percentage provided in SLA. ACD guarantees all stated performance criteria to the Primary

Network Access Point (NAP), and other peering points ACD peers with.

3. Bandwidth, Excessive Use of, and Burstable Charges: Excessive bandwidth is Internet usage on a non-Enterprise level connection that exceeds a reasonable level for the service purchased,

determined by ACD, at its sole discretion. ACD will notify a customer of the excessive usage and may, at its sole discretion, suspend service, rate limit customers bandwidth, require additional fees, or

terminate customers service. Enterprise Services or collocation services with burstable or metered bandwidth usage (burstable) is billed above the contracted commit on a Mbit scale normalized on the

95th percentile billing standard at ACD standard rates.

4. IP Addresses: ACD will provide a reasonable amount of IP addresses to the customer (may require additional charge). Customer must adhere to the ARIN.NET swip templates and IP block

assignment guidelines. IP address blocks that are not in use may be reclaimed or readjusted by ACD to conform to IP address assignment guidelines.   

5. Installation, Setup & Support: Installation is to the DMARC at the address listed on the first page of this agreement. Any extension(s) from the DMARC beyond basic installation, at ACD's sole

descretion, is the Customer’s responsibility and if provided by ACD is at additional cost. Setup of workstations/servers is not included in the installation of service, unless otherwise specified. ACD will

provide basic support related to monitoring, IP addressing, DNS and other ACD related services. Missed appointment by customer where ACD requires access to internal wiring are subject to a $50.00

truck roll fee.
6. ACD Owned Equipment: Equipment installed by ACD but not sold to or sold under a lease-to-own arrangement to customer (including, but not limited to: routers, switches, wires, racks, modems,

wires, panels, phones, etc.) is and shall remain the property of ACD, regardless of where it is installed within the customers location(s), and shall not be considered a fixture or an addition to the

premise or land where it is installed. Customer will not make any alterations, disconnect, remove, attempt to repair, or otherwise tamper with, or expose the Equipment to any claim, lien, encumbrance,

or legal process without ACD's prior written consent. Customer is responsible for damage to, or loss of, ACD Equipment caused by its acts or omissions, and its noncompliance with this Section, or by

fire, theft or other casualty at the Service Location(s), unless caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of ACD. Following termination of service, ACD retains ownership to the Equipment, and its

right to remove Equipment from the customers premise.

7. Common Carrier: ACD and Customer agree that ACD is solely acting as a common carrier in its capacity of providing services hereunder, is not a publisher of any material or information and does not

block, filter or screen information passing through it's network or sites on the Internet as a whole or in part and has no obligation to monitor internet content.

8. Normal Operations: Customer understands and agrees that occasional temporary interruptions of any Internet Services may occur as normal events in the providing of Internet Services. ACD agrees

to exercise reasonable care to prevent such occurrences; however, under no circumstances will ACD be held liable for any financial or other damages due to such interruptions. In no event shall ACD

be liable to the Customer or any other person for any special, incidental, consequential or punitive damages of any kind, including, without limitation, refunds of fees, loss of profits, loss of income or

cost of replacement services. 

9. Copper Loop or DSL Orders: Due to digital subscriber line (DSL, EFM, and/or UltraSpeed) technology, the maximum Internet access speed deliverable to customer at the Premises cannot be finally

determined until the time of installation. In the event the ordered service speed is over 30% less of the loop synchronization speed than the speed that was ordered within the contract, within 90-days

of service start date, you may request a service plan DSL service speed at the applicable lower rate, upgrade service with additional loops where possible, or cancel service without penalty. Loop

synchronization speed is measured on ACD’s equipment and is the sum of the loop synchronization speed of the loop or loops that comprise of the connection. 
10. Term, Expiration and Renewal of Contract: Contract term begins upon acceptance of service. At the end of the initial contracted term, services and/or rentals of equipment are automatically renewed

as a month to month contract at the price of the original term of the contract, unless either party is notified. Any subsequent renewal will be processed on the 1st of the month following receipt by ACD.

Any equipment sold under a lease-to-own arrangement becomes property of the customer upon payment of the lease-to-own amount under the term of the agreement.

11. Acceptance, Installation & Porting: Upon notification that a Service is available, customer may test the Service to determine if the Service is operating in accordance to the agreement. If Customer

provides ACD with written notice that a service is in material non-compliance with the applicable agreement/ specifications within three (3) business days after ACD notifies Customer that the Service

is available, then ACD will promptly take such reasonable action as necessary to correct any such non-compliance in the Service and shall, upon correction, notify customer of a new start date of

service. If customer does not deliver a non-compliance notice with the three (3) business day period, Customer shall be deemed to have accepted Service, and the billing will commence on the Start of

Service Date. Porting of numbers must be scheduled by customer within seven (7) business days after service is installed and confirmed working. If port is not scheduled or customer delays porting for

any reason, ACD will begin billing as of date of installation for all services.



Page 3 Advanced Communication and Data 

Terms and Conditions
Customer Initials: ________

12. Charges & Payment: Recurring charges will be invoiced monthly and delivered electronically via email and/or via https://myaccount.ACD.net. A pro-rated portion of the first month's service will be

included on the first invoice plus the next month's service in advance. Printed and mailed paper invoices will incur a fee of $2.00 per. Payment is due within 25 days of the invoice date. Balances that

remain unpaid after the due date are subject to a late fee of 1.5% per month (18% per annum), or the maximum rate permitted by law. Returned payments are subject to a $25.00 fee. Accounts that

remain unpaid after sixty (60) days after date of invoice(s) may (at ACD's sole discretion) have services interrupted, terminated, and/or any new projects and/or change orders delayed. Interruption,

Termination or delay does not relieve Customer of the obligation to pay the monthly charges and/or early termination fees. All billing disputes must be made in writing no later than thirty (30) days after

the date of invoice or a charge against your credit/debit card. Customer may withhold payment on the disputed amounts on an invoice provided that; 1.) the customer provides a written statement of

the disputed charges to ACD in reasonable detail within thirty (30) days of invoice; 2.) pays the undisputed portion of the invoice; and 3) negotiates in good faith with ACD for resolving such dispute in a 

timely manner.
13.  Credit Approval: Installation and Delivery of any and all services are subject to the continuing approval of Customer's creditworthiness.

14. Termination of Service: Services may be canceled or terminated by customer only by a 30 day advance written notice. If the Service(s) are cancelled or terminated prior to the end of the service term

for any reason, including non-payment, then Customer shall pay all charges incurred plus an Early Termination Fee equal to: a) 75% of the base monthly service charges for each of the remaining

months in the selected agreement term; b) any and all fees ACD incurs in connection with cancellation of the Services; c) 100% of the remaining term payments for equipment that ACD provides under

a lease-to-own arrangement; d) the retail price for any non-returned ACD equipment. A number transfer or “Port Order” does not constitute written notice. Any services affected by a "Port Order" will be

terminated and ACD will select the most appropriate billing plan for any remaining numbers and/or services on your account, and you will continue to be responsible for all the charges and fees

associated with the remaining services, including any charges incurred plus any early termination or cancellation fees applicable to the service(s) affected by the "Port Order." 
15. Original Document: A scanned copy or a facsimile of this Agreement and the signatures thereon are deemed to be originals by both parties.

16. Termination prior to Installation: Should the Customer cancel or change the Services requested prior to the installation date, the Customer shall pay ACD all costs incurred by ACD to install the

Services or in preparing to install the services that it otherwise would not have incurred. 

17. Construction & Service Provisioning: The pricing stated herein is contingent on Service availability (as determined by ACD) and/or an Engineering Review. If the Service is to be furnished via facilities

either built by ACD or acquired from a serving Local Exchange Carrier are/or become unavailable for use, or cost prohibitive to construct or replace, ACD may provision service over alternative

facilities, present for customers agreement a "One Time Fee", or discontinue Service without liability or any further obligation. Customer will provide and/or obtain all required easements for ACD

infrastructure & equipment installed on private property. Customer will mark any private underground utilities/facilities and will mark ACD infrastructure installed on private property. Any construction,

restortation and/or repairs required on customer premises, or any requirements/certifications required for entering property, are the responsibility of and shall be paid for by the customer.
18. Acceptable Use: All services are governed by our Acceptable Use Policy available at http://www.ACD.net/acceptableuse.cfm and are included herein by reference.

19. Telephone Services: All Telephone/VoIP services are governed by our terms and conditions located at http://www.ACD.net/voip/termsandconditions.htm and are included herein by reference. ACD

must be/remain your primary carrier for your telephone service for any bundled pricing to remain in effect.

20. Unlimited Calling Plan Restrictions (Local and Long Distance): Customer must subscribe to local access with ACD with Unlimited Local and/or Long Distance Calling on all lines at the customer’s

service location. Applies only to domestic direct-dialed calls. Toll-free calls, operator-assisted calls, and calling cards will incur additional charges. Calling plan covers live voice calls. Certain

applications, which are at ACD’s sole desertion, e.g., auto-dialing, broadcast FAX, modem to modem, long distance Internet or intranet access, call center and certain switching applications, or usage

patterns that are inconsistent with normal business voice applications are not allowed. Excessive use or Customers not complying with the terms of the plan will be changed to a per-minute rated plan

at ACD’s sole discretion. Service not available in all areas. 

21. E911 Services: ACD is subject to an FCC requirement to provide notification of any E911 limitations that may be associated with the service provided to you and/or your company, as is the case with

E911 service provided by a traditional telephone service provider, you are advised that the E911 service provided by ACD: may not 1.) function with the loss of electrical power to the telephone

equipment or other equipment allowed to use their IP-based phones remotely; 4) will not function if the telephone equipment necessary to place calls is not correctly configured; 5) may not transmit

the correct physical address for the E911 call due to incorrect information provided by you, use of a non-native telephone number or delays in loading/updating automatic number identification and

location information to the E911 database; 6) may not be capable of being received and/or processed by an emergency call center do to the center’s technical limitations; and 7) may be affected by

other factors or force majeure events, such as quality of the broadband connection and network congestion. Your signature on this agreement will serve as your acknowledgement that ACD has

advised you of these potential necessary to route E911 calls to the appropriate emergency call center; 2) may not function if the broadband connection is not operational; 3) will not function at a remote

location or may transmit incorrect physical location information for the caller if users are limitations. ACD will also provide labels, at your request, to alert users to the limitations discussed above. The

FCC has suggested that these labels be placed on or near the telephone and/or equipment associated with your service. The physical location which you provided to us prior to the initiation of service

and at which our services are first installed shall be the registered location that will be provided to the emergency call center when you place a E911 call and will remain the registered location until

ACD is notified in writing of any change.



Page 4 Advanced Communication and Data 

Terms and Conditions
Customer Initials: ________

22. Regulatory Requirements: If the Federal Communications Commission, a state Public Utilities or Service Commission or a court of competent jurisdiction, issues a rule, regulation, law or order which

has the effect of changing or superseding any material term or provision of this Agreement, including rates, surcharges or taxes, then this Agreement shall be deemed modified in such a way as is

consistent with the form, intent or purpose of the ruling.

23. Limitation of Liability: NEITHER ACD NOR ITS AFFILIATES, SUBSIDIARIES, EMPLOYEES OR SUPPLIERS SHALL BE LIABLE TO CUSTOMER FOR ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL,

PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS, LOST REVENUES, AND LOSS OF BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY) ARISING OUT OF OR

RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SERVICES, HOWEVER CAUSED AND UNDER WHATEVER THEORY OF LIABILITY, (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, STRICT LIABILITY AND

NEGLIGENCE), EVEN IF SUCH PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. ACD liability for all claims of any kind arising out of or related to this Agreement, whether

based on contract, tort, including without limitation, strict liability and negligence, warranty or on any other legal or equitable principles shall be limited to strict money damages and shall not exceed in

the aggregate, fees paid by Customer to ACD during the one (1) month period immediately preceding the event given rise to liability. ACD may disclose user information if required by a governmental

agency, or by operation of law, or, if necessary, in any proceeding to establish rights or obligations under this Agreement.
24. Disclaimer of Warranties: Customer assumes total responsibility for use of the services and applicable equipment at its own risk. Customer recognized that ACD has no responsibility for the security of

or loss of stored data, intrusion of unauthorized access, content accessible or action taken and ACD expressly disclaims any responsibility for such content or actions, except as specifically set forth

herein. ACD MAKES NO WARRANTY TO CUSTOMER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY, WHETHER EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR STATUTORY, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE

IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NONINFRINGMENT, MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AS TO ANY SERVICE OR EQUIPMENT PROVIDED HEREUNDER OR

DESCRIBED HEREIN, OR AS TO ANY OTHER MATTER, ALL OF WHICH WARRANITES BY ACD ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED AND DISCLAIMED.
25. Force Majeure: ACD shall not be liable to Customer or any other person, firm or entity for any failure of performance under this Agreement if such failure is due to any cause or causes including, but

not limited to, acts of God, fire, explosion, vandalism, cable cut, storm, or other similar occurrences; any law, order, regulation, direction, action or request of the United States government or of any

other government (including state and local governmental agency, department, commission, court, bureau, corporation or other instrumentality of any one or more of said governments) or of any civil

or military authority; national emergencies, insurrections, riots, wars; or strikes, lockouts, or work stoppages or other labor difficulties; ACD failures, shortages, breaches or delays.

26. Indemnity by Customer: Customer agrees to release, hold harmless, defend and indemnify ACD, its subsidiaries, officers, directors, employees and agents from any claims, demands, losses, causes

of action, damages, costs and expenses, including attorney fees, and/or consequential damages, or any other liability arising out of or in any manner relating to: 1) Customer's breach of any of the

terms of this Agreement; and 2) any claim for withholding or other taxes that might arise or be imposed due to this Agreement or the performance hereof.

27. Hosted Phone Systems: Customer is responsible for all premise wiring Customer is reponsible for providing and configuring switch and routing hardware, unless otherwise contracted for with ACD.

Customer is responsible for providing power and space for any ACD installed equipment as well as any battery backup system desired. Any training, adds moves and changes, beyond inital setup, are

at additional cost.

28. Assignment: This Agreement shall not be assigned by the Customer without the prior written consent of ACD.

29. Severability: The unenforceability of any portion of this Agreement shall not affect the enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement.

30. Governing Law: This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Michigan, and that Ingham County shall be the proper venue, of any claim or

controversy regarding this Agreement or its subject matter and the parties hereby consent to such jurisdiction and venue.

31. Connection Speed Overhead: Every Internet connection uses a number of different Internet protocols that will reduce the available measured bandwidth of your connection by as much as 20%. This

includes the governing structure and design of the internet. Additional limitations may include limitations and overhead of end user cabling, infrastructure, hardware and/or configuration.

32. Sole Use: The services on this agreement are for Customer's sole use and may not be used for Multi-Tenant applications, resold, or shared without ACD’s written permission.

33. Representation and Warranty: These Terms and Conditions supersede all previous representations, understandings or agreements for the Services & Goods on this order and shall prevail

notwithstanding any variance with terms and conditions of any order submitted. The individual, by signing, warrants and represents that he/she is an authorized representative of the above named

individual or company, as such, may enter into contracts on behalf of the above named individual or company and that the company is duly organized, validly standing and in good standing order

under applicable law. 



Zac Matthews
zmatthews@clearrate.com
248-556-4518



 
 
 

 
Bay Plastics Machinery  
3494 N Euclid  
Bay City, MI  48706 
 
To whom it may concern,  
 
Thank you for allowing Clear Rate Communications the opportunity to provide a better solution for your 
telecommunication needs. Enclosed is the service proposal you requested. In it you will find a summary 
of the new business services proposed. 
 
The first proposal enclosed is for an Integrated Flex SIP T-1 with 16 SIP call paths and 25 DID’s. You 
will receive unlimited local, local toll, and long distance services with Caller ID on all lines. You will also 
receive a dedicated internet access of 1.5 Mbps for both uploading and downloading. 
 
The second proposal is for 16 SIP Call Paths with 25 DID’s with unlimited local, local toll and long 
distance service. These trunks will function over your existing internet connection.   
 
Clear Rate Communications is unable to guarantee the Quality of Service when SIP trunks are utilized 
over another provider internet connection. 
 
Both proposals include an optional conference bridge number. The last pages include international rates 
and a comparison of international rates.  
 
Please feel free to call if you have any questions.  I look forward to working with you and your business. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sherry Namy-Fermanian 

 

Proposal Date: 2/23/2018 
Agreement Term: 36 months 
Proposal Expiration: 4/23/2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Name Units Local Long Distance Cost Install Total Install Total
Clear Connect SIP Trunk Pkg**Bring Your Own Bandwidth 1 $225.00 $99.00 $99.00 $225.00
DID Block - 100 8 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
SIP Trunks 15 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Local Calls 15 Unlimited* $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Long Distance/Local Toll 15 Unlimited* $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

u-Fax Service 20 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00
Inbound /Outound 1 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00

Install Total $99.00
Monthly Total $225.00

Proposed Services

*The Unlimited Calling Plan is for voice services only. Customers may incur additional charges if any unlimited plan is used for the following 
applications but not limited to: telemarketing, mass marketing, auto dialer, mass faxing, or any other high usage application deemed excessive. 

** Clear Rate Communications can not guarantee the Quality of Service when SIP trunks are utilized over another provider's internet connection.

 

Proposal Date:  5/26/2022 
Agreement Term: 12 months 
Proposal Expiration:6/26/2022 
 

Initial: ____ 

Company Name:  
Charter Twp of Ypsilanti 
Service Installation Address: 
7200 S. Huron River Dr.  
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 



  

Company 

Signature _____________________________________________ 

Print __________________________________________________ 

Title ___________________________________________________ 

Date __________________________________________________ 

Clear Rate Communications 

Signature _____________________________________________ 

Print __________________________________________________ 

Title ___________________________________________________ 

Date __________________________________________________ 

Billing  Info: 
Customer Name:

Address: 
Tax ID:

 This Business Service Order Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions under which Clear Rate Communications, Inc. and its 

 operating affiliates ("Clear Rate") will provide the Services described in the attached proposal to Customer. This Agreement consists of 

 this document, the standard Clear Rate Business Terms and Conditions ("Terms and Conditions"), and any jointly executed 

 amendments ("Amendments") entered under the Agreement. In the event of inconsistency among these documents, precedence will 

 be as follows: (1) Amendments, (2) Terms and Conditions, and (3) this SOA. This Agreement shall commence and become a legally 

 binding agreement upon Customer’s execution of this Agreement. The Agreement shall terminate as set forth in the Terms and 

 Conditions (https://www.clearrate.com/business-services-terms-conditions).  

 Modifications: All modifications to the Agreement, if any, must be captured in a written Amendment, executed by both parties. All 

 other attempts to modify the Agreement shall be void and non-binding on Clear Rate. Customer by signing below, agrees and 

 accepts the Terms and Conditions of this Agreement. 

 Initial Term: This Agreement is effective and the parties’ obligations commence upon the date of execution by Clear Rate (“Effective  
Date”) and continues in effect for a period of 12 months (“Initial Term”) from the earlier of the date any of the services are first  utilized 

by Customer (as determined by Clear Rate’s records), or the 180th day after the Effective Date, which date shall be deemed 
“ Start of Service Date.”  

 Automatic Renewal and Termination: This Agreement renews automatically for successive twelve (12) month periods at the expiration 
of the Initial Term. Customer may cancel this Agreement or the twelve (12) month automatic renewal upon expiration of a term by  
providing written notice on Customer’s company letterhead and signed by an officer of said company at least thirty (30) days prior to  
expiration of the then current term but not more than ninety (90) days prior to expiration of the then current term. If Customer cancels  
the automatic renewal provision, the term shall be converted to a month to month commitment. If on a month to month term,  
Customer understands and agrees that any promotional pricing provided under the previous term may increase to Clear Rate’s regular  
price for the services being provided. If Customer is on a month to month term, the customer must provide at least thirty (30) days  
written notice on company letterhead, signed by an offer of said company, if it wishes to terminate this Agreement and all services  
being provided. 

 This Agreement shall be effective and binding upon full execution by both parties.  In signing below the customer is certifying  
he or she has the authority to legally bind Customer to this Agreement. By signing this Agreement, Customer represents, 

 warrants, and agrees to be bound by the terms within this document, any Amendments, the terms and conditions at 
https://www.clearrate.com/business-services-terms-conditions. By signing below the parties agree that this Agreement, which 
incorporates other terms by reference, is the complete agreement between the parties, and there are no other 
representations, warranties, terms, or conditions that govern the parties relationship, rights, and/or remedies. 



 
Who is Clear Rate Communications? 

Clear Rate Communications is a full service Telecommunications, Cloud, and Managed Services provider with its corporate headquarters located 

in Troy, Michigan. 

Who are some of Clear Rate’s Business Customers? 

Clear Rate serves many businesses in the Public & Private Sector. This includes Government, School Districts, Hospitals, Police and fire 

Departments, Colleges, Banks & Financial Institutions, Manufacturers, Hotels, and many other industries. 

How long has Clear Rate been providing Voice, Internet and Data service? 

Clear Rate has been in business since 2001, providing service to residential and business customers for over 16 years. 

How can Clear Rate provide Voice, Internet, and Data service at a lower cost than the local phone company? 

In some cases, Clear Rate will bypass the local phone company facilities completely. In other cases, Clear Rate will lease only one network 

element referred to as the “local loop” from the local phone company, which they are required to lease due to deregulation. All or most of the 

network elements are provided by Clear Rate via a fiber-optic network. This allows Clear Rate to provide extremely reliable service at very 

competitive rates. 

Is Clear Rate just reselling Voice, Internet, and Data service like other providers do? 

No. Clear Rate provides service using its own network, fiber equipment, routers, switching facilities, and equipment. Clear Rate is directly 

connected to the public telephone network, the 911 emergency systems, and major internet exchanges. Many companies will buy all Voice, 

Internet, and Data services wholesale and sell the service as their own which can lead to long repair and service change delays. 

What makes Clear Rate service reliable? 

The Fiber network, equipment, and back-up systems Clear Rate uses are compliant with FCC standards for back-up power and redundancy. Our 

network has redundant Generator and HVAC systems that are monitored 24/7, receive regularly scheduled physical inspection, and are 

proactive maintained to ensure continued operation even in extended power outages. 

What are the main benefits of purchasing integrated Voice, Internet, and Data service? 

Integrated Voice, Internet, and Data service provides reliable Business-Class service. Repair issues are uncommon, and when they do occur, they 

have a repair interval of 4 hours on average. 

How long will it take to install our business service? 

Standard installation is complete in 2-3 weeks after a signed agreement is received. We can schedule installation dates earlier or later than this 

to accommodate various customer needs. 

Will I see a local phone technician or a Clear Rate Technician? 

It depends on the solution. In many cases a local phone technician will install the local loop and a Clear Rate technician will install equipment 

and test your service prior to service turn-up. 

Do I have to buy any special equipment? 

No. Our equipment will work with virtually any phone system or customer-owned equipment. 

Does Clear Rate provide any equipment? 

Yes. Clear Rate will provide integrated access equipment and a power spike cube (a one-socket power strip to protect the Clear Rate equipment 

from power spikes). 

Is there any downtime? 

Yes. Downtime is typically less than 10 minutes on the day we transfer service. We conduct all work before the day of the service transfer, which 

minimizes downtime. 

Can I transfer all of my existing phone numbers? 

Yes, as well as add new telephone numbers. 

If I select an unlimited calling plan, are there any calls I would be charged for? 

Yes. There is a charge associated with International calling, Directory-Assistance calls and customer-owned toll-free calls (incoming). Your local 

and domestic long-distance in the lower 48 states are free. 

Who do I call if there is a service issue? 

Please contact Clear Rate Repair at 1-866-366-4665 for any repair issues. 

Is electronic billing and reporting available? 

Yes. You can sign-up at www.clearrate.com to view your account and service electronically. Additionally, you can pull call usage reports. 



 

Page 1 of 2 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

INFORMATION SERVICES 
 

Computer Support  Web Content Management  Communications Services 
 

 
 

 
To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request to seek RFQ’s for licensing, migrations, and training service for 
Office365. 

 

Date:   May 31, 2022 
 

 
 
In effort to stay modern and adaptive to change, I would like to recommend the Township to 
migrate several of its current software applications to the Microsoft Office365 platform. 
 
The largest of these applications is email.  For many years, the Township has used Zimbra as its 
email collaboration platform.  While this system is still maintained, it does not receive as much 
support from 3rd party integrators.  This lack of support has created some integration issues in 
the past. 
 
Other systems include the use of Microsoft Teams to replace the current internal chat program.  
The current chat platform has not seen enhancements in years and has started to become a 
Cyber Security concern. 
 
The Office365 suite include many services and applications, which will allow the Township to 
keep current with technology. 
 
The migration would also update the current MS Office application to the most current 
versions.  Giving us access to the latest features, and allow better collaboration with external 
agencies. 
 
This migration is not an easy migration.  I am looking to find vendor who has the experience 
and skillset to assist the Township in making this transition and smooth as possible.  This RFQ 
would seek a vendor, which can provide assistance in preparing, designing, and implementing 
the migration.  This vendor would provide necessary training options for staff along with 
assisting IT staff in managing the new systems. 
 
With the change to Office365 it does put the Township email and another information in “the 
cloud” there are significate security concerns with that.  To help address some of those the RFQ 
will seek vendor who can set the Township up as a GovCloud tenant.  GovCloud has additional 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

security and intended just for government organizations.  We will also be enforcing best 
practices security when it comes to multifactor access controls. 
 
The Township has budgeted funds for this project and proposals shall be brought back to the 
Board for review and approval.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



 

   

 

 

 

  

RFQ-2022-05-M365 
Office 365 Migration Firm 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
rfp@ytown.org 

Abstract 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township) seeks to engage a qualified and experienced firm, 

team, company, or individual, hereafter referred to as “Consultant,” to develop, migrate, and 
provide Office365 Licensing. 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form A - Project Bid Dates, Contacts, and Requirements 
Issue Date: TBD 

Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting: None 

Pre-Bid Question Deadline: TBD @ 3PM EDT 
Questions will be answered posted to Bidnet after 
the deadline question deadline. 

Bid Deadline: TBD @ 3:00 PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township - Clerks Office 
RFQ-2022-05-M365 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
Bids must be received by the deadline by postal 
services, drop into the “Drop Off” bin located at 
the Township Civic Center or submitted 
electronically through Bidnet. http://ytown.link/mitn 

 
Emailed submissions will not be accepted. 

Bid Opening: TBD @ 3PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 

Project Coordinator: Travis McDugald 
IS Manager 
rfp@ytown.org 

Required Bid Copies 1 

Electronic Submissions Allowed Yes – Through Bidnet/MITN Only 

Bid Bond Not Required. 

Required Forms Form B 
Form C 
Form D 

Pre Bid Site Access Not Permitted 

Bond Requirements Bid Bond: Not Required 
Performance and Payment Bond: Not Required 
Maintenance Bond: Not Required 
Bond Surety: Not Required 

Insurance Requirements 
(proof on insurance will be 
required prior to performing any 
work) 

General Liability: Required For Onsite Work 
Vehicle Liability: Required For Onsite Work 
Statutory Workers Compensation : Required 
Builders Risk: Not Required 

 

  

http://ytown.link/mitn


 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

General conditions of bidding and terms of contact 
By execution of this document, the Bidder accepts all general and special conditions of the contract as 

outlined below and in the specifications and plans. 

1. Bidding 

1.1. Bids - All bids shall be clearly marked on blank bid form furnished by Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti (Form C).  The minimum numbers of copies are listed in Form A - Project Bid Dates, 

Contacts and Requirements.  

 

1.2. Required Forms – Please refer to Form A – Required Forms for all required forms.  These 

forms must be filled out and included with all responses. 

 

1.3. Authorized Signatures - This proposal form must be signed by a person authorized to bind and 

commit the company to provide such goods and /or services offered to the Township should 

their bid be accepted by the Township. 

 

1.4. Late Bids - Bids shall be in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s Office before or at the 

specified time and date bids are due. Bids received in the office of the Clerk after the 

submission deadline shall be rejected as non-responsive bids. 

 

1.5. Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting – If a mandatory pre-bid date is given in Form A - Project Bid 

Dates, Contacts and Requirements. A Pre bid meeting will be required for all prospective 

bidders.  Failure to attend will result in disqualification from the bid review process. 

 

1.6. Withdrawal of Bids Prior to Bid Opening - A bid may be withdrawn before the opening date 

by submitting a written request to the Township Clerk. If time allows, and the Bidder desires, a 

new bid may be submitted. Bidder assumes full responsibility for submitting a new bid before 

or at the specified time and date bids are due. Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right 

to withdraw a request for bids before the opening date. 

 

1.7. Withdrawal of Bids After Bid Opening - Bidder agrees that offers may not be withdrawn or 

cancelled by the Bidder for a period of ninety (90) days following the date and time designated 

for the receipt of bids unless otherwise stated in the bid and/or specifications. 

 

1.8. Bid Amounts - Bids should show net prices, extensions where applicable and net total. In case 

of conflict between unit price and extension, the unit price will govern. Any ambiguity in the bid 

as a result of omission, error, unintelligible or illegible wording shall be construed in the favor 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

1.9. Exceptions and/or Substitutions - As a matter of practice, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

rejects exception(s) and /or substitutions as non-responsive but reserves the right to accept any 

and/or all of the exception(s) and/or substitution(s) deemed to be in the best interest of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. Bidders taking exception to the specifications and plans, or 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

offering substitutions, shall state these exceptions in the section provided. If bid is made on an 

article other than the one specified, which Bidder considers comparable, the name and grade 

of said article must be specified in the bid and sufficient specifications and descriptive data 

must accompany same to permit thorough evaluation. The absence of stated exceptions and/or 

substitutions shall indicate that the Bidder has not taken any exceptions to the specifications 

and shall hold the Bidder responsible to perform in strict accordance with the specifications. 

 

1.10. Alternates - Bid request and/or specifications may expressly allow Bidder to submit an 

alternate bid. Presence of such an offer shall not be considered an indication of non-

responsiveness. 

 

1.11. Descriptions - Unless otherwise specified, any reference to make, manufacturer and/or 

model used in the bid specifications is a minimum standard that will be accepted. 

 

1.12. Bid Alterations - Bids cannot be altered or amended after submission deadline. Any 

interlineations, alteration, or erasure made before opening time must be initialed by the signer 

of the bid, guaranteeing authenticity. 

 

1.13. Tax Exempt Status - The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is exempt from federal excise 

tax and state sales tax. Unless the bid form or specifications specifically indicate otherwise, the 

price bid must be net exclusive of above-mentioned taxes and will be so construed. Therefore, 

the bid price shall not include taxes. 

 

1.14. Delivery - The Bids shall include all charges for delivery, packing, crating, etc., unless 

otherwise stated in the bid document.  All deliveries will be FOB: Delivered.  General delivery 

hours are 8:30 a.m. to 12 p.m and 1 p.m to 4p.m. Monday-Friday.  Township does not have a 

loading dock, lift gates may be required. 

 

1.15. Quantities - Quantities indicated are estimated quantities only and are not a 

commitment to buy. Approximate usage does not constitute an order, but only implies the 

probable quantity that will be used. Commodities will be ordered on an as-needed basis. Bidder 

is responsible for accurate final counts. 

 

1.16. Bid Award - Award of contract shall be made to the lowest responsible Bidder or to the 

Bidder who provides goods or services at the best value for the municipality. The Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to be the sole judge as to whether items bid will serve 

the purpose intended. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject 

in part or in whole any bid submitted, and to waive any technicalities or informalities for the 

best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves 

the right to award based upon individual line items, sections or total bid. 

 

1.17. Best Value - In determining best value, Charter Township of Ypsilanti may consider: 1) 

purchase price; 2) reputation of the Bidder and of the Bidder’s goods or services; 3) quality of 

the Bidder’s goods or services; 4) extent to which the goods or services meet the Charter 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Township of Ypsilanti’s needs; 5) Bidder’s past relationship with the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti; 6) total long-term cost to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti to acquire the Bidder’s 

goods or services; and 7) any relevant criteria specifically listed in this document. 

 

1.18. Non-Collusion - By signing the bid the bidder certifies that the bid submitted, has been 

arrived at independently and has been submitted without collusion with, and without any 

agreement, understanding or planned common course of action with, any other vendor of 

materials, supplies, equipment or services described in the Invitation to Bid, designed to limit 

independent bidding or competition. 

 

1.19. Silence of Specifications for Complete Units - All materials, equipment and/or parts 

that will become a portion of the completed work including items not specifically stated herein 

but necessary to render the service(s) complete and operational per the specifications are to be 

included in the bid price. Bidders may be required to furnish evidence that the service, as bid, 

will meet or exceed these requirements. 

 

1.20. Addendums - Any interpretations, corrections or changes to the specifications and 

plans will be made by addendum no later than forty-eight hours prior to the bid opening. 

Addendums will be posted on the MITN Website (http://www.mitn.info/).   It is the 

responsibility of the bidder to check the website for addendums. 

 

1.21. General Bid Bond/Surety Requirements - Failure to furnish bid bond/surety, if 

requested, will result in bid being declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be 

considered for award. 

 

1.22. General Insurance Requirements - Failure to furnish Affidavit of Insurance when 

requested and if insurance coverage is required in these specifications, will result in bid being 

declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be considered for award. 

 

1.23. Responsiveness - A responsive bid shall substantially conform to the requirements of 

this Request for Proposal and/or specifications contained herein. Bidders who substitute any 

other terms, conditions, specifications and/or requirements or who qualify their bids in such a 

manner as to nullify or limit their liability to the contracting entity shall be deemed non-

responsive and the bid will not be considered for award. Also, bids containing any clause that 

would limit contracting authority shall be considered non-responsive. Examples of non-

responsive bids include but shall not be limited to a) bids that fail to conform to required 

delivery schedules as set forth in the bid request; b) bids with prices qualified in such a manner 

that the bid price cannot be determined such as with vague wording that may include “price in 

effect at the time of delivery”; and c) bids made contingent upon award of other bids currently 

under consideration. 

 

  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

1.24. Responsible Standings of Bidder - To be considered for award, Bidder must at least: 

have the ability to obtain adequate financial resources without limitation; be able to comply 

with required or proposed delivery/completion schedule; have a satisfactory record of 

performance; have a satisfactory record of integrity and ethics; be otherwise qualified and 

eligible to receive award. In order to determine financial standing of Bidder, Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti may request recent financial statements or a statement of net worth. 

 

1.25. Proprietary Data - Bidder may, by written request, clearly indicate as confidential any 

portion(s) of a bid that contain proprietary information, including manufacturing and/or design 

processes exclusive to the Bidder. Charter Township of Ypsilanti will protect from public 

disclosure such portions of a bid unless directed otherwise by legal authority including the 

existing Michigan Public Information Act. 

 

1.26. Non-Iran Linked Business - By signing the bid Form D, you certify and agree on behalf 

of the company submitting this bid that the company submitting this bid is not an “Iran linked 

business,” as that term is defined in Section 2(e) of the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, being 

Michigan Public Act No. 517 of 2012. 

 

1.27. Permits and Certificates  - The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all necessary 

permits, certificates and licenses required and necessary for performance of the work; and shall 

post all notices required by law and comply with laws and ordinance applicable.  

 

2. Performance 
2.1. Design, Strength, and Quality - Design, strength, and quality of materials and workmanship 

must conform to the highest standards of manufacturing and engineering practices. The 

apparent silence of specifications and/or plans as to any detailed description concerning any 

point shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail. All 

interpretations of these specifications and/or plans shall be made on the basis of this 

statement. 

 

2.2. Compliance with Federal, State, County and Local Laws - Bids must comply with all federal, 

state, county and local laws, to include but not be limited to, all applicable standard safety, 

emission, and noise control requirements. Any vehicles or equipment shall contain all standard 

safety, emission, and noise control requirements required for the types and sizes of equipment 

at the time of their manufacture. The Contractor agrees, during the performance of work or 

service, to comply with all applicable codes and ordinance of Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

Washtenaw County, or State of Michigan as they may apply, as these laws may now read or as 

they may hereafter be changed or amended. 

 

2.3. Infringements and Indemnifications - The bidder, if awarded a contract, agrees to protect, 

defend, and save the Township and the cooperative members listed herein, its officials, 

employees, departments and agents harmless against; any demand for payment for the use of 

any patented material, process, or device that may enter into the manufacture, construction, or 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

from a part of the work covered by either order or contract; and from suits or a charge of every 

nature and description brought against if for, or on account of, any injuries or damages 

received or sustained by the parties by or from any of the facts of the contractor, the 

contractor’s employees, or agents; from all liability claims, demands, judgments and expenses 

to persons or property occasioned, wholly, or in part, by the acts or omissions of the bidder, 

contractor, agents or employee. 

 

2.4. Patents, Copyrights, Etc. - The Contractor shall release, indemnify and hold the Buyer, its 

officers, agents and employees harmless from liability of any kind or nature, including the 

Contractor’s use of any copyrighted or un-copyrighted composition, secret process, patented or 

unpatented invention, article or appliance furnished or used in the performance of this 

contract. 

 

2.5. Samples, Demonstrations and Testing - At the Charter Township of Ypsilanti‘s request and 

direction, Bidder shall provide product samples and/or testing of items bid to ensure 

compliance with specifications. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be requested at 

any point prior to or following bid award. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be 

requested upon delivery and/or any point during the term of resulting contract. All samples 

(including return thereof), demonstrations and/or testing shall be at the expense of the Bidder. 

 

2.6. Acceptability - All articles enumerated in the bid shall be subject to inspection by an officer 

designated for the purpose by Charter Township of Ypsilanti. If found inferior to the quality 

called for, or not equal in value to the specifications, deficient in workmanship or otherwise, 

this fact shall be certified to the Project Coordinator who shall have the right to reject the 

whole or any part of the same. Items and/or work determined to be contrary to specifications 

must be replaced at the Contractor’s expense. Inferior items not retrieved by the Contractor 

within thirty (30) calendar days, or an otherwise agreed upon time, may become the property 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti at the Charter Township of Ypsilanti’s option, without cost. 

If disposal of such items warrants an expense, an amount equal to the disposal expense will be 

deducted from amounts payable to the Contractor. Contractor’s failure to retrieve property 

resulting in ownership by Charter Township of Ypsilanti shall not be imputed as acceptance of 

replacement good under this contract. 

 

3. Purchase Orders and Payment 

3.1. Purchase Orders – A purchase order(s) shall be generated by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

to the successful Contractor. The purchase order number must appear on all itemized invoices 

and packing slips. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti will not be held responsible for any work 

orders placed and/or performed without a valid current purchase order number. Payment will 

be made for all services rendered and accepted by the project coordinator for which a valid 

invoice has been received. 

 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

3.2. Invoices - All invoices shall be under terms of net thirty (30) days unless otherwise agreed upon 

by seller and Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

3.3. Payment Draws – Request for payments prior to project completion may be negotiated during 

the contract term.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to deny any payment 

draw requests for any reason. 

 

4. Contract 

4.1. Contract Definition - The General Conditions of Bidding and Terms of Contract, Specifications, 

Plans, Bidding Forms, Addenda, and any other documents made a part of this bid shall 

constitute the complete bid. This bid, when duly accepted by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

shall constitute a contract equally binding between the successful Bidder and Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.2. Contract Agreement - Once a contract is awarded, the service offered by the successful Bidder 

shall remain firm for the term of the contract. Contract shall commence on date of award and 

continue until the work is completed. 

 

4.3. Change Order - No different or additional terms will become part of this contract with the 

exception of a change order. No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise 

change, or affect the terms, conditions or specifications stated in the resulting contract. All 

change orders to the contract will be made in writing and at the discretion and approval of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. No change order will be binding unless signed by an authorized 

representative of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti and the Contractor. 

 

4.4. Price Redetermination - All requests for price redetermination shall be in written form. Cause 

for such request, i.e. manufacturer's direct cost, postage rates, Railroad Commission rates, 

Federal/State minimum wage law, Federal/State unemployment taxes, F.I.C.A, Insurance 

Coverage Rates, etc., shall be substantiated in writing by the source of the cost increase. The 

Contractor's past experience of honoring contracts at the bid price will be an important 

consideration in the evaluation of future bids for the lowest and best bid. Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject any/all requests for price redetermination as it 

deems to be in the best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.5. Termination for Default - Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to enforce the 

performance of this contract in any manner prescribed by law or deemed to be in the best 

interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the event of breach or default of this contract. 

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to terminate the contract immediately in 

the event the Contractor fails to perform to the terms of specifications or fails to comply with 

the terms of this contract. Breach of contract or default authorizes the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti to award to another Bidder, purchase elsewhere and charge the full increase in cost 

and handling to the defaulting party. 

 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

4.6. Invalid, Illegal, or Unenforceable Provisions - In case any one or more of the provisions 

contained in the Contract shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in 

any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision 

thereof and this contract shall be considered as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable 

provision had never been contained herein. 

 

4.7. Injuries or Damages Resulting From Negligence – The Contractor shall defend, indemnify 

and save harmless Charter Township of Ypsilanti and all its officers, agents and employees from 

all suits, actions, or other claims of any character, name and description brought for or on 

account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, persons, or property 

on account of any negligent act or fault of the Contractor, or of any agent, employee, 

subcontractor or supplier in the execution of, or performance under, any contract which may 

result from bid award. The Contractor shall pay any judgment, with costs, which may be 

obtained against Charter Township of Ypsilanti growing out of such injury or damages. 

 

4.8. Warranty - The Contractor shall warrant that all materials utilized in the performance of this 

contract shall conform to the proposed specifications and/or all warranties as stated. All labor 

shall have a warranty for minimum 1 year from the project completion date. 

 

4.9. Sale, Assignment, or Transfer of Contract - The Contractor shall not sell, assign, transfer or 

convey this contract, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.10. Service Contract Renewals – The Township requests that all service agreements revert 

to a month-to-month plan at the end of initial agreement duration. 

 

4.11. Service Contract Auto-Renewals – Any service agreement renewals with an auto 

renew clause may only renew in one month increments.  The Township shall have the right to 

discontinue or cancel the renewal at any time up to 29 days’ prior the renewal date.  The 

servicing agency shall inform the Township of its upcoming renewal between 90 and 60 days 

prior to the renewal. Failure of the servicing agency to notify the Township of the upcoming 

renewal, gives the Township the right to cancel service at any time without penalty. 

5. Minimum Wage Requirements 
5.1. Contractors, including Subcontractors, performing work or services shall be required to pay 

not less than the prevailing wages and fringe benefits to all employees and follow Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 2-201 and the additional provisions contained within.  

 

5.2. All other employees directly involved with this project must be paid in accordance with the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 99-213, “The Living Wage Ordinance”.  A copy of 

this ordinance can be obtained through the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s office by 

calling (734) 544-4000. 

 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

6. Bond Requirements 
 

6.1. Bond Certificates – If required; the bid bond is required at the time of bid submission.  All 

other bond requirements must be provided to the Township prior to the execution of the 

contract documents.  

 

6.2. Bid Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: (Applies only to proposals over 

$25,000) Each proposal must be accompanied by a certified check, bidders bond, bank draft or 

cash bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of the total price and drawn to the order of The 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a guarantee of good faith on the part of the Bidder and 

subject to the conditions stipulated in the proposal form. No proposals shall be withdrawn for a 

period of ninety (90) days after the date set for the opening of bids. A single check, bond or 

draft may serve to cover two or more alternate or supplemental proposals when such 

proposals are submitted by the same Bidder. 

 

If multiple bids are being submitted by any one single Bidder a single bond may be utilized.  The 

bond value must be 5% of the project cost for the most expensive option being proposed. 

 

6.3.  Performance and Payment Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: (Applies 

only to proposals over $25,000) Contractor shall furnish Performance and Payment Bonds, each 

in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and 

payment of all Contractors’ obligations under the Contract Documents. All Bonds shall be in the 

form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws or 

Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the current list of 

“Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal Bonds and as 

Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Audit Staff, 

Bureau of Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds signed by an 

agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.4. Maintenance Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: - (Applies only to proposals 

over $25,000) Contractor shall furnish a Maintenance Bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of 

the total price and drawn to the order of The Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a warranty 

guarantee. Maintenance Bonds must remain valid for one year after completion of the project.  

All Bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided 

otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the 

current list of “Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal 

Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the 

Audit Staff, Bureau of Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds 

signed by an agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.5. Bond Surety - If the surety on any bond furnished by the Contractor is declared as bankrupt or 

becomes insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the 

project is located or it ceases to meet requirements of this bid, the Contractor shall within 10 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

days thereafter substitute another bond and surety, both of which must be acceptable to the 

Owner Licensed Sureties and Insurers; Certificates of Insurance. 

 

6.6. Licensing Jurisdiction - All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be 

purchased and maintained by the Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or 

insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the project 

is located to issue bonds and insurance policies for the limits and coverage’s so required. 

 

7. Insurance Limits 

7.1. Insurance Certificates – If Requested; The Contractor agrees to provide the Township with 

Certificates of Insurance for General Liability, Vehicle Liability, and Statutory Workers 

Compensation, according to the limits provided in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Financial 

Policy.  The Certificates of Insurance must be provided to the Township prior to the execution 

of the contract documents.  

 

7.2. Requirements – If required in Form A – Insurance Requirements: Insurance shall be required if 

the bidder intends to have technicians, contractors, or persons onsite during the execution of 

any contract.  The Contractor will maintain at its own expense during the term of the contract, 

the following insurance: 

 

7.2.1. Worker’s Compensation insurance with Michigan statutory limits and employers liability 

insurance of $1,000,000.00 minimum each accident. 

 

7.2.2. Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability Insurance with a combined single limit of 

$1,000,000.00 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage.  Policy to include 

products and completed operations, independent contractors and contractual liability 

coverage.  Policy shall be endorsed to provide 60 day written notice to the Project 

Coordinator of any material change of coverage, cancellation or non-renewal of coverage. 

 

7.2.3. Owner’s protective policy shall be in the name of “Charter Township of Ypsilanti”.  Policy 

shall provide a $1,000,000.00 combined single limit for bodily injury or property damage 

per occurrence.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, present, and future 

elected Officials shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract. 

 

7.2.4. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, hired and non-owned vehicles with 

personal protection insurance and property protection insurance to comply with 

provisions of the Michigan No Fault Insurance Law.  Including residual liability insurance 

with a minimum combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 each accident for bodily injury and 

property damage. 

 

7.2.5. Builders Risk - The Contractor shall take out and maintain Builders Risk insurance during 

the life of the contract(in the name of the Contractor and the Charter Township of 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Ypsilanti), "All Risk" (excluding Earthquake and Flood) Builder’s Risk Insurance covering the 

entire work of this contract for 100% of the replacement value thereof, including items of 

labor and materials in place or to be used as part of the permanent construction, including 

surplus miscellaneous materials and supplies incident to the work, and such scaffoldings, 

staging, towers, forms, and equipment not owned or rented by the Contractor, the cost of 

which is not included in the cost of the work. EXCLUSIONS: This insurance does not cover 

any tools owned by mechanics, any tools, equipment, scaffoldings, staging, towers, and 

forms, rented or owned by the Contractor, the value of which is not included in the cost of 

the work, or any shanties or other structures erected for the sole convenience of the 

workers. 

 

In the event of a loss by the perils insured against, of any or all of the work and/or 

materials herein provided for, at any time prior to the final completion of the contract and 

the final acceptance by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, the Contractor shall promptly 

reconstruct, repair, replace or restore all work or materials so destroyed. Nothing herein 

provided for shall in any way excuse the Contractor or the Contractor's surety from the 

obligation of furnishing all the required materials and completing the work in full 

compliance with the terms of the contract. 

 

7.2.6.  Certificate of Liability Insurance Verbiage – General Liability Insurance limits must 

contain the following verbiage in verbatim; “The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, 

present, and future elected officials, trustees, appointed commissions and boards, agents 

and employees shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract.” Prior to contact execution. 

 

7.2.7. An umbrella policy may be used to meet some of the above requirements. 

 

7.3. Licensing Jurisdiction - All insurance policies must be held by companies licensed to do 

business in Michigan and such companies must be well rated and acceptable to the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

7.4. Require to Maintain - If the required insurance is not maintained at any time during the term 

of this Contract, the Contract shall be subject to cancellation immediately or at any time 

thereafter, at the sole discretion of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti.  If the Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti elects to exercise its option to cancel on these grounds, the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti shall so notify the Contractor of its election. 

 

7.5. Legal Review - All Certificates of Insurance are subject to the final approval of the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Legal Counsel. 

8. Completion 

8.1. Township Approval - The project will not be considered complete until all approved Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti final inspections have been approved. 

 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

8.2. Construction Start - Construction shall start within 45 days of the Notice to Proceed and 

completed within 60 days unless otherwise noted in the RFP response. 

 

8.3. Payment - Full payment shall be made within 45 days of receipt of invoice upon completion of 

work. 

9. Site Access 
9.1. Prior to bid closure – If permitted on Form A – Pre Bid Site Access; Access to the any Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti site referenced herein will be made available only to Bidders interested in 

providing a bid on this project.  All requests must be scheduled with the Project Coordinator 

and must be accompanied by an approved Charter Township of Ypsilanti Employee.  Requests 

must be in writing. 

 

9.2. After bid award - Only the approved employees, approved contractors, and approved sub-

contractors will have access to non-public areas of Charter Township of Ypsilanti facilities. 

 

10. Proposal Submittals  
10.1. Limits - There is no limit to how many proposals a single Bidder may submit. 

 

10.2. Required Copies - As part of the bid proposal package, the following submittals are 

required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti to be reviewed and acted on by the Township in 

evaluating the Bidder’s proposal.  See Bid Format under Form A - Project Bid Dates and 

Contacts 

 

10.3. Price Break Down - Bid proposal pricing shall be broken down by building with each 

price representing a complete building installation. Include line item pricing for all major 

components and subsection pricing for all items described in that subsection. Pricing shall 

include all associated costs including but not limited to: hardware, cabling, conduit, electrical, 

network, licensing, and labor. 

 

10.4. Product Sheets - Manufacturer’s product data sheets for all equipment and 

components provided for in this project.  Data sheets shall include equipment specifications, 

code compliance, certifications, and other information as required for proper evaluation. 

 

10.5. Execution Plan - A written description of the proposed plan of execution for the Work 

herein described, including estimated time-frame, number of personnel to be used, a 

description of long lead-time items and materials, and a description of the methods to be used 

to ensure quality. 

 

10.6. Coordination Efforts - A written description of the coordination efforts that need to be 

made, either by the Contractor, Charter Township of Ypsilanti, or any other party, for the 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

installation to proceed on schedule in the manner described. 

 

10.7. Township Review - Prior to fabrication or installation of the Work, the following 

submittals are required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti of the Contractor to be reviewed and 

acted on by Charter Township of Ypsilanti in accordance with the provisions of the contract. 2 

paper, 1 electronic.  Three (3) copies of all drawings and product data shall be required. 

 

10.8. Mounting Information - Detailed descriptions of all equipment locations and mounting 

particulars. 

 

10.9. Electrical Requirements - A schedule of the electrical requirements for the proposed 

equipment, including system idle and peak power requirements.  Required only if proposed 

equipment has power consumption. 

 

10.10. Background - Description of the Bidder’s background and size.  Include statements of 

qualifications that includes your firm’s professional credentials and experience in providing 

services enumerated in the Request for Proposal and the legal status of your organization. 

 

10.11. Business Changes - Describe any changes in the mode of conducting business your firm 

has made in the past three (3) years, include any mergers, acquisitions, consolidations, 

downsizing or bankruptcy proceedings or filings. 

 

10.12. Licenses - Identify all licenses currently held by your firm. 

 

10.13. Additional Information - Any other additional information which would assist the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the evaluation of your proposal. 

 

10.14. References - Provide a list of at least four (4) references (government preferred) with 

knowledge of your firm’s contract performance.  References shall be employees in the senior 

level management positions. Include the name of the entity, a description of the contract 

project the dates of service and the name(s), telephone numbers, and email addresses of the 

contact persons. 

11. Right to renegotiate 
11.1. Year one renewal – Not applicable. 

 

11.2. Annual cost increases - Should the annually costs increase .001 % or more the 

Township reserves the right to terminate any all agreements and rebid the project. 

 

11.3. Undefined costs - If there are any costs associated for this requirement the bidder 

must include those costs in detail when submitting their RFP response. 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

12. Identification Requirements 
12.1. Company Badge - All persons conducting work within a Township facility shall be 

required to have a company issued photo ID.  Photo ID must clearly represent the person 

presenting the ID along with their company name.  Company badge should be displayed at all 

times, and must be presented when requested. 

 

12.2. Company Branding Clothing – It is recommended that all contractors wear a company 

branded shirt.  The shirt should contain either the company logo or company name which can 

be clearly read during normal face-to-face conversation. 

  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

13. Scope of Work 

13.1. Introduction and Intent  
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Township) seeks to engage a qualified and 

experienced firm, team, company, or individual, hereafter referred to as “Vendor,” to provide 

Microsoft Office system integration and implementation services. 

The awarded vendor will assist Township of Ypsilanti in performing a readiness 

assessment of the existing infrastructure including gather and document requirements, 

developing a migration plan and executing against this plan. Vendor will provide services needed 

to migrate 120 Zimbra mailboxes to Exchange Online with email archiving, eDiscovery, anti-

malware and anti-spam filtering capabilities. The goal is to provide a seamless transition to 

Microsoft Office 365 Cloud architecture while maintaining secure and robust access to and from 

cloud services. 

13.2. Background  

 Staff is not very familiar with Office 365 and will need training. 

 Currently there are 120 network users 

 All workstations run Windows 10 Enterprise 

 All Township managed mobile devices are iOS 

 We are running multiple domain controllers with an AD version of 2016 

 Buildings are connected with fiber or Metro-E 

 Primary Internet Connection is 1gbps 

 Most servers are currently 2016 

 Current Single Zimbra mail storage is 446GB 

 Using Zimbra WebClient,  No Outlook 

 Currently Using Office 2016 

 Township prefers to use AD group to manage Access Control and Application 

installations. 

13.3. GovCloud  
The Township will only accept proposals for a GovCloud tenant. 

13.4. Requested Services 
13.4.1. Office 365 Readiness Assessment, Discovery, and Planning 

13.4.1.1. A detailed technical document and solution plan, which will provide a thorough 

and clearly-defined plan for a seamless migration to Office 365 including a significant 

focus on the communication and training requirements. 

13.4.1.2. Review of client systems to gather and capture information about existing 

infrastructure 

13.4.1.3. Identify potential challenges in this migration and pose solutions 

13.4.1.4. Recommend a solid communications and training plan for Township users based 

on best practices such as: lunch and learn, web based training and on desk materials 

13.4.1.5. Networking and Naming Services Planning 

13.4.1.6. Determine required tasks for configuring network and DNS 

13.4.1.7. User Identity and Account Provisioning Planning 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

13.4.1.8. Planning considerations to implement directory synchronization 

13.4.1.9. Develop migration strategy 

13.4.1.10. Identify mailbox size and item counts that will be migrated to Office 365 

 

13.4.2. Preparing Environment for an Office 365 Deployment 

13.4.2.1. Implement enterprise wide training with employees for Outlook 

13.4.2.2. Training options for Word, Excel, Teams, OneDrive, and Forms. 

13.4.2.3. Prepare end user documentation on Outlook and the new Office 365 

environment 

13.4.2.4. Assist with Domain Verification and Office 365 Registration 

13.4.2.5. Add and verify the Township domain name with Office 365 

13.4.2.6. Assist in creating DNS records to configure the Township’s domain names for 

use with Office 365 services 

13.4.2.7. Configure on-premises AD for directory synchronization 

13.4.2.8. Deploy and configure Active Directory to enable single sign-on 

13.4.2.9. Exchange Online Service Configuration 

13.4.2.10. Mailbox quotas and archival/retention policies 

13.4.2.11. Anti-spam and malware protection 

 

13.4.3. Migration and Cutover 

13.4.3.1. Assign licenses to users 

13.4.3.2. Migrate and synchronize mailbox data to Exchange Online 

 eMail 

 Calendars 

 Contact 

13.4.3.3. Assist in updating DNS to point to Office 365 

13.4.3.4. Configure Outlook Web Access and Exchange ActiveSync for mobile phones and 

devices where applicable. Deployed via MDM 

13.4.3.5. Perform Post-migration Service Testing of Office 365 functionality 

 

13.4.4. Post Deployment Support and Office 365 Administration Training 

13.4.4.1. Have resources available and able to augment the Township’s support staff on 

the weeks after the migration is completed 

13.4.4.2. Onsite or Webinar Training with IT Staff 

13.4.4.3. Administering Office 365 Services 

13.4.4.4. Provide Office 365 Admin Best Practices to IT Staff 

13.4.4.5. Provide as-needed advanced support to IT Staff within the first year of 

deployment 

13.5. Requested Office 365 Features 
The following list are features of Office 365 the Township is interested in deploying. 

 Exchange Online through the Outlook Browser Client 

 Teams 

 Forms 



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

 Conditional Access requiring MFA for any external access 

 Office Suite (Word Excel) 

 One Drive for Business 

 Microsoft Endpoint Manager (Intune) Both Desktop and Mobile Device 

 Application Gateway to allow secure access to internal services. 

 Advanced Email Security including BAC and VIP protection. 

 Documented Proper Security and Governance Best Practices 

 Training may be Onsite, In-Person, or Online.  Vendors may recommend or use 

3rd party training options. 

 Training for Outlook required for all users. 

 Training for OneDrive collaboration features for short list of users. 

 SAML authentication support into other applications (Zoom, Google Apps, etc) 

 Township is not interested in enabling SharePoint at this time. 

 Recommendation for an onsite mail relay. (For alerts from network equipment) 

 Township would like to bring its current Window 10 Enterprise Agreement into 

this project. 

  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form B: Details Costs 
Labor Costs 

Line Item Qty Price 

1 Base Hourly Rate Per Hour  
2 Office 365 Government G3 Per Year  
3 Office 365 Government G5 Per Year  

4 Windows 10 Enterprise Renewal Per Year  

 

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL. 

 

  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form C: Proposal Cost Analysis. 
By submitting this proposal, the potential contractor certifies the following: 

 This proposal is signed by an authorized representative of the firm. 

 It can obtain insurance certificates as required within 23 calendar days after notice of 

award. 

 The cost and availability of all equipment, materials, and supplies associated with 

performing the services described herein have been determined and included in the 

proposed cost. 

 All labor costs, direct and indirect, have been determined and included in the proposed 

cost. 

 The potential Contractor has read and understands the conditions set forth in this RFP 

and agrees to them with no exceptions. 

 Estimated Project Cost 
 

Job  Total 

$ 

 

(It is understood this number may change as the Scope of Work is finalized.) This Form is only 

here to simplify the Bid Opening process) 

(Please attach a detailed cost sheet with this cost form page) 

Company Name: ____________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: _____________________________________ 

Telephone Number: __________________________________ 

Federal Employer Identification Number: __________________ 

eMail: _____________________________________________ 

 

By:___________________________ Title:_____________________  
(Signature) (Typed or printed name)  

_______________________________________ Date:_____________________  
(Typed or printed name)   

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL. 

Unsigned proposals will not be considered. 

  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form D: Iran Business Relationship Affidavit. 
Pursuant to Michigan law, (the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, 2012 PA 517, MCL 129.311 et seq.), before 

accepting any bid or proposal, or entering into any contract for goods or services with any prospective 

Vendor, the Vendor must first certify that it is not an “IRAN LINKED BUSINESS, as defined by law. 

 

The undersigned, with: 1) full knowledge of all of Vendors business activities, 2) full knowledge of the 

requirements and possible penalties under the law MCL 129.311 et seq. and 3) the full and complete  

authority to make this certification on behalf of the Vendor, by his/her signature below, certifies that: 

the Vendor is NOT an “IRAN LINKED BUSINESS” as required by MCL 129.311 et seq., and as such that 

Vendor is legally eligible to submit a bid and be considered for a possible contract to supply goods 

and/or services to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

I have reviewed the terms and conditions and insurance requirements prior to submitting this bid 

solicitation. 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Signature  Title 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Company  Date 

 

 

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL.  

Vendor  

Legal Name  
Street Address  

City  
State  

Zip  

Corporate I.D. Number / State  
Taxpayer I.D. #  



 

RFQ-2022-05-M365  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form E: Mailing Label 
 

FROM: 
 

Company Name:      

Contact Person:      

Phone Number:     

Email:    

S 

E 
A 

L 
E 

D 

Solicitation Event Title: 

Solicitation Event Number: 

Office 365 Migration 

RFQ-2022-05-M365 

 
 
 
 
 

Buyer Initials 

 
B 

I 
D 

Due Date: 
2022-Feb-11 @ 3:00 PM EDT 

  

 
TVM 

 
DELIVER TO: 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Township Clerk 
7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
  

 



 

Page 1 of 1 
 

CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 
 

INFORMATION SERVICES 
 

Computer Support  Web Content Management  Communications Services 
 

 
 

 
To:   Township Board 
 

From:   Travis McDugald, IS Manager 
 

Re:  Request to seek RFPs for a Preferred Network Cable Installer. 
 

Date:   May 31, 2022 
 

 
In an effort to expedite project or repairs which may require the installation, repair, removal, or 
changing in network cabling I would like to request to seek proposals for a Preferred Network 
Cable Installer. 
 
An RFP would be published which consist of materials and labor costs along with a sample 
network installation job.  Candidates would competitively bid on the sample job.  The awarded 
bid would designate the candidate as the Township “Preferred Network Cable Installer” 
 
The Preferred Network Cable Installer would be used for network cable installation jobs valued 
under $10,000.  Jobs valued over $10,000 will continue to follow the Township’s normal bid 
process. 
 
Often bids for cable installation will come in either at a Time and Materials projection or a “per 
port” cost with a clause for difficult installations.  Because the work often involves removing 
ceiling tiles, climbing into enclosed areas, and or drilling holes in walls, it can be difficult for a 
person to predict what challenges they may run into until the work has started. 
 
The Township approval a Preferred Network Cables Installer June of 2020.  This approval is soon 
to expire.  This request is to bid the replacement project for another four years. 
 
Proposals shall be brought back to the Board for review and approval.  
 
Thank you for your consideration. 
 
Travis McDugald 
IS Manager, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 



 

   

 

 

 

  

RFP-2022-05-WIRING 
Structured Wiring Services 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
rfp@ytown.org 

Abstract 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is soliciting proposals from qualified organizations to provide 

structured wiring services for a period up to four years. 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form A - Project Bid Dates, Contacts, and Requirements 
Issue Date: TBD 

Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting: None 

Pre-Bid Question Deadline: No Questions Permitted 

Bid Deadline: TBD @ 3PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township - Clerks Office 
RFP-2021-04-Wiring 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 
Bids must be received by the deadline by postal 
services or drop into the “Drop Off” bin located at 
the Township Civic Center. 

Bid Opening: TBD @ 3PM EDT 
 
Ypsilanti Township 
7200 South Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
 

Project Coordinator: Travis McDugald 
IS Manager 
rfp@ytown.org 

Bid Format 1 Electronic 

Bid Bond Not Required. 

Required Forms Form B 
Form C 
Form D 

Pre Bid Site Access Not Permitted 

Bond Requirements Bid Bond: Not Required 
Performance and Payment Bond: Not Required 
Maintenance Bond: Not Required 
Bond Surety: Not Required 

Insurance Requirements 
(proof on insurance will be 
required prior to performing any 
work) 

General Liability: Required 
Vehicle Liability: Required 
Statutory Workers Compensation : Required 
Builders Risk: Not Required 

 

  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Table of Contents 
Form A - Project Bid Dates, Contacts, and Requirements ............................................................................ 1 

Zoom Information .......................................................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

General conditions of bidding and terms of contact .................................................................................... 7 

1. Bidding .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

1.1. Bids ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

1.2. Required Forms ......................................................................................................................... 7 

1.3. Authorized Signatures ............................................................................................................... 7 

1.4. Late Bids .................................................................................................................................... 7 

1.5. Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting ..................................................................................................... 7 

1.6. Withdrawal of Bids Prior to Bid Opening .................................................................................. 7 

1.7. Withdrawal of Bids After Bid Opening ...................................................................................... 7 

1.8. Bid Amounts .............................................................................................................................. 7 

1.9. Exceptions and/or Substitutions ............................................................................................... 7 

1.10. Alternates .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.11. Descriptions .......................................................................................................................... 8 

1.12. Bid Alterations ....................................................................................................................... 8 

1.13. Tax Exempt Status ................................................................................................................. 8 

1.14. Delivery ................................................................................................................................. 8 

1.15. Quantities .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.16. Bid Award .............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.17. Best Value ............................................................................................................................. 8 

1.18. Non-Collusion ........................................................................................................................ 9 

1.19. Silence of Specifications for Complete Units ........................................................................ 9 

1.20. Addenda ................................................................................................................................ 9 

1.21. General Bid Bond/Surety Requirements ............................................................................... 9 

1.22. General Insurance Requirements ......................................................................................... 9 

1.23. Responsiveness ..................................................................................................................... 9 

1.24. Responsible Standings of Bidder ......................................................................................... 10 

1.25. Proprietary Data .................................................................................................................. 10 

1.26. Non-Iran Linked Business .................................................................................................... 10 

2. Performance ................................................................................................................................... 10 

2.1. Design, Strength, and Quality ................................................................................................. 10 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

2.2. Compliance with Federal, State, County and Local Laws ........................................................ 10 

2.3. Infringements and Indemnifications ....................................................................................... 10 

2.4. Patents, Copyrights, Etc. ......................................................................................................... 11 

2.5. Samples, Demonstrations and Testing .................................................................................... 11 

2.6. Acceptability ............................................................................................................................ 11 

3. Purchase Orders and Payment........................................................................................................ 11 

3.1. Purchase Orders ...................................................................................................................... 11 

3.2. Invoices ................................................................................................................................... 11 

3.3. Payment Draws ....................................................................................................................... 11 

4. Contract........................................................................................................................................... 12 

4.1. Contract Definition .................................................................................................................. 12 

4.2. Contract Agreement................................................................................................................ 12 

4.3. Change Order .......................................................................................................................... 12 

4.4. Price Redetermination ............................................................................................................ 12 

4.5. Termination for Default .......................................................................................................... 12 

4.6. Invalid, Illegal, or Unenforceable Provisions ........................................................................... 12 

4.7. Injuries or Damages Resulting From Negligence .................................................................... 13 

4.8. Warranty ................................................................................................................................. 13 

4.9. Sale, Assignment, or Transfer of Contract .............................................................................. 13 

4.10. Service Contract Renewals .................................................................................................. 13 

4.11. Service Contract Auto-Renewals – ...................................................................................... 13 

5. Minimum Wage Requirements ....................................................................................................... 13 

5.1. Contractors, including Subcontractors ................................................................................... 13 

5.2. All other employees ................................................................................................................ 13 

6. Bond Requirements ........................................................................................................................ 13 

6.1. Bond Certificates ..................................................................................................................... 13 

6.2. Bid Bonds ................................................................................................................................ 14 

6.3. Performance and Payment Bonds .......................................................................................... 14 

6.4. Maintenance Bonds ................................................................................................................ 14 

6.5. Bond Surety ............................................................................................................................. 14 

6.6. Licensing Jurisdiction .............................................................................................................. 14 

7. Insurance Limits .............................................................................................................................. 15 

7.1. Insurance Certificates ............................................................................................................. 15 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

7.2. Requirements .......................................................................................................................... 15 

7.2.1. Worker’s Compensation ..................................................................................................... 15 

7.2.2. Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability .................................................................... 15 

7.2.3. Owner’s protective policy ................................................................................................... 15 

7.2.4. Automobile Liability ............................................................................................................ 15 

7.2.5. Builders Risk ........................................................................................................................ 15 

7.2.6. Certificate of Liability Insurance Verbiage .......................................................................... 16 

7.2.7. An umbrella policy .............................................................................................................. 16 

7.3. Licensing Jurisdiction .............................................................................................................. 16 

7.4. Require to Maintain ................................................................................................................ 16 

7.5. Legal Review ............................................................................................................................ 16 

8. Completion ...................................................................................................................................... 16 

8.1. Township Approval ................................................................................................................. 16 

8.2. Construction Start ................................................................................................................... 16 

8.3. Payment .................................................................................................................................. 16 

9. Site Access ....................................................................................................................................... 17 

9.1. Prior to bid closure .................................................................................................................. 17 

9.2. After bid award ....................................................................................................................... 17 

10. Proposal Submittals .................................................................................................................... 17 

10.1. Limits ................................................................................................................................... 17 

10.2. Required Copies .................................................................................................................. 17 

10.3. Price Break Down ................................................................................................................ 17 

10.4. Product Sheets .................................................................................................................... 17 

10.5. Execution Plan ..................................................................................................................... 17 

10.6. Coordination Efforts ............................................................................................................ 17 

10.7. Township Review ................................................................................................................ 17 

10.8. Mounting Information ........................................................................................................ 18 

10.9. Electrical Requirements ...................................................................................................... 18 

10.10. Background ......................................................................................................................... 18 

10.11. Business Changes ................................................................................................................ 18 

10.12. Licenses ............................................................................................................................... 18 

10.13. Additional Information ........................................................................................................ 18 

10.14. References .......................................................................................................................... 18 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

11. Right to renegotiate .................................................................................................................... 18 

11.1. Year one renewal ................................................................................................................ 18 

11.2. Annual cost increases .......................................................................................................... 18 

11.3. Undefined costs - ................................................................................................................ 18 

12. Identification Requirements ....................................................................................................... 18 

12.1. Company Badge .................................................................................................................. 18 

12.2. Company Branding Clothing ............................................................................................... 19 

13. Scope of Work ............................................................................................................................. 19 

13.1. Purpose: .............................................................................................................................. 19 

13.2. Evaluation: .......................................................................................................................... 19 

13.3. Data Equipment Requirements:.......................................................................................... 19 

13.4. Fiber Equipment Requirements: ......................................................................................... 19 

13.5. Installations ......................................................................................................................... 19 

13.6. Testing and Acceptance ...................................................................................................... 22 

13.7. Permits and Certificates The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all necessary permits, 

certificates and licenses required and necessary for performance of the work; and shall post all 

notices required by law and comply with laws and ordinance applicable. ........................................ 23 

Form B: Details Costs .................................................................................................................................. 24 

Form C: Proposal Cost Analysis. .................................................................................................................. 25 

Form D: Iran Business Relationship Affidavit. ............................................................................................. 26 

Form E: Mailing Label .................................................................................................................................. 27 

 

 

  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Advertisement for Bids 
The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is accepting sealed proposals from qualified organizations (“Bidder” or 

“Consultant” or “Firm” or Respondent”), to provide small project structured wiring on an as needed 

bases for up to four years.  Bid documents may be found at http://ytown.org/public-bid-postings. 

  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

General conditions of bidding and terms of contact 
By execution of this document, the Bidder accepts all general and special conditions of the contract as 

outlined below and in the specifications and plans. 

1. Bidding 

1.1. Bids - All bids shall be clearly marked on blank bid form furnished by Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti (Form C).  The minimum numbers of copies are listed in Form A - Project Bid Dates, 

Contacts and Requirements. The executed Bid Form shall be submitted in a sealed envelope. 

Copies are to be marked as such. 

 

1.2. Required Forms – Please refer to Form A – Required Forms for all required forms.  These 

forms must be filled out and included with all response. 

 

1.3. Authorized Signatures - This proposal form must be signed by a person authorized to bind and 

commit the company to provide such goods and /or services offered to the Township should 

their bid be accepted by the Township. 

 

1.4. Late Bids - Bids shall be in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s Office before or at the 

specified time and date bids are due. Bids received in the office of the Clerk after the 

submission deadline shall be rejected as non-responsive bids. 

 

1.5. Mandatory Pre-Bid Meeting – If a mandatory pre-bid date is given in Form A - Project Bid 

Dates, Contacts and Requirements. A Pre bid meeting will be required for all prospective 

bidders.  Failure to attend will result in disqualification from the bid review process. 

 

1.6. Withdrawal of Bids Prior to Bid Opening - A bid may be withdrawn before the opening date 

by submitting a written request to the Township Clerk. If time allows, and the Bidder desires, a 

new bid may be submitted. Bidder assumes full responsibility for submitting a new bid before 

or at the specified time and date bids are due. Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right 

to withdraw a request for bids before the opening date. 

 

1.7. Withdrawal of Bids After Bid Opening - Bidder agrees that offers may not be withdrawn or 

cancelled by the Bidder for a period of ninety (90) days following the date and time designated 

for the receipt of bids unless otherwise stated in the bid and/or specifications. 

 

1.8. Bid Amounts - Bids should show net prices, extensions where applicable and net total. In case 

of conflict between unit price and extension, the unit price will govern. Any ambiguity in the bid 

as a result of omission, error, unintelligible or illegible wording shall be construed in the favor 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

1.9. Exceptions and/or Substitutions - As a matter of practice, Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

rejects exception(s) and /or substitutions as non-responsive but reserves the right to accept any 

and/or all of the exception(s) and/or substitution(s) deemed to be in the best interest of the 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. Bidders taking exception to the specifications and plans, or 

offering substitutions, shall state these exceptions in the section provided. If bid is made on an 

article other than the one specified, which Bidder considers comparable, the name and grade 

of said article must be specified in the bid and sufficient specifications and descriptive data 

must accompany same to permit thorough evaluation. The absence of stated exceptions and/or 

substitutions shall indicate that the Bidder has not taken any exceptions to the specifications 

and shall hold the Bidder responsible to perform in strict accordance with the specifications. 

 

1.10. Alternates - Bid request and/or specifications may expressly allow Bidder to submit an 

alternate bid. Presence of such an offer shall not be considered an indication of non-

responsiveness. 

 

1.11. Descriptions - Unless otherwise specified, any reference to make, manufacturer and/or 

model used in the bid specifications is a minimum standard that will be accepted. 

 

1.12. Bid Alterations - Bids cannot be altered or amended after submission deadline. Any 

interlineations, alteration, or erasure made before opening time must be initialed by the signer 

of the bid, guaranteeing authenticity. 

 

1.13. Tax Exempt Status - The Charter Township of Ypsilanti is exempt from federal excise 

tax and state sales tax. Unless the bid form or specifications specifically indicate otherwise, the 

price bid must be net exclusive of above-mentioned taxes and will be so construed. Therefore, 

the bid price shall not include taxes. 

 

1.14. Delivery - The Bids shall include all charges for delivery, packing, crating, etc., unless 

otherwise stated in the bid document.  All deliveries will be FOB: Delivered.  General delivery 

hours are 8:30 a.m. to 12 p.m and 1 p.m to 4p.m. Monday-Friday.  Township does not have a 

loading dock, lift gates may be required. 

 

1.15. Quantities - Quantities indicated are estimated quantities only and are not a 

commitment to buy. Approximate usage does not constitute an order, but only implies the 

probable quantity that will be used. Commodities will be ordered on an as-needed basis. Bidder 

is responsible for accurate final counts. 

 

1.16. Bid Award - Award of contract shall be made to the lowest responsible Bidder or to the 

Bidder who provides goods or services at the best value for the municipality. The Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to be the sole judge as to whether items bid will serve 

the purpose intended. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject 

in part or in whole any bid submitted, and to waive any technicalities or informalities for the 

best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves 

the right to award based upon individual line items, sections or total bid. 

 

1.17. Best Value - In determining best value, Charter Township of Ypsilanti may consider: 1) 

purchase price; 2) reputation of the Bidder and of the Bidder’s goods or services; 3) quality of 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

the Bidder’s goods or services; 4) extent to which the goods or services meet the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti’s needs; 5) Bidder’s past relationship with the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti; 6) total long-term cost to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti to acquire the Bidder’s 

goods or services; and 7) any relevant criteria specifically listed in this document. 

 

1.18. Non-Collusion - By signing the bid the bidder certifies that the bid submitted, has been 

arrived at independently and has been submitted without collusion with, and without any 

agreement, understanding or planned common course of action with, any other vendor of 

materials, supplies, equipment or services described in the Invitation to Bid, designed to limit 

independent bidding or competition. 

 

1.19. Silence of Specifications for Complete Units - All materials, equipment and/or parts 

that will become a portion of the completed work including items not specifically stated herein 

but necessary to render the service(s) complete and operational per the specifications are to be 

included in the bid price. Bidders may be required to furnish evidence that the service, as bid, 

will meet or exceed these requirements. 

 

1.20. Addenda - Any interpretations, corrections or changes to the specifications and plans 

will be made by addenda no later than forty-eight hours prior to the bid opening. Addenda will 

be posted on the MITN Website (http://www.mitn.info/).   It is the responsibility of the bidder 

to check the website for addendums. 

 

1.21. General Bid Bond/Surety Requirements - Failure to furnish bid bond/surety, if 

requested, will result in bid being declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be 

considered for award. 

 

1.22. General Insurance Requirements - Failure to furnish Affidavit of Insurance when 

requested and if insurance coverage is required in these specifications, will result in bid being 

declared non-responsive. Non-responsive bids will not be considered for award. 

 

1.23. Responsiveness - A responsive bid shall substantially conform to the requirements of 

this Request for Proposal and/or specifications contained herein. Bidders who substitute any 

other terms, conditions, specifications and/or requirements or who qualify their bids in such a 

manner as to nullify or limit their liability to the contracting entity shall be deemed non-

responsive and the bid will not be considered for award. Also, bids containing any clause that 

would limit contracting authority shall be considered non-responsive. Examples of non-

responsive bids include but shall not be limited to a) bids that fail to conform to required 

delivery schedules as set forth in the bid request; b) bids with prices qualified in such a manner 

that the bid price cannot be determined such as with vague wording that may include “price in 

effect at the time of delivery”; and c) bids made contingent upon award of other bids currently 

under consideration. 

 

  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

1.24. Responsible Standings of Bidder - To be considered for award, Bidder must at least: 

have the ability to obtain adequate financial resources without limitation; be able to comply 

with required or proposed delivery/completion schedule; have a satisfactory record of 

performance; have a satisfactory record of integrity and ethics; be otherwise qualified and 

eligible to receive award. In order to determine financial standing of Bidder, Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti may request recent financial statements or a statement of net worth. 

 

1.25. Proprietary Data - Bidder may, by written request, clearly indicate as confidential any 

portion(s) of a bid that contain proprietary information, including manufacturing and/or design 

processes exclusive to the Bidder. Charter Township of Ypsilanti will protect from public 

disclosure such portions of a bid unless directed otherwise by legal authority including the 

existing Michigan Public Information Act. 

 

1.26. Non-Iran Linked Business - By signing the bid Form D, you certify and agree on behalf 

of the company submitting this bid that the company submitting this bid is not an “Iran linked 

business,” as that term is defined in Section 2(e) of the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, being 

Michigan Public Act No. 517 of 2012. 

 

2. Performance 
2.1. Design, Strength, and Quality - Design, strength, and quality of materials and workmanship 

must conform to the highest standards of manufacturing and engineering practices. The 

apparent silence of specifications and/or plans as to any detailed description concerning any 

point shall be regarded as meaning that only the best commercial practices are to prevail. All 

interpretations of these specifications and/or plans shall be made on the basis of this 

statement. 

 

2.2. Compliance with Federal, State, County and Local Laws - Bids must comply with all federal, 

state, county and local laws, to include but not be limited to, all applicable standard safety, 

emission, and noise control requirements. Any vehicles or equipment shall contain all standard 

safety, emission, and noise control requirements required for the types and sizes of equipment 

at the time of their manufacture. The Contractor agrees, during the performance of work or 

service, to comply with all applicable codes and ordinance of Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

Washtenaw County, or State of Michigan as they may apply, as these laws may now read or as 

they may hereafter be changed or amended. 

 

2.3. Infringements and Indemnifications - The bidder, if awarded a contract, agrees to protect, 

defend, and save the Township and the cooperative members listed herein, its officials, 

employees, departments and agents harmless against; any demand for payment for the use of 

any patented material, process, or device that may enter into the manufacture, construction, or 

from a part of the work covered by either order or contract; and from suits or a charge of every 

nature and description brought against if for, or on account of, any injuries or damages 

received or sustained by the parties by or from any of the facts of the contractor, the 

contractor’s employees, or agents; from all liability claims, demands, judgments and expenses 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

to persons or property occasioned, wholly, or in part, by the acts or omissions of the bidder, 

contractor, agents or employee. 

 

2.4. Patents, Copyrights, Etc. - The Contractor shall release, indemnify and hold the Buyer, its 

officers, agents and employees harmless from liability of any kind or nature, including the 

Contractor’s use of any copyrighted or un-copyrighted composition, secret process, patented or 

unpatented invention, article or appliance furnished or used in the performance of this 

contract. 

 

2.5. Samples, Demonstrations and Testing - At the Charter Township of Ypsilanti‘s request and 

direction, Bidder shall provide product samples and/or testing of items bid to ensure 

compliance with specifications. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be requested at 

any point prior to or following bid award. Samples, demonstrations and/or testing may be 

requested upon delivery and/or any point during the term of resulting contract. All samples 

(including return thereof), demonstrations and/or testing shall be at the expense of the Bidder. 

 

2.6. Acceptability - All articles enumerated in the bid shall be subject to inspection by an officer 

designated for the purpose by Charter Township of Ypsilanti. If found inferior to the quality 

called for, or not equal in value to the specifications, deficient in workmanship or otherwise, 

this fact shall be certified to the Project Coordinator who shall have the right to reject the 

whole or any part of the same. Items and/or work determined to be contrary to specifications 

must be replaced at the Contractor’s expense. Inferior items not retrieved by the Contractor 

within thirty (30) calendar days, or an otherwise agreed upon time, may become the property 

of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti at the Charter Township of Ypsilanti’s option, without cost. 

If disposal of such items warrants an expense, an amount equal to the disposal expense will be 

deducted from amounts payable to the Contractor. Contractor’s failure to retrieve property 

resulting in ownership by Charter Township of Ypsilanti shall not be imputed as acceptance of 

replacement good under this contract. 

 

3. Purchase Orders and Payment 

3.1. Purchase Orders – A purchase order(s) shall be generated by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

to the successful Contractor. The purchase order number must appear on all itemized invoices 

and packing slips. The Charter Township of Ypsilanti will not be held responsible for any work 

orders placed and/or performed without a valid current purchase order number. Payment will 

be made for all services rendered and accepted by the project coordinator for which a valid 

invoice has been received. 

 

3.2. Invoices - All invoices shall be under terms of net thirty (30) days unless otherwise agreed upon 

by seller and Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

3.3. Payment Draws – Request for payments prior to project completion may be negotiated during 

the contract term.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to deny any payment 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

draw requests for any reason. 

 

4. Contract 

4.1. Contract Definition - The General Conditions of Bidding and Terms of Contract, Specifications, 

Plans, Bidding Forms, Addenda, and any other documents made a part of this bid shall 

constitute the complete bid. This bid, when duly accepted by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, 

shall constitute a contract equally binding between the successful Bidder and Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.2. Contract Agreement - Once a contract is awarded, the service offered by the successful Bidder 

shall remain firm for the term of the contract. Contract shall commence on date of award and 

continue until the work is completed. 

 

4.3. Change Order - No different or additional terms will become part of this contract with the 

exception of a change order. No oral statement of any person shall modify or otherwise 

change, or affect the terms, conditions or specifications stated in the resulting contract. All 

change orders to the contract will be made in writing and at the discretion and approval of the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti. No change order will be binding unless signed by an authorized 

representative of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti and the Contractor. 

 

4.4. Price Redetermination - All requests for price redetermination shall be in written form. Cause 

for such request, i.e. manufacturer's direct cost, postage rates, Railroad Commission rates, 

Federal/State minimum wage law, Federal/State unemployment taxes, F.I.C.A, Insurance 

Coverage Rates, etc., shall be substantiated in writing by the source of the cost increase. The 

Contractor's past experience of honoring contracts at the bid price will be an important 

consideration in the evaluation of future bids for the lowest and best bid. Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti reserves the right to accept or reject any/all requests for price redetermination as it 

deems to be in the best interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.5. Termination for Default - Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to enforce the 

performance of this contract in any manner prescribed by law or deemed to be in the best 

interest of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the event of breach or default of this contract. 

The Charter Township of Ypsilanti reserves the right to terminate the contract immediately in 

the event the Contractor fails to perform to the terms of specifications or fails to comply with 

the terms of this contract. Breach of contract or default authorizes the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti to award to another Bidder, purchase elsewhere and charge the full increase in cost 

and handling to the defaulting party. 

 

4.6. Invalid, Illegal, or Unenforceable Provisions - In case any one or more of the provisions 

contained in the Contract shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in 

any respect, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision 

thereof and this contract shall be considered as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

provision had never been contained herein. 

 

4.7. Injuries or Damages Resulting From Negligence – The Contractor shall defend, indemnify 

and save harmless Charter Township of Ypsilanti and all its officers, agents and employees from 

all suits, actions, or other claims of any character, name and description brought for or on 

account of any injuries or damages received or sustained by any person, persons, or property 

on account of any negligent act or fault of the Contractor, or of any agent, employee, 

subcontractor or supplier in the execution of, or performance under, any contract which may 

result from bid award. The Contractor shall pay any judgment, with costs, which may be 

obtained against Charter Township of Ypsilanti growing out of such injury or damages. 

 

4.8. Warranty - The Contractor shall warrant that all materials utilized in the performance of this 

contract shall conform to the proposed specifications and/or all warranties as stated. All labor 

shall have a warranty for minimum 1 year from the project completion date. 

 

4.9. Sale, Assignment, or Transfer of Contract - The Contractor shall not sell, assign, transfer or 

convey this contract, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti. 

 

4.10. Service Contract Renewals – The Township requests that all service agreements revert 

to a month-to-month plan at the end of initial agreement duration. 

 

4.11. Service Contract Auto-Renewals – Any service agreement renewals with an auto 

renew clause may only renew in one month increments.  The Township shall have the right to 

discontinue or cancel the renewal at any time up to 29 days’ prior the renewal date.  The 

servicing agency shall inform the Township of its upcoming renewal between 90 and 60 days 

prior to the renewal. Failure of the servicing agency to notify the Township of the upcoming 

renewal, gives the Township the right to cancel service at any time without penalty. 

5. Minimum Wage Requirements 
5.1. Contractors, including Subcontractors, performing work or services shall be required to pay 

not less than the prevailing wages and fringe benefits to all employees and follow Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 2-201 and the additional provisions contained within.  

 

5.2. All other employees directly involved with this project must be paid in accordance with the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti Ordinance No. 99-213, “The Living Wage Ordinance”.  A copy of 

this ordinance can be obtained through the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Clerk’s office by 

calling (734) 484-4700. 

 

6. Bond Requirements 
 

6.1. Bond Certificates – If required; the bid bond is required at the time of bid submission.  All 

other bond requirements must be provided to the Township prior to the execution of the 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

contract documents.  

 

6.2. Bid Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: (Applies only to proposals over 

$25,000) Each proposal must be accompanied by a certified check, bidders bond, bank draft or 

cash bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of the total price and drawn to the order of The 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a guarantee of good faith on the part of the Bidder and 

subject to the conditions stipulated in the proposal form. No proposals shall be withdrawn for a 

period of ninety (90) days after the date set for the opening of bids. A single check, bond or 

draft may serve to cover two or more alternate or supplemental proposals when such 

proposals are submitted by the same Bidder. 

 

If multiple bids are being submitted by any one single Bidder a single bond may be utilized.  The 

bond value must be 5% of the project cost for the most expensive option being proposed. 

 

6.3.  Performance and Payment Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: (Applies 

only to proposals over $25,000) Contractor shall furnish Performance and Payment Bonds, each 

in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price as security for the faithful performance and 

payment of all Contractors’ obligations under the Contract Documents. All Bonds shall be in the 

form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided otherwise by Laws or 

Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the current list of 

“Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal Bonds and as 

Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the Audit Staff, 

Bureau of Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds signed by an 

agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.4. Maintenance Bonds – If required in Form A – Bond Requirements: - (Applies only to proposals 

over $25,000) Contractor shall furnish a Maintenance Bond, in an amount not less than (5%) of 

the total price and drawn to the order of The Charter Township of Ypsilanti, as a warranty 

guarantee. Maintenance Bonds must remain valid for one year after completion of the project.  

All Bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract Documents except as provided 

otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in the 

current list of “Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Securities on Federal 

Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies” as published in Circular 570 (amended) by the 

Audit Staff, Bureau of Government Financial Operations, U.S. Treasury Department.  All Bonds 

signed by an agent must be accompanied by a certified copy of such agent’s authority to act. 

 

6.5. Bond Surety - If the surety on any bond furnished by the Contractor is declared as bankrupt or 

becomes insolvent or its right to do business is terminated in any state where any part of the 

project is located or it ceases to meet requirements of this bid, the Contractor shall within 10 

days thereafter substitute another bond and surety, both of which must be acceptable to the 

Owner Licensed Sureties and Insurers; Certificates of Insurance. 

 

6.6. Licensing Jurisdiction - All bonds and insurance required by the Contract Documents to be 

purchased and maintained by the Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from surety or 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the project 

is located to issue bonds and insurance policies for the limits and coverage’s so required. 

 

7. Insurance Limits 

7.1. Insurance Certificates – If Requested; The Contractor agrees to provide the Township with 

Certificates of Insurance for General Liability, Vehicle Liability, and Statutory Workers 

Compensation, according to the limits provided in the Charter Township of Ypsilanti Financial 

Policy.  The Certificates of Insurance must be provided to the Township prior to the execution 

of the contract documents.  

 

7.2. Requirements – If required in Form A – Insurance Requirements: Insurance shall be required if 

the bidder intends to have technicians, contractors, or persons onsite during the execution of 

any contract.  The Contractor will maintain at its own expense during the term of the contract, 

the following insurance: 

 

7.2.1. Worker’s Compensation insurance with Michigan statutory limits and employers liability 

insurance of $1,000,000.00 minimum each accident. 

 

7.2.2. Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability Insurance with a combined single limit of 

$1,000,000.00 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage.  Policy to include 

products and completed operations, independent contractors and contractual liability 

coverage.  Policy shall be endorsed to provide 60 day written notice to the Project 

Coordinator of any material change of coverage, cancellation or non-renewal of coverage. 

 

7.2.3. Owner’s protective policy shall be in the name of “Charter Township of Ypsilanti”.  Policy 

shall provide a $1,000,000.00 combined single limit for bodily injury or property damage 

per occurrence.  The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, present, and future 

elected Officials shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract. 

 

7.2.4. Automobile Liability insurance covering all owned, hired and non-owned vehicles with 

personal protection insurance and property protection insurance to comply with 

provisions of the Michigan No Fault Insurance Law.  Including residual liability insurance 

with a minimum combined single limit of $1,000,000.00 each accident for bodily injury and 

property damage. 

 

7.2.5. Builders Risk - The Contractor shall take out and maintain Builders Risk insurance during 

the life of the contract(in the name of the Contractor and the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti), "All Risk" (excluding Earthquake and Flood) Builder’s Risk Insurance covering the 

entire work of this contract for 100% of the replacement value thereof, including items of 

labor and materials in place or to be used as part of the permanent construction, including 

surplus miscellaneous materials and supplies incident to the work, and such scaffoldings, 

staging, towers, forms, and equipment not owned or rented by the Contractor, the cost of 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

which is not included in the cost of the work. EXCLUSIONS: This insurance does not cover 

any tools owned by mechanics, any tools, equipment, scaffoldings, staging, towers, and 

forms, rented or owned by the Contractor, the value of which is not included in the cost of 

the work, or any shanties or other structures erected for the sole convenience of the 

workers. 

 

In the event of a loss by the perils insured against, of any or all of the work and/or 

materials herein provided for, at any time prior to the final completion of the contract and 

the final acceptance by the Charter Township of Ypsilanti, the Contractor shall promptly 

reconstruct, repair, replace or restore all work or materials so destroyed. Nothing herein 

provided for shall in any way excuse the Contractor or the Contractor's surety from the 

obligation of furnishing all the required materials and completing the work in full 

compliance with the terms of the contract. 

 

7.2.6.  Certificate of Liability Insurance Verbiage – General Liability Insurance limits must 

contain the following verbiage in verbatim; “The Charter Township of Ypsilanti and its past, 

present, and future elected officials, trustees, appointed commissions and boards, agents 

and employees shall be named as “additional named insured” on the General Liability 

policy with respect to the services provided under this contract.” Prior to contact execution. 

 

7.2.7. An umbrella policy may be used to meet some of the above requirements. 

 

7.3. Licensing Jurisdiction - All insurance policies must be held by companies licensed to do 

business in Michigan and such companies must be well rated and acceptable to the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti. 

 

7.4. Require to Maintain - If the required insurance is not maintained at any time during the term 

of this Contract, the Contract shall be subject to cancellation immediately or at any time 

thereafter, at the sole discretion of the Charter Township of Ypsilanti.  If the Charter Township 

of Ypsilanti elects to exercise its option to cancel on these grounds, the Charter Township of 

Ypsilanti shall so notify the Contractor of its election. 

 

7.5. Legal Review - All Certificates of Insurance are subject to the final approval of the Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti Legal Counsel. 

8. Completion 

8.1. Township Approval - The project will not be considered complete until all approved Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti final inspections have been approved. 

 

8.2. Construction Start - Construction shall start within 45 days of the Notice to Proceed and 

completed within 60 days unless otherwise noted in the RFP response. 

 

8.3. Payment - Full payment shall be made within 45 days of receipt of invoice upon completion of 

work. 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

9. Site Access 
9.1. Prior to bid closure – If permitted on Form A – Pre Bid Site Access; Access to the any Charter 

Township of Ypsilanti site referenced herein will be made available only to Bidders interested in 

providing a bid on this project.  All requests must be scheduled with the Project Coordinator 

and must be accompanied by an approved Charter Township of Ypsilanti Employee.  Requests 

must be in writing. 

 

9.2. After bid award - Only the approved employees, approved contractors, and approved sub-

contractors will have access to non-public areas of Charter Township of Ypsilanti facilities. 

 

10. Proposal Submittals  
10.1. Limits - There is no limit to how many proposals a single Bidder may submit. 

 

10.2. Required Copies - As part of the bid proposal package, the following submittals are 

required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti to be reviewed and acted on by the Township in 

evaluating the Bidder’s proposal.  See Bid Format under Form A - Project Bid Dates and 

Contacts 

 

10.3. Price Break Down - Bid proposal pricing shall be broken down by building with each 

price representing a complete building installation. Include line item pricing for all major 

components and subsection pricing for all items described in that subsection. Pricing shall 

include all associated costs including but not limited to: hardware, cabling, conduit, electrical, 

network, licensing, and labor. 

 

10.4. Product Sheets - Manufacturer’s product data sheets for all equipment and 

components provided for in this project.  Data sheets shall include equipment specifications, 

code compliance, certifications, and other information as required for proper evaluation. 

 

10.5. Execution Plan - A written description of the proposed plan of execution for the Work 

herein described, including estimated time-frame, number of personnel to be used, a 

description of long lead-time items and materials, and a description of the methods to be used 

to ensure quality. 

 

10.6. Coordination Efforts - A written description of the coordination efforts that need to be 

made, either by the Contractor, Charter Township of Ypsilanti, or any other party, for the 

installation to proceed on schedule in the manner described. 

 

10.7. Township Review - Prior to fabrication or installation of the Work, the following 

submittals are required by Charter Township of Ypsilanti of the Contractor to be reviewed and 

acted on by Charter Township of Ypsilanti in accordance with the provisions of the contract. 2 

paper, 1 electronic.  Three (3) copies of all drawings and product data shall be required. 

 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

10.8. Mounting Information - Detailed descriptions of all equipment locations and mounting 

particulars. 

 

10.9. Electrical Requirements - A schedule of the electrical requirements for the proposed 

equipment, including system idle and peak power requirements.  Required only if proposed 

equipment has power consumption. 

 

10.10. Background - Description of the Bidder’s background and size.  Include statements of 

qualifications that includes your firm’s professional credentials and experience in providing 

services enumerated in the Request for Proposal and the legal status of your organization. 

 

10.11. Business Changes - Describe any changes in the mode of conducting business your firm 

has made in the past three (3) years, include any mergers, acquisitions, consolidations, 

downsizing or bankruptcy proceedings or filings. 

 

10.12. Licenses - Identify all licenses currently held by your firm. 

 

10.13. Additional Information - Any other additional information which would assist the 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti in the evaluation of your proposal. 

 

10.14. References - Provide a list of at least four (4) references (government preferred) with 

knowledge of your firm’s contract performance.  References shall be employees in the senior 

level management positions. Include the name of the entity, a description of the contract 

project the dates of service and the name(s), telephone numbers, and email addresses of the 

contact persons. 

11. Right to renegotiate 
11.1. Year one renewal – Not applicable. 

 

11.2. Annual cost increases - Should the annually costs increase .001 % or more the 

Township reserves the right to terminate any all agreements and rebid the project. 

 

11.3. Undefined costs - If there are any costs associated for this requirement the bidder 

must include those costs in detail when submitting their RFP response. 

12. Identification Requirements 
12.1. Company Badge - All persons conducting work within a Township facility shall be 

required to have a company issued photo ID.  Photo ID must clearly represent the person 

presenting the ID along with their company name.  Company badge should be displayed at all 

times, and must be presented when requested. 

 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

12.2. Company Branding Clothing – It is recommended that all contractors wear a company 

branded shirt.  The shirt should contain either the company logo or company name which can 

be clearly read during normal face-to-face conversation. 

 

13. Scope of Work 

13.1. Purpose: 
The purpose of this RFP is to establish a four year preferred vendor for network wiring and fiber optic 

installation and repairs for Charter Township of Ypsilanti (Local Government). The time of the award will 

be four years from the date by which the Township designates the vendor as the Preferred Network 

Cable Installer. 

 No work may be performed without proof of insurance. 

 Jobs will be requested as needed. 

 Each job will be valued under $10,000. 

 There is no minimal agreement amount. 

 There is no maximum agreement amount. 

 There shall be no cost increased within the first two years agreement. 

 Cost increases shall not exceed 10% in given year during year three or four of the agreement. 

o Township shall be given 30 days written notice prior to any cost increases. 

 This is a non-exclusive agreement.  The Township may seek alternate proposals or vendors at its 

sole discretion. 

13.2. Evaluation: 
The evaluation will be done by comparing vendors costs based on the pricing within Form B base on 

previous Township installations. 

13.3. Data Equipment Requirements: 

 Data terminations are to be made on a standard single RJ-45 jack. 

 Data jacks are oranges unless otherwise requested at the time of the job request. 

 Cat6 Plenum required for all runs 

 Designed for the purpose as outlines in article 800 of NEC code. 

 MDF and IDF terminated to 1U patch panels. 

13.4. Fiber Equipment Requirements: 

 Multimode 62.5/125 micron 

 Single mode 8.3/125 

 Designed and manufactured to all ANSI/EIA/TIA specifications 

 Terminated to LC connectors 

13.5. Installations 
13.5.1. The contractor will coordinate with the Township any interruptions to exiting data 

communications.  Any interruptions are to be minimalized and may need to be performed 

after-hours, on weekends, or holidays 

 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

13.5.2. Regarding installation activity that is potentially disruptive (i.e. drilling, running cable, 

mounting frames, raceways, etc.) to administrative activity, the contractor will notify IT 

staff prior to work being performed. 

 

13.5.3. Contractors are to supply their own tools and equipment, especially brooms, dustpans, 

ladders etc. 

 

13.5.4. Contracts will be required to broom clean work areas at the end of each shift or work 

day. 

 

13.5.5. Installation equipment, materials, and product will only be allowed to be kept in 

specified areas.  Hallways, office areas, lobbies, and etc. are not suitable for storage and 

the Township will not be held liable for missing or stolen equipment or materials. 

 

13.5.6. Wiring to all outlets to run above the ceiling shall be fastened to the building structure 

at eight (8) foot intervals through the use of, but not limited to, J hooks, beam clamps, and 

hangers. At no time are voice or data drops/homeruns to be directly secured to the 

building structure above ceiling without the use of cable supports. Cabling above ceiling 

shall be sectioned off, bundled and tied, and routed back to intermediate or master wiring 

closets using a star configuration. All wiring shall run continuously from the outlet to the 

wiring closet without breaks or splices. Cable supports shall be employed every eight (8) 

feet. Cable supports (J Hooks etc.) shall be sized 50% larger than needed to allow for 

future growth. 

 

13.5.7. In areas where ceiling tiles are removed for cable pulling, or ceiling tiles are damaged as 

a result of cable pulling, the Contractor shall replace tiles with like tiles. 

 

13.5.8. All boxes, equipment and cable shall be firmly secured in place. Boxes, jacks and blocks 

shall be plumb and square. Consideration will be given for overall aesthetic factors. Sample 

installation diagrams and layouts are to be followed at all times. Deviations due to design 

and or building structural considerations must be cleared with IT Staff. 

 

13.5.9. Any new or replacement premises wiring shall be clearly labeled in a format directed by 

the Township. 

 

13.5.10. The Contractor will observe all applicable departmental safety and security 

regulations established. 

 

13.5.11. The Contractor is responsible for repair of damage to the building due to 

carelessness of their workmen, and exercise reasonable care to avoid any damage to 

property. The Contractor must report to the Township any damage to the building that 

may exist or may occur during the occupancy of the quarters. 

 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

13.5.12. The Contractor must promptly correct all defects for which the Contractor is 

responsible. 

 

13.5.13. Upon completion of the work, the Contractor must remove his tools, equipment 

and all rubbish and debris from the premises and must leave the premises clean and neat. 

 

13.5.14. The Contractor will obtain the Township’s IT Department permission before 

cutting into or through any part of the building structure such as beams, girders, concrete, 

or tile floors, partitions and ceilings. The Contractor shall restore any girders, beams, 

floors, partitions, ceilings, fire partitions and walls to their original condition. 

 

13.5.15. The Contractor will coordinate all work with the Townships IT Staff. 

 

13.5.16. Optical fiber connecting hardware shall be installed to provide well-organized 

installation and cable management and always in accordance with manufacturer's 

guidelines. 

 

13.5.17. Fiber optic cable service loops are to be provided at all fiber termination points. 

Wiring closet loops are to be a minimum of 15ft. End termination or main termination 

point loop is to be a minimum of 30ft. 

 

13.5.18. Network copper horizontal cabling shall have a minimum three (3) foot service 

loop for each cable above ceiling. Service loop is to be neatly dressed and secured. 

 

13.5.19. Network copper patch panel terminations are to maintain cable jacket and twist 

a minimum of one-half inch from point of termination. End station terminations are to 

maintain cable jacket and twist up to the edge of the jack housing. Dust caps must always 

be used to provide pair protection and strain relief. 

 

13.5.20. All indoor/outdoor splices and distribution must be enclosed in an enclosure 

designed for the purpose and able to provide maximum protection to splices and 

protection from environmental effects. 

 

13.5.21. All fiber splices must be impervious to environmental effects and mechanical 

shock. 

 

13.5.22. Splice trays must protect all fiber splices. 

 

13.5.23. All inside distribution and outside plant fiber cabling must be strain relieved to 

hinder the possibility of breakage and connection failure. 

 

13.5.24. The Township may elect also to implement other changes of its own accord. 

Should the Township elect to make its own changes, Township shall assume responsibility 

for the operation integrity of the structured wiring as it is directly affected by such changes 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

by the Township. Upon request, the Contractor shall research all reported physical 

installation & performance problems or errors and correct them to the Township's 

satisfaction. If the problem or error resulted from design changes made by Township, the 

charge for correction shall be computed using the rates for standard T & M charges. 

 

13.6. Testing and Acceptance 

 
13.6.1. The Township will make inspection as it deems necessary when notified by the 

Contractor that the services requested, or any part thereof, is ready for acceptance. 

 

13.6.2. Successful testing by the Contractor with written report of results to Township IT Staff 

of all performance and quality incorporating the full range of testing specified. 

 

13.6.3. Written certification signed by an authorized representative of the Contractor indicating 

the satisfactory completion of the above outlined items. 

 

13.6.4. The following tests shall be run on all installed Category 6 data runs:  

13.6.4.1. Testing shall be end to end, patch panel to jack including patch cables. (Total run 

length not to exceed 300ft. With patch cables 328ft). 

 Wire Map 

 Length 

 Insertion Loss 

 NEXT Loss 

 PS NEXT Loss 

 ACR-F Loss 

 PS ACR-F Loss 

 Return Loss 

 Propagation Delay 

 Delay Skew 

 

13.6.5. The following tests shall be run on all installed fiber stands.  

13.6.5.1. Testing is to be end to end with all terminations and splices involved for each 

strand tested. OTDR, both directions. Test results shall be presented in an MS Excel 

spreadsheet 2010, or greater, detailing cable detailing cable port, location (building, 

closet etc.) length and attenuation in dB. Additionally, each test is to include a 

graphical representation of the test, measurement results, and cable information 

and set up parameters. The following standards will be used: 

 ANSI/TWEIA-455-59A, Measurement of Fiber Point Discontinuities Using an 

OTDR. 

 ANSI/TWEIA-455-60A, Measurement of Fiber or Cable Length Using an OTDR. 

 ANSI/TWEIA-455-61A, Measurement of Fiber or Cable Attenuation Using an 

OTDR. 



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

 ANSI/TWEIA-526-7, Optical Power Loss Measurements of Installed Single mode 

Fiber Cable Plant. ANSI/TWEIA-526-14-A, Optical Power Loss Measurements of 

Installed Multimode Fiber Cable Plant. 

 

13.7. Permits and Certificates 

The Contractor shall obtain and pay for all necessary permits, certificates and licenses 

required and necessary for performance of the work; and shall post all notices required 

by law and comply with laws and ordinance applicable. 
 

 

  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form B: Details Costs 
Materials Costs 

Line Item Qty Price 

1 2-Port Wall Plate Single Gang Each  
2 4 - Port Wall Plate  Single Gang Each  
3 Cat6a RJ45 Port - Orange Each  
4 Wall Plate Blank Module  Each  
5 24 Port Cat6a Patch Panel  Each  
6 1U Rack mount fiber enclosure Each  
7 6 Count LS Fiber Adapter for enclosure Each  
8 2 inch Diameter Bridge Ring with plastic saddle Each  
9 1/4 inch Beam clamp Each  

10 1 Tube Firestop Caulk Each  

11 4-Port Surface Mount / Biscuit box Each  

12 Low voltage single gang outlet box Each  
13 Plenum 2 inch inner duct 500ft  
14 Single Mode fiber 12 strand OFNP 500ft  
15 62.5 multimode fiber 12 strand OFNP 500ft  
16 Cat6 plenum data cable 1ft  
17 Wall Pandult 1 inch Latching White 1ft  

 

Labor Costs 

Please specify the per cost increments 

Line Description Per Price 

1 Minimal Labor Charge   

2 Additional Labor   

3 Minimum overtime labor charge   

4 Additional overtime labor charge   

5 Trip surcharges   

6 Travel time charges   
 

Additional costs  

Any other conditional costs the Township should be aware of.  These we be costs associate to a 

generalized Cat6 cabling job.  (it is ok to have none, we just do not want surprises) 

Line Description Price 

1   

2   

3   



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL. 

Form C: Proposal Cost Analysis. 
By submitting this proposal, the potential contractor certifies the following: 

 This proposal is signed by an authorized representative of the firm. 

 It can obtain insurance certificates as required within 23 calendar days after notice of 

award. 

 The cost and availability of all equipment, materials, and supplies associated with 

performing the services described herein have been determined and included in the 

proposed cost. 

 All labor costs, direct and indirect, have been determined and included in the proposed 

cost. 

 The potential Contractor has read and understands the conditions set forth in this RFP 

and agrees to them with no exceptions. 

 

Based on the costs within Form B what would total costs for a job that 
consisted of: 

 2 170 foot cooper network drops 

 2 contractors 

 Took one day 

 Started at 9am and ended at 2pm 

 Utilized all existing in-ceiling cable mounts 

 Required 1 single gang wall outlet box 

 Required 6 feet on wall conduit 

 Utilized existing IDF patch panel 
 

Job  Total 

$ 

 

(Please attach a detailed cost sheet with this cost form page) 

Company Name: ____________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

Address: __________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip: _____________________________________ 

Telephone Number: __________________________________ 

Federal Employer Identification Number: __________________ 

eMail: _____________________________________________ 

 

By:___________________________ Title:_____________________ Date: 
(Signature) (Typed or printed name)  

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL. 

Unsigned proposals will not be considered.  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form D: Iran Business Relationship Affidavit. 
Pursuant to Michigan law, (the Iran Economic Sanctions Act, 2012 PA 517, MCL 129.311 et seq.), before 

accepting any bid or proposal, or entering into any contract for goods or services with any prospective 

Vendor, the Vendor must first certify that it is not an “IRAN LINKED BUSINESS, as defined by law. 

 

The undersigned, with: 1) full knowledge of all of Vendors business activities, 2) full knowledge of the 

requirements and possible penalties under the law MCL 129.311 et seq. and 3) the full and complete  

authority to make this certification on behalf of the Vendor, by his/her signature below, certifies that: 

the Vendor is NOT an “IRAN LINKED BUSINESS” as required by MCL 129.311 et seq., and as such that 

Vendor is legally eligible to submit a bid and be considered for a possible contract to supply goods 

and/or services to the Charter Township of Ypsilanti. 

I have reviewed the terms and conditions and insurance requirements prior to submitting this bid 

solicitation. 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Signature  Title 

 

 

_______________________________  _______________________________ 
Company  Date 

 

 

THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR PROPOSAL.  

Vendor  

Legal Name  
Street Address  

City  
State  

Zip  

Corporate I.D. Number / State  
Taxpayer I.D. #  



 

RFP-2022-05-WIRING  CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI 

 

Form E: Mailing Label 
 

FROM: 
 

Company Name:      

Contact Person:      

Phone Number:     

Email:    

S 

E 
A 

L 
E 

D 

Solicitation Event Title: 

Solicitation Event Number: 

Network Security 

RFP-2022-05-Wiring 

 
 
 
 
 

Buyer Initials 

 
B 

I 
D 

 

Due Date: ##-###-2019 
Time: 2:00 PM E.T.  

 
TVM 

 
DELIVER TO: 

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 
Township Clerk 
7200 S. Huron River Dr. 
Ypsilanti, MI 48197 
  

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TO:  Board Members 

FROM:  Supervisor Brenda Stumbo 

RE:  Recognition to all employees for their service to our residents and community 

DATE:  June 3, 2022 

 

This year has been a challenging year for everyone in the community and for our employees 

who serve our community with kindness, professionalism and integrity.  It has been hard to fill 

staffing in some departments with full time, part time and seasonal positions.    

We were one of the first communities to come back to work while other governmental agencies 

waited to fully open to the public.  To show our appreciation I would like to recommend that 

each full time employee receive $1,000 and part time receive $500.00 for a one-time 

recognition service during these difficult times. 

If approved by the board a budget amendment would be on the next agenda.   

 

 

 

Supervisor’s Office 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 481-0617 
Fax:  (734) 484-0002 

 
www.ytown.org 

 

Supervisor 

BRENDA L. STUMBO 
Clerk 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 
Treasurer 

STAN ELDRIDGE 
Trustees 

JOHN P. NEWMAN 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

TO:  Township Board 

FROM:  Brenda Stumbo 

RE:  Approval of US 12 Project lighting on Service Drive 

DATE:  June 3, 2022 

 

Attached is an agreement with DTE for the lighting of the service drive that is part of the US 12 

Project between Onondaga Avenue and Hudson Street.  The Washtenaw County Road 

Commission as part of the project will pay the installation of eight fiberglass LED luminaries.    

The annual lamp charge is $2,127.36 and paid by the township general fund like the other lights 

in this project.    

 Should you have any questions please feel free to reach out to me or Treasurer Stan Eldridge.   

 

 

Supervisor’s Office 
 

7200 S. Huron River Drive 
Ypsilanti, MI  48197 

Phone:  (734) 481-0617 
Fax:  (734) 484-0002 

 
www.ytown.org 

 

Supervisor 

BRENDA L. STUMBO 
Clerk 

HEATHER JARRELL ROE 
Treasurer 

STAN ELDRIDGE 
Trustees 

JOHN P. NEWMAN 
GLORIA PETERSON 
DEBBIE SWANSON 
JIMMIE WILSON, JR. 

 

http://www.ytown.org/


Exhibit A to Master Agreement 

Purchase Agreement 

This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is dated as of May 18, 2022 between DTE 

Electric Company (“Company”) and the Charter Township of Ypsilanti (“Customer”).  

This Agreement is a “Purchase Agreement” as referenced in the Master Agreement for 
Municipal Street Lighting dated March 22, 2022 (the “Master Agreement”) between Company and 
Customer. All of the terms of the Master Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. In the 
event of an inconsistency between this Agreement and the Master Agreement, the terms of this 
Agreement shall control.  

Customer requests Company to furnish, install, operate and maintain street lighting 
equipment as set forth below:  

1. DTE Work Order 
Number:  

64953759 

If this is a conversion or replacement, indicate the Work Order Number 

for current installed equipment: N/A 

2. Location where 
Equipment will be 
installed:  

[Michigan Ave Service Dr-Between Onadaga Ave and Hudson 
St], as more fully described on the map attached hereto as 
Attachment 1.  

 

3. Total number of lights 
to be installed:  

8 

4. Description of 
Equipment to be installed 
(the “Equipment”):  

Install eight (8) 30’ direct buried fiberglass posts with black finish 
and eight (8) 58w LED luminaires with black housing. Remove 
(1) existing streetlight and pole. 
 

5. Estimated  Total 
Annual Lamp Charges 

$2,127.36 

6. Estimated Total Annual 
Post Charges if selected 

$0.00 

7. Computation of 
Contribution in aid of 
Construction (“CIAC 
Amount”) 

Total estimated construction cost, including 
labor, materials, and overhead: 

$36,731.84 

Revenue credit:  $6,382.08 

CIAC Amount (cost minus revenue) to be paid by 
Washtenaw County Road Commission 

$30,349.76 

Credit for Post Charge, if selected $0.00 

8. Payment of CIAC 
Amount:  

Due promptly upon execution of this Agreement $30,349.76 

9. Term of Agreement 5 years. Upon expiration of the initial term, this Agreement shall 
continue on a month-to-month basis until terminated by mutual 
written consent of the parties or by either party with thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the other party. 

 

If Post Charge “box” is checked the Customer agrees to following 
term: 

 

10 years. Upon expiration of the initial term, this Agreement shall 
continue on a month-to-month basis until terminated by mutual 
written consent of the parties or by either party with thirty (30) 
days prior written notice to the other party. 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 988D052F-3D88-4B2B-AD93-FEF029265E13



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 2 

 
 

10. Does the 
requested Customer 
lighting design meet 
IESNA recommended 
practices? 

(Check One)                                 YES      NO   

If “No”, Customer must sign below and acknowledge that the 
lighting design does not meet IESNA recommended practices 

__________________________ 


11. Customer Address for 
Notices:  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

7200 S. Huron River Dr. 

Ypsilanti, MI 48197 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 988D052F-3D88-4B2B-AD93-FEF029265E13



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 3 

12.  Special Order Material Terms:  

All or a portion of the Equipment consists of special order material: (check one) YES    NO       

If “Yes” is checked, Customer and Company agree to the following additional terms.  

A. Customer acknowledges that all or a portion of the Equipment is special order 
materials (“SOM”) and not Company’s standard stock.  Customer will purchase and stock 
replacement SOM and spare parts as provided in Section B below.  When replacement equipment 
or spare parts are installed from Customer’s inventory, Company will credit Customer in the 
amount of the then-current material cost of Company standard street lighting equipment in lieu of 
which the SOM is being used.  

B. Customer will maintain an inventory of at least _0_ posts and _0_ luminaires and 
any other materials agreed to by Company and Customer, and will replenish the stock by ordering 
materials no later than thirty (30) calendar days after the materials are drawn from inventory.  
Costs of initial inventory are included in this Agreement.  If Customer fails to maintain the required 
inventory, Company, after 30 days’ notice to Customer, may (but is not required to) order 
replacement SOM and Customer will reimburse Company for its costs (including the labor costs 
associated with Company’s management of the supply chain for the SOM) no later than thirty (30) 
calendar days after receipt of Company’s invoice for such costs.  Customer‘s acknowledges that 
failure to maintain required inventory could result in extended outages due to SOM lead times. 

 
C. The inventory will be stored at _______________________________________. 

Access to Customer’s inventory site must be provided between the hours of 9:00 am to 4:00 pm, 
Monday through Friday with the exceptions of federal Holidays.  If Company is unable to access 
the site during such hours for any reason, Company (i) shall be relieved from any obligation or 
commitment to complete the work as scheduled, and (ii) may, at its option, procure the inventory 
itself and have Customer to reimburse Company’s costs for doing so.  Customer shall name an 
authorized representative to contact regarding inventory: levels, access, usage, transactions, and 

provide the following contact information to Company:  

Name: __________________________ Title: ______________________________ 

Phone Number:___________________ Email: _____________________________ 

Customer will immediately notify Company of any changes in the Authorized Customer 
Representative.  Customer must comply with SOM manufacturer’s recommended inventory 
storage guidelines and practices.  Damaged SOM will not be installed by Company. 

D. In the event that SOM is damaged by a third party, Company may (but is not 
required to) pursue a damage claim against such third party for all of Company’s costs incurred 
because of the claim, including all labor and replacement materials.  Company will notify 
Customer as to whether Company will pursue such claim within a reasonable time of the SOM 
being damaged. 

E. In the event that SOM becomes obsolete, discontinued, or incompatible with 
Company’s infrastructure, Customer shall select new alternate SOM that is compatible with 
Company’s then-existing infrastructure.  If Customer does not select compatible alternate SOM, 
Company reserves the right to select compatible SOM that is, in its reasonable judgment, 
substantially similar, or replace the SOM with standard materials, in either case being entitled to 
reimbursement from Customer for Company’s costs in providing such transition of supply 

(including internal overhead and labor costs). 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 988D052F-3D88-4B2B-AD93-FEF029265E13



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 4 

F. Should Customer experience, in Company’s reasonable judgment, excessive LED 
equipment failures that are not supported by LED manufacturer warranties, Company will replace 
the LED equipment with other Company supported Solid State or High Intensity Discharge 
luminaires at Company’s discretion.  The full cost to complete these replacements to standard 
street lighting equipment will be the responsibility of Customer. 

 

************************ 

Company and Customer have executed this Purchase Agreement as of the date first 
written above.  

Company:  

DTE Electric Company 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date: ______________________________ 

Customer:  

Charter Township of Ypsilanti 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: _____________________________ 

Title:_______________________________ 

Date: _______________________________ 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 988D052F-3D88-4B2B-AD93-FEF029265E13

Manager-Sales & Business Development

6/3/2022

Christopher J Hartley



 

Purchase Agreement – Page 5 

Attachment 1 to Purchase Agreement 

Map of Location 

 

 

 

 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 988D052F-3D88-4B2B-AD93-FEF029265E13



CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF YPSILANTI

 2022 BUDGET AMENDMENT #8

June 7, 2022

AMOUNTS ROUNDED UP TO THE NEAREST DOLLAR 

101 - GENERAL OPERATIONS FUND Total Increase $60,817.00

Revenues: Prior Year Fund Balance 101-000-699.999 $60,817.00

Net Revenues $60,817.00

Expenditures: Highway & ST-Road Construction 101-446-982.000 $60,817.00

Net Expenditures $60,817.00

Request to increase budget for the installment of 7 speed humps on Nash Avenue to be completed by Washtenaw 

County Road Commission. This will be funded by an appropriation of prior year fund balance. 

1 of 1



Motion to Amend the 2022 Budget (#8)  

 
 

Move to increase the General Fund budget by $60,817 to $10,514,595 and approve 

the department line item changes as outlined.  

 

 


	June 7, 2022 Special Meeting 
	Special Meeting Agenda
	Postage Machine Lease
	Request to Award Low Bid for Fire Station Roof
	Request for Adjustment to Chief Copeland
	Request to Approve LOA with AFSCME 14B
	Request to Confirm Hiring William Turner for Golf Superintendent
	Request to Approve Agreement with WCRC for Speed Bumps on Nash
	Request to Accept Proposal from Comcast
	Request to Seek Qualifications for Office365
	Request to Seek Proposals for Preferred Network Provider
	Request to Approve Recognition Payment to Employees
	Request to Approve Agreement with DTE For US12 Lighting 
	Budget Amendment #8

	Print_es_:signer:fullname: 
	Title_es_:title: 
	Date_es_:date: 
	Print_2_es_:sender:fullname: 
	Title_2_es_:sender:title: 
	Date_2_es_:sender:date: 
	Signature1_es_:signer:signature: 
	Signature2_es_:sender:signature: 
	Customer Name: 
	Billing Address: 
	TAX ID: 


